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PREFACE

The	structure	of	this	history	of	Special	Operations	Forces	reflects	an	attempt	to
impose	 coherence	 on	 an	 idiosyncratic	 culture.	 A	 historical	 overview	 in	 the
Introduction	describes	the	various	origins	of	modern	Special	Forces,	notably	the
British	influence	on	America’s	emerging	SF	teams	during	and	after	the	Second
World	War.	The	major	part	of	the	narrative	that	follows	is	largely	an	American
story.	 If	 it	 were	 a	 fairy	 tale,	 it	 would	 be	 Cinderella	 as	 told	 by	 the	 Brothers
Grimm,	 with	 black	 edges,	 explaining	 how	 Cinderella	 became	 the	 Princess	 in
response	to	the	changing	face	of	armed	conflict.	The	role	of	the	British	SAS	and
Israel’s	multifarious	SF	teams	including	Isayeret	Matkal,	Zionism’s	SAS,	round
off	the	story	toward	the	end	of	the	book.

In	practice,	the	chapters	may	be	read	in	some	other	order,	to	suit	the	reader’s
taste,	 for	 describing	 Special	 Forces	 operations	 in	 any	 context	 is	 like	 trying	 to
herd	 cats.	 Differing	 themes—raids,	 rescues,	 rearguard	 actions,	 psyops,
spectacular	failures,	and	occasional	victories—coil	around	one	another	with	little
regard	 for	 a	 clearly	 defined	 chronology	 that	 begins	 “Once	 upon	 a	 time….”
Nevertheless,	I	have	tried.

Who	dares,	writes.

—Tony	Geraghty,	Herefordshire,	England,	2009



INTRODUCTION

At	around	1600	hrs	on	24	March	1985,	Major	Arthur	D.	(“Nick”)	Nicholson,	Jr.,
a	U.S.	Army	intelligence	officer,	became	the	last	professional,	regular	soldier	to
die	 in	 the	 “bloodless”	 conflict	 known	 as	 the	 Cold	 War,	 an	 affair	 that	 was
anything	 but	 bloodless	 on	 surrogate	 battlegrounds	 around	much	 of	Africa	 and
Asia.	What	made	Nicholson’s	 case	 unique	was	 that	 his	 death	 occurred	 on	 the
well-prepared	battlefield	of	postwar	Germany,	where	massive	tank	and	artillery
divisions	 confronted	 one	 another	 for	 forty	 years,	 preparing	 for	 a	 nuclear
Armageddon.

The	 manner	 of	 Nicholson’s	 death	 and	 its	 political	 consequences	 are	 a
textbook	 illustration	 of	 the	 inherent	 instability	 of	 Special	 Forces	 operations	 as
well	 as	 their	 intrinsic	 importance.	Uncertainty	 about	 the	 outcome,	 indeed,	 is	 a
staple	element	of	SF	warfare,	in	which	the	most	important	decisions	are	usually
taken	on	the	hoof,	without	a	fallback	position	if	the	worst	happens.

Nicholson	was	no	cowboy.	Aged	37,	happily	married	with	 a	nine-year-old
daughter,	 he	 held	 a	 degree	 in	 philosophy	 and	 a	master’s	 in	Soviet	 studies.	He
spoke	 fluent	 Russian.	 After	 service	 in	 Korea	 he	 had	 worked	 in	 military
intelligence	 on	 friendly	 territory	 in	 Frankfurt	 and	Munich.	 At	 the	 time	 of	 his
death	 he	 had	 made	 more	 than	 a	 hundred	 trips	 into	 hostile	 Communist	 East
Germany.

He	was	one	of	a	14-strong	espionage	team	implausibly	identified—perhaps
“moustached”	or	“barbouzed”	would	be	more	appropriate—as	a	military	liaison
mission	to	the	Group	of	Soviet	Forces,	Germany.	The	organization,	following	an
earlier,	 larger	U.K.	group	known	as	Brixmis,	emerged	from	the	ashes	of	1945.
Its	ostensible	purpose	 in	 life	was	diplomatic,	 representing	 the	wartime	allies	at
commemorations	of	what	the	Russians	styled	“The	Great	Patriotic	War”	in	spite
of	their	earlier	alliance	with	Hitler	and	shared	invasion	of	Poland	in	1939.	There
were	also	mundane,	bread-and-butter	matters	such	as	the	treatment	of	deserters
from	East	to	West	or	sometimes	in	the	other	direction.

In	 practice,	 both	 British	 and	 U.S.	 missions,	 often	 traveling	 off-road	 in
specially	 equipped	 vehicles,	 stalked	 the	 Red	 Army	 on	 maneuvers,	 logged	 the
movement	of	Soviet	 supplies,	 and,	occasionally,	pulled	off	 an	espionage	coup.
On	 May	 Day	 1981,	 for	 example,	 Captain	 Hugh	 McLeod,	 a	 British	 officer,



insinuated	himself	into	Russia’s	latest	tank	(a	T-64)	using	a	forged	turret	key	and
spent	an	hour	photographing	and	drawing	diagrams	of	the	interior.	(The	key	was
the	work	of	British	intelligence	based	on	a	photograph	of	the	tank	turret	taken	at
a	Red	Army	Day	parade	in	Moscow.)	The	Soviet	regiment	that	owned	this	beast
was	preoccupied	with	serious	drinking	on	this,	its	public	holiday.	At	one	point	in
his	 exploration,	 McLeod	 dropped	 his	 distinctive	 British	 army	 flashlight.	 It
clattered	deep	into	the	tank’s	interior.	Haunted	by	the	thought	that	the	flashlight
would	 be	 discovered	 during	 a	 routine	 maintenance	 check	 in	 Omsk,	 he	 spent
another	nightmarish	half-hour	recovering	the	device	as	his	sergeant	impatiently
kept	watch.	As	McLeod	emerged,	 the	 sergeant	wiped	his	boot	marks	 from	 the
hull	of	the	T-64.

Some	 of	 the	 missions’	 research	 methods	 were	 not	 for	 the	 squeamish.	 As
each	 phase	 of	 an	 exercise	 ended,	 the	 Russians,	 being	 provident,	 peasant	 folk,
converted	secret	 instructions	into	toilet	paper.	The	missions,	suitably	protected,
came	 along	 afterward,	 dug	 up	 the	 debris,	 and	 carried	 it	 back	 to	West	 Berlin,
where	one	wing	of	their	headquarters	(formerly	part	of	the	1936	Hitler	Olympics
building,	 memorable	 for	 Jesse	 Owens’s	 victories)	 was	 used	 to	 sanitize	 the
documents.	 The	 system,	 known	 to	 the	British	 as	 Tamarisk	 operations,	 yielded
vital	intelligence.1	The	trick	was	later	reinvented	by	the	Vietcong.

Neither	 the	Russians	nor	 their	East	German	 clients	 accepted	 that	 the	West
was	playing	within	the	rules	of	cricket,	or	baseball,	or	Ivan’s	equivalent	code	of
ethics.	 Mission	 vehicles,	 identified	 by	 U.S.	 and	 U.K.	 symbols	 “accidentally”
camouflaged	by	good	German	mud,	were	regularly	driven	off	the	road	by	heavy
Soviet	trucks	causing	injury	and	death,	events	that	were	officially	designated	as
accidents.	 The	 Russians	 often	 declared	 a	 formerly	 open	 exercise	 area	 out	 of
bounds,	regardless	of	their	own	published	advice,	and	arrested	mission	teams	for
24	hours	or	more.	Mission	vehicles,	unless	they	were	locked,	were	ransacked.	At
other	 times	 they	were	 pursued	 at	 breakneck	 speed	 by	 the	 East	 German	 secret
police,	 the	Stasi.	 Some	Western	 crews,	 in	 turn,	 took	 steps	 to	 ensure	 that	 Stasi
vehicles	 crashed	 during	 such	 encounters,	 particularly	 after	 dark.	 One	 of	 the
mission’s	 favorite	 tricks	was	 to	 disconnect	 brake-stop	 lights	 on	 their	 vehicles,
enhancing	the	 likelihood	of	a	Stasi	 road	crash.	 If	 this	was	not	a	hot	war,	 it	got
uncomfortably	warm	 at	 times.	 In	 the	 surreal	 world	 of	 diplomacy,	 the	mission
crews,	nursing	their	bruises,	were	sometimes	hosted	by	their	Russian	adversaries
at	parties	where	the	toasts	were	to	Churchill,	Roosevelt,	and	Stalin,	and	the	same
film—The	Sound	of	Music—was	screened	yet	again.

Four	years	after	Hugh	McLeod’s	 illegal	entry	 into	a	T-64,	Nicholson	went
hunting	 the	next	 generation	of	Moscow’s	 armor,	 the	46-ton	T-80.	A	 classified
official	 U.S.	 Army	 report	 makes	 the	 unlikely	 claim	 that	 Nicholson,	 with	 his



driver,	Staff	Sergeant	Jesse	Schatz,	was	merely	following	fresh	tank	tracks	in	a
training	area	known	as	Ludwigslust	475	without	anything	special	 in	mind.	The
team	 approached	 the	 target—a	 shed	 where	 tanks	 were	 laagered—cautiously.
Satisfied	that	all	was	well,	Nicholson	moved	stealthily	forward	on	foot,	avoiding
dried	 twigs	or	 any	other	 trap,	 to	 take	photographs	of	 training	aids	posted	on	a
board	alongside	the	shed.	It	was	now	late	afternoon	in	the	woods	of	Ludwigslust,
but	 the	 light	was	good	enough	for	Nicholson’s	Nikon	L35	autofocus	camera…
and	for	 the	 iron	gunsight	on	an	AK-47	brought	 to	bear	on	 the	Americans	by	a
young	Soviet	sergeant	identified	as	Aleksandr	Ryabtsev	in	a	watch	tower	a	mere
75	meters	away.

Schatz,	 Nicholson’s	 lookout,	 standing	 on	 the	 driver’s	 seat,	 head	 and
shoulders	above	the	open	sun	roof,	spotted	Ryabtsev	and	shouted	to	his	officer,
“Sir!	Get	in	the	car!”	Too	late.	The	first	round	missed	Schatz’s	head	by	inches.
He	 “felt	 the	 whizzing	 of	 a	 bullet	 passing	 close	 to	 his	 head.”	 Nicholson	 ran
toward	their	 jeep,	a	Mercedes	Geländewagen.	Schatz,	back	in	the	driver’s	seat,
revved	the	engine	and	reversed	toward	Nicholson,	unlocking	the	passenger	door
as	he	did	so	 for	 the	officer	 to	make	a	getaway.	Again,	 too	 late.	A	second	shot
brought	Nicholson	down.	“As	Schatz	rolled	his	window	down,	Major	Nicholson
looked	up	at	him	and	said,	‘Jesse,	I’ve	been	shot’.”	Another	bullet	hit	Nicholson.
“He	then	dropped	his	head	into	the	dirt	and	twitched	convulsively.”

What	 followed	 was	 a	 sinister	 reminder	 of	 the	 lingering	 deaths	 of	 East
Germans	who	were	 unwise	 enough	 to	 try	 to	 escape	 to	West	Berlin	 across	 the
shooting	 gallery	 that	 separated	 the	 two	 parts	 of	 the	 city	 at	 that	 time.	 Schatz,
carrying	 a	 first	 aid	 bag,	 exited	 the	 vehicle	 to	 aid	 his	 stricken	officer.	By	now,
Ryabtsev	 had	 closed	 to	within	 a	 few	 feet	 and	waved	 Schatz	 away.	As	 Schatz
hesitated,	Ryabtsev	 brought	 his	 rifle	 up	 to	 his	 shoulder,	 pointed	 it	 at	 Schatz’s
head	 and	 curled	 his	 finger	 round	 the	 trigger.	 Schatz	 retreated.	Nicholson	 died
some	time	later	from	multiple	abdominal	wounds.

A	 diplomatic	 rumpus	 ensued,	 but	 there	 were	 larger	 stakes	 involved	 for
Washington	and	Moscow	than	the	killing—described	by	the	Pentagon	as	murder
—of	a	single	Special	Forces	officer.	A	new	Soviet	 leader,	Mikhail	Gorbachev,
was	steering	his	country	toward	a	rapprochement	with	the	West.	A	few	months
after	Nicholson’s	death,	Gorbachev	and	President	Ronald	Reagan	met	in	Geneva
and	 established	 a	 working	 relationship.	 One	 commentator	 suggested:	 “The
Reagan	administration’s	response	to	this	crime	has	been	to	treat	it	like	a	traffic
accident	covered	by	no-fault	insurance.”	When	Reagan	himself	was	baited	by	a
reporter	about	the	incident,	he	replied:	“Lack	of	outrage?	You	can’t	print	what	I
am	thinking.”

Yet	Nicholson’s	death	was	not	an	empty	sacrifice	 in	a	boys’	own	game	of



cowboys	 and	 Indians.	 Special	 Forces	 operations	 are	 supremely	 about	 strategic
impact	achieved	by	a	small	elite,	or	 they	are	nothing.	As	 the	Cold	War	 finally
spluttered	 to	 its	 close,	 a	 veteran	 of	 the	 U.K.’s	 Brixmis	 mission	 revealed:
“Preserving	 the	peace	 in	Europe	 in	 the	20th	century	was	 sometimes	a	damned
close-run	 thing.	 It	 happened	 sometimes	 that	 all	 our	 nine	 Indicators	 of
Hostilities”—intelligence	 measures	 by	 which	 the	 West	 would	 predict	 a	 pre-
emptive	Soviet	attack—“read	positive.	We	checked	the	situation	on	the	ground,
looked	down	their	gun	barrels,	made	sure	 there	could	be	no	surprise	attack,	no
war	by	accident.	That	was	our	major	contribution.”2	It	was,	essentially,	a	victory
so	 low-profile,	 so	 discreet	 as	 to	 be	 invisible,	 but	 nonetheless	 real.	 In	 that,	 it
resembled	many	 successful	 non-violent	Green	Beret	 operations	 in	Vietnam.	 It
prevented	 Armageddon	 more	 than	 once,	 thanks	 to	 the	 magical	 substance
provided	by	SF	teams	known	to	the	intelligence	community	as	“ground	truth.”

This	is	one	key	to	understanding	the	Special	Forces	phenomenon.	Another	is
the	 unusual	 chain-of-command,	 from	 the	 grunt	 on	 the	 ground,	 via	 satellite	 in
modern	 times	 or	 by	 Morse	 before	 then,	 to	 a	 strategic	 headquarters	 perhaps
thousands	of	miles	away,	rather	than	a	local	commander.	Not	surprisingly,	local
commanders—outside	the	information	loop	but	caught	up	in	the	nausea	if	things
go	 wrong—do	 not	 like	 that	 arrangement.	 It	 is	 the	 curse	 of	 the	 cuckold:
responsibility	without	 power.	 They	 also	 do	 not	 care	 for	 the	 seemingly	 ragged
rank	structure	of	SF	soldiers,	to	say	nothing	of	their	necessary	lack	of	personal
hygiene.	“You	can’t	be	British	soldiers,”	a	returning	SAS	desert	patrol	was	told
during	the	Second	World	War.	“You	have	beards!”	The	modern	SAS	carefully
bags	up	its	own	ordure	to	be	carried	away,	so	as	to	leave	no	trace	of	its	presence.
Yet	another	protocol	problem	is	the	delicate	matter	of	links	between	the	Special
Forces	 teams	 in	 the	 field	 and	 intelligence	 agencies	 of	 various	 sorts,	 some	 of
which—running	 deniable	 operations—are	 themselves	 cut-outs	 for	 departments
of	state.

Another	 difference	 lies	 in	 the	 psychology	 of	 the	 self-selecting	minority	 of
soldiers	who	volunteer	for	special	operations,	an	instrument	worth	more	than	any
secret	 weapon	 or	 new	 gizmo.	 Most	 soldiers—particularly	 conscripts—do	 not
shoot	 to	 kill.	 Special	 Forces	 soldiers	 do.	 Most	 soldiers	 do	 not	 expect	 to	 die
young.	 SF	 soldiers	 are	 agnostic	 about	 personal	 survival.	 They	 live	 with	 a
contract	 poetically	 expressed	 by	 Alan	 Seeger,	 a	 young	 American	 who	 served
with	the	French	Foreign	Legion	until	his	slow,	painful	end	on	the	Western	Front
in	 1916:	 “I	 have	 a	 rendezvous	with	 death.”	Many,	 having	 survived	 the	 battle,
take	their	own	lives.

The	British	SAS	dispenses	with	 the	pathos,	 though	not	 the	mysticism.	One
of	 its	regimental	 jokes	suggests:	“Death	 is	 just	nature’s	way	of	 telling	you	that



you	failed	Selection,”	that	 is,	 their	endurance	test.	In	February	1979	one	of	the
regiment’s	 heroes,	Major	Mike	Kealy	DSO,	 did	 indeed	 die	 of	 exposure	 in	 the
moonscape	wilderness	of	the	Welsh	Brecon	Beacons	in	an	attempt	to	prove	that
he	 could	 still	 pass	 the	 test	 of	 selection.	 It	 is	 no	 coincidence	 that	 the	 SAS	 has
adopted	James	Elroy	Flecker’s	lines	from	“The	Golden	Journey	to	Samarkand”
as	its	mantra:

We	are	the	Pilglrims,	master;	we	shall	go
Always	a	little	further:	it	may	be
Beyond	that	last	blue	mountain	barred	with	snow,
Across	that	angry	or	that	glimmering	sea.

Sir	 Fitzroy	 Maclean,	 one	 of	 the	 regiment’s	 most	 talented	 pirates,	 quoted	 an
American	scientist-philosopher,	Rossiter	Worthington	Raymond,	at	a	memorial
service	 for	 the	 SAS	 founder,	 David	 Stirling:	 “Death	 is	 only	 a	 horizon;	 and	 a
horizon	 is	 nothing	 save	 the	 limit	 of	 our	 sight.”	 From	 Orde	 Wingate,	 the
fundamentalist	 Christian-Zionist	 who	 created	 the	 jungle	 Chindits,	 to	 Spencer
Chapman,	 whose	 mantra	 “the	 jungle	 is	 neutral”	 barely	 explained	 his
extraordinary	 survival,	 many	 of	 the	 most	 successful	 Special	 Forces	 operators
were	 personalities	 imbued	 with	 a	 mysticism	 that	 usually	 resulted	 from
adventures	alone	in	remote	parts	of	the	world	long	before	they	became	warriors.

At	 such	 times,	unsurprisingly,	most	of	 them	came	 to	 terms	with	 their	own
mortality	 and	 remained	 curiously	 untouched—perhaps	 unawakened	 is	 a	 better
word—by	 the	 mundane	 concerns	 of	 normal	 life,	 including	 job	 security	 and
marriage.	 They	 could	 never	 be	 your	 average	 soldier-ant	 and	 rarely	 good
husbands.	They	are,	by	nature,	ubermensch,	willful	beings	not	cut	out	to	be	part
of	 the	 lumpenproletariat.	 Today,	 in	 a	 world	 governed	 by	 insurance,	 litigation,
and	risk	avoidance,	such	men	and	women	are	an	anachronism.	They	are,	as	one
put	it,	“a	bunch	of	misfits	who	happen	to	fit	together.”	They	are	also	increasingly
hard	to	find,	yet	more	than	ever	in	demand	by	Western	governments.

An	American	authority	points	out:	“It	has	often	been	argued	that	any	good
infantryman	will	make	a	good	Special	Forces	soldier.	This	is	simply	not	true….
Not	everyone	is	suited	to	operations	in	hostile	areas,	or	prepared	for	long	periods
of	duty	with	predominantly	indigenous	forces	and	without	artillery,	helicopter	or
fighter	 air	 support.	 Not	 every	 good	 infantryman	 can	 perform	 well	 in	 a
counterterrorist	unit.”3

There	 is	 another	 crucial	 difference	 between	 the	 Anglo-American	 Special
Forces	 community	 and	 their	 more	 numerous	 comrades	 in	 regular,	 orthodox



formations.	 Conventional	 armies	 serving	 democratic	 governments	 fastidiously
stand	aside	from	the	political	process.	Special	forces,	by	contrast,	are	profoundly
political,	 a	 fact	 reflected	 by	 the	 emerging	 U.S.	 doctrine	 of	 Unconventional
Warfare	which	suggests	that	in	some	targeted	states,	SF	teams,	working	through
surrogates,	should	 take	over	 the	political	process	behind	 the	scenes,	combining
Machiavellian	 velvet	 revolution	 with	 firepower.	 The	 SAS	 has	 had	 much
experience	 of	 manipulating	 tribal	 politics	 around	 the	 world—for	 example,	 in
Oman’s	 “War	 of	 the	 Families”	 (1970–1976).	 So,	 too,	 did	 American	 Special
Forces	 operators	 playing	 puppetmasters	 to	 the	 Hmong	 tribes	 in	 Laos	 and	 the
Montagnards	in	Vietnam	(1961–1975).

Finally,	there	is	the	similarity	between	terrorists,	who	occupy	the	territory	of
the	mind	rather	than	geographical	space	until	final	victory	is	won	on	the	ground,
and	Special	Forces,	whose	agenda	is	pretty	well	the	same.	Both	practice	what	is
described	at	the	beginning	of	the	21st	century	as	“asymmetric	warfare,”	or,	more
simply,	 flea	 v.	 elephant.	 By	 the	 time	 President	 Obama	 took	 office,	 military
elephants	 were	 becoming	 intolerably	 costly,	 even	 for	 America,	 as	 well	 as
irrelevant.	The	change	was	no	better	 illustrated	 than	 through	 the	 innovation	of
unmanned	 drones,	 striking	 targets	 in	 Pakistan	 but	 “flown”	 by	 pilots	 sitting	 in
Nevada,	while	Air	Force	chiefs	clung	to	the	image	of	Biggles	(or	even	Snoopy)
in	his	latest	toy,	the	F-22	fighter.	The	unit	cost	of	the	F-22,	at	$350	million,	was
twelve	times	the	price	of	the	humble	but	effective	drone,	the	Raptor.

The	genesis	of	Special	Forces	is	long	and	complex,	often	rooted	in	guerrilla
warfare	and	terrorism.	It	is	a	world	of	moral	and	ethical	ambiguity.	It	is	also,	in
many	respects,	an	Anglo-American	story.	In	spite	of	differences	of	scale—Uncle
Sam’s	 resources	 vastly	 outweigh	 John	 Bull’s—British	 innovation	 has
consistently	provided	a	 template	 that	 the	U.S.	 refined	and	developed.	The	 first
U.S.	Army	Ranger	battalion	was	activated	in	Northern	Ireland	in	June	19424	and
trained	by	British	Commandos	in	Scotland.5

The	 modern	 history	 of	 SF	 warfare	 has	 its	 origins	 in	 the	 Irish	 War	 of
Independence,	a	war	the	British	lost	but	from	which	they	learned	a	useful	lesson.
Between	 1916,	 when	 Irish	 patriots	 were	 executed	 by	 firing	 squads	 in	 squalid
circumstances,	and	the	Anglo-Irish	Treaty	of	1921,	native	resistance	was	led	by
Michael	Collins,	 a	 postal	worker	 and	 a	 born	 guerrilla.	 From	1919	 to	 1921	 his
killers,	 known	 as	 The	 Squad	 and	 dressed	 as	 civilians,	 emasculated	 the	British
intelligence	 apparatus	 thanks	 to	 a	 program	 of	 selective	 assassination.	 The
victims	 included	 Catholics	 serving	 with	 the	 Royal	 Irish	 Constabulary	 (1,087
killed	 and	wounded),	 the	 cream	 of	Dublin	 Special	 Branch,	 the	 head	 of	 police
intelligence	and	Resident	Magistrate	Bell,	travelling	by	tram	in	the	Irish	capital



when	his	killers	tapped	his	shoulder	and	ordered	him	off,	with	the	words:	“Your
time	has	come.”	Collins’s	most	potent	weapon	was	the	leakage	of	information	to
the	IRA	from	spies	within	the	British	apparatus	such	as	Edward	Broy,	a	double
agent	who	 smuggled	out	 carbons	of	his	 colleagues’	Special	Branch	 reports	 (as
did	Zionists	working	for	the	British	Mandate	in	Palestine).	One	by	one,	the	lights
went	out	 in	 rural	 police	 stations	 and	 the	 IRA	 took	over	 civil	 administration	 to
outgovern	the	British.

The	 pattern	 was	 to	 be	 followed	 in	 many	 places,	 notably	 Vietnam	 and
Afghanistan.	 During	 the	 first	 half	 of	 1961,	 Vietminh	 terrorists	 and	 guerrillas
assassinated	 more	 than	 500	 local	 government	 officials,	 kidnapped	 more	 than
1,000	and	killed	almost	1,500	of	the	local	armed	forces.6	In	Afghanistan	in	2009,
the	Taliban	intimidated	thousands	and	replaced	government	institutions	with	its
own,	to	outgovern	Kabul.

In	 Ireland,	 the	 British	 responded	 with	 their	 own	 assassination	 squads	 and
militas	known	as	the	Black	And	Tans	to	carry	out	random	atrocities,	striking	out
blindly	 against	 much	 of	 the	 civilian	 population	 in	 a	 reprisal	 campaign.	 A
previously	 equivocal	 population,	 often	 agnostic	 about	 Irish	 republicanism,
responded	as	do	most	people	 to	 the	experience	of	collective	punishment.	They
fought	 back.	 They	 became	 the	 political	 and	 cultural	 sea	 within	 which	 the
piranhas	of	the	IRA	could	swim	with	impunity.	As	a	result,	in	1921	Collins	went
to	London	to	sign	the	treaty	that	recognized	his	republic	(twenty-six	counties	out
of	thirty-two)	as	an	independent	country.

It	was	the	first	time	in	modern	history	that	an	indigenous	guerrilla	army	had
defeated	 a	 major	 occupying	 power.	 The	 war	 of	 the	 flea	 was	 back,	 inspiring
Indian	 and	Zionist	 resistance	 to	British	 rule.	 For	 example,	Robert	Briscoe,	 the
only	 Jew	 to	 serve	 with	 the	 Irish	 Volunteers	 in	 1916	 and	 subsequently	 Lord
Mayor	of	Dublin,	assisted	pioneers	of	the	Zionist	terrorist	movement	Irgun	Zvai
Leumi,	 triggering	 a	 process	 that	 finally	 levered	 the	 British	 out	 of	 Palestine.
Yitzhak	 Shamir,	 Israel’s	 seventh	 prime	 minister,	 used	 the	 nom	 de	 guerre
“Michael”	 in	 honour	 of	 the	 Irish	 rebel	 leader,	 Michael	 Collins.	 Of	 a	 later
generation,	Chaim	Herzog,	a	Belfast-born,	Dublin-educated	barrister	and	British
intelligence	 officer,	 became	 a	 Haganah	 leader	 when	 Britain	 withdrew	 from
Palestine.	Later	he	was	President	Herzog,	his	country’s	head	of	state.

The	 Irish	 techniques	of	 resistance	had	very	deep	 roots.	Since	 the	defeat	of
King	James	II	on	the	Boyne	in	1690,	irregular	warfare	was	the	Irish	way,	brutal
and	up-close,	in	which	farm	implements	were	used	as	tools	of	decapitation.	The
process	is	deodorized	by	nationalist	historians	as	“the	physical	force	tradition.”
Collins’s	historic	 success	 in	 liberating	 Ireland	did	not	 inhibit	 some	of	his	 own
warriors	 from	 assassinating	 him	 when	 he	 failed	 to	 secure	 the	 six	 northern



counties	 of	 Ireland,	 regardless	 of	 the	 fact	 that	 Ulster	 was	 a	 hornets’	 nest	 of
embattled	Orangemen	who	had	settled	 in	 that	country	before,	 for	example,	 the
state	 of	 Massachusetts	 was	 formally	 established.	 The	 Irish	 War	 resumed	 in
Northern	Ireland	in	1969	and	splutters	on	still.

Two	British	 officers	 serving	 in	Dublin	 took	 a	 dispassionately	 professional
interest	 in	 Collins’s	 campaign	 and	 latched	 onto	 its	 possible	 application
elsewhere,	 for	 Britain	 still	 had	 an	 empire	 to	 defend.	 There	was	 J.	 F.	 C.	 (Joe)
Holland	DFC,	a	former	Royal	Flying	Corps	pilot	who	flew	Lawrence	of	Arabia
and	 raided	 Sofia	 in	 his	 stringbag	 flying	machine	 during	 the	 First	World	War.
Holland	 was	 a	 brilliant,	 irascible	 man	 whose	 impatience	 was	 reflected	 by	 his
habits	 of	 chain	 smoking	 and	 book-throwing.	Another	 veteran	 of	 the	 Irish	War
was	 Colin	 McVean	 Gubbins,	 artilleryman	 and	 Western	 Front	 survivor	 who
served	with	the	British	mission	in	Russia	in	1919—learning	from	the	Bolshevik
revolution—followed	 by	 three	 years	 in	 Ireland.	 Gubbins	 was	 a	 small,	 dark,
intense	man.	Those	who	knew	him	sensed	a	coiled,	concentrated	energy	beneath
the	 soft,	 courteous	 voice.	 His	 deadly	 courtesy	 reminded	 some	 of	 Churchill’s
declaration	of	war	on	Japan	in	1941.	This	concluded:	“I	have	the	honour	to	be,
with	high	consideration,	Sir,	Your	obedient	servant.”	Challenged	to	justify	such
fulsome	 language,	 Churchill	 replied:	 “When	 you	 have	 to	 kill	 a	 man,	 it	 costs
nothing	to	be	polite.”7

In	1938—the	year	Hitler	seized	part	of	Czechoslovakia	with	the	boast,	“Thus
we	begin	our	march	into	the	great	German	future!”—Holland	began	another	sort
of	 quest.	 He	was	 put	 in	 charge	 of	 a	U.K.	War	Office	 research	 team	 studying
guerrilla	 warfare,	 known	 as	Military	 Intelligence	 (Research),	 or	MI/R.	 A	 few
months	 later,	 Gubbins	 joined	 him,	 from	 a	 quasi-diplomatic	 posting	 in	 the
Sudetenland.	Holland,	says	 the	SOE	historian	M.	R.	D.	Foot,	“thought	 that	 the
army	needed,	to	act	in	front	of	it	and	on	its	flanks	in	fluid	battles,	small	teams	of
dedicated	 soldiers:	 extra-brave,	 extra-enterprising	 men,	 who	 could	 raid	 spots
vital	for	the	enemy	and	cause	damage	and	dislocation	quite	out	of	proportion	to
their	own	small	numbers.”

The	 Czech	 crisis	 prompted	 the	 Chief	 of	 the	 Imperial	 General	 Staff,	 Lord
Gort,	 to	 approve	 covert	 operations—including	 sabotage—against	Nazis	 in	 that
country	 months	 before	 Britain’s	 formal	 declaration	 of	 war	 on	 Germany	 in
September	 1939.	Gubbins	was	 busy	writing	 field	 service	manuals	 entitled	The
Art	 of	Guerrilla	Warfare,	 The	Partisan	Leader’s	Handbook,	 and	How	To	Use
High	Explosives,	works	for	which	there	were	no	precedents	 in	 the	gentlemanly
English	culture	of	war	studies.	These	slender	documents	were	basic	statements
of	principle	for	guerrillas,	later	summarized	by	the	Special	Air	Service	in	Borneo
as	a	policy	of	“shoot-and-scoot.”



In	parallel,	 the	British	Secret	 Intelligence	Service,	 in	April	1938,	set	up	 its
own	guerrilla	warfare	department,	known	as	Section	D,	headed	by	yet	 another
chain-smoking	 military	 engineer,	 Laurence	 Grand,	 to	 consider	 the	 use	 of
sabotage.	 The	 catalyst,	 again,	 seems	 to	 have	 been	 the	 Nazi	 occupation	 of
Sudetenland	(initially	endorsed	at	Munich	in	1936	by	British	appeasers	of	Hitler
including	 Prime	Minister	Neville	Chamberlain).	 It	would	 be	 four	 years	 before
members	of	the	Czech	resistance,	trained	by	the	U.K.,	retaliated	with	the	ambush
and	 assassination	 of	 Reinhard	 Heydrich,	 the	 Butcher	 of	 Prague,	 an	 event	 that
provoked	the	Lidice	atrocity.

The	 war	 triggered	 by	 Hitler’s	 invasion	 of	 Poland	 in	 September	 1939,
Churchill’s	emergence	as	Prime	Minister,	and	the	Anglo-French	defeat	in	France
in	1940	put	the	planners	of	MI/R	and	Section	D	under	enormous	pressure	to	find
a	means	 to	 hit	 back,	 preferably	 by	 stirring	 up	 resistance	 in	Occupied	 Europe.
Thereby,	Churchill	hoped	to	reduce	the	chances	of	a	successful	German	invasion
of	Britain.	The	result,	in	July	1940,	was	amalgamation	of	MI/R	and	Section	D	to
create	a	hell-raising	 team	known	as	Special	Operations	Executive,	commanded
by	Gubbins.	Hugh	Dalton,	Minister	 of	Economic	Warfare	 and	SOE’s	 political
master,	 argued:	 “We	 have	 got	 to	 organize	 movements	 in	 enemy-occupied
territory	 comparable	 to	 the	 Sinn	 Fein	 movement	 in	 Ireland,	 to	 the	 Chinese
guerrillas	now	operating	against	Japan.”	Dalton	did	not	mince	his	words	about
the	methods	 to	 be	 employed:	 “Industrial	 and	military	 sabotage,	 labor	 agitation
and	 strikes,	 continuous	 propaganda,	 terrorist	 acts	 against	 traitors	 and	 German
leaders,	boycotts	and	riots.”

In	 parallel	 with	 such	 notions,	 following	 Russia’s	 invasion	 of	 Finland	 in
November	1939,	brave	spirits	from	the	Scots	Guards	and	other	British	regiments
took	practical	steps	to	go	to	another	war.	They	learned	to	ski.	But	after	Finland
was	 overrun,	 they	 went	 instead	 to	 Norway	 to	 confront	 the	 Wehrmacht	 in	 a
campaign	that	had	little	success.	It	produced	one	useful	by-product:	commando
expertise	and	training	in	Scotland	where	many	Special	Forces,	were	trained.

Later	historians	did	not	agree	about	Britain’s	espousal	of	guerrilla	warfare.
John	Keegan,	for	example,	argued:	“Our	response	to	the	scourge	of	terrorism	is
compromised	 by	 what	 we	 did	 through	 SOE….	 Means	 besmirch	 ends.	 SOE
besmirched	Britain.”	M.	R.	D.	Foot,	the	SOE	historian,	disagreed.	He	suggested:
“The	Irish	[thanks	to	the	example	set	by	Collins	and	followed	by	SOE]	can	thus
claim	 that	 their	 resistance	 provided	 an	 originating	 impulse	 for	 resistance	 to
tyrannies	worse	than	any	they	had	to	endure	themselves.	And	Irish	resistance,	as
Collins	led	it,	showed	the	rest	of	the	world	an	economical	way	to	fight	wars,	the
only	 sane	way	 they	 can	 be	 fought	 in	 the	 age	 of	 the	 nuclear	 bomb.”	 That	 still
holds	good.	At	the	sunset	of	the	nation	state,	asymmetric	warfare	is	where	it	 is



at,	though	few	conventional	soldiers	warm	to	that	idea.
In	 June	 1940,	 following	 the	 savage	 experience	 of	 the	 British	 retreat	 from

Dunkirk	 after	 Hitler’s	 invasion	 of	 France,	 yet	 another	 secret	 formation	 was
raised	 to	 run	 an	 IRA-style	 campaign	 of	 resistance	 against	 a	 German	 army
occupying	 Britain.	 The	 generic	 name	 for	 those	 involved	 was	 “stay-behind”
forces	 and	 the	 concept	 they	 embodied	 was	 to	 have	 an	 impact	 on	 American
involvement	 in	 European	 security	 long	 after	 the	 war	 ended.	 The	 British	 stay-
behind	cells	were	named,	with	deliberate	official	vagueness,	“GHQ	[for	‘General
Headquarters’]	 Auxiliary	 Units.”	 These,	 in	 turn,	 were	 divided	 between
Operational	 Patrols—murder	 squads	 in	 civilian	 clothes—and	 Special	 Duty
operators	 who	 were	 to	 run	 intelligence	 and	 communications.	 The	 operational
patrols	were	drawn	from	a	cross-section	of	apparently	average,	peaceful	citizens
in	largely	rural	areas.	They	included	local	worthies	such	as	doctors	and	ministers
of	 the	 church	 as	well	 as	 gamekeepers	 and	 farmers.	They	 accepted	 that	 if	 their
resistance	 campaign	 were	 endangered	 by	 their	 neighbors,	 then	 they	 would	 be
obliged	to	murder	the	neighbors	to	preserve	operational	security.	The	oath	they
took	was	confirmation	of	a	basic	human	instinct,	to	kill	another	human	being	if
the	 terms	are	right.	The	Special	Duties	operators	 included	a	number	of	women
specially	trained	to	use	clandestine	radios.

As	well	as	an	underground	army	to	function	in	the	event	of	Nazi	occupation,
Britain’s	battered	morale	needed	a	tonic,	the	healthy	stimulus	and	satisfaction	of
striking	 back	 rather	 than	 cowering	 on	 a	 small	 island	 waiting	 for	 the	 worst	 to
happen.	Churchill	 gave	 it	 just	 that.	An	 orchestra	 of	 Special	 Forces	 teams	was
invented	to	conduct	what	General	Sir	John	(“Shan”)	Hackett	(a	paratrooper	and
survivor	of	the	epic	Arnhem	battle)	romantically	described	as	“the	British	way	of
war.”	 It	 was,	 he	 suggested,	 a	 style	 exemplified	 in	 the	 desert	 during	 the	 First
World	War	by	T.	E.	Lawrence	(“Lawrence	of	Arabia”).	As	Hackett	saw	it,	“The
British	way	in	war	is	not	that	of	continental	nations,	whose	natural	 tendency	is
generally	 towards	massive	 frontal	 action.	 It	 lies	more	 in	 looking	 for	 the	 open
flank	and	then	making	use	of	it,	often	by	distant	action	and	deep	penetration.	The
British	method	lies	predominantly	in	the	oblique	approach….”	Hackett	attributed
this	style	to	the	fact	that	the	British	created	an	empire	through	command	of	the
sea.	“Wherever	there	was	blue	water,	there	was	an	open	flank….”	In	warfare,	the
desert,	jebel,	and	jungle	have	much	in	common	with	the	ocean.

America	could	lay	claim	to	a	similar	inheritance.	In	the	Revolutionary	War
against	 the	 British,	 Francis	 Marion	 (“the	 Swamp	 Fox”)	 was	 one	 of	 many
irregular	 warriors	 who	 harassed	 the	 Redcoats	 from	 the	 flanks.	 Sgt.	 Ezra	 Lee
piloted	 the	 first	 submarine—The	 American	 Turtle—in	 an	 attack	 on	 the	 Royal
Navy’s	 HMS	Eagle	 in	 New	 York	 harbor	 within	 weeks	 of	 the	 Declaration	 of



Independence.	Some	of	these	lone	rangers	drew	the	short	straw.	In	1780,	one	of
Washington’s	generals,	Benedict	Arnold	V,	deserted	in	a	fit	of	pique	to	join	the
British,	who	made	him	a	brigadier.	John	Champ,	an	Irish-born	First	Sergeant	of
Cavalry,	 was	 commissioned	 by	 General	 Washington	 to	 pretend	 to	 follow
Arnold’s	 example	 and	 switch	 sides.	 The	 real	 purpose	 of	 Champ’s	 “defection”
was	 to	 kidnap	 Arnold	 at	 gunpoint	 and	 bring	 him	 before	 American	 justice.
Champ	joined	the	British	in	New	York,	but	his	plan	to	snatch	Arnold	at	gunpoint
failed	when	Arnold	changed	his	program,	unexpectedly.	Champ	returned	to	his
own	lines,	 to	be	treated	as	if	his	desertion	were	genuine.	The	dirt	clung	to	him
for	the	rest	of	his	life.

The	 groups	 that	 emerged	 from	 Churchill’s	 initiative	 included	 the	 Special
Operations	 Executive	 (commanded	 by	 Churchill	 to	 “set	 Europe	 ablaze”);	 the
Long	Range	Desert	Group,	a	deep	reconnaissance	team;	the	Special	Air	Service,
a	 raiding	 regiment	 that	 became	 the	 godfather	 of	 America’s	 Delta	 Force;	 the
Special	Boat	Service;	Lovat	Scouts;	Wingate’s	jungle	commando,	known	as	the
Chindits,	 Laycock’s	 Commandos	 in	 the	 Mediterranean,	 the	 Jewish-manned
Special	 Interrogation	 Group	 (dressed	 in	 German	 uniforms),	 Popski’s	 Private
Army,	 the	Small	Scale	Raiding	Force,	Force	133,	Force	136,	Force	266,	Rose
Force,	Ferret	Force,	Gideon	Force	and	the	Norwegian	Independent	Companies,
among	others.

Their	progress	was	followed	with	interest	from	neutral	America	by	Colonel
(later	Major	General)	Bill	Donovan.	In	1940	and	1941,	Donovan	made	discreet
trips	 to	 London,	 then	 under	 intensive	 aerial	 attack	 by	 the	Luftwaffe,	 to	 assess
British	 resilience.	 After	 meeting	 Churchill	 and	 the	 U.K.’s	 intelligence
mandarins,	he	was	persuaded	that	the	U.S.	needed	a	unified	intelligence	service
similar	to	Britain’s	Secret	Intelligence	Service.	He	was	also	impressed	by	the	old
lion’s	adoption	of	unconventional	warfare.	In	1942,	back	in	uniform	as	an	army
colonel,	 he	 created	 the	 Office	 of	 Strategic	 Services,	 modeled	 on	 the	 U.K.’s
Special	 Operations	 Executive.	 Donovan’s	 vision	 was	 even	 larger	 than
Churchill’s.	 He	 hoped	 to	 create	 “a	 new	 instrument	 of	 war”	 that	 combined
psychological	warfare,	intelligence	penetration,	and	propaganda—“the	arrow	of
initial	 penetration”—with	 commando	 raids	 in	 support	 of	 conventional
operations.8	 One	 of	 the	 most	 successful	 OSS	 teams	 was	 Detachment	 101,
operating	 in	 Burma	 with	 local	 Kachin	 warriors	 and	 initially	 led	 by	 British
planters	who	knew	the	country.	It	was	later	described	as	“the	only	real	military
unit	 in	 the	 OSS.”9	 Donovan	 had	 to	 ram	 support	 for	 the	 force	 through	 the
opposition	 of	 conventional	 commanders.	 Other	 operational	 OSS	 groups	 were
sent	 to	the	Pacific,	Corsica,	Italy,	Greece,	Yugoslavia,	and	France,	usually	in	a



reconnaissance	 role.	 The	 OSS	 also	 helped	 train	 Mao’s	 Red	 Army	 and	 the
Vietminh	 in	 French	 Indochina	 as	 allies	 against	 Japan.	 Like	 the	 training	 of
mujahideen	 guerrillas	 in	 Afghanistan,	 it	 led	 to	 historical	 “blowback.”	 By	 the
time	 President	 Truman	 closed	 it	 down,	 OSS	 employed	 around	 40,000	 people
(4,500	women),	 including	desk	analysts,	psyops	warriors,	and	spies,	as	well	as
guerrillas.	Its	functions	and	hundreds	of	its	operators	were	inherited	by	the	CIA.
After	the	war,	both	CIA	and	postwar	SIS	inherited	the	OSS	initiative	known	as
Gladio,	a	right-wing	underground	force	operating	in	much	of	western	Europe.

There	was	 another,	 less	 public,	 American	 inheritance	 from	Britain.	 In	 the
spring	of	1942,	the	U.K.’s	Combined	Operations	chief	Lord	Louis	Mountbatten
(assassinated	by	the	IRA	in	1979)	brought	the	attention	of	U.S.	General	George
C.	Marshall	to	an	Arctic	warfare	program	that	matured	to	include	an	American
tracked	 vehicle	 named	 the	Weasel.	 “General	Marshall	 concluded	 that	 an	 elite
force	 recruited	 in	 Canada	 and	 the	 United	 States	 would	 be	 the	 best	 military
organization	 for	 conducting	 raids	 and	 strikes;	 he	 selected	 an	 American,
Lieutenant	 Colonel	 Robert	 Tryon	 Frederick,	 to	 assemble,	 organize,	 train	 and
command	 the	 U.S.-Canadian	 1st	 Special	 Service	 Force.	 Made	 up	 of	 three
regiments	 of	 two	 battalions	 each,	 the	 unit	 became	 a	 separate	 branch	 of	 the
service	 (as	 did	 Special	 Operations	 Command	 much	 later)	 with	 the	 crossed
arrows	 of	 the	 Indian	 Scouts…as	 its	 insignia.	 The	 men	 were	 trained	 in
demolitions,	 rock-climbing,	 amphibious	 assaults	 and	 ski	 techniques	 and	 were
given	basic	airborne	instruction.	They	fought	under	Allied	command	with	great
bravery	 and	 considerable	 success	 in	 the	 Aleutians,	 North	 Africa,	 Italy	 and
Southern	France.	The	1st	Special	Service	Force	got	 its	 nickname,	 ‘the	Devil’s
Brigade,’	during	the	Italian	campaign	from	a	passage	in	the	captured	diary	of	a
dead	German	officer	who	had	written:	‘The	black	devils	are	all	around	us	every
time	we	come	into	line	and	we	never	hear	them.’”

If	 the	 Second	World	War	witnessed	 an	 unparalleled	 evolution	 of	 irregular
and	 special	 forces,	 the	bonds	 formed	during	 that	 conflict	were	 complicated	by
changing	 loyalties	 as	Hitler’s	 defeat	 came	within	 sight.	On	5	 June	1941,	what
British	Communists	perceived	to	be	an	internecine	blood	feud	between	capitalist
powers—a	 conflict	 of	 no	 consequence	 to	 the	 British	 working	 class—was
miraculously	 transformed	 into	 The	 Great	 Patriotic	War	 as	 a	 result	 of	 Hitler’s
invasion	 of	 Soviet	 Russia.	 British	 Communists,	 suddenly	 discovering	 a	 voice,
called	for	“a	Second	Front,	now!”	to	relieve	Russia.

Until	then,	Britain	had	stood	alone	in	defying	Hitler.	But	now,	with	western
Europe	 under	 the	 Nazi	 jackboot,	 Britain’s	 only	 ally	 was	 Moscow.	 Churchill
immediately	 promised	Moscow	“whatever	 help	we	 can,”	 though	 the	U.K.	was
itself	 under	U-boat	 siege	 and	 food	 in	Britain	was	 strictly	 rationed.	Until	 then,



Communist	 Russia	 had	 kept	 faith	 with	 the	 Nazis,	 with	 whom	 Stalin	 shared	 a
non-aggression	pact	while	the	German	blitzkrieg	overran	the	West	and	the	Red
Army	 invaded	 Poland.	 The	 U.S.,	 gripped	 by	 isolationism	 and	 anti-British
sentiment	 personified	 by	 Joseph	 Kennedy	 (the	 most	 hostile	 U.S.	 ambassador
ever	 dispatched	 to	 London),	 could	 not	 enter	 the	 fight,	 officially,	 until	 Japan’s
day	of	 infamy	and	its	destruction	of	America’s	Pacific	Fleet	at	Pearl	Harbor	in
December	1941.

In	 spite	 of	 the	Bolshevik	 scare	 that	 permeated	 the	U.K.	 Establishment	 for
decades	after	the	Bolshevik	revolution	of	1917,	emerging	British	Special	Forces
(often	 regarded	 with	 fear	 and	 loathing	 by	 the	 Foreign	 Office	 and	 the	 Secret
Intelligence	 Service)	 were	 prepared	 pragmatically	 to	 work	 with	 Communist
partisans	 when	 that	 offered	 the	 best	 chance	 of	 victory	 over	 the	 Nazis.	 In	 the
Malayan	jungle,	British	officers	such	as	Spencer	Chapman	found	a	valuable	ally
against	the	Japanese	in	the	Communist	guerrilla	Chin	Peng,	who	was	awarded	an
Order	 of	 the	 British	 Empire	 (OBE)	 before	 he	 was	 hunted	 by	 the	 SAS	 in	 the
postwar	 jungle	 as	 a	 terrorist.	 In	 French	 Indochina	 Lucien	 E.	 Conein,	 an
American	OSS	officer,	supported	Ho	Chi	Minh.	In	Yugoslavia,	Fitzroy	Maclean,
personally	briefed	by	Churchill,	was	 instructed	 to	 support	 the	Communist	Tito
rather	 than	 a	 Yugoslav	 monarch.	 But,	 it	 was	 rumored,	 he	 was	 careful	 not	 to
accept	 the	 first	parachute	his	 controllers	offered	him	on	his	 journey	 into	Nazi-
occupied	Yugoslavia.

A	 sound	 Tory,	 Maclean	 had	 doubts	 about	 supporting	 the	 Communist
partisans	 in	 Yugoslavia,	 with	 obvious	 implications	 for	 what	 would	 happen	 in
that	 country	 after	 the	war.	 Churchill	 asked	Maclean:	 “Do	 you	 intend	 to	make
Yugoslavia	your	home	after	the	war?”	Maclean	said	he	did	not.	“Neither	do	I,”
snapped	Churchill.	“And	that	being	so,	the	less	you	and	I	worry	about	the	form
of	government	they	set	up,	the	better.	That	is	for	them	to	decide.	What	interests
us	is,	which	of	them	is	doing	the	most	harm	to	the	Germans.”10

But	in	March	1946,	when	the	war	was	won,	Churchill—ever	the	pragmatist,
so	 long	 as	 his	 side	 won—saw	 things	 differently,	 with	 a	 speech	 at	 Fulton,
Missouri,	recording	the	fact	that	a	new	Cold	War	had	begun	with	the	descent	of
an	iron	curtain	across	Europe	from	Stettin	to	Trieste.	In	truth	he	had	been	uneasy
about	 his	 Soviet	 ally	 for	 some	 time.	 As	 the	 last	 shot	 was	 fired	 in	 1945,	 he
ordered	General	Montgomery	“to	be	careful	in	collecting	German	arms,	to	stack
them	so	that	they	could	easily	be	issued	again	to	the	German	soldiers	whom	we
should	have	 to	work	with	 if	 the	Soviet	advance	[westward]	continued.”	Others
had	the	same	idea.	As	Professor	Richard	Aldrich	observed,	“many	components
of	Special	Operations	Executive	marched	out	of	the	Second	World	War	into	the
Cold	War	without	breaking	step.”	But	if	the	old	right	wing	of	SOE	had	a	postwar



agenda,	 so	did	 the	West’s	wartime	allies,	 including	Mao	Tse-Tung,	Chin	Peng
OBE,	and	Zionists	such	as	Chaim	Herzog.	They	dreamed	of	 independence	and
the	day	when	the	beaten	men	would	come	into	their	own.

Thanks	to	the	evolution	of	Special	Forces,	the	Second	World	War	was	one	in
which	 indigenous	 underground	 resistance	movements	 also	 came	 of	 age.	 Their
activities,	 like	 those	 of	 Commando	 raiding	 forces,	 started	 as	 little	 more	 than
pinpricks	 which	 boosted	 morale,	 a	 drumbeat	 of	 hope,	 similar	 to	 the	 BBC’s
repeated	Morse	signal	beating	out	dot-dot-dot-dash—the	letter	V,	for	Victory—
on	the	radio.	As	time	passed,	and	the	chronic	problem	of	resupplying	guerrillas
surrounded	by	highly	efficient	opponents	was	overcome,	the	Resistance	took	on
a	strategic	importance,	cutting	enemy	supplies	before	and	after	D-Day	in	France
and	undermining	Japanese	logistics	in	Burma	and	the	Philippines.

There	 can	 be	 no	 doubt	 about	 the	 strategic	 impact	 of	 the	 SAS	 during	 the
Western	Desert	War,	or	that	of	the	American	Detachment	101	in	Burma.	David
Stirling,	Paddy	Mayne,	and	 Jock	Lewes,	 founding	 fathers	of	 the	SAS	 in	1942,
led	raids	that	destroyed	around	300	to	400	German	aircraft	on	the	ground.	By	the
end	of	the	war	in	the	Far	East,	Detachment	101	was	a	guerrilla	army	of	10,000
locals	 aided	 in	 the	 field	 by	 120	 Americans.	 It	 had	 killed	 or	 wounded	 around
15,000	 Japanese,	 rescued	 425	 allied	 airmen,	 and	 wrought	 havoc	 on	 the
coherence	of	the	Japanese	war	machine	in	Burma.

In	the	Japanese-occupied	Philippines,	1941–1944,	Pentagon	historians	have
concluded,	 “support	 to	 and	 in	 some	 cases	 leadership	 of	 irregular	 resistance	 to
Japanese	 forces	 [by	 OSS]	 was	 an	 unqualified	 success.	 It	 stands	 as	 a	 premier
example	 of	 what	 military	 planners	 today	 call	 operational	 preparation	 of	 the
environment.”	 An	 archipelago	 spread	 over	 7,100	 islands	 was	 impossible	 to
control.	 Philippine	 resistance	 “collected	 and	 transmitted	 intelligence	 on
adversary	 order	 of	 battle,	 conducted	 hit-and-run	 raids	 against	 Japanese	 forces
and	 provided	 de	 facto	 government	 services	 in	 a	 number	 of	 villages.”	Like	 the
British	 in	 Ireland	 prior	 to	 1921,	 the	 Japanese	 resorted	 to	 “reprisals	 against
villagers	for	attacks;	imprisonment,	torture	or	execution	of	suspected	guerrillas,
seizure	of	crops	and	livestock,	turning	the	population	against	them.”

Like	Detachment	101,	by	1944	the	British	General	Wingate’s	Chindits	were
operating	in	divisional	strength.	In	western	Europe,	German	efforts	 to	resupply
defenses	in	Normandy	were	constantly	sabotaged	by	the	Maquis	and	SAS.	The
SAS	 historian	 Philip	Warner	 reckoned	 that	 in	 France,	 Belgium,	 Holland,	 and
Germany,	 2,000	 SAS	 soldiers	 killed	 or	 captured	 7,733	 enemy	 and	 captured
4,784,	 not	 including	 an	 entire	 division	 of	 18,000	 that	 surrendered	 to	 the	 SAS.
Around	700	motor	vehicles	had	been	captured	or	destroyed,	as	were	seven	trains,
29	 locomotives,	 and	 89	 individual	 trucks.	 Another	 33	 trains	 were	 derailed.



Railway	lines	were	cut	164	times.
In	spite	of	these	successes,	Special	Forces	emerging	from	the	Second	World

War	were	damned	with	faint	praise,	or	none.	When	victory	was	won	in	Europe,	a
Foreign	Office	mandarin	carped:	“I	know	that	the	SOE	have	done	good	work	in
the	past	but	I	am	confident	that	their	time	for	useful	work	is	over.	Their	contacts
can	 only	 be	 dangerous.”	The	 ruler’s	 fear	 of	 an	 untamed	Praetorian	Guard	 is	 a
historical	 cliché.	 In	 1831	 the	 French	 packed	 the	 Foreign	 Legion	 off	 to	 North
Africa	 “to	 remove	 from	France	 those	 officers	 and	 soldiers,	 French	 or	 foreign,
who	 were	 felt	 to	 be	 awkward,	 excitable	 or	 frankly	 dangerous	 to	 the	 new
monarchy”	 of	 Louis-Philippe.	 Others	 among	 the	 top	 brass	 were	 ungenerous
about	 the	 impact	 of	 Special	 Forces.	 Field	Marshal	Bill	 Slim,	 commanding	 the
14th	 Army	 in	 Burma,	 concluded	 in	 his	 memoir,	 Defeat	 Into	 Victory,	 “Such
formations,	 trained,	 equipped	 and	mentally	 adjusted	 for	 one	 kind	 of	 operation
only,	were	wasteful.	They	 did	 not	 give,	militarily,	 a	worthwhile	 return	 for	 the
resources	in	men,	material	and	time	that	they	had	absorbed.”	At	the	same	time,
Slim	acknowledged	that	in	future,	there	would	be	a	place	for	small	units	behind
enemy	 lines	 to	 kill	 or	 kidnap	 individuals	 and	 “inspire	 resistance	movements.”
Inspiration	 requires	 only	 limited	 resources.	 Serious	 resupply	 by	 clandestine
means	 requires	 commitment	 by	 high	 command,	 in	 the	 face	 of	 objections	 from
more	 regular	 formations.	 Slim	 was	 not	 the	 only	 skeptic.	 The	 official	 British
history	of	the	war	concluded	that	Orde	Wingate’s	Chindits,	operating	far	beyond
the	front	line	in	Burma,	had	achieved	nothing	much	more	than	proof	that	large
numbers	of	men	could	be	supplied	by	air.

Britain’s	 Special	 Forces	 godfathers	 are	 still	 criticized	 by	 some	 historians.
The	writer	Max	Hastings	 comments:	 “These	 exotic	 elite	 groups	 ill	 served	 the
wider	 interests	 of	 the	British	Army,	 chronically	 short	 of	 good	 infantrymen	 for
the	big	battlefields.	Thanks	to	Churchill,	 too	many	of	Britain’s	bravest	soldiers
spent	 the	war	 conducting	 irregular	 and	 self-indulgent	 activities	of	questionable
strategic	 value.”11	 As	 the	 war	 approached	 its	 bloody	 end,	 Special	 Forces
received	 muted	 applause	 in	 messages	 sent	 indirectly	 to	 the	 men	 in	 the	 field,
many	still	active	behind	the	lines.	Eisenhower	described	Donovan	as	“The	Last
Hero.”	In	1944,	the	future	president	also	sent	this	message	to	an	SAS	brigadier:
“I	 wish	 to	 send	 my	 congratulations	 to	 all	 ranks	 of	 the	 Special	 Air	 Service
Brigade	on	the	contribution	which	they	have	made	to	 the	success	of	 the	Allied
Expeditionary	 Force.	 The	 ruthlessness	 with	 which	 the	 enemy	 have	 attacked
Special	Air	Service	troops	has	been	an	indication	of	the	injury	you	were	able	to
cause	 to	 the	 German	 armed	 forces	 both	 by	 your	 own	 efforts	 and	 by	 the
information	 which	 you	 gave	 of	 German	 disposition	 and	 movements.	 Many
Special	 Air	 Service	 troops	 are	 still	 behind	 enemy	 lines;	 others	 are	 being



reformed	for	new	tasks.	To	all	of	them	I	say,	‘Well	done	and	good	luck!’”
Montgomery,	 in	 a	 radio	message	 to	 troops	behind	 the	 lines,	 shortly	before

the	illfated	Arnhem	operation,	relayed	via	Lieutenant	General	“Boy”	Browning,
said:	“The	operations	you	have	carried	out	have	had	more	effect	in	hastening	the
disintegration	of	the	German	7th	and	5th	Armies	than	any	other	single	effort	in
the	army…which	no	other	troops	in	the	world	could	have	done….	The	strain	has
been	great	because	operating	as	you	do	entails	 the	most	constant	vigilance	and
cunning	which	 no	 other	 troops	 are	 called	 upon	 to	 display….	To	 say	 you	have
done	your	job	well	is	to	put	it	mildly….”12

The	 political	 compass,	 marking	 a	 decisive	 change	 of	 wartime	 loyalties,
started	to	shift	first	in	Italy	in	1944	when	Team	X-2,	an	element	of	OSS	led	by
the	 paranoid	 James	 Angleton,	 made	 common	 cause	 with	 Prince	 Valerio
Borghese,	whose	men	 had	 “hanged	 [anti-Fascist]	 partisans	 from	 lampposts	 all
over	Italy”	during	the	Mussolini	years.	Initially,	Angleton’s	target	was	a	German
stay-behind	unit	in	Rome,	whose	men	were	summarily	rounded	up	and	shot	by
their	former	Italian	allies.	Later,	by	devious	means,	the	OSS	became	the	CIA	and
former	 Fascists	 signed	 up	 to	 join	 the	 anti-Communist	 secret	 army	 known	 as
Gladio	funded	by	untraceable	dollars	siphoned	from	the	Marshall	Aid	budget.

The	 political	 scenery	 changed	 rapidly	 elsewhere.	 Between	 1946	 and	 1951
Britain	 smuggled	 127	German	 scientists	 and	 engineers	 to	 Australia,	 including
thirty-one	Nazi	Party	members	and	six	SS	officers.	These	experts	 included	 the
chief	 of	 the	 Messerschmitt	 aircraft	 team	 and	 a	 nuclear	 physicist	 working	 on
Hitler’s	proposed	atomic	bomb.13	Immediately	after	the	Third	Reich	fell	in	1945
the	Gestapo	war	criminal	Klaus	Barbie—a	torturer	responsible	for	the	deaths	of
4,000	French	patriots—worked	for	British	and	American	intelligence	services	in
Germany	 even	 as	 an	 SAS	War	 Crimes	 Investigation	 Team	 known	 as	 “Secret
Hunters”	scoured	Germany	to	track	such	people	down.	Secret	Hunters,	pursuing
Germans	who	 had	 butchered	 their	wartime	 colleagues,	made	 the	 “mistake,”	 if
mistake	it	was,	of	fighting	yesterday’s	war	against	Hitler	rather	than	today’s	new
war	against	Stalin.	They	were	appointed	on	15	May	1945	by	Lieutenant	Colonel
Brian	Franks,	whose	soldiers	of	2	SAS	had	been	executed	in	Occupied	France.

The	Hunters	stayed	in	business	until	January	1947,	by	which	time	the	British
Socialist	 government	 believed	 it	 had	 consigned	 the	 SAS	 brigade	 and	 Special
Operations	Executive,	with	 its	2,000	agents,	 to	history.	Officially	disbanded	 in
1946,	 SOE	was	 able	 to	 transfer	 280	 of	 its	 operators	 to	 the	 Secret	 Intelligence
Service	 (MI6)	 on	 15	 January	 that	 year.	 At	 first,	 they	 were	 part	 of	 a	 Special
Operations	Branch	 running	 agents	 and	 guerrillas	 into	 the	Balkans	 and	Russia.
Many	of	 them	were	betrayed	by	 the	British	spymaster	Kim	Philby.	Philby	was



also	a	KGB	colonel,	a	senior	SIS	officer,	and	one	of	the	Cambridge	University
spy	ring.	In	a	twist	worthy	of	a	le	Carré	novel,	both	Philby	and	one	of	the	SIS
agent-runners,	Mark	Arnold-Foster,	a	Royal	Navy	SF	veteran,	were	doubling	as
journalists	for	 the	same	London	newspaper	(the	Observer)	for	some	time,	each
still	deeply	entangled	in	the	spying	game.	After	Russia	exploded	its	first	nuclear
weapon	 in	 1949	 and	 gradually	 deployed	 viable	 warheads,	 direct	 action,	 SOE-
style,	was	regarded	as	too	risky,	though	spying	flourished.

In	 the	 United	 States,	 a	 similar	 process	 was	 happening.	 President	 Harry
Truman,	a	Democrat,	did	not	like	the	willful,	freebooting	style	of	the	OSS	leader
Bill	 Donovan.	 The	 OSS	 was	 disbanded,	 only	 to	 re-emerge	 as	 a	 shiny,	 new
Central	 Intelligence	 Agency	 employing	 many	 of	 the	 same	 people.	 Like	 the
wartime	 SAS,	 it	 seems	 to	 have	 mutated	 in	 a	 series	 of	 steps.	With	 its	 formal
dissolution	in	October	1945	its	identity	was	preserved	by	an	entity	known	as	the
Strategic	 Services	 Unit	 until	 a	 year	 later,	 when	 the	 SSU	 became	 the	 Central
Intelligence	Group	under	Rear	Admiral	Sidney	W.	Souers	and	Admiral	William
Leahy.	In	1948	the	CIG	was	absorbed	by	the	Central	Intelligence	Agency.	The
CIA’s	 Special	Operations	Division	 then	 took	 on	 the	mantle	 of	 the	OSS,	 from
early	operations	in	Tibet	in	1956	and	Southeast	Asia	during	the	Vietnam	War	by
way	of	Angola	in	the	seventies,	to	the	ongoing	Afghanistan	conflict.

In	 time,	 significant	differences	emerged	between	 the	 fighting	 style	of	OSS
and	SOE	on	one	hand,	and	the	modern	CIA	on	the	other.	Postwar	Special	Forces
teams	are	usually	just	that:	close-knit	teams	that	sometimes	act	as	the	executive
arm	 of	 the	 intelligence	 agencies.	 Frontline	 CIA	 and	 SIS	 personnel	 regularly
function	 undercover	 as	 individuals	 in	 a	 hostile	 environment,	 a	 job	 requiring
enormous	 emotional	 and	 intellectual	 stamina.	As	 field	 officers	 they	work	 at	 a
distance	 from	 their	 controlling	 bureaucracies	 and	 sometimes,	 unsurprisingly,
become	alienated	from	it.	One	of	these	was	John	Stockwell,	Angola	case	officer
from	 1974	 to	 2002,	 whose	 reflections	 on	 Agency	 incompetence	 at	 that	 time
reflect	pain	 (for	Stockwell	was	an	 idealist	who	 loved	Africa)	as	well	as	anger.
He	 is	 not	 alone	 in	 his	 emetic	 response	 to	 the	moral	 ambiguities	 of	 realpolitik.
But	then,	intelligence	operations	are	often	rough	trade.

The	survival	of	the	British	SAS,	alone	among	wartime	special	forces	teams,
is	 a	 textbook	 example	 of	 political	 escape	 and	 evasion.	 Though	 the	 Socialist
Attlee	government	had	decreed	 that	 it	must	die,	 in	 the	gloomy	corridors	of	 the
War	Office	 a	 cell	was	 created	 in	 1946	 to	 consider	 the	 future	 of	 SF,	 if	 any.	 It
concluded	that	in	the	next	European	war,	there	would	be	no	static	front	lines.	It
acknowledged	 that	 small	parties	of	 stay-behind	 forces	could	punch	above	 their
weight,	so	long	as	they	did	not	try	to	take	over	the	functions	of	SIS	or	become	a
reborn	 SOE.	 In	 what	 was	 an	 obvious	 compromise	 between	 letting	 the



government	 have	 its	 way	 over	 Special	 Forces	 and	 covering	 an	 unguarded
military	flank,	the	War	Office	gave	its	blessing,	in	principle,	to	the	creation	of	a
reserve,	Territorial	Army	(National	Guard)	unit.	This	exercise	was	massaged	by
the	 ubiquitous	Brian	Franks,	 former	 boss	 of	 2	 SAS	 in	Occupied	France.	Over
later	 years,	 he	 would	 emerge	 as	 a	 key	 player	 in	 the	 continuance	 of	 special
operations,	 not	 all	 of	 them	 not	 authorized	 by	 government.	 Between	 1946	 and
1947,	 Franks	 took	 two	 initiatives.	 First,	 he	 arranged	 for	 the	 Gladio	 network,
promoted	by	the	SIS	chief,	Sir	Stewart	Menzies,	in	various	European	capitals,	to
be	 serviced	 by	 British	 Liaison	 Officers	 who	 were	 former	 SAS	 and	 SOE
operators.

He	also	arranged	 for	a	 respected	 reserve	 regiment,	 the	Artists	Rifles,	 to	be
reborn	 as	 21	 SAS	 (Artists).	 Founded	 in	 1859,	 the	Artists	 accommodated	 such
creative	spirits	as	William	Morris,	Wilfred	Owen,	and	Noel	Coward	and	turned
them	 into	 soldiers.	 It	 was	 disbanded	 in	 1945	 and	 reconstituted	 as	 an	 officer-
training	 team	 two	years	 later.	By	a	process	 that	 is	 still	 not	 clear,	Brian	Franks
arranged	 for	 the	 resurrected	 Artists	 to	 become	 21	 SAS	 (Artists)	 (Reserve).	 A
humble	national	 guard	unit,	 21	SAS	was	 licensed	 to	prepare	 for	 a	 stay-behind
role	 in	Germany,	 to	wage	 guerrilla	war	 against	 the	Warsaw	Pact	 invaders	 and
identify	 targets	 for	 nuclear	 weapons.	 It	 was	 an	 awesome	 responsibility	 for
weekend	soldiers.	The	SAS	reservists	prepared	by	digging	large	holes	in	German
soil	 for	 use	 as	 hides.	 In	 time,	 it	 found	 another	 role	 as	 a	 supplier	 of	 deniable
soldiers	for	clandestine	missions	far	from	Europe	and	a	recruitment	agency	for
well-connected	mercenaries.

On	the	other	side	of	the	world,	in	the	Malayan	jungle,	a	very	different	sort	of
conflict	was	 about	 to	 have	 a	 decisive	 impact	 on	 the	 SAS	 phenomenon.	 In	 the
spring	of	1948,	ethnic	Chinese	Malayans,	armed	with	an	arsenal	of	British	and
Japanese	weapons,	began	an	offensive	 to	 turn	Malaya	 into	a	Communist	 state.
The	 emergency	 had	 a	 shocking	 beginning.	 Small	 groups	 of	 armed	 Chinese
entered	 rubber	 plantations,	 seized	 their	 Chinese	 foremen,	 and	 summoned
villagers	to	witness	the	executions	of	these	alleged	enemies	of	the	people.	On	16
June,	three	young	Chinese	men	cycled	into	Elphil	Estate	in	Perak	and	shot	dead
a	fifty-year-old	British	planter,	Arthur	Walker.	A	few	miles	away,	Ian	Christian
and	 his	 manager,	 J.	 Alison,	 were	 bound	 to	 chairs	 and	 murdered	 in	 the	 same
fashion.

One	of	the	most	charismatic	leaders	of	the	insurgency	was	Chin	Peng,	OBE.
During	the	Japanese	occupation,	Chin	Peng	had	worked	with	British	agents	from
SOE’s	Force	136	and	with	Spencer	Chapman,	to	whom	he	was	“a	true	friend.”	It
is	believed	that	Chin	took	part	in	the	London	Victory	Parade	in	1945.	But	then
he	turned	his	guns	on	Britain.	He	became	leader	of	the	Communist	guerrillas	and



took	to	the	jungle.	Chin	Peng	did	not	give	up	easily.	His	war	against	the	British
and	Malayan	governments	continued	until	1989.	In	2008	he	was	living	in	exile
in	Thailand,	hoping	to	return	to	Malaysia.

In	1950,	to	fight	this	latest	jungle	conflict,	Brigadier	“Mad	Mike”	Calvert,	a
wartime	SAS	commander	and	heavyweight	boxing	champion,	was	instructed	to
raise	a	force	able	to	survive	in	the	jungle	for	long	periods,	taking	the	battle	to	the
Communists	on	 their	own	ground.	It	was	a	novel	 idea	at	 the	 time.	Calvert	was
expected	 to	 create	 the	 new	 force	 almost	 overnight.	 He	 raised	 the	 Malayan
Scouts,	which	 he	 then	 renamed	 the	Malayan	 Scouts	 (SAS).	 They	were	 a	 very
mixed	bunch.	There	were	some	excellent	veterans	from	SOE,	SAS,	Ferret	Force,
and	Force	136.	A	squadron	of	21	SAS	reservists,	on	its	way	to	the	Korean	War,
was	 diverted	 to	 join	 the	 Scouts.	 Calvert	 also	 recruited	 1,000	 volunteers	 from
Rhodesia	(now	Zimbabwe),	a	group	that	would	re-emerge	later	as	“C”	Squadron,
SAS.	It	still	exists	as	a	phantom	squadron.	Calvert	also	acquired	some	cowboys
whose	 units	 were	 glad	 to	 be	 rid	 of	 them.	 A	 handful	 of	 National	 Service
conscripts	was	added	 to	 the	mix.	At	 that	 time,	 the	prolonged	selection	process
for	which	the	SAS	would	become	a	world	leader	did	not	exist.	Calvert	once	told
the	author	that	the	Scouts	had	similarities,	in	his	mind,	with	the	Black	And	Tans
as	an	ad	hoc	formation	that	could	be	readily	disbanded	if	it	provoked	a	political
row.	No	surprises	there:	most	Special	Forces	units	are	ad	hoc,	temporary	entities,
dispersed	when	their	work	is	done.

The	Scouts	were	withdrawn	in	1951	to	be	reorganized	as	22	SAS	Regiment
under	a	new	commander	and	retrained	at	the	Jungle	Warfare	School,	Kota	Tingi,
Malaya.	 This	 was	 an	 interesting	 establishment	 that	 subequently	 trained
Australian	 SAS	 soldiers	 to	 fight	 in	 Vietnam.	 Run	 by	 a	 veteran	 jungle	 fighter
named	John	Cross,	 it	 replicated	some	very	evil	 jungle	booby	 traps	used	by	 the
Vietminh.	Colonel	Cross	could	imitate	most	of	the	bird	calls	to	be	heard	in	the
jungle.	During	the	Second	World	War,	serving	with	the	Gurkha	Rifles,	he	heard
a	 call	 that	 belonged	 to	 a	 nocturnal	 bird.	 It	 was	 mid-morning.	 He	 set	 up	 an
ambush	 and	waited	 for	 the	 Japanese	 patrol	 to	walk	 into	 it.	Did	 it	work?	 “We
killed	every	last	one	of	them,”	he	once	told	the	author.

The	 reformed	 SAS	 returned	 to	 the	 jungle,	 fighting	 an	 often	 clandestine
campaign	 until	 around	 1960.	 Further	 changes	 from	 1955	 resulted	 from	 the
appointment	 of	 Lieutenant	 Colonel	 George	 Lea,	 an	 Arnhem	 veteran,	 as
commanding	officer.	Lea	sacked	the	most	ineffective	officers	and	recruited	some
new	talent	including	Lieutenant	Peter	de	la	Billiere.	As	a	Lieutenant	General,	he
led	British	forces	in	the	first	Gulf	War	in	1990–91.	By	1956	five	SAS	squadrons
totaling	560	men	were	operating	in	the	Malayan	jungle.	But	as	yet,	it	was	still	an
ad	hoc	force	of	the	sort	envisioned	by	Calvert.



There	was	always	a	darker	 side	 to	 the	evolution	of	 these	 forces.	The	same
individuals	who	 led	 by	 heroic	 example	 in	 the	 Second	World	War	were	 thrust
into	counterinsurgency	campaigns	later	perceived	as	“dirty	wars”	in	which	they
matched	 evil	with	 evil.	 Some	 of	 the	 Long	Range	Desert	Group,	 having	 taken
prisoners	who	were	an	embarrassment—since	there	was	no	provision	for	POWs
in	the	Libyan	desert—considered	murdering	their	captives.	They	did	not	do	so,
releasing	 them	 to	 their	 fate	 in	 the	wilderness	 instead.	 In	 the	 1930s	Wingate’s
Special	 Night	 Squads,	 hunting	 Arab	 saboteurs	 in	 Palestine,	 were	 disbanded
because	of	 the	 treatment	of	captives	and	because	 the	SNS,	 like	 the	Black	And
Tans	 in	 Ireland	 in	 the	 twenties,	 provoked	 rebellion	 rather	 than	 suppressing	 it.
During	the	Vietnam	War,	the	“Green	Beret”	affair	arose	from	the	unauthorized
killing	of	a	double	agent	in	1969.

The	 most	 dramatic	 moral	 breakdown,	 however,	 occurred	 not	 within	 the
ranks	of	the	SAS	or	SBS	or	their	American	counterparts	in	OSS,	but	within	the
U.S.	Navy’s	 equivalent,	 the	Office	 of	Naval	 Intelligence,	which	 lubricated	 the
Allied	 advance	 across	 Sicily	 in	 1943	 by	 cutting	 deals	with	 the	Sicilian	Mafia,
first	in	New	York	and	later	in	Sicily	itself.	This	morally	ambiguous	strategy	was
followed,	as	noted	above,	by	OSS	arrangements	in	Italy	with	Italian	Fascists	in
the	 organization	 of	 shadowy	 anti-Soviet	 “stay-behind”	 units	 known	 loosely	 as
“Gladio,”	 The	 Sword.	 In	 Italy,	 Germany,	 and	 Belgium,	 assassins	 linked	 to
Gladio	teams	took	direct	action	against	communists	suspected	of	being	part	of	a
fifth	column	prepared	to	run	Moscow-puppet	governments	should	the	Red	Army
overrun	 the	 country.	 The	 organic	 nature	 of	 the	 Gladio	 network	 after	 it	 was
secretly	 adopted	 by	NATO	made	 it	 inevitable	 that	 some	 operators	 from	 these
countries	were	trained	in	Britain	and	elsewhere	by	British	and	American	Special
Forces,	just	like	the	Afghan	mujahideen	in	the	1980s.

For	 four	 decades	 after	 the	 Second	World	War,	 the	 British	 army	 had	 two
commitments.	 The	 first,	 known	 as	 Priority	 One,	 was	 the	 defense	 of	 Western
Europe	from	attack	by	the	Red	Army	and	its	allies.	These	were	edgy	times.	As
Sir	 John	 Killick,	 British	 ambassador	 to	 NATO,	 told	 the	 author	 during	 those
years:	“We	know	their	capabilities.	We	do	not	know	their	intentions.”	It	does	not
seem	 to	 have	 struck	 Western	 governments	 that	 the	 Soviets,	 having	 lost	 26
million	 dead	 following	 Germany’s	 invasion,	 might	 have	 felt	 it	 needed	 buffer
states	 in	 eastern	 Europe	 as	 an	 insurance	 against	 a	 repeat	 performance.
Meanwhile,	 the	 scope	 for	 Special	 Forces	 activity	 in	 the	 frozen	 strategy	 of	 the
Cold	War	in	western	Europe—a	potential	conflict	between	lumbering	dinosaurs
—was	limited,	but	not	impossible.

In	 Europe,	 throughout	 the	 forty-four	 years	 of	 the	 Cold	 War,	 a	 team
unconnected	 with	 the	 wartime	 freemasonry	 founded	 by	 Gubbins	 and	 Stirling



operated	 across	 the	 front	 line	 alongside	 the	 agent-running	 arm	 of	 SIS.	 It	 was
known	as	Brixmis,	or	 the	British	Commanders’-in-Chief	Mission	 to	 the	Soviet
Forces	in	Germany.	It	answered	to	the	intelligence	secretariat	of	the	Ministry	of
Defence	and	unlike	the	Foreign	Office	(vide	Philby)	or	CIA	(vide	Aldrich	Ames)
it	 was	 never	 penetrated	 by	 the	 KGB.	 Its	 intelligence	 product	 was	 sent	 to
Washington,	 sometimes	 before	 it	 reached	 London.	 From	 1947	 two	 similar,
smaller	 missions	 worked	 alongside	 Brixmis.	 These	 were	 the	 U.S.	 Military
Liaison	Mission,	which	included	Major	Arthur	Nicholson,	and	the	French	MLM.

Meanwhile	in	Northern	Ireland,	from	1969	onwards,	following	the	explosion
of	 resentment	 among	 the	 minority	 Catholic	 population	 in	 response	 to	 the
government’s	failure	to	provide	equal	rights	in	voting,	jobs,	and	housing,	street
politics	 boiled	 over	 to	 become	 an	 insurgency	 and	 full-blown	 campaign	 of
terrorism.	British	intelligence	was	caught	by	surprise,	asserting	that	the	IRA	was
a	 long-dead,	 moribund	 force.	 After	 Gunner	 Robert	 Curtis,	 the	 first	 British
casualty,	 was	 shot	 dead	 in	 Belfast	 in	 February	 1971,	 elements	 of	 Britain’s
conventional	 “green	 army,”	 configured	 for	 the	 European	 battlefield,	 adopted
counterinsurgency	 methods	 including	 the	 use	 of	 civilian	 clothes,	 burglary	 of
private	 homes	 to	 plant	 bugs,	 and	 assassination.	 For	 many	 soldiers	 it	 was	 a
schizophrenic	 experience	 in	 which	 the	 Red	 Army’s	 tank	 divisions	 were	 the
threat	during	one	operational	tour,	while	at	other	times	the	Improvised	Explosive
Device	teams	of	the	IRA	awaited	them	on	the	back	streets	of	Belfast.

On	 the	 other	 side	 of	 the	 world,	 France	 and	 then	 the	 United	 States	 were
fighting	a	war	of	attrition	in	Indochina.	The	French	wanted	to	restore	their	pre-
war	colonial	 rule.	The	U.S.	was	persuaded	by	George	Kennan	and	John	Foster
Dulles	to	adopt	a	policy	of	containment	to	rein	in	international	communism.	The
locals	wanted	self-determination	and	were	willing	to	take	help	from	any	quarter,
as	they	had	done	during	the	Second	World	War.	Step	by	reluctant	step,	the	U.S.
entered	 the	 Vietnam	 quagmire,	 unsupported,	 for	 once,	 by	 the	 U.K.	 Like
Afghanistan	today,	it	was	a	conflict	fought	against	a	guerrilla	army,	one	in	which
the	occupation	of	minds	counted	for	more	than	the	control	of	territory.	It	saw	the
emergence	of	strategic	hamlets	and	free-fire	zones	(based	on	British	experience
in	Malaya);	 civic	 action	 teams;	 recruitment	 of	 aboriginal	 tribes;	 and	 a	 steady
buildup	 of	 Special	 Forces	 such	 as	 the	 Mobile	 Guerrilla	 Force	 and	 including,
from	1962,	the	creation	of	Navy	SEALs	(described	by	their	Vietcong	adversary
as	 “devils	 with	 green	 faces”)	 on	 the	 orders	 of	 President	 Kennedy.	 The	 same
themes	 resonated	 in	 Afghanistan,	 but	 as	 Secretary	 of	 Defense	 Robert	 Gates
pointed	out:	“Apart	from	Special	Forces	and	a	few	dissident	colonels	 there	has
been	no	strong,	deeply	rooted	constituency	inside	the	Pentagon	or	elsewhere	for
institutionalizing	 the	 capabilities	 necessary	 to	 wage	 asymmetric	 or	 irregular



conflict.”14	By	1970,	as	U.S.	planes	began	bombing	the	Ho	Chi	Minh	trail	and
American	combat	troops	invaded	Cambodia,	the	British	SAS	focused	on	another
Communist	threat:	the	potential	loss	of	Oman,	gateway	to	the	Gulf,	as	a	result	of
the	despotic,	medieval	regime	of	the	Ruler,	Sheik	bin	Taimur,	a	British	client.	A
coup	d’etat	was	engineered	by	SIS	in	which	the	Ruler	was	replaced	by	his	son,
Qaboos,	then	under	house	arrest.	The	first	problem	was	to	open	a	line	of	contact
with	Britain’s	 chosen	Ruler-in-waiting,	Qaboos.	His	 father	grudgingly	 allowed
him	to	receive	cassette	tapes	of	music.	Qaboos,	as	a	result	of	his	service	with	the
British	army	in	Germany,	liked	Scottish	marches,	with	bagpipe	accompaniment.
The	 tapes,	 purchased	 at	 Harrods	 store	 in	 London,	 were	 doctored	 so	 as	 to
interrupt	the	music	and	relay	voice	messages	from	a	friend	who	had	shared	his
room	at	Sandhurst	military	college.

After	a	brief	exchange	of	fire	during	which	Bin	Taimur	shot	himself	through
the	foot,	the	deposed	leader	was	spirited	away	by	the	Royal	Air	Force	to	live	out
his	 final	 years	 in	 London.	 The	 SAS	 then	 moved	 stealthily	 into	 Oman	 with	 a
strategy	 that	 placed	 as	 much	 emphasis	 on	 winning	 hearts	 and	 minds	 as	 war-
fighting.	 It	 included	 the	 extraordinary	 gamble	 of	 persuading	 the	 untamed	 hill
tribes	of	Dhofar	to	change	sides	by	arming	them	with	the	latest	British	rifles,	and
paying	 them.	A	similar	strategy	saved	Western	policy	 in	 Iraq	 in	2006	with	 the
difference	 that	 in	Oman,	 SAS	 officers	 and	 sergeants	worked	 in	 isolation	with
these	 “turned”	 enemy,	 at	 great	 personal	 risk.	 The	Oman	Cocktail—a	 blend	 of
bribes,	development,	and	firepower—became	a	signature	tactic	of	the	SAS,	out
of	sight	of	the	British	public	in	a	six-year	war	without	limits	that	ended	in	1976.
This	SAS	victory	had	momentous	implications.	It	ensured	Allied	control	of	the
gateway	to	the	Hormuz	Strait,	the	Gulf,	and	its	oilfields	for	decades.

The	 SAS	 phenomenon	 spread	 to	 postwar	 U.S.	 Special	 Forces	 thanks	 to
Charlie	Beckwith,	a	young	American	officer	attached	 to	22	SAS	from	1961	 to
1963,	 during	 which	 time	 he	 took	 part	 in	 jungle	 operations	 in	 Malaya.	 The
informal	structure	and	idiosyncratic	discipline	of	the	SAS	that	paid	little	heed	to
rank,	only	quality,	puzzled	and	fascinated	him.	He	wrote	later:	“I	couldn’t	make
heads	or	tails	of	this	situation.	The	officers	were	so	professional,	so	well	read,	so
articulate,	 so	 experienced.	Why	 were	 they	 serving	 within	 this	 organization	 of
non-regimental	and	apparently	poorly	disciplined	troops?	The	troops	resembled
no	military	organization	I	had	ever	known….	Everything	I’d	been	taught	about
soldiering,	been	trained	to	believe,	was	turned	upside	down.”15

In	1977,	having	survived	an	apparently	fatal	gunshot	wound	in	the	abdomen
in	Vietnam,	“Chargin’	Charlie”	 set	up	an	elite	Special	Forces	known	as	Delta,
carefully	modeled	 on	 the	 SAS.	 Its	 first	major	 test,	Operation	Eagle	Claw—an



attempt	 to	rescue	U.S.	diplomat-hostages	 in	Iran	 in	1980—was	a	fiasco	caused
by	 poor	 air	 support	 and	 a	 top-heavy	 command	 structure.	 Beckwith’s	 ironic
verdict,	 in	 a	 message	 to	 his	 British	 buddies,	 was:	 “You	 can’t	 make	 chicken
chowmein	out	of	chickenshit.”	Delta	survived	that	disaster	to	become	the	cutting
edge	 of	U.S.	 unconventional	warfare	 in	 Iraq	 from	 2003	 and	Afghanistan	 after
campaigns	in	Mogadishu,	1993,	Central	and	South	America.	When	the	going	got
tough	 in	 Congress,	 ingenious	 spirits	 in	 Washington	 such	 as	 Marine	 Colonel
Oliver	North	recruited	plausibly	deniable	ex-SAS	British	mercenaries	and	others
to	 operate	 in	 Nicaragua.	 They	 included	Major	 David	Walker,	 formerly	 of	 the
SAS	and	later	head	of	the	enigmatic	private	military	company	KMS.

The	creation	of	Delta	Force	was	followed	in	1979	during	the	Iran	crisis	by
the	 Foreign	 Operating	 Group	 (later	 redesignated	 the	 Intelligence	 Support
Activity,	aka	“The	Activity”).	In	1981	the	ISA	ran	signals	intelligence	that	led	to
the	rescue	of	U.S.	General	James	Lee	Dozier,	a	prisoner	of	Italian	Red	Brigade
terrorists	 for	 forty-two	 days,	 as	 well	 as	 the	 1984	 attempted	 liberation	 of	 Bill
Buckley,	 the	 CIA	 station	 chief	 held	 captive,	 then	 murdered,	 in	 Beirut;	 and
operations	 in	Panama,	Colombia,	Somalia,	Bosnia,	 Iraq,	and	Afghanistan.	Like
Britain’s	 Special	 Reconnaissance	 Regiment,	 a	 unit	 with	 roots	 in	 the	 Irish
conflict,	 the	 ISA	 also	 acts	 as	 the	 eyes	 and	 ears	 of	 an	 SF	 strike	 force	 such	 as
Delta.

By	 the	 time	 the	 Soviet	 empire	 collapsed	 in	 1989,	 Special	 Forces	 had
emerged	 as	 the	 means	 to	 resolve	 political	 conflict	 without	 the	 penalties	 that
would	accompany	the	use	of	conventional	armies.	It	was	even,	as	M.	R.	D.	Foot
argued,	 a	 political	 safety-valve,	 a	 useful	 alternative	 to	 the	 mutually	 assured
destruction	 of	 nuclear	 war.	 This	 history	 examines	 the	 validity	 of	 that	 novel
proposition,	 and	much	else,	 including	 the	 extent	 to	which	 the	SF	phenomenon
licenses	its	operators,	notably	deniable	warriors	 in	the	private	sector,	 to	enter	a
legal	 gray	 area	 where	 others	 dare	 not	 go,	 boldly	 or	 otherwise.	 In	 practice	 it
uniquely	inhabits	an	ambiguous	zone	between	the	politically	acceptable	and	the
officially	deniable.	Success	comes	at	a	cost,	usually	in	civil	liberties.	Population
control	 methods	 employed	 in	 the	 conflicts	 of	 Malaya,	 Vietnam,	 Kenya,
Afghanistan,	and	Pakistan	and	internment	without	trial	in	Northern	Ireland	were
all	case	studies	in	misapplied	social	engineering.

But	 in	an	age	of	asymmetric	warfare,	 the	 techniques	developed	by	Special
Forces	 represent	 the	 future.	 The	 economic	 crash	 of	 2008	 forced	 the	 Obama
regime	 to	 take	 a	 long,	 hard	 look	 at	 the	 Pentagon’s	 spending.	 Hillary	 Clinton,
Obama’s	Secretary	of	State,	espoused	instead	Professor	Joseph	Nye’s	concept	of
“smart	power,”	acknowledging	that	“most	of	the	conflicts	we	are	facing	and	will
face	rarely	have	a	military	solution.”	It	was	probably	no	coincidence	that	in	the



final	months	 of	 the	Bush	 presidency,	 after	 prolonged	 campaigns	 that	 ended	 in
stalemate,	 at	 best,	 a	 blueprint	 for	 a	 new	 military	 strategy	 emerged	 from	 the
Pentagon.	 Dated	 September	 2008,	 the	 280-page	 document	 is	 Field	Manual	 3-
05.130,	 entitled	Army	Special	Operations	Forces—Unconventional	Warfare.	 It
defines	 the	Bush	administration’s	 foreign	policy	aims	as	“furthering	capitalism
to	foster	economic	growth…and	promote	the	sale	and	mobility	of	U.S.	products
to	 international	 consumers”	 accompanied	 by	 such	 strategic	 tools	 as	 “global
freedom	of	action”	and	“full	spectrum	dominance.”

To	create	a	new	world	order,	after	the	American	model,	the	authors	concede,
will	be	the	work	of	generations.	While	orthodox	military	dominance,	worldwide,
is	 a	 given,	 the	 main	 thrust	 of	 policy	 is	 the	 use	 of	 Unconventional	 Warfare,
“working	by,	with	or	through	irregular	surrogates	in	a	clandestine	and/or	covert
manner	against	opposing	actors.”	It	is	also	“a	fundamentally	indirect	application
of	 power	 that	 leverages	 human	 groups	 to	 act	 in	 concert	 with	 U.S.	 national
objectives.”	That	means	training	and	supporting	surrogates	in	“the	full	range	of
human	 motivation	 beyond	 narrowly	 defined	 actual	 or	 threatened	 physical
coercion.”

It	 is,	 essentially,	 war	 on	 the	 mind,	 manipulating	 public	 opinion.	 “The
objective	 of	 Unconventional	 Warfare	 (UW)	 is	 always	 inherently	 political….
Some	of	the	best	weapons	do	not	shoot.”	Furthermore,	“A	fundamental	military
objective	 in	 Unconventional	Warfare	 (UW)	 is	 the	 deliberate	 involvement	 and
leveraging	 of	 civilian	 interference	 in	 the	 unconventional	 warfare	 operational
area….	Actors	 engaged	 in	 supporting	 elements	 in	 the	Unconventional	Warfare
Operational	Area	may	rely	on	criminal	activities,	such	as	smuggling,	narcotics	or
human	 trafficking….	The	methods	 and	 networks	 of	 real	 or	 perceived	 criminal
entities	can	be	useful	as	supporting	elements	of	a	U.S.-sponsored	UW	effort.”

The	foot	soldiers	in	the	new	model	army	of	irregulars	will	be	“unconstrained
by	sovereign	nation	legalities	and	boundaries.	These	forces	may	include,	but	are
not	limited	to,	specific	paramilitary	forces,	contractors,	individuals,	businesses…
black	marketers	and	other	 social	or	political	 ‘undesirables’.”	The	new	doctrine
also	proposes	a	license	to	kill	opponents	pre-emptively,	“against	nonstate	actors
operating	 within	 or	 behind	 the	 laws	 of	 nonbelligerent	 states	 with	 which	 the
United	States	is	not	at	war…or	within	a	hostile	state	that	harbors,	either	wittingly
or	unwittingly,	these	nonstate	actors	within	its	borders.”

There	 is	 more	 of	 the	 same.	 The	 new	 doctrine	 also	 synthesizes	 the	 darker
history	 of	 Special	 Forces:	 the	 ruthless	 use	 of	 surrogates	 including	 civilians,
involvement	 in	 the	 international	 drug	 trade,	 compulsory	 relocation	 of	 civilian
populations,	 the	 redirection	 of	 aid	 programs	 for	 political	 purposes,	 and	 the
subversion	 of	 unfriendly	 governments	 lubricated	 by	 the	 dollar	 (as	 in	 Iran	 in



1951).	It	is	a	pragmatic	handbook	for	illegal	military	activity	to	“ignite	a	new	era
of	global	economic	growth	through	free	markets	and	free	trade.”	Its	attraction	to
increasingly	 hard-up	 military	 planners	 facing	 an	 open-ended	 Global	 War	 On
Terror,	could	be	irresistible	unless	the	Obama	administration	puts	its	foot	on	the
ethical	brake.	Whatever	the	outcome,	we	cannot	understand	the	complexities	of
modern,	 asymmetric	warfare	without	 an	 awareness	 of	 the	 sophisticated,	multi-
layered	organism	that	we	loosely	describe	as	“Special	Forces.”

What	began	as	 Irish	and	American	 resistance	 to	British	 rule,	mutating	 into
organized	guerrilla	warfare,	 terrorism,	 and	propaganda-by-deed	along	 the	way,
has	now	become	a	military	discipline	in	its	own	right.	It	does	not	discard	the	old
skills	 such	 as,	 for	 example,	 the	British	 commando	 raid	 on	 the	Bruneval	 radar
station	 in	 1942	 to	 snatch	 enemy	 secrets.	 But	 it	 has	 matured	 into	 a	 matrix	 of
intelligenceled	military	and	non-military	 techniques	requiring	skills	beyond	 the
reach	 of	 the	 most	 talented	 conventional	 soldier	 including	 public	 relations,
deception	 operations,	 undetectable	 burglary,	 and	 esoteric	 foreign	 languages—
alongside,	 of	 course,	 high-altitude	 freefall	 parachuting,	 scuba	 diving,	 and	 a
voluminous	 knowledge	 of	 exotic	 weapons.	 There	 is	 much	 more.	 SF	 medical
specialists	learn	field	surgery	by	practicing	on	anaesthetized,	live	animals	freshly
wounded	by	gunshot	to	ensure	realistic	blood	pressure	levels	as	the	medics	try	to
revive	them.

The	SF	military	agenda	is	now	expected	to	include	unconventional	military
operations	as	part	of	a	conventional	campaign	(see	Britain’s	amphibious	South
Atlantic	 War,	 1982);	 counterinsurgency	 (Iraq,	 Afghanistan);	 combat	 rescue
(Entebbe	1976);	peacekeeping	including	weapons	verification	(Balkans);	snatch
operations	 to	 arrest	 wanted	 war	 criminals;	 rescuing	 allied	 pilots	 from	 enemy
territory;	 and	 surrogate	warfare	 using	 deniable	 paramilitaries.	As	 an	 IRA	 joke
about	 the	SAS	ran:	“An	SAS	man	is	one	who	can	speak	half	a	dozen	different
languages	while	disguised	as	a	bottle	of	Guinness.”

Yet	 during	 the	 decades	 since	 1945,	 Special	 Forces	 have	 won	 acceptance
among	 governments	 at	 the	 pace	 of	 a	 funeral	march	 and	 are	 sometimes—as	 in
Yemen	 in	 the	 sixties—dependent	 on	 private	 funding.	 Official	 caution	 is
understandable.	 Elements	 of	 the	 British	 Army	 in	 Northern	 Ireland	 during	 the
Troubles,	 operating	 as	 armed	men	 in	 civilian	 clothes,	 came	 chillingly	 close	 to
resembling	the	death	squads	of	South	America.	If	democratic	governments	have
a	nightmare	about	their	armed	forces,	it	is	that	some	adventurous	spirits	will	act
as	a	law	unto	themselves.

As	we	have	seen,	the	SAS	was	officially	reinvented	with	the	inauguration	of
a	reserve	unit,	21	SAS	(the	Artists’	Rifles)	in	1947	and	its	merger	with	an	ad	hoc
formation,	 the	Malayan	 Scouts	 (SAS)	 in	 1951.	With	 the	 end	 of	 the	Malayan



Emergency,	two	of	the	regiment’s	four	squadrons	were	axed.	They	were	restored
in	 the	 1960s,	 following	 the	 regiment’s	 successful	 cross-border	 secret	 war	 in
Indonesia.	Yet	 it	was	not	until	 the	 regiment’s	unique	 skills	were	demonstrated
during	 the	 Iranian	Embassy	 siege	 in	London	 in	1980—when	what	 started	 as	 a
terrorist	 “spectacular”	became	a	British	government	 “spectacular”—that	 it	was
accepted	as	a	national	institution.	What	little	was	published	about	the	SAS	until
then,	 in	 postwar	 years,	 was	 almost	 universally	 hostile,	 the	 work	 of	 left-wing
journalists.

American	 Special	 Forces,	 in	 spite	 of	 their	many	 successes	 in	 defending	 a
political	 lost	 cause	 in	 Vietnam,	 were	 also	 slow	 to	 win	 permanent	 status	 in
America’s	 order	 of	 battle.	 This	 time	 the	 leading	 opponents	 of	 Special	 Forces
were	the	military	top	brass.	“These	[Special	Forces]	units,”	writes	Colonel	John
T.	 Carney,	 one	 of	 their	 pioneers,	 “had	 been	 virtual	 pariahs	 within	 their	 own
armed	 services…in	 the	 late	 1970s”	 after	 Vietnam.	 “In	 the	 aftermath	 of	 post-
Vietnam	down-sizing,	funding	for	special	operations	forces	had	been	cut	by	95
per	 cent.	 Reaching	 a	 low	 point	 in	 1975,	 special	 operations	 forces	 constituted
only	one-tenth	of	one	per	cent	of	the	entire	defense	budget.”16	No	official	U.S.
document	 even	 dared	 mention	 Special	 Operations	 Forces	 as	 such	 until	 1981,
when	a	Defense	Guidance	from	the	Pentagon	directed	all	the	armed	services	to
develop	an	SOF	capability.

Five	 years	 later,	 Senators	 Sam	 Nunn	 and	 William	 S.	 Cohen	 persuaded
Congress	to	legislate	for	an	independent	U.S.	Special	Operations	Command,	to
ensure	that	never	again	would	“ad	hoc	rescue	forces	have	to	be	cobbled	together
to	 meet	 the	 kind	 of	 time-urgent	 crisis	 that	 the	 Son	 Tay	 and	 Iranian	 rescue
missions	 represented.”	 Another	 year	 passed	 before	 Special	 Operations
Command	could	begin	work	as	the	lead	agency	against	terrorism,	just	in	time	for
Afghanistan,	 America’s	 first	 major	 Special	 Forces	 conflict	 since	 Vietnam.	 SF
soldiers	 do	 not	 give	 up	 easily.	 As	 Colonel	 Bill	 Cowan	 USMC,	 one	 of	 the
pioneers	of	the	reborn	Special	Forces,	told	the	author:	“Following	my	retirement
I	 went	 to	 serve	 as	 an	 aide	 on	 Capitol	 Hill.	 I	 got	 the	 last	 laugh	 with	 the
bureaucracy.	 I	 was	 one	 of	 five	 key	 staffers	 who	 wrote	 the	 legislation	 which
created	 the	 Special	 Operations	 Command	 in	 Tampa.	 The	 Pentagon	 and	 the
White	House	fought	the	legislation	tenaciously.	But	they	lost	and	the	command
was	formed,	leading	to	Spec	Ops	being	at	the	forefront	as	they	are	today.”

The	 story	 of	 the	 CIA’s	 paramilitary	 Special	 Operations	Group	 followed	 a
similar	 pattern.	 Following	 many	 misadventures	 involving	 coups	 and
assassinations	in	the	1980s,	the	Agency	retreated	to	intelligence	analysis	allied	to
satellite	 surveillance.	 The	 SOG	 “knuckle-draggers”	 were	 moribund.	 George
Tenet,	 CIA	 Director,	 started	 the	 SOG	 renaissance	 in	 1998.	 The	 process



accelerated	 rapidly	 after	 9/11.	 The	 budget	 grew	 by	 millions	 of	 dollars,
equipment	 including	 jet	 aircraft,	 cargo	 planes	 reminiscent	 of	Air	America	 and
Vietnam,	speedboats,	and	Predator	drones	armed	with	Hellfire	missiles.

Their	 remit,	 handed	 down	 by	 President	 George	W.	 Bush,	 was	 to	 use	 “all
necessary	means”	to	track	down	and	kill	Osama	bin	Laden	and	his	cohorts.	Not
everyone—notably	 Defense	 Secretary	 Rumsfeld—was	 happy	 about	 the
duplication	 of	 effort	 that	 SOG—though	 tiny	 compared	 with	 SOCOM—
represented.	In	2005	he	unveiled	yet	another	weapon	to	be	added	to	SOCOM’s
armory.	The	Marines	had	landed,	in	the	form	of	2,500	Leathernecks	and	sailors,
to	 form	 an	 entity	 known	 as	 MarSOC	 (U.S.	 Marine	 Corps	 Forces	 Special
Operations	Command).	The	Corps	was	not	happy,	for	it	creamed	off	some	of	its
best	 reconnaissance	 talent.	 It	 was	 also	 to	 lead	 to	 one	 of	 the	 most	 disputed
firefights	 of	 the	 Afghanistan	 campaign,	 and	 an	 equally	 controversial	 court	 of
inquiry	that	exonerated	two	officers.

The	 CIA,	 meanwhile,	 continued	 to	 recruit	 experienced	 Special	 Forces
officers,	training	some	of	them	for	a	year	in	spycraft,	before	sending	them	back
to	the	Agency’s	preferred	form	of	low-profile	warfare,	working	through	proxies.
For	 a	 time	 after	 the	 invasion	of	Afghanistan	 in	 2001,	 a	 symbiosis	 of	CIA	and
SOCOM	 functioned	 well	 enough.	 But	 the	 two	 have	 continued	 to	 work	 in
parallel,	 rather	 than	 together,	 with	 mixed	 results.	 Should	 President	 Barack
Obama	conclude	some	time	in	the	future	that	U.S.	strategy	requires	a	change	of
emphasis,	away	from	hearts-and-minds	 toward	Howard	Hart’s	nostrum	(“Cut	a
deal	with	the	Taliban”)	and	Senator	Biden’s	wish	to	concentrate	America’s	fire
on	al	Qaeda,	 it	suggests	a	bigger	role	for	 the	CIA’s	Special	Operations	Group.
The	McChrystal	formula,	publicly	endorsed	by	the	president	at	West	Point	on	2
December	2009	to	safeguard	civilians	in	the	most	populous	areas	of	Afghanistan
(and,	by	extension,	Pakistan),	will	be	a	task	that	emphasizes	the	role	of	SOCOM,
as	well	as	the	poor	bloody	infantry.

But	we	 should	 note	 that	Obama,	 a	 cautious	 cat,	 hedged	 his	 bets.	He	 said:
“The	 struggle	 against	 violent	 extremism	 will	 not	 be	 finished	 quickly	 and	 it
extends	 well	 beyond	 Afghanistan	 and	 Pakistan….	 Unlike	 the	 great	 power
conflicts	and	clear	lines	of	division	that	defined	the	20th	century,	our	effort	will
involve	disorderly	regions	and	diffuse	enemies.	So	as	a	result…we	will	have	to
be	nimble	and	precise	in	our	use	of	military	power.	Where	al	Qaeda	and	its	allies
attempt	 to	establish	a	 foothold—whether	 in	Somalia	or	Yemen	or	elsewhere—
they	must	be	confronted	by	growing	pressure	and	strong	partnerships.”	Note	the
language.	 For	 “nimble	 and	 precise,”	 read	 “Special	Operations	 Forces.”	At	 the
military	level,	the	symbiosis	of	CIA	paramilitary	and	intelligence	combined	with
Special	Operations	Forces	was	 the	 future	war-fighting	model	beyond	 the	 time-



limited	commitment	to	Karzai’s	Afghanistan.



CHAPTER	1

THE	PRESIDENT’S	DILEMMA

The	 president’s	 dilemma	 was	 apparently	 insoluble.	 For	 nine	 years	 American
Special	 Forces,	 working	 through	 corrupt	 surrogates	 in	 a	 faraway	 land
unaccustomed	to	the	ways	of	democracy,	had	fought	a	losing	battle	against	well-
organized	 insurgents	 prepared	 to	 lay	 down	 their	 lives.	 The	 ranks	 of	 the	 U.S.
Army’s	own	locally	recruited	irregulars	were	penetrated	by	spies.	The	local	CIA
headquarters	had	been	blown	up	by	a	 suicide	car	bomber.	Washington’s	client
head	of	state	was	a	political	liability,	in	office	thanks	to	a	fraudulent	vote.	There
was	 also	 a	 healthy	 trade	 in	 illegal	 drugs,	 beyond	 everyone’s	 control	 except,
perhaps,	 the	 Mafia’s.	 Yet	 for	 the	White	 House	 to	 accept	 defeat	 and	 pull	 out
would	have	catastrophic	effects	upon	America’s	credibility	and	probably	cause
serious	damage	to	the	country’s	domestic	security	as	enemies	gathered	strength
from	 the	 belief	 that	 the	 U.S.	 giant	 was	 mortally	 wounded.	 The	 president’s
answer	was	to	send	thousands	more	GIs	surging	into	a	combat	zone	where	it	was
often	impossible	to	identify	the	enemy.	Vietnam,	1963,	was	not	a	good	place	to
be.	 Nor	 was	 Dallas.	 On	 22	 November	 that	 year,	 President	 Kennedy	 was
assassinated	there.

For	years,	it	seemed,	the	Vietnam	War	was	the	Alpha	and	Omega	of	Special
Operations	Forces,	years	in	which	a	renascence	of	SF	tactics	led	to	belief	in	the
nostrum	 that	 small	 elite	 ground	 forces	 directing	 massive	 air	 power	 was	 a
winning	 combination,	 until	 the	 strategy	 failed	 and	 Special	 Forces	 units	 were
consigned	to	oblivion	for	almost	two	decades.

More	 than	 thirty	 years	 after	 Vietnam,	 while	 there	 were	 many	 apparent
similarities	with	the	West’s	involvement	in	Afghanistan—the	commentator	John
Richardson,	in	Esquire	magazine,	was	one	of	the	first	to	identify	“Six	Signs	That
Afghanistan	 Could	 Be	 Another	 Vietnam”—there	 were	 significant	 differences.
As	President	Obama	noticed:	 “Each	 historical	moment	 is	 different.	You	 never
step	 into	 the	 same	 river	 twice	 and	 so	 Afghanistan	 is	 not	 Vietnam…but	 the
danger	 of	 not	 having	 clear	 goals	 and	 not	 having	 strong	 support	 from	 the
American	people,	those	are	all	issues	that	I	think	about	all	the	time.”	In	Vietnam,
America’s	 enemy	 was	 armed	 by	 both	 China	 and	 Soviet	 Russia.	 More	 than



320,000	 Chinese	 soldiers	 served	 in	 North	 Vietnam,	 as	 did	 3,000	 Russians.
Between	12	and	29	December	1972	Soviet-supplied	missiles,	possibly	manned
by	 Russian	 soldiers,	 shot	 down	 thirty-one	 U.S.	 B-52	 strategic	 bombers	 over
Hanoi.	While	 the	Taliban	 received	covert	 backing	 from	Pakistan’s	 intelligence
service	 from	 time	 to	 time,	 it	 could	 not	match	 the	 external	 aid	 supplied	 to	 the
Vietnamese	communists.	 In	any	case,	under	U.S.	pressure,	covert	Pakistani	aid
to	the	Taliban	was	a	wasting	asset.

According	to	Obama,	to	compare	Afghanistan	to	Vietnam	is	a	false	reading
of	history.	In	his	West	Point	address	he	said:	“Unlike	Vietnam,	we	are	joined	by
a	 broad	 coalition	 of	 forty-three	 nations	 that	 recognizes	 the	 legitimacy	 of	 our
action.	 Unlike	 Vietnam,	 we	 are	 not	 facing	 a	 broad-based	 popular	 insurgency.
And	 most	 importantly,	 unlike	 Vietnam,	 the	 American	 people	 were	 viciously
attacked	from	Afghanistan	and	remain	a	target	for	those	same	extremists	who	are
plotting	along	its	border.”

Casualty	statistics	also	have	a	tale	to	tell.	During	the	Vietnam	War,	America
sacrificed	an	average	of	5,800	 lives	every	year,	 for	a	decade	or,	 to	express	 the
problem	 another	way,	 400	 each	week	 at	 the	 peak	 of	 attrition.	During	 the	 first
eight	years	of	U.S.	 fighting	 in	Afghanistan,	 the	average	was	 just	over	 seventy.
The	nature	of	 the	enemy	 in	 the	 two	campaigns	also	differed	 significantly.	The
Afghans	were	ferocious	fighters	conditioned	to	believe	in	suicide	bombing.	On
home	ground,	in	close-quarter	battle,	they	were	brave	and	clever	tacticians.	But
even	after	 thirty	years	of	conflict,	 they	 remained	unsophisticated	warriors.	The
Vietnamese—contrary	 to	 the	 peasant	 image	 projected	 by	 some	 Western
journalists—often	 proved	 themselves	 superior	 to	 the	 U.S.	 even	 on	 the	 arcane
battleground	of	 electronic	warfare.	 “The	Vietcong	cryptographers	 learned	 their
lessons	 well.	 While	 throwing	 an	 electronic	 fishing	 net	 into	 the	 ether,	 they
regularly	 reeled	 it	 back	 in	 bulging	 with	 American	 communications,	 but	 they
seldom	used	radios	themselves.	While	they	listened	to	broadcasts	from	Hanoi	on
inexpensive	 transistor	 radios,	 they	sent	messages	back	 to	 their	commands	with
couriers,	except	in	dire	emergencies.	For	local	communications	they	often	used
radios	 with	 very	 low	 power,	 frustrating	 American	 eavesdroppers.”	 They	 also
cracked	many	American	codes.17

The	 Vietnamese	 had	 been	 trained	 by,	 and	 had	 fought	 a	 successful	 war
against,	the	French	including	the	Foreign	Legion.	In	those	days,	the	Legion	was
buttressed	 by	 hardened	 German	 veterans	 who	 had	 fought	 the	 Soviets	 on	 the
eastern	front	 in	 the	Second	World	War.	When	Vietnam	was	part	of	 the	French
colony	of	Indochina,	 it	was	run	during	the	Second	World	War	by	the	Japanese
Army	of	occupation	with	the	complicity	of	the	Vichy	French	administration.	As
President	 Franklin	 D.	 Roosevelt	 said	 in	 1944:	 “The	 case	 of	 Indochina	 is



perfectly	 clear.	 France	 has	 milked	 it	 for	 one	 hundred	 years.	 The	 people	 of
Indochina	are	entitled	to	something	better	than	that.”18

Resistance	to	Japanese	wartime	occupation	in	Vietnam	was	led	by	a	founder
member	 of	 the	 French	 Communist	 Party	 in	 Paris.	 His	 name	was	Nguyen	Hai
Quoc,	which	he	later	changed	to	“He	Who	Lights	The	Way”	or,	in	Vietnamese,
Ho	 Chi	 Minh.	 In	 that	 struggle,	 the	 Vietminh	 resistance	 movement	 received
weapons,	 training,	 and	 moral	 support	 from	 America’s	 Office	 of	 Strategic
Services	 led	 locally	 by	Colonel	 Lucien	Conein,	 a	 Paris-born	OSS	warrior	 and
former	 French	 soldier	 trained	 by	 the	 British.	 He	 was	 known,	 thanks	 to	 his
sinister	 appearance,	 as	 “Black	 Luigi”	 among	 Corsican	 drug	 gangs	 in	 Saigon,
who	were	his	 friends.	Later,	working	 for	 the	CIA,	he	would	play	a	 significant
role	in	the	evolution	of	South	Vietnam.

After	 a	 war	 of	 attrition	 lasting	 nine	 years	 from	 1945	 to	 1954,	 the	 French
were	defeated	by	the	Vietminh	at	Dien	Bien	Phu.	French	officers	had	resisted	a
recommendation	 from	 the	 U.S.	 Military	 Assistance	 Advisory	 Group	 in
Indochina	 to	 train	 and	 arm	a	 local	 army.	 In	 fact	most	American	 expert	 advice
was	rejected	by	French	colonial	officers	who	were	still	living,	culturally,	in	the
1930s.	Finally,	during	the	last	days	of	the	epic	fifty-five	day	siege	of	Dien	Bien
Phu,	 a	 French	 representative	 proposed	 to	 Douglas	 MacArthur	 II,	 a	 State
Department	 official,	 a	 joint	 venture	 called	 Operation	 Vulture	 (Operation
Vautur).	This	was	“that	the	United	States	could	commit	its	naval	aircraft	to	the
battle	of	Dien	Bien	Phu	without	risking	American	prestige	or	committing	an	act
of	 belligerency	 by	 placing	 such	 aircraft,	 painted	 with	 French	 insignia	 and
construed	as	part	of	the	French	Foreign	Legion,	under	nominal	French	command
for	an	 isolated	action	consisting	of	air	strikes	 lasting	two	or	 three	days.”19	The
military	 options	 considered	 to	 bail	 out	 the	 French	 included	 the	 use	 of	 tactical
nuclear	bombs.

Congress	 argued	 that	 the	 British	 should	 be	 brought	 into	 the	 planning.
Churchill	vetoed	the	idea,	reasoning	that	China	might	invoke	a	pact	with	Soviet
Russia,	 provoking	 a	 reprisal	 nuclear	 attack	 on	 U.S.	 bases	 in	 England.	 The
proposal	ended	 there.	Vietnam	was	 then	divided	 into	 two	political	entities	at	 a
Geneva	 peace	 conference.	 Though	 a	 dividing	 line	 was	 drawn	 on	 the	 17th
parallel,	 it	meant	 little	 in	practice	 for	months,	 during	which	 time	 thousands	of
refugees	and	agents	of	various	sorts	moved	north	or	south	and	back	again.

In	 this	 fluid	 situation,	 months	 of	 dynamic	 covert	 action	 followed.	 An
American	 team	 under	 Lucien	 Conein,	 then	 a	 major,	 spirited	 out	 of	 North
Vietnam	 fourteen	 paramilitary	 teams	 for	 training	 on	 allied	 soil.	 An	 American
Special	 Forces	 officer	 known	 as	Captain	Arundel	 “engineered	 a	 black	 psywar



strike	 in	 Hanoi:	 leaflets	 signed	 by	 the	 [Communist]	 Vietminh	 instructing
Tonkinese	 how	 to	 behave	 for	 a	 Vietminh	 takeover	 in	 early	 October	 [1954]
included	items	about	property,	money	reform….”	This	exercise	terrified	anyone
with	money	 in	 the	 bank.	 “The	 day	 following	 the	 distribution	 of	 these	 leaflets
refugee	 registration	 [of	people	wishing	 to	 leave	 the	country]	 tripled.	Two	days
later	Vietminh	currency	was	worth	half	the	value	prior	to	the	leaflets.”20

In	another	psyops	adventure,	“the	patriot	we’ve	named	Trieu	Dinh	had	been
working	on	an	almanac	 for	popular	 sale,	particularly	 in	 the	northern	cities	and
towns	we	 could	 still	 reach.	Noted	Vietnamese	 astrologers	were	 hired	 to	write
predictions	about	 coming	disasters	 to	 certain	Vietminh	 leaders	 and…to	predict
unity	in	the	south.	The	work	was	carried	out	under	Lieutenant	Phillips,	based	on
our	concept	of	the	use	of	astrology	for	psywar	in	Southeast	Asia.	Copies	of	the
almanac	 were	 shipped	 by	 air	 to	 Haiphong	 and	 then	 smuggled	 into	 Vietminh
territory.”21	(In	later	years,	the	CIA	would	put	the	Koran	to	a	similar	purpose	in
Soviet-occupied	Afghanistan	and	elsewhere.)

Back	 in	 Saigon,	 meanwhile,	 a	 team	 of	 Saigon	 Military	 Mission	 officers
supported	by	CIA	and	Air	Force	personnel	working	like	coolies,	throughout	the
night,	moved	tons	of	cargo	to	build	an	anti-communist	resistance	movement	 in
North	Vietnam.	“All	officers	pitched	in	to	help	as	part	of	our	‘blood,	sweat	and
tears.’”	By	early	1955,	the	group	had	smuggled	into	North	Vietnam	8.5	tons	of
materiel	including	fourteen	agent	radios,	300	carbines,	90,000	rounds	of	carbine
ammunition,	fifty	pistols,	10,000	rounds	of	pistol	ammunition,	and	300	pounds
of	 explosives.	Around	 2.5	 tons	were	 delivered	 to	 a	 separate	 team	of	 agents	 in
Tonkin,	 run	 by	Major	 Fred	Allen	 and	Lieutenant	Edward	Williams,	 “our	 only
experienced	 counter-espionage	 officer.”	 The	 remaining	 materiel	 was	 cached
along	the	Red	River	by	Conein’s	Saigon	Military	Mission,	helped	by	the	Navy.

Conein’s	team	in	the	north	left	with	the	last	French	troops	on	9	October.	It
“had	 spent	 the	 last	 days	 in	 Hanoi	 in	 contaminating	 the	 oil	 supply	 of	 the	 bus
company	 for	 a	 gradual	 wreckage	 of	 engines	 in	 the	 buses,	 in	 taking	 the	 first
actions	 for	 delayed	 sabotage	 of	 the	 railroad	 (which	 required	 teamwork	with	 a
CIA	special	technical	team	in	Japan	who	performed	their	part	brilliantly),	and	in
writing	detailed	notes	of	potential	targets	for	future	paramilitary	operations.	U.S.
adherence	to	the	Geneva	Agreement	prevented	Conein’s	team	from	carrying	out
the	 active	 sabotage	 it	 desired	 to	 do	 against	 the	 power	 plant,	 water	 facilities,
harbors	and	bridges.	The	 team	had	a	bad	moment	when	contaminating	 the	oil.
They	had	to	work	quickly	at	night,	in	an	enclosed	storage	room.	Fumes	from	the
contaminant	 came	 close	 to	 knocking	 them	 out.	 Dizzy	 and	 weak	 kneed,	 they
masked	their	faces	with	handkerchiefs	and	completed	the	job.”22



Fred	 Allen’s	 group,	 meanwhile,	 “was	 able	 to	 mount	 a	 Vietnamese
paramilitary	 effort	 in	 Tonkin	 from	 the	 south,	 barely	 beating	 the	 Vietminh
shutdown	in	Haiphong	as	his	 teams	went	 in,	 trained	and	equipped….”	A	Navy
team	 (Navy	 Lieutenant	 Edward	 Bain	 and	 Marine	 Captain	 Richard	 Smith)
“became	 our	 official	 smugglers,	 as	 well	 as	 paymasters,	 housing	 officers,
transportation	officers,	warehousemen,	file	clerks,	and	mess	officers….

“On	21	November,	twenty-one	selected	Vietnamese	agents	and	cooks	of	our
Hao	paramilitary	group	[run	by	Fred	Allen]	were	put	aboard	a	Navy	ship	in	the
Saigon	 River,	 in	 daylight.	 They	 appeared	 as	 coolies,	 joined	 the	 coolie	 and
refugee	 throng	 moving	 on	 and	 off	 ship,	 and	 disappeared	 one	 by	 one….	 The
agents	were	picked	up	 from	unobtrusive	assembly	points….	The	 ship	 took	 the
agents,	 in	 compartmentalized	 groups,	 to	 an	 overseas	 point,	 the	 first	 stage	 in	 a
movement	to	a	secret	training	area.”23

The	 Vietminh,	 in	 their	 turn,	 were	 targeting	 the	 National	 Army	 of	 South
Vietnam	 for	 subversion.	 “It	 was	 given	 top	 priority	 by	 the	 Vietminh	 Central
Committee	for	operations	against	its	enemy	and	about	100	superior	cadres	were
retrained	 for	 the	operations”	months	before	 the	Geneva	agreement	was	 signed.
“We	didn’t	know	it	at	the	time,	but	this	was	the	Saigon	Military	Mission’s	major
opponent,	in	a	secret	struggle	for	the	National	Army….”24	Not	only	was	much	of
South	 Vietnam’s	 army	 penetrated	 by	 the	 communist	 woodworm.	 The	 civilian
infrastructure	was	also	subverted	by	thousands	of	communist	sympathizers	who
were	to	be	targeted,	in	due	course,	by	a	program	of	“neutralization.”	This,	more
often	 than	not,	meant	 the	assassination	of	 those	holding	public	office	 in	South
Vietnam	while	 wearing	 two	 hats,	 sometimes	 after	 a	 trial	 in	 absentia	 before	 a
military	tribunal,	a	process	curiously	similar	to	Israel’s	quasi-judicial	process	in
dealing	 with	 terrorist	 suspects.	 The	 system,	 codenamed	 Phoenix,	 permitted
interrogation,	 confession,	 and	 imprisonment	 where	 this	 was	 feasible.	 It	 was
constructed	 by	 the	 CIA	 and	 run,	 in	 practice,	 by	 South	 Vietnamese	 entities	 in
partnership	 with	 elements	 of	 U.S.	 Special	 Forces	 including	 the	 Studies	 &
Observations	Group	(later	the	Special	Operations	Group).

The	toxic	effect	of	the	North’s	subversion	was	to	last	throughout	most	of	the
armed	conflict	 that	was	 to	 follow.	But	 the	North’s	greatest	 ally	 in	 alienating	a
majority	 in	 the	 South	 was	 Ngo	 Dinh	 Diem,	 an	 American	 puppet,	 elected
president	in	a	rigged	referendum.	In	Saigon,	for	example,	Diem	received	133	per
cent	of	the	vote.	Diem	had	a	talent	for	making	unnecessary	enemies,	notably	the
Buddhists	 (the	 majority	 religious	 group)	 whom	 he	 persecuted	 and	 non-
Vietnamese	minority	 ethnic	 groups	 such	 as	 the	Montagnards	 living	 in	 remote
mountain	 areas,	 contemptuously	 dismissed	 by	 Saigon	 as	 savages	 unworthy	 of



civil	rights.
Communists	 including	 veterans	 of	 the	 Resistance	 against	 Japanese

occupation	were	able	to	exploit	the	disaffection	that	resulted.	A	few	years	later,
the	 British,	 saddled	 with	 a	 despotic	 local	 Ruler	 in	 Oman,	 faced	 a	 similar
dilemma.	 In	 time,	 the	CIA	would	 orchestrate	 a	 coup	 against	 their	 client	Diem
followed	by	his	assassination	(possibly	stage-managed	by	Lucien	Conein).	Both
Oman	and	Vietnam	became	surrogate	free	fire	zones	as	part	of	the	Cold	War.	In
1954,	 the	U.S.	Military	Assistance	Advisory	Group,	Vietnam,	 still	 active	 after
the	French	defeat,	had	a	core	strength	of	just	342	men.	U.S.	Special	Forces	based
in	 Okinawa	 worked	 in	 Vietnam	 for	 the	 first	 time	 in	 1957	 to	 train	 fifty-eight
Vietnamese	 commandos	 at	 Nha	 Trang.	 China	 and	 the	 Soviets	 had	 already
offered	 help	 to	 the	 Vietminh	 in	 North	 Vietnam	 two	 years	 earlier.	 In	 South
Vietnam,	 clashes	 between	 the	 Vietcong	 and	 Army	 of	 the	 Republic	 of	 South
Vietnam	 (ARVN)	 rose	gradually	until	 1960.	From	January	1960	 to	September
that	year,	the	number	of	“contacts”	surged	from	180	to	545.	The	heat	was	on.

As	 the	 stability	 of	 Vietnam	 cracked,	 then	 disintegrated	 over	 the	 next
eighteen	months,	the	role	of	U.S.	Special	Forces	assumed	increasing	importance.
Their	 number	 and	 variety	 flourished	 like	 exotic	 jungle	 plants.	 They	 included
Green	Berets	of	5th	Special	Forces	Group	Vietnam	(2,000	men	training	civilian
irregulars	 in	 a	multitude	 of	 camps,	 running	 offensive	 operations	 from	1961	 to
1971)25	 and	 the	 Military	 Assistance	 Command,	 Vietnam—Studies	 and
Observations	Group	(MACV-SOG),	a	mixed	team,	operating	from	1964	to	1972.
SOG	 was	 a	 rival	 of	 the	 Green	 Berets,	 with	 which	 it	 fought	 turf	 wars	 for
resources.	 It	 was	 invented	 by	 the	 Joint	 Chiefs	 of	 Staff	 as	 an	 offensive	 cross-
border	raiding	force	and,	some	suspected,	a	Trojan	Horse	to	take	over	many	CIA
functions.	 It	 included	men	 from	 the	 CIA’s	 Special	 Activities	 Division,	 which
also	had	teams	deployed	elsewhere.	There	were	also	South	Vietnamese	Special
Forces	 trained	 by	 the	 U.S.;	 the	 Army	 Security	 Agency,	 military	 arm	 of	 the
signals	 intelligence	 National	 Security	 Agency;	 local	 mercenaries	 including
ethnic	Chinese	 tribesmen	 and	Koreans;	 and	 Special	 Forces	 airmen	 and	 sailors
including	Navy	SEALs.

This	 all-singing/all-dancing,	bells-and-whistles	 lineup	could	be	 justified	by
the	peculiar	nature	of	the	war,	or	rather	the	two	wars	being	fought	over	the	same
soil.	As	Henry	Kissinger	glumly	noted,	after	defeat	in	1975,	Vietnam	“was	both
a	revolutionary	war	fought	at	knife	point	during	the	night	within	the	villages;	it
was	also	a	main	force	war	in	which	technology	[including	tanks,	artillery	and	air
power]	could	make	a	difference.”26	It	was	a	war	for	territory	which	Vietnamese
communists	 came	 to	 dominate	 on	 the	 ground	 in	 spite	 of	 America’s	 air



superiority.	It	was	a	civil	war	in	the	south	and	a	guerrilla	war	everywhere	else.	It
was	a	very	complicated,	confusing	struggle	meant	to	halt	a	“domino	principle,”
through	 which,	 viewed	 from	 Washington,	 one	 anti-communist	 regime	 after
another	would	fall	to	America’s	enemies	if	every	one	was	not	kept	upright.

It	was	a	conflict	 that	 required	agile	 thinking	as	well	as	action.	The	Special
Forces	 process	 was	 propelled	 enthusiastically	 forward	 by	 President	 Kennedy,
who	saw	these	unconventional	warriors	as	the	ideal	tool	for	counterinsurgency.
The	U.S.	Navy	SEALs	owed	their	foundation	in	1962	to	support	from	Kennedy,
a	 wartime	 torpedo	 boat	 hero.	 In	 large	 areas	 of	 Vietnam	 such	 as	 the	Mekong
Delta,	 and	 elsewhere	 during	 the	 flood	 season,	 the	 SEALs	 became	 a	 riverine
commando	force.	But	in	general,	U.S.	Special	Forces	were	defined	at	that	time
by	the	job	they	were	asked	to	do	rather	 than	by	what	 they	did	best.	The	Green
Berets	learned	quickly	how	to	acquire,	adapt,	and	exploit	the	uses	of	non-violent
aid	 to	 the	 civilian	 community.	 Winning	 friends	 became	 an	 equal	 option
alongside	killing	the	enemy,	though	not	by	SOG.	Theoretically,	the	Green	Berets
were	in	Vietnam	as	trainers	and	guests	of	the	Diem	government.	Theoretically,
South	Vietnamese	soldiers	were	in	charge	of	operations.	But	when	the	shooting
started,	 the	 South	 Vietnamese	 handed	 over	 command	 and	 control	 to	 their
American	Special	Forces	mentors,	at	the	last	moment.	In	Afghanistan,	the	local
National	Army	sometimes	behaved	the	same	way.

In	 late	1961,	 the	U.S.	Mission	 in	Saigon	assigned	Special	Forces	 teams	 to
train	 irregulars	 drawn	 from	 minority	 groups	 including	 the	 Montagnards	 to
defend	 their	 own	 villages.	 It	 was	 a	 momentous	 decision	 that	 started	 very
modestly	 in	 the	strategic	Central	Highlands.	 In	February	1962,	after	protracted
negotiations	with	tribal	leaders,	the	first	team	started	work	in	the	village	of	Buon
Enao.	Crucially,	 it	 included	 a	Special	Forces	medical	 sergeant.	Medicare,	 plus
the	 right	 to	 carry	 and	 bear	 arms,	 were	 major	 inducements	 to	 persuade	 the
aboriginals	to	cooperate.	They	had	been	disarmed	by	the	Diem	regime	in	Saigon
in	 the	 late	 1950s.	 Now	 their	 arms—crossbows	 and	 spears—were	 restored	 to
them.	 Soon	 they	 were	 being	 trained	 to	 use	 the	M15	 Armalite	 rifle,	 approved
because	it	was	“compatible	with	the	small	stature,	body	configuration	and	light
weight	of	the	Vietnamese	soldier.”27

The	villages	were	 fortified	and	defended	by	civilian	volunteers	along	 lines
developed	by	the	British	in	Malaya.	Weapons	and	pay	were	supplied	outside	the
usual	military	 accounting	 system,	 direct	 to	 Special	 Forces	 personnel	 and	 then
filtered	 through	 local	 village	 headmen	 and	 tribal	 leaders.	 This	 unusual
arrangement	was	described	euphemistically	by	the	Brits	as	“porter	money,”	that
is,	 funds	 originally	 used	 “to	 pay	 locals	who	were	 employed	 as	 porters	 to	 help



carry	the	regiment’s	heavy	equipment	through	the	jungle.”28	(This	revelation,	if
true,	sheds	a	curious	light	on	the	legendary	ability	of	the	SAS	to	march	through
the	jungle	for	many	days	without	external	support.)	The	system	of	unaccountable
direct	payment	 to	 friendly	 irregulars	 through	Special	Forces	was	open	 to	 fraud
and,	 in	 the	 British	 case,	 was	 the	 subject	 of	 repeated	 internal	 enquiries.	 In
Vietnam,	 formal	 accountability	 was	 replaced	 by	 “quick-reacting	 supply	 and
procurement	procedures.”

In	1962,	control	of	what	was	now	known	as	 the	Civilian	Irregular	Defense
Group	(CIDG)	program	was	transferred	from	the	diplomats	in	Saigon—the	U.S.
Mission—to	a	new	entity,	U.S.	Army	Special	Forces	(Provisional)	Vietnam.	On
the	ground,	training	and—by	default—leadership	was	the	work	of	Army	Green
Beret	teams.	By	December	1963,	“Special	Forces	detachments,	working	through
counterpart	Vietnamese	Special	Forces	units,	had	trained	and	armed	18,000	men
as	 strike	 force	 troops	 and	 43,376	 as	 hamlet	militia,	 the	 new	 name	 for	 village
defenders.”29	 The	 choice	 of	 “hamlet”	 was	 perhaps	 unfortunate,	 given	 the
ambivalence	of	many	village	defenders	about	the	Saigon	government.	As	these
statistics	suggest,	the	village	defense	program	had	now	mutated	into	an	offensive
entity,	and	another,	the	Trailwatchers,	that	was	used	as	a	tripwire	to	defend	the
northern	border	from	incursions	from	Vietcong	penetration.

“The	 Special	 Forces	 also	 helped	 train	 paramilitary	 forces	 in	 the	 ‘fighting
fathers’	 program,	wherein	 resistance	 to	 insurgent	 activity	 centered	on	Catholic
parish	priests	and	a	number	of	priests	under	 the	program	made	 the	arming	and
training	 of	 their	 parishioners	 possible	…By	 the	 end	 of	 1964	 the	 Montagnard
program	was	no	longer	an	area	development	project	in	the	original	sense	of	the
term.”30	The	concept	of	the	militant	priest	would	have	been	entirely	acceptable
to	the	Catholic	laity,	a	minority	in	Buddhist-dominated	Vietnam.	Communism,	a
materialist	 creed,	 was	 anti-Christian.	 The	 U.S.	 president	 was	 a	 practicing
Catholic	 and	 the	 Vietnamese	 president,	 Diem,	 was	 a	 militant	 Catholic	 who
persecuted	Buddhists.	 Irish	Catholics	would	have	understood.	 In	 their	 folklore,
the	legendary	Father	O’Flynn,	in	the	tradition	of	muscular	Christianity,	lifted	the
lazy	ones	on	with	the	stick.

The	self-defense	program	had	started	as	a	successful	Green	Beret	experiment
at	 Buon	 Enao	 village	 in	 the	 Central	 Highlands.	 Once	 it	 was	 handed	 over	 to
Vietnamese	 soldiers	 in	 1963	 it	 broke	 down,	 a	 pattern	 that	was	 to	 be	 repeated.
Defenders	were	sent	away	for	“indoctrination,”	leaving	settlements	undefended,
and	pay	agreements	were	not	honored.	The	Vietnamese	government	attempted	to
reclaim	weapons	issued	to	the	Montagnards.	Ethnic	Vietnamese	Special	Forces
sometimes	 refused	 to	 take	 part	 in	 combat	 patrols	 with	 the	 “savages”	 because



they	had	few	trained	leaders.	At	the	same	time,	the	Vietnamese	“refused	to	allow
leadership	training	in	the	camps.”31	Other	reasons	why	transfers	to	Vietnamese
control	 failed	were	 summarized	by	 the	Green	Berets	 as	 “mutual	 suspicion	 and
hostility	 between	 the	 Rhade	 [tribesmen]	 and	Vietnamese	 province	 and	 district
officials;	 overly	 generous	 distribution	 by	 U.S.	 agencies	 of	 weapons	 and
ammunition	 to	 tribesmen	whose	 reaction	 to	 government-enforced	 repossession
of	 some	of	 the	weapons	was	understandably	hostile;	 apparent	disregard	on	 the
part	of	the	Vietnam	government	for	the	interests,	desires,	and	sensitivities	of	the
Montagnards;	 inadequate	Vietnamese	 government	 administrative	 and	 logistical
support;	and,	finally,	failure	of	the	U.S.	authorities	to	anticipate	these	difficulties
and	avoid	them.”

In	September	1964,	Montagnard	resentment	exploded	in	an	armed	uprising.
At	 five	 defended	 village	 camps,	 sixty-four	 CIDG	 militiamen	 disarmed	 and
detained	 their	 U.S.	 Special	 Forces	 advisers	 and	 declared	 a	 rebellion	 against
Saigon.	At	 another	 center,	 irregulars	 belonging	 to	 a	mobile	 strike	 force	 killed
fifteen	Vietnamese	team	leaders,	then	seventeen	members	of	a	“Popular	Forces”
group,	militia	absorbed	into	the	regular	South	Vietnam	army.	In	a	third	location,
eleven	Vietnamese	SF	soldiers	were	killed.	Over	 the	following	year,	American
Special	Forces	brokered	a	better	deal	for	 the	Montagnards,	but	 the	use	of	 local
surrogates	to	fight—a	form	of	conflict-franchise—was	always	a	delicate	process
that	often	left	regular,	conventional	American	forces	to	bear	the	brunt	of	the	war.

The	 defended	 camps	 were	 themselves	 coming	 under	 increasingly	 heavy,
concerted	attack	by	Vietcong	guerrillas	and	regular	North	Vietnam	Army	troops,
assisted	by	militiamen	who	had	switched	allegiance,	providing	the	attackers	with
precise	 plans	 of	 the	 camps.	 This	 left	 the	 American	 Special	 Forces	 advisers
frighteningly	 exposed.	 Weaknesses	 exploited	 by	 the	 VC	 included	 the	 camps’
isolation	 after	 nightfall.	 There	was	 no	 reinforcement	 before	 daybreak.	 And	 as
civilians	 in	 areas	around	 the	camps	became	 intimidated	by	 the	VC,	 the	enemy
were	 able,	 with	 impunity,	 to	 preserve	 the	 element	 of	 surprise	 until	 large
attacking	forces	were	at	the	gates.	The	camps	were	now	being	overrun,	though	in
some	cases,	 such	as	Nam	Dong,	U.S.	Special	Forces	and	Nung	 tribesmen	held
their	 ground	 in	 spite	 of	 a	 heavy	 mortar	 barrage	 that	 destroyed	 key	 defensive
positions	including	the	camp	radio	post,	followed	by	repeated	ground	assaults	by
hundreds	of	VC.

In	 July	 1965	 a	 team	 of	 four	 U.S.	 Special	 Forces	 Green	 Berets	 and	 a
Vietnamese	 Regional	 Forces	 company	 holding	 Camp	 Bong	 Son	 was	 hit.	 The
commander,	 Captain	 (later	 Major)	 Paris	 D.	 Davis,	 reported:	 “We	 had	 just
finished	 a	 successful	 raid	 on	 a	 Viet	 Cong	 Regimental	 Headquarters,	 killing
upwards	 of	 one	 hundred	 of	 the	 enemy.	 The	 raid	 had	 started	 shortly	 after



midnight.	We	 had	 four	 Americans	 and	 the	 883rd	 Vietnamese	 Regional	 Force
Company	participating	in	the	raid.	After	the	raid	was	completed,	the	first	platoon
of	the	883rd	company	broke	and	started	to	run	just	about	the	same	time	I	gave
the	 signal	 to	pull	 in	 the	 security	guarding	 the	 river	bank.	 I	went	 after	 the	 lead
platoon,	MSG	Billy	Waugh	was	with	 the	 second	platoon,	 SSG	David	Morgan
was	with	the	third	platoon,	and	SP4	Brown	was	with	the	fourth	platoon.

“It	 was	 just	 beginning	 to	 get	 light	 (dawn)	 when	 I	 caught	 up	 to	 the	 first
platoon	and	got	them	organized,	and	we	were	hit	by	automatic	machine	gun	fire.
It	was	up	front	and	the	main	body	of	the	platoon	was	hit	by	the	machine	gun.	I
was	hit	in	the	hand	by	a	fragment	from	a	hand	grenade.	About	the	time	I	started
moving	 the	platoon	back	 to	 the	main	body,	 I	 heard	 firing	 and	 saw	a	wounded
friendly	VN	soldier	running	from	the	direction	of	the	firing.	He	told	me	that	the
remainder	 of	 the	 883rd	 company	was	under	 attack.	 I	moved	 the	platoon	 I	 had
back	 towards	 the	main	 body.	When	 I	 reached	 the	 company,	 the	 enemy	 had	 it
pinned	down	in	an	open	field	with	automatic	weapons	and	mortar	fire.

“I	immediately	ordered	the	platoon	I	had	to	return	the	fire,	but	they	did	not.
Only	 a	 few	men	 fired.	 I	 started	 firing	 at	 the	 enemy,	moving	up	 and	down	 the
line,	encouraging	the	883rd	company	to	return	the	fire.	We	started	to	receive	fire
from	 the	 right	 flank.	 I	 ran	 down	 to	where	 the	 firing	was	 and	 found	 five	Viet
Cong	coming	over	the	trench	line.	I	killed	all	five,	and	then	I	heard	firing	from
the	left	flank.	I	ran	down	there	and	saw	about	six	Viet	Cong	moving	toward	our
position.	I	threw	a	grenade	and	killed	four	of	them.	My	M16	jammed,	so	I	shot
one	with	my	pistol	and	hit	the	other	with	my	M16	again	and	again	until	he	was
dead.

“MSG	Waugh	started	 to	yell	 that	he	had	been	shot	 in	 the	foot.	 I	 ran	 to	 the
middle	 of	 the	 open	 field	 and	 tried	 to	 get	 MSG	 Waugh,	 but	 the	 Viet	 Cong
automatic	 fire	was	 too	 intense,	and	 I	had	 to	move	back	 to	safety.	By	 this	 time
SSG	Morgan,	 who	 was	 at	 the	 edge	 of	 the	 open	 field,	 came	 to.	 He	 had	 been
knocked	out	by	a	VC	mortar	round.	He	told	me	that	he	was	receiving	sniper	fire.
I	spotted	the	sniper,	and	shot	him	in	his	camouflaged	man-hole.	I	crawled	over
and	dropped	a	grenade	in	the	hole	killing	two	additional	Viet	Cong.

“I	 was	 able	 at	 this	 time	 to	 make	 contact	 with	 the	 FAC	 [forward	 air
controller]	CPT	Bronson	and	SGT	Ronald	Dies.	CPT	Bronson	diverted	a	flight
of	105’s	and	had	them	drop	their	bombs	on	the	enemy’s	position.	I	ran	out	and
pulled	SSG	Morgan	 to	 safety.	He	was	 slightly	wounded,	 and	 I	 treated	him	 for
shock.	The	enemy	again	tried	to	overrun	our	position.	I	picked	up	a	machine	gun
and	started	firing.	I	saw	four	or	five	of	the	enemy	drop	and	the	remaining	ones
break	and	run.	I	then	set	up	the	60mm	mortar,	dropped	about	five	or	six	mortars
down	 the	 tube,	 and	 ran	 out	 and	 tried	 to	 get	MSG	Waugh.	 SSG	Morgan	 was



partially	recovered	and	placing	machine	gun	fire	into	the	enemy	position.	I	ran
out	and	tried	to	pick	up	MSG	Waugh,	who	had	by	now	been	wounded	four	times
in	his	 right	 foot.	 I	 tried	 to	pick	him	up,	but	 I	was	unable	 to	do	 so.	 I	was	 shot
slightly	in	the	back	of	my	leg	as	I	ran	for	cover.

“By	this	time	CPT	Bronson	had	gotten	a	flight	of	F4’s.	They	started	to	drop
bombs	on	 the	enemy.	I	 ran	out	again,	and	 this	 time	was	shot	 in	 the	wrist	but	 I
was	 able	 to	 pick	 up	MSG	Waugh	 and	 carried	 him	 fireman	 style,	 in	 a	 hail	 of
automatic	weapon	 fire,	 to	 safety.	 I	 called	 for	 a	MEDEVAC	 for	MSG	Waugh.
When	the	MEDEVAC	came,	I	carried	MSG	Waugh	about	200	yards	up	over	a
hill.	As	I	put	MSG	Waugh	on	the	helicopter,	SFC	Reinburg	got	off	the	ship	and
ran	 down	 to	where	 the	 883rd	 company	was	 located.	He	was	 shot	 through	 the
chest	 almost	 immediately.	 I	 ran	 to	where	he	was	 and	gave	him	 first	 aid.	With
SSG	Morgan’s	help,	I	pulled	him	to	safety.

“The	 enemy	 again	 tried	 to	 overrun	 our	 position.	 I	 picked	 up	 the	 nearest
weapon	and	 started	 to	 fire.	 I	was	also	 throwing	grenades.	 I	killed	about	 six	or
seven.	 I	 was	 then	 ordered	 to	 take	 the	 troops	 I	 had	 and	 leave.	 I	 informed	 the
colonel	in	the	C&C	ship	that	I	had	one	wounded	American	and	one	American	I
didn’t	know	the	status	of.	 I	 informed	 the	colonel	 that	 I	would	not	 leave	until	 I
got	all	 the	Americans	out.	SFC	Reinburg	was	MEDEVACed	out.	The	 fighting
continued	until	mid-afternoon.	We	could	not	get	 the	company	we	had	 to	 fight.
The	 enemy	 tried	 to	 overrun	 our	 position	 two	 more	 times.	 We	 finally	 got
reinforcements,	and	with	them	I	was	able	to	go	out	and	get	SP4	Brown	who	lay
out	in	the	middle	of	the	field	some	fourteen	hours	from	the	start	until	the	close	of
the	battle.”32

Colonel	Kelly	noted:	“Major	Davis	 received	 the	Silver	Star	and	 the	Purple
Heart	for	his	efforts	in	this	action.”

By	 now,	 the	 Green	 Berets	 of	 5th	 Special	 Forces	 Group	 (Airborne),	 the
cutting	edge	of	the	U.S.	Military	Assistance	Advisory	Group,	Vietnam	(MAAG)
were	being	politically	outflanked	by	the	big	battalions	of	the	Marine	Corps,	the
conventional	Army,	and	changing	geopolitics.

The	murder	of	President	Kennedy	in	November	1963	led	to	the	inauguration
of	Lyndon	Johnson,	a	credo	of	aerial	bombing	in	North	Vietnam	and	attrition	on
the	 ground	 in	 South	 Vietnam.	 MAAG	 was	 swallowed	 up	 in	 1964	 by	 a	 new
entity,	 the	 “Military	Assistance	Command,	Vietnam:	Studies	 and	Observations
Group”	or	MACV-SOG.	The	bland	 title,	with	 its	 academic	nuances,	masked	a
major	 switch	 of	 manpower	 and	 resources	 to	 the	 service	 of	 a	 new	 aggressive
strategy	 that	was	ultimately	 to	draw	500,000	conventional	U.S.	 troops	 into	 the
war.	The	Pentagon	Papers	revealed	that	three	days	after	Kennedy’s	assassination
on	22	November	1963,	the	Joint	Chiefs	of	Staff	proposed	a	twelve-month	covert



offensive	in	North	Vietnam	which	would	include	harassment,	diversion,	political
pressure,	 capture	 of	 prisoners,	 physical	 destruction,	 acquisition	 of	 intelligence,
and	diversion	of	Hanoi’s	resources.	These	hit-and-run	operations	would	be	non-
attributable,	 “carried	 out	 with	 U.S.	 military	 materiel,	 training,	 and	 advisory
assistance.”

This	would	prove	to	be	an	understatement.	The	Pentagon	Papers	also	record:
“On	1	February	1964,	the	United	States	embarked	on	a	new	course	of	action	in
pursuance	 of	 its	 longstanding	 policy	 of	 attempting	 to	 bolster	 the	 security	 of
Southeast	 Asia.	 On	 that	 date,	 under	 direction	 of	 the	 American	 military
establishment,	 an	 elaborate	 program	 of	 covert	 military	 operations	 against	 the
state	of	North	Vietnam	was	set	 in	motion.	There	were	precedents:	a	variety	of
covert	activities	had	been	sponsored	by	the	CIA	since	1961.	Intelligence	agents,
resupplied	 by	 air,	 had	 been	 despatched	 into	 North	 Vietnam,	 resistance	 and
sabotage	 teams	 had	 been	 recruited	 inside	 the	 country;	 and	 propaganda	 leaflets
had	 been	 dispensed	 from	 ‘civilian	 mercenary’	 aircraft.	 But	 the	 program	 that
began	in	February	1964	was	different…because	it	was	a	program…placed	under
control	of	a	U.S.	military	command.”

This	would	prove	to	be	more	than	mission	creep.	It	represented	a	disastrous,
open-ended	 commitment	 to	 a	 tottering	 regime	 in	 Saigon.	 Though	 the	 Green
Beret	mobile	strike	forces	of	 the	Special	Forces	Group	(Airborne)	soldiered	on
in	the	jungle,	they	were	now	in	competition	with	the	lavishly	endowed	MACV-
SOG,	which	had	 its	 own	aircraft	 and	 ships	 as	well	 as	 ground	 forces	 including
local	mercenaries.

The	impact	of	the	new,	covert	policy	was	first	felt	in	the	Gulf	of	Tonkin	on
the	night	 of	 30/31	 July	1964	when	South	Vietnamese	 commandos	under	SOG
command	 attacked	 radar	 sites	 on	 two	 islands,	 Hon	 Mo	 and	 Hon	 Ngu,	 that
belonged	to	North	Vietnam.	They	were	beaten	off	but	then	blasted	away	at	 the
sites	from	their	ships	with	machinegun	and	cannon	fire.	What	followed	is	still,	in
some	respects,	a	 riddle,	a	military	whodunit.	The	Pentagon	Papers	suggest	 that
“South	 Vietnam	 coastal	 patrol	 forces	 made	 a	 midnight	 attack,	 including	 an
amphibious	 ‘commando’	 raid’”	 on	 the	 islands.	 Cruising	 in	 the	 same	 area,	 the
U.S.	destroyer	Maddox	was	trawling	for	signals	and	other	electronic	intelligence,
her	crew	apparently	unaware	of	the	SOG	raid.	Intelligence	intercepts	were	at	the
heart	 of	 the	 offensive.	Cryptographers	 and	 linguists	worked	 twelve-hour	 shifts
inside	a	steel	box	bolted	to	the	destroyer’s	deck.

From	 the	outset,	 signals	 intelligence—SIGINT—had	been	part	of	 a	deadly
game	 of	 hide-and-seek.	 The	 first	 American	 to	 be	 killed	 in	 this	 struggle,	 three
years	before,	was	a	cryptologist	named	James	T.	Davis,	from	Tennessee,	serving
with	3rd	Radio	Research	Unit.	With	 a	 team	of	South	Vietnam	bodyguards,	 he



was	 hunting	 Vietcong	 guerrillas	 in	 undergrowth	 near	 Saigon,	 using	 handheld
direction-finding	gear	to	identify	the	source	of	enemy	signals.	The	enemy	found
him	first.	He	died	with	his	escort	of	nine	soldiers.

At	 mid-afternoon	 on	 2	 August	 1964,	 less	 than	 forty-eight	 hours	 after	 the
strike	 on	 the	 islands,	 three	 North	 Vietnamese	 torpedo	 boats	 attacked	 the
Maddox.	“Two	of	the	boats	closed	to	within	5,000	yards,	launching	one	torpedo
each….	Maddox	fired	on	the	boats	with	her	5-inch	batteries	and	altered	course	to
avoid	 the	 torpedoes,	 which	 were	 observed	 passing	 the	 starboard	 side	 at	 a
distance	of	100	to	200	yards….	The	third	boat	moved	up	abeam	of	the	destroyer
and	took	a	direct	5-inch	hit….	All	three	PT	boats	fired	50-caliber	machineguns
at	 Maddox…and	 a	 bullet	 fragment	 was	 recovered	 from	 the	 destroyer’s
superstructure.”33

Fifteen	minutes	 later,	U.S.	 aircraft,	 responding	 to	 a	 call	 for	 help	 from	 the
Maddox,	 swooped	 on	 the	 torpedo	 boats,	 immobilizing	 one	 and	 damaging	 the
other	 two.	All	 three	 craft	 limped	 back	 to	 port.	 The	Maddox	 continued	 on	 her
way.	The	following	night,	SOG	unleashed	another	attack	on	a	radar	site	at	Vinh
Son.	This	operation,	like	the	first	raid,	was	not	co-ordinated	with	the	Maddox’s
SIGINT	missions,	which	were	run	under	separate	U.S.	Navy	command.

Next	day,	3	August,	the	Maddox—now	accompanied	by	a	second	destroyer,
the	Turner	Joy—sent	a	radio	message	claiming	that	 it	was	being	stalked	in	 the
darkness	 by	 sea	 and	 air.	 A	 mysterious	 “intelligence	 source”	 suggested	 that
“North	Vietnamese	naval	forces	had	been	ordered	to	attack	the	patrol.”34	In	the
early	hours	of	4	August,	colorful	accounts	of	an	onslaught	by	numerous	enemy
vessels	were	relayed	back	to	 the	Pentagon.	Later	 investigations,	however,	soon
indicated	that	“there	was	no	attack.	But	the	original	report	of	an	attack	was	not	a
lie	concocted	 to	provide	an	excuse	 for	escalation;	 it	was	a	genuine	mistake.”35
The	 mistakes	 started	 with	 inaccurate	 warnings	 from	 a	 Marine	 signals
establishment	 in	South	Vietnam	followed	by	misjudgments	by	 radar	and	 sonar
analysts	 aboard	 the	 destroyers.	 Believing	 they	 were	 under	 attack,	 “the	 two
destroyers	 gyrated	 wildly	 in	 the	 dark	 waters	 of	 the	 Gulf	 of	 Tonkin”	 firing	 at
brief,	 suspect	 radar	contacts	as	 they	did	 so.36	The	contact	 signals	mysteriously
disappeared	almost	as	soon	as	they	were	spotted.	Eventually,	officers	aboard	the
two	 vessels	 realized	 that	 their	 own	 maneuvers	 were	 the	 source	 of	 these
apparitions.	 “The	 rudders	 of	 the	 two	 ships	 had	 caused	 the	 high-speed	 returns
when	 they	 reflected	 the	 turbulence	 of	 the	 ships’	 own	 propellers.”	 By	 now,
however,	 the	 ships	 had	 sent	 word	 that	 they	 were	 under	 attack.	 This	 raw,
uncorrected	 intelligence—always	questionable	 in	 the	 fog	of	war—was	put	 into
the	 hands	 of	 Defense	 Secretary	 Robert	 MacNamara,	 who	 promptly	 called



President	 Johnson.	 Three	 hours	 after	 the	 “attack”	was	 over,	 the	 president	 had
ordered	a	retaliatory	air	raid	on	North	Vietnamese	naval	bases.

Early	 doubts	 were	 expressed	 within	 the	 National	 Security	 Agency,
responsible	 for	 signals	 intelligence,	but	 they	were	suppressed.	What	 seemed	 to
confirm	 the	 apparent	 reality	 of	 the	 attack	 was	 a	 later	 signal	 originating	 from
North	Vietnamese	sources.	This	said	that	its	forces	had	“shot	down	two	planes	in
the	battle	area”	and	“we	had	 sacrificed	 two	ships	and	all	 the	 rest	 are	ok.”	The
signal	in	question,	it	transpired,	related	to	the	first,	genuine	attack	of	2	August	in
response	 to	 the	 SOG	 raid	 on	 the	 islands,	 not	 the	 “attack”	 of	 4	August,	which
never	happened.	It	was	also	ambiguous.	In	better	translation,	the	phrase	“we	had
sacrificed	 two	 ships”	 probably	 meant	 “two	 comrades,”	 which	 would	 be
consistent	 with	 the	 casualties	 suffered	 by	 the	 communists	 on	 2	 August.	 The
communist	 signal	was	 itself	 inaccurate	 in	 claiming	 that	 two	U.S.	 aircraft	were
shot	down.

The	 mistake	 in	 translation	 had	 not	 gone	 unnoticed	 where	 it	 mattered.
President	Johnson	 later	admitted:	“The	North	Vietnamese	skipper	 reported	 that
his	 unit	 had	 ‘sacrificed	 two	 comrades.’	Our	 experts	 said	 that	 this	meant	 either
two	enemy	boats,	or	two	men	in	the	attack	group.”	He	went	further	with	the	acid
comment:	“Hell,	those	damn	stupid	sailors	were	just	shooting	at	flying	fish”	or,
according	 to	 another	 source,	 at	 whales.	 In	 an	 increasing	 atmosphere	 of	 war
excitement,	most	of	the	raw	SIGINT	data	was	suppressed,	some	of	it	forever.	As
the	 NSA	 historian	 Robert	 J.	 Hanyok,	 having	 examined	 what	 was	 left	 of	 the
record,	concluded:	“The	extensive	amount	of	SIGINT	evidence	that	contradicted
both	the	initial	attack	order	and	the	notion	that	any	North	Vietnamese	boats	were
involved	 in	 any	 ‘military	 operations,’	 other	 than	 salvage	 of	 the	 two	 damaged
torpedo	 boats,	 was	 either	 misrepresented	 or	 excluded	 from	 all	 NSA-produced
post-incident	 summaries,	 reports,	 or	 chronologies….	 What	 was	 issued	 in	 the
Gulf	of	Tonkin	summaries	beginning	late	on	4	August	was	deliberately	skewed
to	 support	 the	 notion	 that	 there	 had	 been	 an	 attack.	 What	 was	 placed	 in	 the
official	chronology	was	even	more	selective.	That	 the	NSA	personnel	believed
that	 the	 attack	 happened	 and	 rationalized	 the	 contradictory	 evidence	 away	 is
probably	 all	 that	 is	 necessary	 to	 know	 in	 order	 to	 understand	what	was	 done.
They	walked	alone	 in	 their	counsels.”37	And,	apparently,	 freely	away	from	the
war	they	had	helped	precipitate.	The	role	of	SOG	in	precipitating	the	extension
of	 the	 war	 that	 resulted	 from	 its	 raids	 was	 concealed	 from	 Congress	 and	 the
American	 public	 along	with	 doubts	 about	 the	 reliability	 of	 signals	 intelligence
and	the	very	fact	of	the	“attack”	of	4	August.	As	black	operations	go,	this	was	an
unusually	dark	shade.

On	 7	 August,	 Congress	 passed	 the	 Tonkin	 Gulf	 Resolution,	 giving	 the



president	 authority	 to	 take	 “all	 necessary	 measures”	 to	 prevent	 further
aggression.	 He	 later	 asserted	 that	 thanks	 to	 the	 same	 resolution,	 he	 had	 legal
authority	to	escalate	the	war	in	1965,	bringing	America	into	direct	conflict	with
North	Vietnam.	Until	then,	thanks	to	the	use	of	Special	Forces,	U.S.	involvement
had	been	oblique	and	deniable.	The	political	impact	of	this	misadventure	might
bear	 comparison	 with	 the	 explosion	 that	 sank	 the	 U.S.	 battleship	 Maine	 in
Havana	harbor	in	1898,	triggering	the	Spanish-American	War	or	the	unfounded
intelligence,	 stoked	 up	 by	 British	 sources,	 suggesting	 that	 Iraq	 possessed
weapons	of	mass	destruction	in	2003.

From	February	1965	a	prolonged	aerial	bombardment	of	North	Vietnam	was
launched	 to	 fulfill	 the	 threat	 by	 General	 Curtis	 LeMay,	 “We’re	 gonna	 bomb
them	back	into	the	Stone	Age.”	To	protect	the	bases	from	which	the	attacks	were
launched,	 the	 first	 3,500	 U.S.	 Marines	 were	 dispatched	 to	 Da	 Nang.	 By
December	the	number	increased	to	almost	200,000.	The	scene	was	now	set	for
combat	 between	 regular	 U.S.	 and	 North	 Vietnamese	 ground	 forces.	 Initially,
U.S.	 planners	 believed	 in	 the	 fiction	 that	 a	 ground	 war	 could	 be	 won	 by	 air
power	alone;	or	at	least,	that	the	North	Vietnamese	could	be	arm-twisted	into	an
accommodation	 with	 the	 South.	 The	 nostrum	 of	 strategic	 air	 power	 was	 a
venerable	myth	dating	back	 to	 the	British	 attempt	 to	 control	Waziristan	 in	 the
1930s;	the	belief	in	Europe	that	“the	bombers	will	always	get	through”	after	the
attack	 on	 Guernica,	 discredited	 in	 spite	 of	 what	 Goebbels	 called	 “total	 war”
against	 civilians	 in	 Europe	 during	 the	 Second	 World	 War.	 Committing
conventional	 ground	 forces	 ignored	 another	 lesson	 of	 history,	 including	 the
recent	French	experience.	This	was	that	it	is	easier	to	put	soldiers’	boots	on	the
ground	in	hostile	territory	and	much	more	difficult	to	extract	them.

In	Vietnam,	the	U.S.	faced	the	additional	complication	of	the	draft,	 the	use
of	 young	 conscripts	 who	 had	 not	 chosen	 to	 fight	 this	 war.	 To	 make	 matters
worse,	 as	General	Alexander	Haig	 remarked:	 “As	 a	 young	 officer	 in	Korea,	 I
was	 repelled	by	 the	policy	of	granting	draft	deferments…that	primarily	benefit
the	white	middle	class.	In	Vietnam,	the	system	produced	even	greater	abuses.	A
draft	that	was	openly	designed	to	favor	the	rich	and	the	educated	filled	the	ranks
with	soldiers	who	were	neither.”38	Antiwar	demonstrations	at	home,	notably	on
the	 university	 campuses	 of	Kent	 State	 and	 Jackson	 State	 universities	 in	 1970,
further	 complicated	 the	 politics	 of	 the	 conflict	 on	 the	 home	 front	 and	military
planning	on	the	front	 line	as	war	journalists,	scenting	a	 lost	cause	and	political
blood,	were	no	longer	on-message	with	the	military.

Richard	Nixon,	elected	in	1969,	promised	“peace	with	honor.”	His	way	out
of	 the	dilemma	was	“Vietnamization,”	a	process	of	 training	 the	army	of	South
Vietnam	in	sufficient	numbers	to	enable	an	American	withdrawal.	In	practice	it



was	 a	 politically	 plausible	 exit	 strategy.	Whatever	 Special	 Forces	 might	 have
attempted,	however	heroically,	could	no	longer	affect	the	outcome.	In	that	sense,
they	could	no	longer	have	a	strategic	impact,	or	make	a	silk	purse	out	of	a	pig’s
ear.

Nevertheless,	 they	 tried.	 After	 the	 Gulf	 of	 Tonkin	 incident,	 the	 Pentagon
dispatched	 ever	 more	 conventional	 battalions	 to	 Vietnam.	 Optimism,	 like	 the
odor	of	coffee	and	napalm	in	the	morning,	was	in	the	air.	In	1966,	a	high-level
study	concluded,	“Within	the	bounds	of	reasonable	assumptions…there	appears
to	be	no	reason	we	cannot	win	if	such	is	our	will—and	if	that	will	is	manifested
in	 strategy	 and	 tactical	 operations.”39	 Soon,	 the	 total	 U.S.	 Army	 manpower
committed	to	Vietnam	was	nudging	toward	500,000.	The	Pentagon	had	plans	to
call	up	reservists.

In	 the	 fall	 of	 that	 year,	 U.S.	 Special	 Forces	 of	 5th	 Special	 Forces	 Group
(Airborne)	were	charged	with	setting	up	mobile	guerrilla	forces	able	to	operate
in	enemy	territory	undetected	for	up	to	sixty	days,	supplied	every	five	days	or	so
by	 bomber	 aircraft	 dropping	 modified	 500-pound	 napalm	 containers,	 using
genuine	air	strikes	as	cover.	It	was	a	parallel	operation	to	the	SOG	adventures.

The	mobile	strike	 forces	were	 to	 run	 intelligence-gathering	 recce	missions,
raid	 enemy	 camps,	 mine	 roads,	 ambush	 convoys,	 direct	 air	 strikes,	 and	 even
search	 (unsuccessfully,	 as	 it	 turned	 out)	 for	American	 and	 allied	 soldiers	 held
prisoner	 by	 the	 VC.	 “Once	 in	 the	 area	 of	 operations	 the	 unit	 became	 a	 true
guerrilla	 force	 in	 every	 respect	 except	 that	 of	 living	 solely	 off	 the	 land….
Training	 was	 simplified	 to	 the	 utmost	 for	 the	 benefit	 of	 the	 largely	 illiterate
ethnic	 and	 religious	minority	groups	who	comprised	 the	 forces,”	 though	many
had	already	had	experience	with	the	CIDG	cadres	defending	their	villages.	They
started	by	qualifying	 for	 airborne	operations,	 including,	presumably,	 static-line
parachuting.	 Six	 weeks	 of	 training	 that	 followed	 covered	 jungle	 warfare
techniques	 including	 silent	 movement,	 tracking,	 navigation,	 use	 of	 “special”
weapons,	 covert	 infiltration	 and	 exfiltration,	 and	 preparing	 helicopter	 landing
zones.40	Though	unacknowledged,	it	is	likely	that	the	training	also	covered	silent
killing.

The	 mobile	 strike/reaction	 force	 (“Mikeforce”)	 groups,	 salted	 with	 Green
Berets,	 melded	 sometimes	 with	 Special	 Forces	 “project	 groups,”	 known	 by
ancient	Greek	codenames	such	as	Project	Omega	and	Project	Sigma.	Each	had
about	600	men	from	5th	Special	Forces	Group	(Airborne),	as	well	as	an	advisory
command	group,	 reconnaissance	and	quick	 reaction	 forces.	Among	 their	many
successes,	they	rescued	many	U.S.	airmen	shot	down	over	the	demilitarized	zone
ostensibly	 separating	 North	 and	 South	 Vietnam.	 “BLACKJACK	 33,	 a	 typical



unconventional	 operation,	 was	 carried	 out	 between	 27	 April	 and	 24	 May
1967….	 It	 was	 the	 first	 operation	 in	 which	 a	 mobile	 guerrilla	 force	 was
employed	 in	 conjunction	 with	 the	 long-ranged	 reconnaissance	 capability	 of	 a
project	 force,	 Project	 Sigma,	 Detachment	 B-56.	 The	 operation	 was	 highly
effective;	320	of	the	enemy	were	killed.”41	Pentagon	planners	believed	that	the
VC	 and	 their	 North	 Vietnamese	 ally	 would	 cave	 in	 under	 the	 pressure	 of	 a
campaign	of	 attrition.	The	enemy	did	not	have	 the	 same	mystical	belief	 in	 the
power	of	 the	body	count.	Around	a	million	North	Vietnamese,	civil	as	well	as
military,	died	during	the	war.

The	 greatest	 tactical	 success	 among	 the	 Project	 teams	 was	 scored	 by
Gamma,	 which	 did	 much	 in	 its	 brief	 two-year	 existence	 from	 1968	 to	 1970.
Operating	 from	 nine	 sites	 under	 the	 pretense	 of	 running	 civil	 aid	 projects,
Gamma	infiltrated	agents,	including	friendly	Vietnamese,	into	ostensibly	neutral
Cambodia	 in	1968	to	 identify	Vietcong	camps	there.	During	the	preceding	two
years,	 Prince	 Norodom	 Sihanouk,	 the	 country’s	 ruler,	 hedging	 his	 bets	 in	 the
event	of	a	Communist	victory,	had	allowed	Vietnamese	Communists	to	use	areas
of	 Cambodia	 near	 the	 border	 with	 Vietnam	 as	 resupply	 bases.	 The	 supplies,
including	weapons,	 were	 landed	 at	 the	 port	 of	 Sihanoukville,	 in	 spite	 of	 U.S.
diplomatic	 protests.	 South	 Vietnamese	 and	 U.S.	 Special	 Forces	 began	 small
raids	across	the	border,	prompting	counter-protests	from	Cambodia.42

Project	 Gamma’s	 men	 were	 not	 raiders.	 They	 were	 a	 force-multiplier	 for
what	 was	 to	 follow,	 providing	 65	 per	 cent	 of	 the	 intelligence	 on	 North
Vietnamese	base	camps	in	Cambodia,	including	the	number	of	soldiers	there.	By
early	1969,	according	to	one	historian,	the	Project	“had	developed	into	the	finest
and	most	 productive	 intelligence-collection	 operation	 the	United	 States	 had	 in
Southeast	Asia.”43	It	seems	almost	certain	that	this	intelligence	was	the	basis	for
the	B-52	 bomber	 air	 onslaught	 on	Cambodia	 that	was	 to	 follow,	 though	 some
sources	 link	 the	 information	 to	 a	 North	 Vietnamese	 defector,	 or	 even	 aerial
photography	 that	by	 some	magic	penetrated	 the	 jungle	 canopy.	There	was	one
other	candidate.	This	was	the	SOG.	There	was	intense	competition	between	the
SOG	and	the	Green	Beret/Vietnamese	militia	teams.

The	 U.S.	 Air	 Force	 had	 made	 limited	 raids	 on	 Cambodia	 for	 four	 years
before	 the	 bombing	offensive	of	 1969,	 during	 Johnson’s	 presidency.44	But	 the
escalation	in	March	1969	was	a	step-change,	a	response	to	the	North’s	shelling
of	 Saigon	 in	 February.	 U.S.	 intelligence	 had	 long	 sought	 the	 enemy’s	 secret
jungle	headquarters,	known	by	the	abbreviation	COSVN	(for	Central	Office	for
South	Vietnam)	HQ.	The	Army’s	best	guess	was	 that	 it	was	 in	Laos.	But	on	9
February	 1969,	 soon	 after	 Nixon	 was	 inaugurated	 as	 president,	 General



Creighton	Abrams,	C-in-C	 in	South	Vietnam,	cabled	 the	chairman	of	 the	 Joint
Chiefs	of	Staff,	General	Earle	G.	Wheeler,	with	the	knowledge	that	COSVN-HQ
was	in	fact	in	Base	Area	353,	inside	the	“Fish	Hook”	area	of	eastern	Cambodia,
so	called	because	it	was	a	salient	that	extended	into	South	Vietnam,	northwest	of
Saigon.	It	accommodated	several	enemy	regiments	and	a	field	hospital.

Abrams	wrote:	“The	area	is	covered	by	thick	canopy	jungle.	Source	reports
there	are	no	concrete	structures	in	this	area.	Usually	reliable	sources	report	that
COSVN	 and	 COSVN-associated	 elements	 consistently	 remain	 in	 the	 same
general	 area	 across	 the	 border.	 All	 our	 information,	 generally	 confirmed	 by
imagery	 interpretation,	 provides	 us	 with	 a	 firm	 basis	 for	 targeting	 COSVN
HQs.”45	Abrams’s	opaque	reference	to	“source	reports”	does	not	identify	Project
Gamma,	 probably	 to	 preserve	 the	 secrecy	 surrounding	 long-running	 Special
Forces	 cross-border	 operations.	 His	 proposal	 was	 subject	 to	 a	 stratospheric
discussion	 in	Washington,	 to	 be	 finally	 approved	by	President	Nixon	 after	 the
enemy	shelled	Saigon.	In	the	early	hours	of	19	March	forty-eight	B-52	bombers
pulverized	 Base	 Area	 353	 with	 2,400	 tons	 of	 high	 explosive.	 The	 Hanoi
authorities	 maintained	 an	 icy	 silence,	 in	 public.	 Over	 the	 following	 fourteen
months,	Abrams	served	up	a	list	of	another	fifteen	Base	Areas	for	aerial	assault.
The	 first	 attack	 was	 codenamed	 Breakfast.	 The	 ensuing	 five	 operations	 were
Lunch,	 Snack,	 Dinner,	 Supper,	 and	 Dessert,	 in	 which	 B-52s	 mounted	 3,800
raids,	dropping	108,823	tons	of	high	explosive.

After	any	air	raid,	the	planners	need	a	Bomb	Damage	Assessment.	Since	this
can	 best	 be	 made	 on	 the	 spot,	 on	 enemy	 or	 disputed	 territory	 it	 is	 a	 job	 for
Special	Forces.	In	this	case,	it	was	not	the	Green	Beret-led	mobile	forces	that	did
the	job	but	their	rival,	the	SOG,	which	provided	70	per	cent	of	BDA	intelligence
after	these	attacks.46

The	damage	done	to	Cambodia	was	reassessed	in	2000	when	President	Bill
Clinton	released	classified	BDA	data	previously	concealed	from	public	view	by
the	Air	Force.	Between	4	October	1965	and	15	August	1973,	a	total	of	2,756,941
tons	of	ordnance	was	dropped	on	113,716	Cambodian	sites.	An	expert	Canadian
analysis	by	Taylor	Owen	and	Ben	Kiernan	concludes	that	more	than	10	per	cent
of	 the	 targeting	 was	 indiscriminate.	 They	 suggest:	 “Civilian	 casualties	 in
Cambodia	 drove	 an	 enraged	 populace	 into	 the	 arms	 of	 an	 insurgency	 that	 had
enjoyed	 relatively	 little	 support	until	 the	bombing	began,	 setting	 in	motion	 the
expansion	of	the	Vietnam	War	deeper	into	Cambodia,	a	coup	d’etat	in	1970,	the
rapid	 rise	 of	 the	Khmer	Rouge	 and	 ultimately	 the	Cambodian	 genocide.”	 The
data	 also	 demonstrated	 that	 “the	way	 a	 country	 chooses	 to	 exit	 a	 conflict	 can
have	disastrous	consequences.”



The	 disastrous	 consequences	 in	 Cambodia	 included	 the	 failure	 of	 a
succession	of	governments,	culminating	in	the	barbaric	killing	fields	of	Pol	Pot.
As	General	Haig	revealed,	in	the	1980s	President	Reagan	“continued	to	support
the	Khmer	resistance	movement	as	a	means	of	opposing	the	Vietnamese	military
presence	in	Kampuchea	[formerly	Cambodia].	“It	was	with	considerable	anguish
that	we	agreed	to	support,	even	for	overriding	political	and	strategic	reasons,	this
charnel	figure”	[Pol	Pot].47

In	 the	 short	 run,	 however,	 the	 attacks	 on	 Cambodian	 soil	 were	 effective.
Vietcong	 attacks	 on	 the	 South,	 particularly	 the	 Special	 Forces/CIDG	 camps,
dropped	significantly.	Raids	on	the	ground	by	Mikeforce	teams	recovered	huge
quantities	of	enemy	weapons	and	ordnance.	On	the	waters	of	the	Mekong	Delta,
using	 air	 boats—air-propelled	 inflatables—and	 sampans,	 another	 Mikeforce
group	kept	enemy	forces	on	the	back	foot.

For	the	Green	Berets	of	5th	Special	Forces	Group	(Airborne)	the	end	game
was	 reached	with	Vietnamization	 in	1970,	when	14,534	 tribal	guerrillas	of	 the
Civilian	 Irregular	 Defense	 Group	 were	 absorbed	 into	 the	 regular	 Vietnamese
Army	 as	 Ranger	 battalions.	 The	 SF	 goal	 had	 differed	 from	 that	 of	 the
conventional	battalions.	“The	goal	of	conventional	forces	was	 the	conventional
one	of	winning	the	war.	For	Special	Forces,	however,	 the	goal	was	 to	help	 the
South	 Vietnamese	 win	 what	 was	 really	 their	 war,	 and	 that	 goal	 was	 never
forgotten.”48

	

Civil	action	(assistance)	programs	were	equally	impressive.	“A	summary	of	the
civil	action	missions	of	 the	5th	Special	Forces	Group	 in	 the	period	1964–1970
shows	 that	 the	 group	 set	 up	 49,902	 economic	 aid	 projects,	 34,468	 welfare
projects	and	10,902	medical	projects;	furnished	14,934	transportation	facilities;
supported	479,568	 refugees;	 dug	6,436	wells	 and	 repaired	2,949	kilometers	 of
road;	established	129	churches,	272	markets,	110	hospitals	and	398	dispensaries
and	 built	 1,003	 classrooms	 and	 670	 bridges.”49	 By	 this	 time,	 the	U.S.	Marine
Corps,	 not	 formally	 Special	 Forces,	 had	 also	 run	 a	 Civic	 Assistance	 Program
during	 which	 they	 assisted	 thousands	 of	 sick	 or	 war-wounded	 civilians.	 Such
figures	might	not	make	exciting	reading	for	military	buffs,	but	for	almost	half	a
million	refugees	and	thousands	of	others,	they	were	a	welcome	change	from	the
carnage	of	war.	 It	was	 time	 to	go	home,	 though	not	 for	 everyone.	 “Generally,
U.S.	Special	Forces	men	who	had	spent	less	than	ten	months	in	Vietnam—some
1,200	 or	 sixty	 per	 cent	 of	 the	 group	 strength—were	 reassigned	 to	 other	 U.S.
Army,	 Vietnam,	 units.	 The	 remainder	 returned	 to	 the	 continental	 United



States.”50
MACV-SOG,	 the	 parallel	 multi-force	 Special	 Forces	 group,	 remained	 in

action	 in	 Vietnam	 until	 May	 1972.	 The	 SOG	 was	 an	 extraordinary,
heterogeneous	 task	 force	 energized	 by	 adventurous	 spirits	 from	 the	 CIA’s
Special	Activities	Division,	SEALS,	U.S.	Air	Force,	Green	Berets,	Vietnamese
Special	 Forces,	 local	 and	 foreign	mercenaries	 and	 signals	 intelligence	 experts.
Fathered	by	the	Joint	Chiefs,	it	also	had	much	political	clout.	CIA	chiefs	feared
that	 it	 represented	 a	 takeover.	 Lyman	 Kirkpatrick,	 the	 Agency’s	 executive
director,	 suspected	 “the	 fragmentation	 and	 destruction	 of	 the	 CIA,	 with	 the
clandestine	services	being	gobbled	up	by	the	Joint	Chiefs	of	Staff.”51

In	 spite	 of	 its	 political	 backing,	 SOG	 was	 either	 singularly	 unlucky	 or
unwilling	to	learn	from	past	mistakes,	or	both.	The	Gulf	of	Tonkin	raid	was	not
the	 only	misadventure.	 Between	 1959	 and	 1961,	 the	 CIA	 had	 parachuted	 250
South	 Vietnamese	 agents	 into	 the	 North.	 Most	 were	 killed	 or	 turned	 by	 the
enemy.	For	 three	years	 from	1965	SOG	repeated	 the	error.	Once	captured,	 the
teams	were	 turned	 by	 their	 captors.	The	 intelligence	 they	 sent	 back	was	 false.
Information	 relayed	 in	 return,	 detailing	 the	 next	 parachute	 or	 helicopter
insertion,	 including	 landing	zones,	was	genuine.	The	outcome	was	predictable.
Between	1960	and	1968	the	CIA	and	MACV-SOG	sent	456	South	Vietnamese
agents	to	their	deaths	or	harsh	imprisonment.52	In	1965,	SOG	turned	its	guns	on
Laos,	or	rather,	the	Ho	Chi	Minh	trail,	a	rabbit	warren	of	tracks	that	lay	beneath
the	jungle	canopy	and	rode	over	rugged	8,000-foot	mountains.	SOG	targeted	and
USAF	bombed.

Within	a	few	months,	the	number	of	air	raids	had	increased	from	twenty	to
1,000	a	month.	By	now,	the	State	Department	and	its	ambassador	in	the	Laotian
capital—defending	 the	 country’s	notional	 neutrality—were	 in	 conflict	with	 the
Joint	Chiefs,	who	claimed	that	the	trail	was	part	of	“the	extended	battlefield.”

In	1968,	as	the	war	dragged	on	and	enemy	supplies	and	manpower	continued
to	flow	in	vast	quantities	from	the	North	with	20,000	enemy	troops	 infiltrating
the	 South	 each	 month,	 SOG	 tried	 its	 luck	 again	 in	 North	 Vietnam,	 running
intelligence	 agents	 in	 support	 of	 conventional	 forces.	Unlucky	 as	 ever,	 SOG’s
new	enterprise	coincided	with	North	Vietnam’s	Tet	Offensive.	A	series	of	feints
from	the	North	in	remote	border	areas	succeeded	in	drawing	the	attention	of	the
U.S.	 and	South	Vietnamese	armies	away	 from	cities	 in	South	Vietnam.	On	31
January	 1968,	 at	 the	 start	 of	 the	most	 important	Vietnamese	 holiday,	 “the	 full
scale	 offensive	 began	 with	 simultaneous	 attacks	 by	 the	 communists	 on	 five
major	 cities,	 thirty-six	 provincial	 capitals,	 sixty-four	 district	 capitals	 and
numerous	villages.	In	Saigon,	suicide	squads	attacked	the	Independence	Palace



(residence	 of	 the	 president),	 the	 radio	 station,	 the	 Vietnamese	 Army	 General
Staff	compound,	Tan	Son	Nhut	airfield	and	 the	U.S.	embassy.”53	 If	 the	assault
was	 meant	 to	 take	 and	 hold	 ground,	 it	 failed,	 at	 a	 cost:	 the	 lives	 of	 32,000
communist	 soldiers	were	 sacrificed.	But	 like	 the	 hidden	 dimension	 of	General
Giap’s	siege	at	Dien	Bien	Phu—plus	his	unexpected	use	of	anti-aircraft	guns	and
howitzers—its	 true	 purpose	was	 political	 and	 psychological.	 In	 that	 sense,	 the
Tet	 offensive	 succeeded.	 “On	 March	 31,	 1968,	 President	 Johnson	 announced
that	 he	 would	 not	 seek	 his	 party’s	 nomination	 for	 another	 term	 of	 office,
declared	 a	 halt	 to	 the	 bombing	 of	 North	 Vietnam	 (except	 for	 a	 narrow	 strip
above	 the	 Demilitarized	 Zone)	 and	 urged	 Hanoi	 to	 agree	 to	 peace	 talks.”54
Johnson’s	 credibility	 at	 home	was	mortally	 damaged	 and	 so	 was	 the	 public’s
belief	in	this	war.	“With	U.S.	troop	strength	at	525,000,	a	request	by	[General]
Westmoreland	 for	 an	 additional	 200,000	 troops	 was	 refused	 by	 a	 presidential
commission	headed	by	the	new	U.S.	secretary	of	defense,	Clark	Clifford.”55

On	6	November,	Richard	Nixon,	a	Republican,	won	the	presidential	election
with	a	promise	of	“peace	with	honor.”	This	meant	training	the	South	Vietnamese
armed	 forces	 up	 to	 a	 level	 where	 they	 could	 guarantee	 the	 security	 of	 their
country.	Meanwhile,	 the	war	was	 extended	 to	Cambodia	 and	Laos,	 assisted	 in
both	cases	by	regime	change.	Communist	bases	and	the	Ho	Chi	Minh	trail	were
targeted	 by	 MACV	 using,	 among	 other	 tools,	 electronic	 sensors	 linked	 to
computers	 in	 an	 attempt	 to	 automate	 intelligence	 collection.	 This	 endeavor,
codenamed	Operation	 Igloo	White,	has	been	described	as	“the	keystone	of	 the
U.S.	aerial	interdiction	effort	of	the	Vietnam	conflict.”	Enthusiasm	for	bombing
Laos	grew	as	 a	 result	 to	 433,000	 tons	 in	 1969.	Devastating	 though	 that	 figure
was,	 it	 was	modest	 compared	with	what	was	 happening	 in	 Cambodia.	Within
two	years,	MACV’s	clandestine	operations	 in	Cambodia	and	Laos	were	ended
by	 Congress.	 MACV	 stayed	 in	 business	 by	 proxy,	 running	 local	 mercenaries
known	as	Special	Commando	Units.

As	 U.S.	 Special	 Forces’	 involvement	 in	 ground	 operations	 in	 Vietnam
neared	its	end,	the	Pentagon	planned	a	spectacular	that,	had	it	succeeded,	might
have	 lifted	 morale	 back	 home.	 This	 was	 the	 airborne	 raid	 by	 fifty-six	 Green
Berets	and	CIA	paramilitaries	on	Son	Tay,	a	sprawling	military	complex	a	mere
twenty-three	 miles	 west	 of	 Hanoi,	 and	 identified	 as	 a	 prison	 holding	 seventy
U.S.	soldiers	and	airmen.	The	operation,	though	it	cost	only	two	minor	casualties
and	one	aircraft,	was	fatally	flawed	in	two	respects.	First,	intelligence	on	which
the	 raid	was	 planned	was	 out	 of	 date.	The	 prisoners	 had	 been	moved	 to	 other
locations	 when	 the	 rescuers	 arrived.	 Second,	 it	 took	 too	 long	 for	 the	 military
bureaucracy	to	get	its	act	together.	SOG	had	suspected	since	1968	that	Son	Tay



held	 POWs.	 In	 early	 May	 1970,	 following	 an	 analysis	 of	 aerial	 recce
photographs,	planning	began.	The	raid	did	not	happen	until	20	November	1970.
The	 outcome	 provoked	 controversy	 for	 years	 afterwards.	 In	 March	 1983,	 a
Washington	 symposium	 brought	 together	 leading	 theorists	 and	 practitioners	 to
discuss	special	operations	in	U.S.	strategy.

Dr.	 Edward	 N.	 Luttwak,	 Senior	 Fellow	 at	 the	 Center	 for	 Strategic	 and
International	 Studies,	 Georgetown	 University,	 suggested:	 “When	 a
bureaucratized	 and	 engineering-oriented	 establishment	 attempts	 commando
operations,	it	is	always	‘unlucky.’	The	action	starts	with	the	information	that	was
received	 on	May	 9	 1970:	American	 POWs	 in	Ap	Loy	 and	 Son	Tay.	Had	 this
information	gone	to	a	commando	organization—consisting	of,	say,	thirty	or	forty
officers	 who	 have	 spent	 five	 or	 six	 years	 doing	 only	 commando	 work—their
own	self-contained	planning	group	would	have	said,	‘Right.	This	is	where	they
are.	What’s	 the	most	 prosaic	 vehicle	 that	will	 get	 us	 there?’	Then	 they	would
have	gone	in	to	take	the	POWs	out.

“When	a	bureaucratized	establishment	receives	the	same	information,	it	sets
up	a	planning	committee.	When	the	planning	committee	advises	how	to…get	the
POWs	 out,	 the	 establishment	 sets	 up	 a	 feasibility	 planning	 group	 or	 an
assessment	 group.	 This	 is	 followed	 by	 an	 evaluation	 group,	 and	 so	 on.	 Then,
after	six	months	or	so”	[and	around	seventy	rehearsals]	“all	concerned	are	finally
ready	for	 the	operation,	which	has	been	planned	and	prepared	as	a	very	small-
scale	D-Day.	Then	they	go	in,	and	they	discover	that	the	POWs	are	not	there	any
more.	Son	Tay	was	a	crushing	failure	of	the	planning	system.	The	Israeli	raid	at
Entebbe	was	planned	and	executed	 in	 five	days.”56	Other	participants	saw	Son
Tay—“the	 first	 operation	 of	 its	 type	 ever	 undertaken	 by	 the	 United	 States,	 a
long-range	 penetration	 by	 helicopter,	 deep	 into	 enemy	 territory…”—as	 “an
outstanding	success”	from	the	tactical	standpoint.	Retired	officers	present	at	the
symposium,	some	of	whom	were	part	of	the	Son	Tay	team,	objected	vigorously
to	Luttwak’s	thesis.

In	January	1973,	Nixon	halted	all	U.S.	combat	operations	in	South	Vietnam.
Peace	agreements	with	the	various	powers	involved	soon	followed	and	MACV,
along	with	 its	 cutting	 edge,	 the	 Studies	 and	Observation	Group,	was	 formally
consigned	 to	 history,	 though	 the	 latter	would	 be	 reborn,	 in	 time,	 as	 the	CIA’s
Special	Operations	Group.

South	 Vietnam	 should	 have	 been	 safe.	 On	 paper	 it	 outgunned	 and
outnumbered	 its	 northern	 adversary	 by	 two	 to	 one.	 Its	 air	 force	 had	 1,400
aircraft.	Its	army	had	been	fastidiously	trained	by	U.S.	Special	Forces	but—with
a	few	honorable	exceptions—it	always	showed	a	reluctance	to	fight.	Its	officers
had	a	talent	for	retreat.	So	when	the	communists	attacked	with	artillery	and	tanks



in	March	1975,	it	retreated.	The	retreat	became	a	panic	and	panic	engendered	a
rout	to	the	sea.	Under	incessant	shelling,	civilians	took	their	chance	in	trying	to
swim	 out	 to	 overloaded	 vessels	 as	 they	 weighed	 anchor.	 By	 the	 end	 of	 the
month,	100,000	South	Vietnamese	soldiers	joined	the	grateful	dead	at	Da	Nang
and	 surrendered	 the	 city.	 There	 was	 courageous,	 if	 isolated,	 resistance	 by	 the
Xuan	Loc	garrison	some	forty	miles	to	the	east	of	Saigon	for	two	weeks	in	April.
By	the	end	of	the	month,	the	South	Vietnam	capital	was	surrounded	by	100,000
enemy,	who	now	enjoyed	a	three-to-one	advantage.

Inside	 the	city,	martial	 law	was	declared,	but	 it	did	nothing	 to	dampen	 the
panic	as	senior	officials	fought	with	dogsbodies	to	claim	a	place	on	evacuation
helicopters.	The	testament	to	the	failure	of	American	policy	in	Vietnam	was	the
image	of	the	last	helicopter	to	claw	its	way	to	survival	from	the	roof	of	the	U.S.
embassy	on	30	April,	accompanied	by	surreal	music—Bing	Crosby	singing	“I’m
Dreaming	 of	 a	White	 Christmas”—that	 was	 the	 coded	 signal	 to	 leave.	 Henry
Kissinger,	 an	 architect	 of	 the	 Cambodian	 bombing	 campaign,	 wrote	 the
campaign’s	 obituary	 in	 a	 secret	memorandum	 to	 President	 Ford:	 “In	 terms	 of
military	 tactics,	we	cannot	help	draw	 the	 conclusion	 that	our	 armed	 forces	 are
not	suited	to	this	kind	of	war.	Even	the	Special	Forces	who	had	been	designed
for	it	could	not	prevail.”57

The	war	cost	60,000	U.S.	dead	or	missing.	Around	three	million	Vietnamese
also	 lost	 their	 lives.	 The	 conflict	 left	 America	 with	 a	 political	 hangover,
expressed	 as	 “No	More	Vietnams!”	 or	 at	 best,	 “a	 very	 cautious	 approach	 that
borders	on	a	‘never	again’	approach.”58	That	is,	until	9/11	pierced	the	carapace
of	America’s	self-belief.	The	successes	of	U.S.	Special	Forces	in	Vietnam,	like
the	better	 side	of	 Julius	Caesar,	was	oft	 interred	with	 their	bones.	Green	Beret
veterans,	 given	 half	 a	 chance,	will	 remind	 us:	 “At	 their	 peak,	 less	 than	 2,300
U.S.	Special	Forces	soldiers	skilfully	controlled	and	led	about	69,000	indigenous
fighters,	denying	 their	use	 to	 the	enemy,	and	precluding	what	otherwise	would
have	been	classified	as	genocide	 if	control	had	slipped	 to	 the	other	side.	There
would	have	been	no	other	alternative	but	to	wage	an	anti-logistical,	primarily	air
campaign	 against	 them	 as	 these	 peoples	 supported	 the	 enemy.	 That	 in	 and	 of
itself	 was	 a	most	 successful	 special	 operation:	 control	 and	 denial	 of	 a	 remote
population	to	the	opposition.”59

It	 is	a	bleak	equation,	yet	one	 that	matches	M.	R.	D.	Foot’s	argument	 that
irregular	warfare	is	the	only	sane	way	wars	can	be	fought	in	a	nuclear	age	or,	for
that	matter,	as	an	alternative	to	strategic	air	power	to	murder	civilians.	In	spite	of
that,	 Vietnam	 impacted	 adversely	 on	 the	 evolution	 of	U.S.	 Special	 Forces	 for
decades	afterward.	Denigrated	by	conventional	soldiers	as	“unprofessional”	and



by	 others	 as	 wild	 men,	 out	 of	 control	 and	 acting	 “unilaterally,”	 U.S.	 Special
Forces	were	all	but	eradicated	during	the	1970s.60

More	than	thirty	years	after	U.S.	Special	Forces	pulled	out	of	Vietnam,	that
war	 continues	 to	 divide	 historians.	 Gordon	 Goldstein’s	 Lessons	 in	 Disaster
argued	 that	 President	 Johnson	was	 “pressed	 by	 the	military	 into	 escalating	 an
unwinnable	conflict,”	while	Lewis	Sorley’s	A	Better	War	proposed	that	“antiwar
feelings	 and	 pressure	 from	 Congress	 forced	 Richard	 Nixon	 to	 reject	 a
counterinsurgency	strategy	that	could	have	succeeded.”61

The	 asymmetric	 conflicts	 of	 Vietnam	 and	 Afghanistan	 were	 hardly
understood	 by	 many	 professional,	 conventional	 soldiers	 whose	 careers	 had
conditioned	 them	 for	 careful,	 orderly,	 and	 prolonged	 preparation	 for	 textbook
warfare	as	in	the	Gulf,	1990,	in	which	Operation	Desert	Shield	was	orchestrated
as	 if	 the	 impending	 carnage	 were	 a	 Mahler	 symphony	 to	 be	 concluded
triumphantly	in	the	home	key.	Asymmetric	warfare	belongs	on	another	planet.	It
is	a	conflict	of	ideas	in	which	the	battleground	is	anywhere	and	everywhere,	with
no	firm	criteria	for	victory	or	even,	perhaps,	a	defined	end	to	hostilities.	It	 is	a
process	 that	mutates	according	 to	 its	own	rules,	 like	a	cancer.	The	only	people
who	understand	it	are	the	lateral	thinkers	on	the	front	line.	They	are	not	often	to
be	found	in	the	Pentagon	or	the	Ministry	of	Defence.

In	Vietnam,	 following	a	 rigged	election	 in	1967	 that	maintained	a	military
junta	in	power,	U.S.	forces	were	perceived	by	most	civilians	as	puppet-masters
of	 an	 illegitimate,	 unwanted	 government.	 Political	 legitimacy	was	 the	missing
ingredient	to	success	in	that	campaign.	The	more	military	force	was	used	to	prop
up	the	old,	corrupt	regime,	the	more	credibility	Hanoi	enjoyed	in	characterizing
America	 as	 an	 alien,	 neo-colonial	 power	 to	 which	 ordinary	 people	 owed	 no
loyalty.	Rufus	Phillips,	the	dean	among	U.S.	diplomats	in	Saigon	(where	he	was
the	boss	of	Richard	Holbrooke,	Obama’s	special	envoy	to	Afghanistan),	notices
similarities	between	then	and	now.	Writing	in	advance	of	the	return	to	office	of
Hamid	Karzai,	he	endorsed	the	view	that	in	Vietnam,	the	electoral	fraud	of	1967
proved	to	be	“the	most	destructive	and	destabilizing	factor	of	all.”	As	they	might
have	 said	 in	 French-managed	 Indochina,	 plus	 ça	 change;	 plus	 c’est	 la	 même
chose.



CHAPTER	2

DELTA,	DESERT	ONE,	AND	“THE	ACTIVITY”

In	1962	a	burly	Green	Beret	captain,	Charlie	A.	Beckwith,	formerly	an	all-state
football	player	from	Atlanta,	was	in	the	Malayan	jungle	feeling	seriously	unwell.
He	was	no	stranger	 to	 the	hazards	of	 jungle	warfare.	He	had	been	an	Airborne
soldier	for	seven	years	and	had	two	years’	service	with	Special	Forces	in	South
Vietnam	 and	 Laos	 as	 a	 “military	 adviser.”	 The	 local	 leeches,	 bloated	 on	 his
blood,	 and	 only	 removable	 from	 the	 most	 intimate	 parts	 of	 his	 body	 with	 a
burning	 cigarette	 applied	 by	 a	 buddy,	 were	 nothing	 special.	 He’d	 had	 dengue
fever	and	a	touch	of	malaria	in	Laos.	But	this	sickness	was	unlike	anything	else
he	 had	 known.	 To	 make	 matters	 worse,	 he	 was	 not	 even	 serving	 in	 his	 own
army.	 With	 another	 Green	 Beret,	 a	 Sergeant	 Rozniak,	 Beckwith	 was	 on
attachment	 to	 the	British	Special	Air	Service	Regiment	as	part	of	an	exchange
program	through	which	the	Brits	sent	their	brightest	and	best	to	Fort	Bragg.

The	 connection	 had	 been	 made	 several	 years	 before	 by	 Colonel	 I.	 A.
(“Boppy”)	 Edwards	 of	 7th	 Special	 Forces	 Group	 and	 a	 British	 legend	 named
Colonel	John	Woodhouse.	During	the	1960s,	the	transatlantic	exchange	program
involved	 three	 of	 the	 principal	 players	 subsequently	 caught	 up	 in	 the	 tragic
failure	 of	 Desert	 One.	 As	well	 as	 Beckwith,	 the	 SAS	 trained	Dick	Meadows,
who	 operated	 in	 civilian	 clothes	 in	Tehran	 on	 a	DIA	 contract	 and	 Jerry	King,
Chief	 of	Staff	 to	 the	 general	 commanding	 the	 doomed	 attempt	 to	 rescue	 fifty-
three	American	diplomat-hostages.	All	that	was	over	the	horizon	when	Beckwith
virtually	collapsed	in	Malaya.

Special	Forces	are	hard	men.	In	Afghanistan	in	2009,	a	medevac	team	from
55th	Expeditionary	Rescue	Squadron	USAF	was	astonished	by	the	fortitude	of	a
British	SBS	soldier	who	had	been	shot	through	the	face.	He	declined	an	offer	of
morphine	and,	as	one	of	 the	 rescue	 team	noted,	“calmly	picked	pieces	of	bone
and	 teeth	 from	 his	 own	 wound.”	 In	 Malaya,	 the	 SAS	 commander	 John
Woodhouse,	 dealing	 with	 one	 of	 his	 soldiers	 who	 had	 accidentally	 fired	 his
weapon—in	official	language,	an	“accidental	discharge”—gave	the	man	a	hand
grenade	 to	 carry	 for	 the	 rest	of	 the	day.	The	 firing	pin	had	been	extracted.	To
relax	 his	 grip	 for	 even	 a	 second	 would	 mean	 the	 victim’s	 certain	 death.	 In



Turkey	in	2009,	a	similar	experiment	resulted	in	the	death	of	a	recruit.	In	such
company,	Beckwith	felt	impelled	not	to	let	America	down.	He	staggered	on.	In
fact,	in	their	rough	fashion,	the	twenty-odd	men	of	Three	Troop,	A	Squadron,	22
SAS,	 had	 taken	 to	 their	 American	 guest.	 His	 nickname,	 “Chargin’	 Charlie,”
meant	something.	As	one	of	his	troop	once	told	the	author:	“He’d	rather	march
through	a	tree	than	go	round	it.”	The	SAS	were	teaching	him	stealth.

His	 team	 was	 now	 into	 its	 ninth	 day	 of	 living	 close	 to	 nature	 in	 a	 green
twilight	 beneath	 a	 canopy	 of	 trees	 that	 excluded	 direct	 light,	 an	 apparently
welcoming	 place	 that	 was	 full	 of	 hidden	 danger.	 In	 the	 jungle	 it	 is	 standard
practice	before	lying	under	a	tree	to	shake	it,	lest	the	tree	fall	and	kill	you	as	you
sleep.	Venomous	snakes	and	a	variety	of	hairy,	poisonous	six-and	eight-legged
creatures	await	the	unwary.	Some	humans	actually	like	it	in	there.	Paddy	B,	an
SAS	veteran	of	the	parallel	campaigns	in	Borneo	and	the	arid	Radfan	Mountains
of	Aden	 in	 the	1960s,	when	asked	which	environment	he	preferred,	 replied,	 in
his	 Cork	 brogue:	 “Sure	 I’d	 say	 there,	 Mr.	 Geraghty,	 I	 like	 the	 jungle	 best.
There’s	no	shortage	of	water	in	the	jungle	and	a	man	can	get	as	much	sleep	as	he
needs.	I’d	call	that	a	gracious	living.”

Before	Beckwith	fell	sick,	his	patrol	had	already	taken	one	casualty	and	had
found	it	necessary	to	make	a	clearing	with	high	explosive	to	enable	a	helicopter
to	 take	 the	 injured	man	 out.	As	 a	 result,	 in	 a	 race	 against	 time,	 they	 had	 lost
thirty-six	 hours	 and	 now	 had	 to	 chance	 compromise	 and	 exposure	 to	 CTs
(Communist	Terrorists)	by	snatching	 the	only	possible	shortcut	 if	 they	were	 to
reach	 their	 rendezvous	with	another	SAS	patrol	on	schedule.	The	shortcut	was
the	river.	So	they	built	rafts	and	traveled	swiftly,	without	apparent	trouble,	to	the
RV.

It	was	at	this	point	that	Beckwith	became	ill.	He	did	not	know	it	yet,	but	he
had	contracted	leptospirosis,	also	known	as	Weil’s	Disease,	a	deadly	infection	if
an	 open	 wound,	 or	 sore,	 comes	 into	 contact	 with	 water	 carrying	 the	 urine	 of
animals	 also	 suffering	 from	 the	 condition.	 (The	 author	 first	 learned	 about	 this
hazard	when	he	returned	from	a	run	through	part	of	the	Jungle	Warfare	School	at
Kota	Tingi,	 in	Johore	Baru,	barefoot).	Chargin’	Charlie,	moving	through	dense
rain	forest,	had	picked	up	many	minor	cuts,	then	entered	the	river	to	launch	the
raft.	It	was	his	bad	luck	that	his	patch	of	water	hosted	leptospirosis.

He	was	hospitalized	in	the	nick	of	time	and	after	repeated	doses	of	penicillin
and	thanks	to	his	own	will	to	live,	he	started	to	recover.	After	ten	days,	he	could
walk	 a	 few	 steps,	 unaided.	 The	 U.S.	 government	 sent	 a	 doctor	 from	 the
Philippines	 to	 remove	him	 to	an	American	hospital.	Beckwith	 told	 the	man,	 in
less	than	polite	terms,	to	go	to	hell.	His	twelve-month	attachment	to	the	Brits	had
not	yet	run	its	course.	Word	got	back	to	his	SAS	troop.	They	approved.	He	wrote



later:	 “For	 once,	 I’ve	 done	 something	 right.”62	 While	 he	 was	 recuperating,
Beckwith	had	a	bright	 idea.	This	was	 that	 the	unorthodox	methods	of	 the	SAS
including	 deep	 penetration	 of	 contested	 territory	 by	 stealth,	 guerrilla	 warfare
turned	against	guerrillas,	was	something	America	could	usefully	absorb	into	its
own	military	doctrine.	“The	American	Army	not	only	needed	a	Special	Forces
capability,	but	an	SAS	one;	not	only	a	 force	of	 teachers	 [of	native	surrogates],
but	a	force	of	doers.”

His	moment	of	enlightenment	had	an	interesting	precedent.	In	Cairo	in	1941
the	founder	of	the	SAS,	David	Stirling,	was	hospitalized	following	a	parachuting
accident.	 For	 the	 time	 being,	 Stirling	was	 paralyzed	 from	 the	waist	 down.	He
passed	 the	 time	 scribbling	 a	 proposal	 for	 a	 tiny	 team	 to	 hit	 targets	 behind
Rommel’s	 lines	 in	 the	 Western	 Desert.	 It	 would	 replace	 a	 major	 commando
outfit,	 now	 disbanded	 after	 a	 disastrous	 start,	 called	 Layforce.	 Stirling	 later
explained:	“The	main	 thesis…was	 to	plead	 that	many	objectives	envisaged	 for
Layforce…could	 be	 tackled	 by	 a	 unit	 less	 than	 one-twentieth	 the	 size	 of	 the
1,600-man	establishment	of	Layforce….	The	minuscule	demand	on	the	sources
of	the	Middle	East	Command	and	the	project’s	high	potential	reward	decided	the
Commander-in-Chief	 to	 authorize	me	 to	 go	 ahead.	 Thus	was	 born	 the	 Special
Air	Service.”

It	would	be	 fifteen	years	before	a	conservative	U.S.	military	establishment
understood	Beckwith’s	message.	This	was	that	in	spite	of	the	separate	skills	and
shared	 bravery	 of	 other	 Special	 Forces	 teams—Rangers,	 SEALs,	Marines	 and
autonomous	Green	Berets—there	was	a	hole	in	America’s	military	preparedness.
That	 was	 the	 threat	 of	 international,	 global	 terrorism.	 Britain	 knew	 about	 it
thanks	to	the	support	given	to	the	IRA	by	the	Libyan	leader	Colonel	Gaddafi	and
the	 car	 bombs	 that	 shredded	much	 of	 London	 as	 well	 as	 Belfast.	 Italy	 knew,
thanks	 to	 the	assassins	of	 the	Red	Brigades.	Germany	and	Israel	had	 learned	a
bitter	 lesson	 through	 the	Munich	Massacre	at	 the	1972	Olympics.	 In	1977,	 the
Joint	Chiefs	of	Staff	were	finally	persuaded	to	endorse,	in	principle,	the	creation
of	a	unit	modeled	on	the	British	SAS,	to	prepare	for	a	global	war	on	terrorism.
They	 were	 influenced	 by	 the	 latest	 terrorist	 outrage.	 A	 team	 of	 Palestinians,
supported	by	German	anarchists,	had	seized	a	Lufthansa	airliner	and	taken	it	to
Mogadishu.	The	siege	there	ended	when	a	German	anti-terrorist	team,	led	by	two
SAS	men,	Major	Alastair	Morrison	and	Sergeant	Barry	Davies,	blasted	their	way
onto	the	aircraft	and	rescued	the	hostages.

During	the	years	between	Beckwith’s	first	proposal,	drafted	on	his	hospital
bed,	and	the	JCS	decision	to	endorse	it,	Beckwith	had	founded	and	led	a	special
reconnaissance	 team	 in	 Vietnam	 which	 he	 called	 “Delta	 Project	 B-52.”	 His
formula	 combined	deep	 jungle	 penetration	by	 a	 tiny,	 elite	 force	 on	SAS	 lines,



with	America’s	air	power	to	take	on	the	elusive	warriors	of	the	Vietcong	and	the
regular	 North	 Vietnamese	 Army.	 In	 January	 1966,	 a	 heavy	 caliber	 .50	 bullet
bored	through	Beckwith’s	body	as	he	was	about	to	land	by	helicopter	in	a	jungle
fortress	 besieged	 by	 hundreds	 of	 enemy.	 Defying	 a	 medical	 diagnosis	 of
imminent	death,	he	walked	out	of	 the	hospital	 four	months	 later	 to	 resume	his
career	as	a	Special	Forces	adviser.

Following	 the	JCS	decision,	Beckwith	needed	 two	years	 to	bring	his	Delta
Force	up	to	SAS	standards.	He	still	had	to	overcome	the	mindset	of	existing	U.S.
Special	Forces	commanders,	working	by	the	book	and	wedded	to	the	260-page
Field	Manual	 31-21,	Guerrilla	 Warfare	 and	 Special	 Forces	 Operations.	 First
published	in	1961,	FM	31-21	reflected	the	tactics	of	 the	Second	World	War.	It
defined	Unconventional	Warfare	as	“interrelated…guerrilla	warfare,	evasion	and
escape,	 and	 subversion	 against	 hostile	 states	 (resistance)….	 Operations
conducted	 in	 enemy	 or	 enemy	 controlled	 territory	 by	 predominately	 [sic]
indigenous	 personnel	 usually	 supported	 and	 directed	 in	 varying	 degrees	 by	 an
external	source.”

The	authors	admit	“the	doctrine	set	forth	in	this	manual	is	structured	around
a	 general	 war	 situation	 [in	 which]	 special	 forces	 organize	 guerrilla	 forces	 to
support	 conventional	 military	 operations	 under	 the	 direction	 of	 a	 theater
commander….”	The	world	had	moved	on	by	the	1970s,	to	one	in	which,	to	cite	a
19th	 century	 Anarchist	 phrase,	 “propaganda	 by	 deed”	 was	 dramatically
magnified	 by	 the	 evolution	 of	 worldwide	 television	 news.	 It	 was	 a	 world	 in
which	 the	hierarchy	of	big	military	 formations	 could	be	outsmarted	by	nimble
irregular	cells.	Beckwith,	learning	from	the	SAS,	wanted	to	fight	fire	with	fire.
His	new,	superbly	trained	Delta	force	was	not	conceived	as	a	large-scale	raiding
force.	Events	dictated	otherwise.

On	 4	 November	 1979,	 following	 the	 overthrow	 of	 the	 Shah	 of	 Iran,	 the
return	to	Iran	of	Ayatollah	Khomeini	from	exile	in	Paris,	and	the	Shah’s	grant	of
sanctuary	in	America,	a	student	demonstration	directed	against	the	U.S.	embassy
in	 Tehran	 got	 out	 of	 hand.	 The	most	 venturesome	 demonstrators,	 armed	with
martial	 arts	 nunchaku	 sticks,	 a	 croquet	 mallet,	 and	 a	 broken	 wooden	 board,
climbed	 the	 embassy	 gate	 and,	 to	 their	 surprise,	 encountered	 little	 opposition
from	 within	 other	 than	 a	 token	 volley	 of	 riot	 gas	 cartridges	 fired	 by	 Marine
guards	wearing	shiny	dress	shoes.

The	Marines’	Rules	of	Engagement	did	not	permit	shooting	into	a	crowd	of
civilian	demonstrators	 led	by	women	who	claimed	 they	 intended	nothing	more
serious	 than	 a	 sit-in.	 Initially,	 the	 Iranian	 government	 promised	 to	 do	 what	 it
could	 do	 to	 arrange	 a	 peaceful	 outcome.	 The	 deception	 was	 complete	 as	 the
embassy	 was	 surrendered	 without	 a	 shot.	 It	 was	 a	 misplaced,	 naïvely	 Quaker



defense.	While	 they	 had	 the	 chance,	 the	 embassy’s	 CIA	 team	 of	 four	 burned
classified	 documents.	 The	 siege	 became	 a	 circus	 of	 political	 humiliation	 that
lasted	444	days	and	fatally	undermined	the	Carter	presidency.

America	boiled	with	anger	during	the	siege	and	expected	a	military	response
as	well	as	 the	safe	return	of	fifty-three	embassy	staff	held	hostage.	These	were
barely	 compatible	 objectives.	 In	 total	 secrecy,	 a	 rescue	 task	 force	 was	 built
around	Delta	 and	 an	 ad	 hoc	 collection	 of	Air	 Force	 and	Marine	 pilots,	 plus	 a
sprinkling	of	CIA	and	Pentagon	secret	agents	at	large	in	Iran.	Responsibility	was
divided	between	Delta,	which	would	run	the	ground	rescue	and	evacuation,	and
the	air	element,	handling	movements	in,	around,	and	out	of	Iran.	By	the	time	the
team	was	assembled	under	the	codename	“Operation	Eagle	Claw”	in	April	1980,
it	had	grown	to	120	men.	It	was	also,	according	to	some	observers,	saddled	with
a	 top-heavy	 bureaucracy	 including	 four	 separate	 commanders	 on	 the	 ground.
The	rescue	scenario	was	complex.	It	proposed	inserting	the	Delta	rescue	team	on
an	 apparently	 isolated	 hard	 runway	 codenamed	 Desert	 One	 by	 three	 C-130
aircraft	200	miles	from	the	target;	a	laying-up	position	fifty	miles	from	Tehran,
to	which	118	members	of	Delta	plus	six	drivers	and	six	translators	would	move
in	 darkness	 by	 eight	 Navy	 Sea	 Stallion	 helicopters,	 normally	 used	 for
minesweeping,	 flown	 from	 the	 carrier	Nimitz	 and	 piloted	 by	Marine	 Chinook
pilots	who	had	 little	experience	of	night	 flying	under	radar	and	 little	chance	 to
adapt	to	the	machines	they	were	to	fly.

Another	trio	of	C-130s	would	act	as	fuel	tankers	for	the	helicopters	at	Desert
One.	A	 two-man	Pentagon	 team,	 covertly	 inserted	 ahead	 of	 the	main	mission,
would	provide	trucks	for	road	movement	on	the	second	night	 into	Tehran.	The
Delta	assault	team	would	make	a	coup	de	main	strike	on	the	embassy	compound
as	 a	 Ranger	 company	 held	 the	 perimeter.	 The	 hostages	would	 be	 carried	 to	 a
stadium	 where	 they	 would	 be	 picked	 up	 by	 helicopter	 and	 flown	 to	 another
airfield	 seized	 by	Rangers.	There,	 Starlifter	 transports	would	 be	waiting	 to	 fly
the	hostages	to	safety.

The	 mission	 was	 in	 trouble	 from	 the	 start.	 In	 bleak,	 terse	 language	 the
Holloway	 Report	 tells	 us	 how	 it	 started	 to	 go	 wrong:	 “On	 the	 evening	 of	 24
April,	 after	 51/2	 months	 of	 planning	 and	 training	 under	 very	 tight	 OPSEC
[operational	security],	eight	RH-53	helicopters	took	off	from	the	aircraft	carrier
Nimitz	and	began	a	journey	of	nearly	600	nautical	miles	at	night	and	low	altitude
to	a	preselected	refueling	site,	Desert	One,	in	the	desert.	The	C-130	element	with
the	ground	rescue	forces	was	also	in	the	execution	phase	on	a	different	track	and
time	schedule	to	Desert	One.	Approximately	two	hours	after	takeoff,	the	crew	of
Helicopter	 No.	 6	 received	 cockpit	 indications	 of	 an	 impending	 rotor	 blade
failure;	 landed;	 verified	 the	 malfunction	 (an	 automatic	 abort	 situation);	 and



abandoned	their	aircraft.	The	crew	was	picked	[up]	by	another	helicopter,	which
then	continued	the	mission	individually.

“Approximately	one	hour	 thereafter,	 the	helicopter	 formation	unexpectedly
encountered	a	dust	cloud	of	unknown	size	and	density.	The	helicopters	broke	out
of	the	first	area	of	suspended	dust	but,	within	an	hour,	entered	a	second,	larger
and	 denser	 area.	 While	 attempting	 to	 navigate	 through	 this	 second	 area	 with
severely	degraded	visibility,	a	second	helicopter	(No.	5)	experienced	a	failure	of
several	 critical	 navigation	 and	 flight	 instruments.	 Due	 to	 progressively
deteriorating	flight	conditions	 that	made	safe	flight	extremely	questionable,	 the
helicopter	pilot	determined	that	it	would	be	unwise	to	continue.	He	aborted	the
mission,	reversed	course,	and	recovered	on	Nimitz.	Eventually	six	of	the	original
eight	helicopters	arrived	at	the	refueling	site	in	intervals	between	approximately
50	minutes	and	85	minutes	later	than	planned.

“While	 en	 route,	 a	 third	 helicopter	 (No.	 2)	 experienced	 a	 partial	 hydraulic
failure,	 but	 the	 crew	 elected	 to	 continue	 to	 the	 refueling	 site	 believing	 repairs
could	 be	 accomplished	 there.	 Upon	 landing,	 however,	 the	 crew	 and	 the
helicopter	unit	commander	determined	that	the	helicopter	could	not	be	repaired.
A	hydraulic	pump	had	failed	due	to	a	fluid	leak,	and	no	replacement	pump	was
available.	Even	if	a	pump	had	been	immediately	available,	there	was	insufficient
time	to	change	it,	repair	the	cause	of	the	leak,	service	the	system,	and	complete
the	next	leg	prior	to	daylight.	The	helicopter	was	unsafe	to	continue	the	mission
unrepaired.

“Earlier,	 it	 had	 been	 determined	 that	 a	 minimum	 of	 six	 operational
helicopters	would	be	required	at	the	refueling	site	to	continue	the	mission.	Since
at	 this	point	 there	were	only	five	operational,	 the	on-scene	commander	advised
COMJTF	 [Commander,	 Joint	 Task	 Force]	 by	 radio	 of	 the	 situation,	 and	 he	 in
turn	 communicated	 to	Washington	 the	 status	 of	 the	 force	 and	 his	 intention	 to
abort	 the	 operation	 and	 return	 to	 launch	 base.	 The	 President	 concurred	 in	 the
decision	 that	 the	 mission	 could	 not	 continue,	 and	 preparations	 began	 for
withdrawal	 of	 the	 five	 operational	 helicopters,	 the	 C-130s,	 and	 the	 rescue
force.”63

The	first	helicopters	to	arrive	would	have	had	no	trouble	in	spotting	Desert
One.	This	was	not	because	a	CIA-contract	pilot,	at	great	risk,	had	landed	there	in
a	 Twin	 Otter	 aircraft	 a	 month	 before	 to	 plant	 infrared	 landing	 lights	 to	 be
activated	as	the	task	force	approached.	By	the	time	the	helos	arrived,	the	scene
was	illuminated	by	a	blazing	road	tanker,	a	sign	that	on	the	ground	as	well	as	in
the	 air,	 the	 operation	was	 already	 compromised.	 The	 element	 of	 chance—bad
luck—struck	almost	as	soon	as	Delta	landed.	Beckwith	spotted	a	Mercedes	bus
approaching	 the	 landing	 zone,	 ordered	 his	 men	 to	 halt	 it	 and,	 leading	 by



example,	 fired	 at	 its	 tyres.	 Some	 45	 passengers,	 most	 of	 them	 women	 and
children,	 clambered	 out,	 bewildered.	 One	 who	 spoke	 English	 asked	 the	 black
Ranger	 guarding	 her	 where	 the	 armed	 men	 came	 from.	 “We’re	 African
commandos,”	he	joked.

The	next	civilian	vehicle	to	blunder	into	what	was,	by	now,	a	war	zone	was
the	 fuel	 tanker.	 One	 of	 Beckwith’s	 team	 fired	 an	 anti-tank	 missile	 at	 it.	 The
tanker	 exploded	 and	 burned	 for	 hours,	 illuminating	 the	 runway,	 the	 waiting
aircraft,	 and	 the	 herded	 bus	 passengers.	 The	 tanker	 was	 accompanied	 by	 a
smaller	 vehicle	which	paused	 long	 enough	 for	 the	 tanker	driver	 to	 escape	 into
the	 darkness	 on	 foot.	 Eagle	 Claw	 had	 now	 been	 compromised	 on	 the	 ground
three	ways	within,	perhaps,	30	minutes.

Speculation	 continues,	 thirty	 years	 later,	 that	 sand	 filters	 to	 protect	 the
helicopter	engines	had	been	removed	to	reduce	weight	and	increase	range.	The
hazard	of	dust	in	the	desert	is	no	novelty.	If	this	was	a	factor	in	the	calamity	that
followed,	Beckwith	 did	 not	 address	 it	 in	 his	 account.	Nor	 did	 the	 unclassified
version	of	 the	Holloway	 report.	But	Colonel	 John	T.	Carney,	 Jr.,	 an	Air	Force
Special	Operations	officer	who	took	part	 in	Eagle	Claw,	suggests	 that	MC-130
Combat	Talon	 pathfinder	 aircraft	 should	 have	 led	 the	 helicopters	 safely	 to	 the
target,	as	they	did	in	the	Son	Tay	raid.	They	were	on	the	scene	and	might	even
have	passed	within	sight	of	the	ill-fated	Sea	Stallions.

There	was	another	problem.	Navigation	equipment	 that	would	have	helped
blind-flying	was	removed	to	reduce	weight.	“Thus,”	writes	Carney,	“they	were
literally	 flying	 blind	 and	 could	 not	 advise	 one	 another	 of	 the	 actual	 weather
conditions,	 which	 were	 much	 more	 benign	 than	 the	 pilots	 believed….	 The
[Marine]	pilots	should	have	broken	radio	silence	for	a	second	or	two	to	query	the
Combat	 Talons,	 regain	 their	 bearings,	 and	 find	 better	 weather.”	 According	 to
Beckwith,	 high	 command	 suggested	 following	 these	 technical	 failures	 that	 he
should	 proceed	with	 five	 helicopters.	 The	 sinister	 implication	 of	 that	was	 that
Delta	would	be	obliged	to	dump	as	many	as	twenty	of	its	own	at	Desert	One.	As
Beckwith	put	it:	“In	a	tight	mission,	no	one	is	expendable	before	you	begin!	[his
emphasis].	Which	twenty	would	I	leave?”64

Other	factors	were	at	work	to	undermine	the	mission.	Feuding	between	the
CIA,	 then	 headed	 by	 Admiral	 Stansfield	 Turner,	 and	 the	 National	 Security
Agency	prompted	fears	among	the	Joint	Chiefs	of	Staff	about	a	loss	of	security.
NSA	was	headed	by	a	Vice	Admiral,	Bobby	Ray	Inman,	and	had	been	excluded
from	the	prolonged	planning	for	Desert	One.	In	spite	of	that,	NSA	got	wind	of
what	 was	 going	 on	 as	 a	 result	 of	 insecure	 communications	 by	 some	 of	 the
planners.	Inman,	in	charge	of	NSA,	later	suggested	that	Air	Force	General	David
C.	Jones,	JCS	chairman,	“was	so	stunned	by	the	potential	of	blowing	the	security



at	the	beginning	that	he	imposed	awesome	communications	security	constraints
and	it	probably	directly	impacted	on	the	readiness	of	the	forces.	The	fact	that	the
helicopters	were	put	on	carriers,	sent	for	five	weeks,	never	flown	until	they	left
the	 carrier,	 all	 of	 this	 out	 of	 concern	 that	 they	 would	 be	 detected	 in	 the
process…”	along	with	total	radio	silence,	lack	of	pre-mission	helicopter	training,
and	the	choppers’	condition	after	they	sat	unused	on	the	carrier	deck	for	so	long
all	contributed	to	the	disaster.65

To	abort	the	operation	rather	than	write	off	twenty	men	was	a	bitter	decision
for	Beckwith,	 but	 it	was,	 at	 least,	 one	 that	 did	 not	 reinforce	 a	 calamity	 in	 the
making,	 a	 calamity	 that	 might	 have	 resulted	 in	 the	 deaths	 of	 many	 of	 the
hostages	 as	well	 as	 their	would-be	 rescuers.	Beckwith’s	 choice	 required	moral
courage	 as	 well	 as	 military	 cool.	 Yet	 fate	 had	 one	 last	 evil	 card	 to	 play.	 As
Admiral	 James	 Holloway	 put	 it,	 in	 laconic,	 deadpan	 language:	 “While
repositioning	 one	 helicopter	 to	 permit	 another	 to	 top	 off	 his	 fuel	 tanks	 for	 the
return	flight,	the	first	helicopter	collided	with	one	of	the	refueling	C-130s.	Both
aircraft	were	immediately	engulfed	in	flames	in	which	eight	crew	members	died
and	five	other	members	of	 the	 team	were	 injured.	Since	 the	C-130	was	 loaded
with	members	 of	 the	 rescue	 force	 awaiting	 extraction,	 even	 greater	 injury	 and
loss	of	life	were	avoided	only	by	swift	and	disciplined	evacuation	of	the	burning
aircraft.	Shortly	afterwards,	ammunition	aboard	both	aircraft	began	 to	explode.
Several	 helicopters	 were	 struck	 by	 shrapnel	 from	 the	 explosion	 and/or	 the
burning	 ammunition,	 and	 at	 least	 one	 and	 possibly	 more	 were	 rendered	 non-
flyable.	At	this	point,	with	time	and	fuel	running	out	for	the	C-130s,	the	decision
was	made	to	transfer	all	helicopter	crews	to	the	remaining	C-130s	and	to	depart
the	area.”

The	Iranians,	remarkably,	were	able	to	recover	several	of	the	grounded	Navy
helicopters	intact.	Holloway	reported:

“Destruct	devices	on	mission	rescue	helicopters:	Helicopter	No.	6	developed
mechanical	 problems	 en	 route	 to	Desert	One	 and	 landed	 in	 the	desert	 short	 of
destination.	 Ground	 personnel	 tasked	 with	 responsibility	 for	 helicopter
destruction	 were	 not	 available.	 An	 unforeseen	 accident	 and	 ensuing
conflagration	 at	 Desert	 One	 prevented	 the	 on-scene	 commander	 from
implementing	 the	helicopter	destruction	plan	because	he	perceived	 it	 to	be	 too
risky.	 As	 a	 result,	 five	 RH-53Ds	 [Sea	 Stallion	 helicopters]	 were	 abandoned
intact.

“As	planning	proceeded,	an	option	to	destroy	the	helicopters	in	Iran,	should
a	 contingency	 situation	 warrant,	 was	 considered.	 This	 contingency	 called	 for
individuals	to	place	thermite	grenades	in	the	helicopters	if	their	destruction	was
called	 for	 and	 then	 to	 detonate	 them.	 This	 option	 was	 never	 implemented	 at



Desert	 One	 because	 of	 the	 perceived	 danger	 of	 exploding	 helicopters	 and
ammunition	to	personnel	and	aircraft	evacuating	the	site	and	to	Iranians	aboard	a
nearby	bus.”

This	was	not	 the	only	 choice,	Holloway	 suggests.	There	 is	 good	 reason	 to
believe	explosives,	when	properly	installed,	are	no	more	dangerous	to	crew	and
passengers	 than	 the	 onboard	 fuel	 supply.	 Moreover,	 explosives	 for	 use	 in
destroying	 the	 helicopters	 and	 breaching	 the	 Embassy	walls	 had	 to	 be	 carried
aboard	 several,	 if	 not	 all,	 helicopters.	 Therefore,	 it	 is	 a	moot	 point	 as	 to	what
explosives	were	carried	onboard	and	where	 they	were	placed.	On	 the	Son	Tay
mission,	 explosives	 for	 helicopter	 self-destruction	 were	 placed	 onboard	 at	 the
outset.	 The	 helicopter	 to	 be	 abandoned	 was	 fitted	 with	 explosives	 and
detonators.	 Electrical	 initiators	were	 placed	 apart	 from	 the	 explosives,	 and	 the
electrical	 leads	 left	 disconnected.	 Aircrew	 members	 destroyed	 the	 helicopter,
when	 necessary,	 by	 simply	 connecting	 the	 initiator	 to	 the	 explosives	 and
activating	 a	 built-in	 timing	 device.	With	 regard	 to	 aircrew	 reluctance	 to	 have
similar	 devices	 to	 the	 ones	 used	 in	 the	 Son	 Tay	 raid	 aboard	 their	 helicopters,
Iranian-mission	aircrews	interviewed	stated	that	this	procedure	was	acceptable	to
them.	Moreover,	 they	admitted	that	most	explosives	were	less	of	a	danger	than
other	hazardous	material	carried	onboard	mission	helicopters—e.g.,	fuel.

“Equipping	rescue	mission	helicopters	with	easily	removable,	separated,	and
disconnected	explosive	devices	and	initiators	should	not	have	jeopardized	safety
and	would	have	enhanced	 the	 ability	 to	destroy	helicopters	 at	 any	point	 in	 the
mission….”

As	 the	C-130s,	 rumbled	 away	 south	 from	Desert	One,	 a	 dawn	 sun	 caught
their	wings	as	if	to	remind	the	survivors	of	the	fires	they	had	left	burning.	By	the
time	 they	 touched	 down	 at	 the	 sanctuary	 of	 Masirah	 Island,	 part	 of	 friendly
Oman,	an	Iranian	army	team	was	searching	the	site.	It	found	eight	American	and
one	 civilian	 Iranian	 dead.	 Much	 worse,	 it	 discovered	 documents	 that
compromised	an	American	agent	on	the	ground	in	advance	of	Eagle	Claw.	This
was	retired	Major	Richard	Meadows,	one	of	the	first	Americans	to	serve	with	the
SAS	in	1960	and	son-in-law	of	an	SAS	warrant	officer.	Born	in	1931,	Meadows
enlisted	at	the	age	of	sixteen	and	emerged	from	the	Korean	War	three	years	later
as	the	Army’s	youngest	master	sergeant.	He	joined	Special	Forces	in	1953	and	in
1970	led	the	Son	Tay	rescue	attempt.	He	extracted	his	team	safely.	The	need	for
better	 intelligence	 in	 the	 future,	and	quicker	 reaction	 to	what	 intelligence	 there
was,	was	 not	 lost	 on	Meadows.	By	 the	 time	 the	U.S.	Embassy	 in	Tehran	was
occupied	in	1979,	Meadows	had	been	in	retirement	for	two	years.	The	Pentagon
invited	 him	 to	 act	 as	 the	 forward	 eyes	 and	 ears	 of	Beckwith’s	mission	 on	 the
ground	 in	Tehran,	 and	 he	 accepted.66	After	 the	mission	was	 aborted,	 using	 an



Irish	passport	in	the	name	of	Richard	H.	Keith	supplied	by	the	CIA,	he	kept	his
cool,	checked	in	at	Tehran	airport,	and	flew	out	on	a	civil	airliner,	undetected.

A	 final	 indignity	 awaited	 Beckwith	 back	 in	 the	 Pentagon’s	 press	 briefing
room.	 He	 was	 to	 address	 a	 press	 conference.	 What	 gutted	 him	 was	 not	 the
prospect	of	talking	to	journalists.	He’d	done	that	in	Vietnam	from	time	to	time.
But	“what	kicked	the	wind	out	of	me	was	losing	my	cover	and	having	to	answer
questions	about	sensitive	classified	matters.”67

The	 failure	 at	Desert	One	 prompted	 a	major	 re-examination	 of	 the	 role	 of
Special	Forces	in	the	U.S.	A	fundamental	flaw	was	the	ad	hoc	nature	of	its	order
of	 battle.	 It	 was	 a	 cherry-picking,	 mix-and-match	 process,	 conditioned	 by	 the
availability	 of	 air	 and	 intelligence	 assets.	 It	 was	 not	 organic.	 Following	 the
Holloway	 inquiry,	 another	 level	 of	 bureaucracy	 was	 added:	 a	 counterterrorist
joint	 task	 force	 and	 an	 advisory	 panel.	 On	 the	 sidelines,	 battalions	 of	 experts
offered	their	sometimes-conflicting	advice.

In	 March	 1983,	 the	 National	 Strategy	 Information	 Center,	 the	 National
Security	Studies	Program	at	Georgetown	University,	 and	 the	National	Defense
University	sponsored	a	two-day	symposium	on	the	role	of	Special	Operations	in
U.S.	strategy	for	the	1980s.	Dr.	Edward	N.	Luttwak,	for	example,	suggested	that
the	Eagle	Claw	rescue	plan	was	“clearly	designed	by	people	without	a	clue	as	to
the	realities	of	war.”	 It	 is	worth	noting	 that	 in	his	own	book,	 first	published	 in
1983,	 Beckwith	 blamed	 “political	 considerations”	 in	Washington	 for	 delaying
the	 mission	 from	 mid-January,	 when	 Delta	 was	 ready,	 when	 “the	 weather
favored	us,”	until	April,	the	season	of	sandstorms	and	dust.	“National	resolve	is
weakened	by	many	forces,”	he	wrote.	“The	 longer	 the	crisis	 is	allowed	 to	 run,
the	more	such	forces	come	into	play.	The	longer	a	government	waits	to	respond
to	a	terrorist	incident,	the	harder	is	the	rescue	by	military	means.”	His	solution,	a
counsel	 of	 perfection,	was	 “predictive	 intelligence,”	with	 contingency	plans	 to
cover	a	crisis	before	it	happened.

The	structural	changes	in	U.S.	preparedness	were	still	being	worked	through
when	 President	 Barack	 Obama	 took	 office	 in	 2009,	 but	 in	 the	 shorter	 term,
useful	 reforms	 were	 introduced.	 In	 1982,	 the	 Army	 consolidated	 its	 Special
Operations	Forces	(known	as	ARSOF)	in	a	Special	Operations	Command.	On	1
January	1984,	following	the	Hizbollah	bombing	of	a	Marine	barracks	in	Beirut
with	 the	 loss	 of	 237	 men,	 the	 Pentagon	 created	 a	 Joint	 Special	 Operations
Agency	 without	 any	 command	 authority	 over	 any	 SF	 element	 [see	 Special
Operations	Command.com	online].	After	years	of	debate	in	Congress,	President
Ronald	 Reagan	 signed	 off	 the	 establishment	 of	 U.S.	 Special	 Operations
Command	 (USSOCOM)	 on	 13	 April	 1987,	 almost	 exactly	 seven	 years	 after
Delta	set	off	 for	Desert	One.	The	CIA’s	Special	Activities	Division	(known	as



SAD)	 continued,	 meanwhile,	 to	 run	 its	 own	 high-risk,	 plausibly	 deniable
operations	 involving	 subversion	 and	 unconventional	 warfare	 using	 surrogates.
The	sub-group	concerned	was	inherited	from	the	MAC/SOG	era	in	Vietnam	and
was	now	known	as	the	Special	Operations	Group.

Beckwith	 had	 been	 ordered	 not	 to	 trust	 the	 State	 Department	 because	 it
could	not	keep	secrets.	Who	could?	As	the	Holloway	Commission	Report	made
plain:	“intelligence	drove	the	operation	from	the	outset,”	but	“certain	elements	of
the	Intelligence	Community	seemed	slow	in	harnessing	 themselves	 initially	for
the	 tasks	 at	 hand.”	 Could	 it	 be	 that	 this	 criticism	 was	 aimed	 at	 the	 Central
Intelligence	Agency,	whose	role	 is	never	mentioned	 in	 the	unclassified	version
of	 Holloway?	 Since	 the	 Agency	 provided	 Meadows	 with	 his	 bogus	 Irish
passport,	 it	 clearly	 gave	 some	 support	 to	 Eagle	 Claw.	 A	 month	 before	 the
mission	was	launched,	“a	CIA	Twin	Otter	had	flown	into…Desert	One.	A	USAF
Combat	Controller	had	rode	[sic]	around	the	landing	area	on	a	light	dirt	bike	and
planted	landing	lights	to	help	guide	the	force	in.	That	insertion	went	well….”68

Yet	the	suspicion	that	the	CIA	had	somehow	let	down	the	Pentagon’s	rescue
team	festered	for	more	than	twenty	years.	The	pain	was	finally	revealed	in	2003
by	Carney	himself.	He	asserted:	“Eighteen	years	after	the	rescue	attempt	some	of
us	learned	that	the	CIA	had	received	a	covert	communication	that	detailed	some
of	 the	 most	 important	 information	 we	 needed:	 the	 exact	 location	 of	 three
hostages	[in	addition	to	those	held	at	the	embassy	compound]	being	held	in	the
Iranian	Ministry	of	Foreign	Affairs.	The	CIA	claimed	that	it	had	stumbled	only
by	providence	on	detailed	information	on	almost	all	the	other	hostages	who	were
being	held	in	the	American	embassy	compound	when	a	Pakistani	cook	who	had
been	working	 in	 the	 embassy	 happened	 to	 be	 on	 the	 last	 leg	 of	 a	 flight	 from
Tehran	 to	 Frankfurt	 and	 found	 himself	 seated	 next	 to	 a	CIA	officer.	 The	CIA
apparently	fabricated	the	Pakistani	cook	story	in	order	to	protect	its	own	sources
inside	 the	 embassy	 and	 gave	 up	 its	 information	 only	 after	 it	 was	 absolutely
certain	that	the	rescue	mission	could	be	launched.”69

The	British	 author	Michael	 Smith	 suggests:	 “The	Agency	 had	 someone	 in
Tehran	all	along,	a	very	good	source	supplying	his	bosses	at	CIA	headquarters	in
Langley	with	top-grade	intelligence.	But	it	held	back	the	wealth	of	intelligence
he	was	providing	until	the	very	last	minute	because	it	feared	that	the	existence	of
their	 agent	 and	 his	 sub-agents	 would	 leak	 out,	 putting	 its	 only	 source	 of
information	at	risk.”70

One	CIA	expert	working	 the	 streets	of	Tehran	when	 the	Shah	 fell	was	 the
veteran	Howard	Hart,	whose	unfashionable	warnings	to	Langley	of	what	was	to
come	 were	 put	 under	 the	 blotter.	 Hart,	 it	 is	 claimed,	 advised	 the	 Desert	 One



team,	 whose	 effort,	 according	 to	 Anthony	 Quainton,	 Washington’s	 chief
counterterrorism	co-ordinator	 from	1978	 to	1981,	“relied	heavily	on	 the	CIA.”
Unnoticed	by	the	Agency’s	critics	was	the	CIA’s	separate	success	in	conjuring
six	Americans	 out	 of	 the	 Canadian	 embassy	 in	 Tehran,	where	 they	 had	 taken
refuge	during	the	siege.	Tony	Mendez,	a	CIA	technical	operations	officer	expert
in	providing	disguises,	invented	a	film	crew	called	Studio	Six.

Collateral	cover	for	its	existence	went	deep.	The	CIA	opened	a	Los	Angeles
Office	for	the	fictitious	company.	It	advertised	its	upcoming	sci-fi	movie	Argo	in
the	theatrical	media	and	sent	its	Canadian	film	crew	to	Iran,	with	the	blessings	of
the	 revolutionary	 government,	 to	 do	 location	 shots.	 Led	 by	 a	 genuine	 CBC
cameraman,	 Dennis	 Packer,	 and	 equipped	 with	 Canadian	 passports,	 the	 six
American	hostages,	freshly	disguised	and	absorbed	by	the	“film	crew,”	left	Iran
unscathed.	The	Agency,	employing	elaborate	deception,	achieved	what	Special
Forces,	with	all	their	expertise	and	firepower,	could	not.	That	said,	it	was	easier
to	 smuggle	 six	 men	 out	 of	 Iran	 than	 fifty-three.	 Mendez	 received	 the	 CIA’s
Intelligence	Star	from	President	Carter	soon	after	the	operation.

After	 the	 failure	 of	 Desert	 One,	 the	 Iranians	 dispersed	 their	 hostages	 to	 a
variety	 of	 locations,	 rendering	 a	 follow-up	 operation	 impossible.	 William	 J.
Daugherty,	 a	 Marine	 veteran	 on	 his	 first	 CIA	 tour,	 was	 compromised	 by
documents	 uncovered	 in	 a	 search	 of	 the	 embassy.	 He	 was	 in	 solitary
confinement	 for	 nine	 months,	 with	 barely	 enough	 room	 to	 move,	 a	 skeletal
figure	 when	 the	 Iranian	 government	 released	 him	 with	 the	 other	 fifty-two
hostages	the	day	after	Carter	ceased	to	be	president.

For	 Eagle	 Claw	 to	 have	 had	 a	 chance	 of	 success,	 the	 bravery	 of	 a	 few
individuals	on	 the	ground	 in	advance	of	 the	operation	 led	by	 the	 retired	Major
Richard	Meadows	was	clearly	insufficient.	The	gap	was	to	be	filled	in	the	future
by	a	dedicated,	expert	team	of	Special	Forces	people	capable	of	providing	real-
time	intelligence	in	a	variety	of	scenarios	including	hostage	rescue.	It	was	to	be
filled	in	January	1981	by	the	Pentagon’s	creation	of	an	ultra-secret	surveillance
organization	known	as	 the	Intelligence	Support	Activity	or,	more	simply,	“The
Activity.”

“Our	Own	CIA,	But	Like	Topsy”

Eight	months	 after	 Desert	 One,	 in	 December	 1980,	 Lieutenant	 General	 Philip
Gast,	 USAF,	 Director	 for	 Operations	 for	 the	 Joint	 Chiefs,	 sent	 a	 top-secret
memorandum	 to	 the	 Director	 of	 the	 Pentagon’s	 Defense	 Intelligence	 Agency.
Subject:	Intelligence	Capability.	A	redacted	version	of	the	document	asserts:	“A
review	 of	 the	 intelligence	 collected	 during	 the	 past	 year	 to	 support	 Iranian



contingency	 planning	 revealed	 a	 serious	 and	 persistent	 information	 deficiency.
This	revolves	around	the	need	of	military	planners	to	have	accurate	and	timely
situation-oriented	and	environmental	data	such	as…[words	redacted].”71

The	 “intelligence	 collected	 during	 the	 past	 year”	 reflected	 plans	 for	 a
proposed	 second	 attempt	 to	 save	 some	 of	 the	 Tehran	 hostages,	 codenamed
Honey	Badger.	The	 ingredient	missing	 from	 intelligence	 identified	by	General
Gast	was	 the	sort	of	ground	 truth	 that	only	human	agents,	 inside	enemy	walls,
could	provide.	Under	President	Carter	and	Stansfield	Turner,	pursuing	the	Holy
Grail	of	an	ethical	foreign	policy,	 the	CIA	had	favored	electronic	systems	over
the	 sometimes	 uncontrolled	 violence	 exercised	 by	 deniable	 agents	 in	 Central
America.	They	took	the	view	that	he	who	dines	with	the	Devil	must	have	a	very
long,	 technological	 spoon.	 So	 as	 many	 as	 2,800	 intelligence	 officers,	 mostly
paramilitary	specialists,	were	ditched	by	the	CIA	in	1977,	in	a	purge	known	as
“the	Halloween	Massacre.”	As	 a	 secret	DOD	history	 of	 ISA,	 drafted	 in	 1983,
observed,	 “the	 ill-fated	 attempt	 in	 April,	 1980	 to	 secure	 by	military	 force	 the
release	of…Americans	held	hostage	in	Tehran	revealed	institutional	shortfalls	in
U.S.	national	intelligence	and	special	operations	capabilities.	At	the	time	of	the
initial	 rescue	 attempt,	 there	 existed	 nowhere	 in	 the	 national	 capability	 an
organization	 to	 provide	 this	 vital	 support.”72	 And	 as	 General	 Gast’s
memorandum	 drily	 noted:	 “Although	 technical	 systems	 can	 and	 did	 provide
some	of	the	information	needed,	the	nature	of	the	required	data	puts	the	burden
of	 collection	 on	 reliable	 human	 observers….	 The	 current	 Department	 of
Defense/Service	 HUMINT	 structure	 is	 not	 organized	 to	 satisfy	 these
requirements….”

The	short	history	quoted	above	takes	 the	story	on.	“As	the	second	[rescue]
effort	 matured,	 a	 formal	 force	 to	 conduct	 this	 intelligence	 operation,	 a
combination	of	intelligence	collection	and	operational	support	to	a	striking	force
[author’s	 italics],	 emerged	 in	 the	 form	 of	 the	 Field	 Operations	 Group	 (FOG).
FOG	was	 prepared	 and	 in	 place	 to	 support	 a	 second	 rescue	 attempt	when	 the
hostages	were	released.”	How	many	hostages	might	have	been	sprung,	 in	view
of	the	fact	that	the	Iranians	had	now	spread	their	captives	over	many	locations,	is
not	addressed.	The	document	continues:	“FOG	did	not,	however,	disappear	with
the	disbandment	of	 the	 Iranian	 rescue	 force.	Bridging	a	crucial	gap	 in	national
capabilities	 to	 execute	 nationally	 directed	 missions,	 FOG’s	 capability	 was
institutionalized	 in	 a	 DoD	 special	 unit	 to	 establish	 a	 worldwide,	 immediately
responsive	 capability	 similar	 to	 that	 developed	 over	 a	 one	 year	 period	 in	 the
Tehran	crisis.	FOG	was	redesignated	as	the	Intelligence	Support	Activity	(ISA)
in	March	1981.”



What	 emerged	 was	 an	 instrument	 of	 tactical	 intelligence,	 the	 view,	 let	 us
say,	 from	 somewhere	 close	 to	 the	 action,	 from	 under	 the	 bed,	 rather	 than
strategically,	from	the	street	outside.	The	Pentagon’s	solution—inserting	its	own
eyes,	ears,	and	wallets	beyond	the	front	line—required	“selected	personnel	who
were	 trained	 to	 fill	 critical	 intelligence	 and	 operational	 units.”	 Unlike	 FOG,
which	was	 yet	 another	 ad	 hoc	 collection	 of	 Special	 Forces	 veterans,	 the	 new,
permanent	 entity	 was	 to	 run	 both	 human	 agents	 and—ironically,	 in	 view	 of
Stansfield	 Turner’s	 early	 conversion	 to	 electronics	 so	 as	 to	 keep	 the
administration’s	hands	clean—SIGINT	(signals	intelligence),	but	obtained	from
low,	slow-flying	aircraft.

Both	FOG	and	its	successor,	the	ISA,	were	commanded	during	the	formative
years	by	Colonel	Jerry	King.	King	was	rigorous	in	his	choice	of	volunteers.	As
an	official	“brief	history”	recognized,	“training	of	operative	personnel	is	among
the	most	intensive	in	the	Army	and	includes	Assessment	&	Selection:	a	rigorous
program	to	place	the	candidate	in	a	sufficient	number	of	different	physically	and
mentally	 stressful	 situations	 to…form	 the	 basis	 for	 a	 selection	 decision	 by	 the
Commander.”73	After	Selection,	a	core	training	course,	believed	to	involve	CIA
facilities,	taught	the	successful	volunteers	the	arts	of	professional	espionage.

ISA’s	role	was	to	support	America’s	elite	of	elites	among	Special	Forces	as
they	 confronted	 a	 new	 style	 of	 warfare,	 global	 counterterrorism.	 After	 earlier
irregular	warfare	 scandals	 accompanied	 by	 the	 abuse	 of	 human	 rights,	 the	 last
thing	 the	 Pentagon	 needed	 was	 yet	 another	 feral	 SF	 unit	 operating	 without
accountability	to	higher	authority.	To	reduce	the	risk,	it	was	made	answerable	to
the	 Assistant	 Chief	 of	 Staff	 for	 Intelligence,	 Lieutenant	 General	 William	 E.
Odom.	Odom	was	an	austere	Russian	expert	who	had	penetrated	much	of	Soviet
Russia	 undetected	 during	 the	 Cold	 War.	 As	 Zbigniew	 Brzezinski’s	 military
adviser—a	 hawk’s	 hawk—Odom	 was	 known	 as	 “Zbig’s	 Super-Hawk,”	 later
taking	 control	 of	 the	 electronic	 eavesdropping	 service,	 the	 National	 Security
Agency.

The	 ISA’s	 first	 commander,	 Jerry	 King,	 was	 a	 hardened	 Special	 Forces
veteran	 who	 had	 led	 cross-border	 forays	 from	 South	 Vietnam	 into	 North
Vietnam,	Laos,	 and	Cambodia.	King	was	 an	 abrasive	 action	man	who	did	 not
suffer	 fools,	 or	 nervous	 military	 bureaucrats,	 lightly.	 He	 and	 Odom	 clashed
regularly	 about	 his	 methods.	 King	 selected	 individuals	 on	 the	 basis	 of	 their
resilience,	 endurance,	 specialist	 knowledge,	 and	 ability	 to	 act	 on	 their	 own
initiative.	His	physical	selection	 tests,	 like	 those	of	 the	SAS	and	Delta,	pushed
volunteers	 beyond	 their	 apparent	 limits.	 They	were	 also	 expected	 to	 learn	 the
infiltration	 skills	 of	 all	 Special	 Forces	 soldiers	 including	 high-altitude
parachuting	 and	 underwater	 diving.	 Yet	 their	 forte	 was	 not	 combat	 but



concealment	 and	 electronic	 intelligence-gathering,	 often	 by	 tapping	 telephones
or	scanning	the	radio	wavebands	of	a	potential	enemy	at	close	quarters,	detecting
low-level,	localized	signals	that	even	the	National	Security	Agency	or	its	British
cousin	GCHQ	could	not	reach.

It	was	this	sort	of	magic	that	enabled	them	to	identify	the	Italian	“people’s
prison”	near	Padua	in	which	General	James	Lee	Dozier,	America’s	senior	man	at
NATO’s	 southern	 command,	 had	been	held	 captive	 by	members	 of	 the	 Italian
Red	 Brigades	 for	 forty-two	 days.	 An	 Italian	 anti-terrorist	 squad	 raided	 the
apartment	 on	 28	 January	 1982,	 rescued	 the	 general,	 and	 arrested	 Dozier’s
captors	 without	 firing	 a	 shot.	 The	 role	 of	 ISA	 in	 Dozier’s	 salvation	 was
concealed	 for	 years	 afterward.	 Diplomacy	 required	 that	 this	 be	 seen	 as	 an
exclusively	 domestic,	 Italian	 triumph.	 The	 ISI	 went	 on	 to	 run	 similarly
successful	 operations	 in	El	 Salvador,	 penetrating,	 from	 the	 air,	 the	 operational
security	of	left-wing	guerrillas	and	right-wing	death	squads.	This	campaign	ran
successfully	for	three	years.

But	 the	 sweet	 smell	 of	 success	 was	 overlaid	 by	 a	 less	 palatable	 odor	 in
Washington	 as	 a	 result	 of	 the	 ISA’s	 involvement	 in	 a	 freelance	 operation
proposed	by	James	“Bo”	Gritz,	a	retired	Special	Forces	lieutenant	colonel	with
an	obsession	about	rescuing	American	prisoners	of	war,	 if	any	there	were,	still
captive	 in	 Vietnam	 in	 1981,	 six	 years	 after	 the	 war	 ended.	 Gritz	 and	 others
campaigning	 on	 the	 MIA	 (“Missing	 In	 Action”)	 issue	 stirred	 a	 profound
sentiment	 in	 yellow-ribbon	 mid-America.	 Gritz	 claimed	 that	 he	 was	 asked	 to
stand	down	his	proposed	operation	so	as	 to	give	a	clear	run	to	ISA,	 to	achieve
the	same	object.	A	former	ISA	officer	quoted	by	the	author	Michael	Smith	“said
the	discussions	were	all	designed	by	the	Activity	to	find	out	where	Gritz’s	agents
were	and	whether	they	might	produce	valid	and	useful	intelligence	on	the	POWs
issue….	 He	 [Gritz]	 was	 provided	 with	 one	 camera…and	 a	 broken	 polygraph
machine”	rather	than	the	$40,000	Gritz	claimed	to	have	received.	The	reason	for
supplying	a	polygraph	machine	that	did	not	work	is	not	explained.

The	Activity’s	double	bluff	did	not	impress	General	Odom,	the	senior	staff
officer	 to	whom	 Jerry	King	was	 answerable.	King	wanted	 to	 continue	 to	 play
Gritz	 along	 so	 as	 to	 identify	 and	 take	 over	Gritz’s	 intelligence	 sources.	Odom
overruled	 him	 and	 stopped	 the	 game.	 The	 outcome	 was	 an	 inquiry	 by	 the
Pentagon’s	 Inspector	General,	which	 landed	on	 the	desk	of	Frank	C.	Carlucci,
Deputy	 Secretary	 of	 Defense.	 As	 a	 result,	 on	 26	 May	 1982	 Carlucci	 sent	 a
memorandum	to	Richard	Stilwell,	Deputy	Under-Secretary	 for	Policy.	More	 in
sorrow	 than	 in	 anger,	 Carlucci	 found	 the	 report	 on	 ISA	 “disturbing	 in	 the
extreme.”	He	continued:

“We	seem	to	have	created	our	own	CIA,	but	like	Topsy,	uncoordinated	and



uncontrolled.	Unquestionably	ISA	contains	much	talent	and	probably	even	more
dedication.	There	may	also	be	a	need,	but	that	is	less	clear.	But	we	should	have
learned	the	lesson	of	the	70’s	on	control	over…[words	redacted].	Accountability
is	the	essence	and	we	have	created	an	organization	that	is	unaccountable.

“Action	 will	 be	 taken	 to	 terminate	 all	 ISA	 operations	 within	 30	 days;	 or
effect	 transfer	 thereof	 to	 other	 competent	 organizations.	 If	 it	 is	 desired	 to
continue	ISA	in	some	form,	the	following	will	be	submitted	for	my	approval	not
later	than	15	June:

1.	 A	concept	plan.
2.	 A	list	of	requirements.
3.	 A	 command	 structure,	 indicating	 to	 whom	 it	 is	 accountable	 and

how.
4.	 A	 list	 of	 controls	 to	 be	 established,	 particularly	 over…[words

redacted]
5.	 A	fiscal	management	and	accountability	plan.
6.	 A	program	for	working	with	appropriate	committees	of	Congress.
7.	 A	funding	plan,	fully	coordinated	with	the	Comptroller.
8.	 The	concurrence	of	the	DCI	[Director	Central	Intelligence]	and	the

General	Counsel	for	all	of	the	above.”

Carlucci’s	 concern	 about	 financial	 control	 probably	 reflected	 references	 in
the	 IG’s	 report	 to	 “ill-advised”	 acquisitions,	 including	 a	 hot	 air	 balloon	 and	 a
Rolls	Royce	limousine.	The	ISA	did	not	assist	its	own	case	by	claiming	that	the
hot-air	balloon,	no	longer	wanted	by	another	part	of	the	army,	would	be	of	use	in
basic	parachute	 training	along	 the	 lines	of	 the	British	system	of	 teaching	 jump
novices.	The	British	have	always	used	 sealed	helium-gas	 (“barrage”)	balloons,
tethered	to	the	ground	by	a	cable	and	winched	to	a	jump	height	of	800	feet.	On
the	 order:	 “800	 feet,	 four	 to	 jump!”	 the	 trainees	 and	 their	 instructor	 have	 a
chillingly	 silent	 ascent	 followed	 by	 an	 adrenaline-filled	 drop	 on	 the	 end	 of	 a
static	 line	during	which,	 in	 the	absence	of	an	aircraft	 slipstream,	 the	student	 is
surprised	to	see	his	boots	rise	slowly	in	front	of	his	nose,	before	sinking	back	to
where	they	belong.	It	is	a	safe,	well-tried	system	that	had	been	in	use	for	decades
when	 the	 ISA	discovered,	naïvely,	 that	 a	hot-air	 balloon	“didn’t	work	out,	 too
unstable	 and	 difficult	 to	 maintain	 a	 predetermined	 altitude.”	 What	 about	 the
Rolls?	The	Drug	Enforcement	Agency	had	 seized	 it	 from	 smugglers.	The	 ISA
thought	 “it	 might	 be	 useful	 in	 the	 event	 of	 a	 counterterrorist	 operation	 in	 an
unfriendly	country…disguised	as	the	car	of	a	prominent	politician…to	transport



Delta	 troops	 surreptitiously	 to	 the	 scene	 of	 the	 anti-terrorist	 operation.”	 The
opinion	of	Delta,	 a	 unit	 dedicated	 to	 the	 low-profile	 approach,	 is	 not	 recorded
but	 it	 is	 clear	 that	 aside	 from	 5th	 Avenue,	 Knightsbridge,	 or	 the	 Champs
d’Elysee,	 there	 are	 few	places	 in	 the	world	where	 an	 advance	by	Rolls	Royce
limousine	 would	 qualify	 as	 covert.	 Israeli	 Special	 Forces	 tried	 the	 limousine
trick	at	Entebbe.	It	did	not	go	undetected	for	long.

Following	 the	 Gritz	 affair,	 the	 future	 of	 ISA	 hung	 by	 a	 thread.	 The	 few
friends	it	had	in	the	Pentagon	played	for	time	and	promised	reforms.	The	team
was	hung	out	to	dry	while	the	reforms,	promulgated	in	July	1983,	were	codified
in	a	dense	thirteen-page	Charter	of	U.S.	Army	Intelligence	Support	Activity.	The
ISA	was	 brought	 firmly	 under	 the	 control	 of	 the	 Pentagon	 and,	 obliquely,	 the
DIA,	 CIA,	 and	 NSC.	 The	 text	 identified	 the	 Activity	 as	 “a	 Field	 Operating
Agency	of	Headquarters,	Department	of	the	Army,	under	the	operational	control
of	 the	 ACSI”	 (Assistant	 Chief	 of	 Staff,	 Intelligence,	 General	 Odom,	 the	 only
person	who	could	authorize,	in	the	future,	ISA	expenditure	exceeding	a	modest
$10,000).

Furthermore,	 ISA	 activities,	 “especially	 those	 involving	U.S.	 persons,	will
be	pursued	in	a	responsible	manner	that	 is	consistent	with	the	Constitution	and
respectful	 of	 the	 principles	 upon	which	 the	United	 States	 was	 founded.”	 This
was	 more	 than	 rhetoric.	 It	 reflected	 the	 view	 of	 President	 Carter	 and	 CIA
director	 Stansfield	 Turner	 to	 “conduct	 intelligence	 operations	 within
Constitutional	 limits.”	 Potentially,	 the	 most	 crippling	 clause	 in	 the	 charter
insisted	that	the	ISA	would	undertake	activities	“only	when	other	intelligence	or
operational	 support	 elements	 and	 resources	 are	 unavailable	 or	 inappropriate	 to
accomplish	the	tasking.”

In	 spite	 of	 all,	 the	 Activity	 lived	 to	 fight	 another	 day,	 under	 another
president,	 though,	 in	 spite	 of	 hawkish	 pronouncements	 from	President	Reagan
and	his	Secretary	of	State,	George	P.	Shultz,	 little	 changed.	The	early	 eighties
were	not	good	for	America,	or	President	Reagan’s	reputation	as	a	hawk.	In	April
1983,	 Hizbollah	 terrorists	 bombed	 the	 U.S.	 embassy	 in	 Beirut,	 wiping	 out	 an
eight-man	CIA	team	there	along	with	fifty-five	others.	The	following	October,	a
U.S.	 Marine	 barracks	 near	 Beirut	 airport	 was	 attacked	 by	 a	 suicide	 bomber
driving	 a	 massive	 truck	 bomb.	 The	 bomb	 flattened	 the	 three-story	 reinforced
concrete	 building,	 killing	 another	 241	Americans,	most	 of	 them	Marines.	 The
survivors	of	a	U.S.	peacekeeping	force	were	withdrawn.

Might	these	attacks	have	been	anticipated?	Bill	Cowan,	a	retired	Marine	and
Special	Forces	 lieutenant	colonel,	was	a	member	of	a	small	 ISA	team	trawling
the	back	 streets	of	Beirut	 for	 intelligence	after	 the	 embassy	attack.74	From	 the
outset,	Cowan	detected	a	lack	of	commitment	for	action	in	Washington.	“It	took



five	weeks	for	the	coordination	process	and	the	Pentagon	to	finally	allow	us	to
get	on	airplanes	and	go….	So,	we	sent	a	small	team	into	Beirut	whose	primary
purpose	 was	 to	 ascertain	 the	 intelligence	 situation.	 Was	 there	 sufficient
intelligence	being	acquired?	How	was	it	being	acquired?	Was	it	moving	around?
Were	the	right	people	seeing	it?”75

With	 the	 CIA’s	 team	 wiped	 out,	 the	 ISA	 proposed	 a	 more	 focused
intelligence-gathering	 operation	 that	 would	 protect	 the	 U.S.	 peacekeepers	 in
Beirut.	 Here	 is	 Cowan	 again:	 “We	 sent	 back	 a	 report	 to	 the	 Secretary	 of
Defense…that	 if	 there	 were	 not	 something	 done	 to	 improve	 the	 intelligence-
gathering,	sharing	of	information	in	Beirut,	that	in	fact,	a	military	presence	was
at	risk.	Well,	nothing	was	done….	We	ran	into	bureaucratic	stonewalling	about
making	any	changes.	No	changes	whatsoever	 from	our	 recommendations	were
implemented	 until	 after	 the	 bombing	 of	 the	Marine	 compound.	 At	 that	 point,
every	 recommendation	 was	 implemented,	 but	 it	 cost	 241	 servicemen	 to	 get
there.”76

The	 ISA	 team	 returned	 to	 Beirut	 a	 second	 time	 after	 the	 Marine	 deaths
“because	the	President	had	said	we	were	going	to	retaliate	and	the	Secretary	of
Defense	wanted	us	to	go	over	and	see	about	retaliating.”	Though	the	CIA	team
in	 Beirut	 had	 been	 eliminated,	 Washington	 was	 still	 receiving	 information—
probably	 courtesy	 of	 Mossad—to	 identify	 the	 ringleaders	 and	 their	 locations.
“We	 took	 that	 information,	 got	 on	 the	 ground	 and	 tried	 to	 verify	 what	 we
could….	We	had	a	number	of	targets	that	we	had	no	problem	identifying,”	said
Cowan.	 “We	 had	 a	 list	 of	 people	 provided	 by	 the	CIA	 and	 that’s	 because	 the
CIA	 had	 good	 information	 on	 people	 that	were	 involved	 in	 the	 bombing.	We
were	not	looking	specifically	for	those	people	inasmuch	as	we	were	looking	for
where	they	were	located.	What	houses	were	they	living	in?	What	buildings	were
they	frequenting?…The	CIA	really	had	a	handle	on	the	folks.	We	were	looking
to	 have	 a	 handle	 on	 the	 locations.”	The	 surveillance	 targets	 also	 included	 two
Syrian	 anti-aircraft	 positions	 (probably	 in	 the	 Bekaa	 Valley,	 from	 which
Hizbollah	operated)	“nowhere	close	to	any	place	where	somebody	who	was	not
party	 to	 the	military	action	could	not	have	been	hit….	They	were	 in	Lebanese
territory….	 In	 terms	of	 the	 rest	 of	 the	 terrorists,	 the	 people	we	were	 after,	 the
buildings	 they	 ran	 it	 out	 of,	were	 clearly	 identifiable.	A	 precision	 bombing	 in
any	one	of	those	would	have	created	some	collateral	damage.”77	Cowan	skirted
around	 the	 possibility	 that	 a	 policy	 of	 retaliation	 combined	 with	 close-in
targeting	 of	 a	 terrorist’s	 base	might	 amount	 to	 assassination.	He	 reminded	 his
interviewer,	“We	had	an	executive	order	[from	several	presidents]	at	 that	point
banning	assassination….	Assassination	is	where	you	specifically	target	that	one



person,	 and	 you	 focus	 on	 taking	 him,	 and	 only	 him,	 out.	 And	 that	was	 never
where	we	were	 looking.”	With	his	 soldier’s	 eye,	 he	was	 identifying	 an	 enemy
position,	confirming	intelligence	supplied	from	elsewhere.

Cowan	and	others	returned	to	the	Pentagon	with	“a	rather	substantial	report.”
It	must	be	assumed	that	others	on	the	ISA	team	remained	on	station,	to	be	certain
that	the	terrorist	targets	were	at	home	if	and	when	a	bomb	struck	them.	Yet	when
Cowan	arrived	with	a	report	that	described	“the	options	we	could	do—not	just	in
terms	 of	 striking	 back,	 but	 other	 rather	 good	 intelligence	 operations	 that	 we
could	have	activated,	we	were	met	with	anger.	We	were	not	welcomed.	We	had
people	who	absolutely	berated	us	for	even	suggesting	that	we	retaliate.	We	were
surprised,	 to	 say	 the	 least.”	 The	 report	 “was	 put	 away	 in	 a	 back	 drawer	 very,
very	quickly.	There	was	absolutely	no	follow-up	to	anything	we	recommended.”

From	 this,	 Cowan	 learned	 a	 hard	 lesson	 about	 the	 reality	 of	 realpolitik.
“Every	 time	 somebody	 has	 struck	 at	 us,	 we’ve	 threatened,	 we’ve	 stood	 up,
we’ve	pounded	our	chest,	we’ve	blown	out	fire	out	of	our	mouths,	smoke	out	of
our	ears,	and	then	within	a	couple	of	weeks	we’ve	sat	back	down	and	gone	back
to	 business	 as	 usual.	 So	we’ve	 sent	 a	message	 over	 the	 years	 that	we	weren’t
quite	 serious….”	Cowan	was	 speaking	 from	 the	heart,	 eighteen	years	 after	 the
deaths	of	his	fellow	Marines	in	Beirut.	Believing	the	lesson	of	that	disaster	had
still	not	been	taken	on	board,	he	finally	unburdened	himself,	courtesy	of	public
service	broadcasting,	soon	after	9/11/01.

The	years	 following	 the	1983	Charter	were	a	 time	of	dogged	effort	by	 the
Activity,	 taking	 operations	 that	 went	 to	 the	 wire	 only	 to	 be	 halted	 at	 the	 last
moment.	The	unit	focused	on	two	war	zones:	Central	America	(El	Salvador	and
Nicaragua)	and	Lebanon.	There	was	success	in	El	Salvador	in	1985	where	four
members	 of	 ISA’s	 signals	 intelligence	 (SIGINT),	 flying	 from	 Honduras,
intercepted	hostile—and	unencrypted—militia	messages.	The	Activity’s	 efforts
to	 assist	 the	 rescue	 of	 the	 latest	 crop	 of	American	 hostages,	 held	 this	 time	 by
Hizbollah	 in	 Lebanon	 and	 constantly	 moved	 from	 one	 location	 to	 another,
presented	an	intelligence-gathering	challenge	which	the	team	met	with	the	help
of	the	right-wing	Christian	Phalange	movement	and,	one	may	surmise,	its	Israeli
ally.

During	 the	 Reagan	 years,	 a	 total	 of	 fourteen	 American	 hostages	 were
snatched	in	Beirut	alone.	In	March	1984	they	included	Bill	Buckley,	the	ageing
CIA	veteran	sent	to	rebuild	the	intelligence	network	wiped	out	by	the	bomb	that
destroyed	 the	U.S.	 embassy.	The	 loss	of	Buckley	was	a	personal	blow	 to	CIA
Director	William	Casey	and	President	Reagan.	Casey	had	persuaded	Buckley,	a
known	 Agency	 spy,	 to	 enter	 the	 dragon’s	 lair.	 Casey	 later	 received	 a	 tape
recording—played	 to	 Reagan—containing	 the	 piercing	 screams	 of	 Buckley,



under	torture	before	he	died,	probably	of	heart	failure.	Buckley	also	left	a	long
“confession,”	 inevitably	 compromising	 his	 network.	 Seven	 other	 hostages
remained	alive.	The	CIA	set	up	a	Hostage	Location	Task	Force	which	seems	to
have	monitored	the	labyrinth	of	Lebanese	politics,	but	little	else.

Yet	 in	spite	of	 the	Activity’s	success	 in	 identifying	 the	 location	of	most	of
the	 hostages,	 somewhere	 within	 the	 Washington	 machine	 the	 brakes	 were
regularly	put	on	a	Special	Forces	rescue.	This	might	have	had	something	to	do
with	the	fact	that	the	Reagan	administration	had	a	cunning	plan	of	its	own.	This
was	 to	 do	 a	 deal	 with	 Hizbollah’s	 Iranian	 backers,	 then	 at	 war	 with	 Iraq,	 by
selling	the	Iranians	504	TOW	wire-guided	anti-tank	missiles	(and	later,	several
thousand	Hawk	anti-aircraft	missiles)	 in	exchange	for	hostages.	The	point	man
in	 this	 operation,	 serving	 the	 National	 Security	 Council,	 was	 a	 charismatic
Marine	colonel	called	Oliver	North.	North’s	embroidery	on	 the	scheme	was	 to
divert	funds	generated	by	the	Iranian	deal	to	fund	a	covert,	surrogate	war	waged
against	 the	Nicaraguan	 government	 by	 right-wing	Contra	 guerrillas.	 Funds	 for
this	clandestine	war	had	been	denied	in	Congress	by	the	Boland	Amendment.	In
spite	 of	 that,	 supported	 by	 plausibly	 deniable	 assets	 including	 a	 retired	 SAS
major	 and	 ageing	 ex-CIA	 veterans,	 the	 Contras’	 unsuccessful	 Nicaraguan
campaign	continued.

North	 luminously	 described	 Casey’s	 scheme,	 cooked	 up	 with	 a	 shyster
Iranian	middleman	and	riding	on	Israeli	 logistics,	outside	 the	U.S.	Constitution
and	 its	 chain	 of	 command,	 as	 “a	 neat	 idea.”	 President	 Reagan	 shared	 his
enthusiasm.	 As	 a	 congressional	 inquiry	 concluded,	 in	 spite	 of	 Boland	 “the
President	felt	strongly	about	the	contras,	and	he	ordered	his	staff,	in	the	words	of
his	national	 security	adviser,	 to	 find	a	way	 to	keep	 the	contras	 ‘body	and	 soul
together.’	Thus	began	the	story	of	how	the	staff	of	a	White	House	advisory	body,
the	 N.S.C.	 [National	 Security	 Council],	 became	 an	 operational	 entity	 that
secretly	ran	the	contra	assistance	effort,	and	later	 the	Iran	initiative.	The	action
officer	 placed	 in	 charge	 of	 both	 operations	 was	 Lieutenant	 Colonel	 Oliver	 L.
North.”78

Some	hostages	were	released.	By	July	1986	the	number	in	captivity	was	just
four.	There	was	a	problem.	It	was	that	the	Casey/North	formula	had	generated	a
hostage-takers’	 market.	 Colonel	 Cowan,	 in	 his	 radio	 interview,	 ironically
explained:	“That	policy	was	a	great	deal	 for	 the	 Iranians:	 ‘We’ll	give	you	 two
hostages	and	we’ll	go	pick	up	two	more.’	It’s	an	endless	source	of	money.	I’d	be
happy	 to	 run	 an	 operation	 like	 that.	 You	 keep	 paying	 me	 for	 something,	 I’ll
make	sure	I’ve	got	plenty	of	it.”	The	arms-for-hostages	scam	was	“Unbelievable.
I	 think	 people	 in	 the	 State	 Department,	 clearly	 people	 at	 the	 CIA,	 certainly
people	 at	 the	 Department	 of	 Defense	 who	 understand	 terrorism	 and



counterterrorist	 operations	 were	 aghast	 at	 the	 whole	 thing.	 It	 was…absolutely
amateurish.”

North’s	Contra	campaign	in	Nicaragua	unraveled	spectacularly	on	5	October
1986	when	a	cargo	plane	was	shot	down	by	a	conscript	 soldier	who	got	 lucky
with	his	shoulder-fired	missile.	The	aircraft	was	carrying	arms	to	the	rebels.	The
only	 survivor,	 who	 parachuted	 to	 safety,	 revealed	 the	 involvement	 of	 an
American	military	adviser	in	El	Salvador.	His	trial	generated	useful	propaganda
for	 the	 Nicaraguan	 government.	 Less	 than	 a	 month	 later,	 the	 Lebanese
newspaper	Al-Shiraa	 revealed	 the	 arms-for-hostages	 trade,	 still	 continuing.	By
then,	 Iran	 had	 acquired	 1,500	missiles.	 Three	 hostages	 had	 been	 released	 and
three	new	ones	snatched	by	Hizbollah	in	what	Secretary	of	State	George	Shultz
described	as	“a	hostage	bazaar.”

The	ISA	finally	abandoned	its	reconnaissance/planning	mission	to	rescue	the
Beirut	 hostages,	 codenamed	 Project	ROUND	BOTTLE,	 almost	 a	 year	 later	 in
October	 1987.	The	unit’s	 report	 for	 that	 year	 bleakly	 noted:	 “Project	ROUND
BOTTLE	was	 terminated	without	 evaluation	 of	 information…even	 though	 the
DCINST	 [Deputy	 Chief	 of	 Staff,	 Intelligence]	 personally	 requested	 same.”79
Meanwhile	the	ISA	was	obliged	to	prove	itself	yet	again	in	a	series	of	exercises.
In	 1986,	 simulating	 a	 hostage	 rescue	 operation,	 it	 provided	 HUMINT	 and
SIGINT	intelligence	and	acted	as	pathfinder	for	the	counterterrorist	strike	team,
probably	from	Delta.	According	to	the	Activity’s	1986	Historical	Report,	the	job
involved	 “locating,	 surveying,	 reporting	 and	 operating	 landing	 zones	 [for
helicopters]	 and	 drop	 zones	 [for	 parachutists].”	 “ISA	 executed	 their	 mission
primarily	 through	 tradecraft	 means,”	 that	 is,	 in	 civilian	 dress	 and	 maximum
deception.	“ISA’s	success	was	very	impressive	and	well	received.”80

ISA	 soldiers	 also	 conducted	 twenty-nine	 airborne	 operations	 in	 FY	 86.
Airborne	 operations	 consisted	 of	 static-line	 [low-level	 parachute	 drops]	 and
HALO	[high	altitude	freefall	drops,	using	oxygen	from	above	12,500	feet	down
to	low	opening	at	around	3,000	feet].	These	were	night	jumps,	with	a	full	load	of
combat	 equipment,	 carried	 in	 rucksacks	mounted	 below	 the	 parachute	 pack,	 a
highly	 dangerous	 process	 even	 if,	 as	 is	 likely,	 these	 jumps	 were	 not	 live
operations	but	exercises.	It	is	normal	SF	practice	to	go	into	freefall	at	night	from
high	altitude.	 If	 the	parachutist	 loses	grip	of	his	stable,	 face-to-earth	posture	at
terminal	velocity,	as	his	canopy	opens,	the	result	can	be	fatal	as	the	canopy	snags
on	 his	 boots	 (a	 “horseshoe”	 malfunction),	 collapsing	 the	 canopy	 instead	 of
allowing	 it	 to	 rise	 cleanly	 from	 the	 backpack	 to	 “breathe.”	 The	 presence	 of	 a
100-pound	 rucksack,	 if	 it	 shifts,	 can	make	 it	 very	hard	 to	maintain	 stability	 in
freefall.



There	were	other	difficulties	at	ground	level.	“A	major	problem	occurred	in
that	 eight	 personnel	were	 surveilled	 and	 later	 apprehended	 by	State	Bureau	 of
Investigations	 (SBI)	 personnel,	 who	 thought	 they	 were	 involved	 in	 drug
smuggling-type	operations.”	The	matter	was	resolved	when	 two	senior	officers
“were	dispatched	from	headquarters	to	the	exercise	area.”	The	forces	of	law	and
order	 were	 usually	 more	 obliging.	 “In	 January	 and	 February	 1986,	 two…
personnel	were	 dispatched	 to	Miami	 to	 talk	 to	U.S.	Customs	Services	 and	 the
Drug	 Enforcement	 Administration	 about	 concealment	 devices	 and	 techniques
currently	being	used	 [by	 smugglers]	 and	 to	obtain	 their	views	on	how	 to	do	 it
better.	These	 trips	came	 to	 the	personal	attention	of	 the	Secretary	of	 the	Army
who	was	advised	of	the	results,	which	were	primarily,	we	would	have	to	do	each
on	a	case	by	case	basis,	depending	on	what,	where	and	when	it	was	needed.”81

It	was	an	elegant	coincidence,	perhaps,	that	the	Activity	should	take	lessons
from	 the	 DEA	 in	 the	 methods	 used	 by	 drug	 smugglers.	 In	 1986,	 President
Ronald	Reagan	revived	the	Nixonian	concept	of	a	war	on	drugs,	but	this	time,	it
was	more	than	a	metaphor.	As	the	Cold	War	ended,	it	gave	the	armed	services	of
the	 U.K.	 and	 U.S.	 an	 identifiable	 conflict	 zone	 and	 a	 new	 raison	 d’etre.	 In
September	 that	 year	 the	Pentagon	 announced	 that	 it	would	 “lead	 the	 attack	on
the	supply	of	illegal	drugs	from	abroad.”82

Like	 other	White	House	 declarations	 of	war	 on	 drugs,	 before	 and	 after,	 it
was	doomed	to	fail	but	it	provided	the	British	SAS	and	American	Special	Forces
including	the	Activity	with	an	opportunity	 to	 test	 themselves	 in	 live	operations
against	 a	 real	 enemy.	 Such	 adventures	 are	 sometimes	 known	 as	 “operational
exercises.”	The	principal	battleground	was	Colombia.

Over	 the	next	 three	years,	using	airborne	 intercepts	siphoned	electronically
out	of	the	Colombian	jungle,	the	ISA	tracked	two	cocaine	barons	controlling	the
apparently	omnipotent	Medellin	Cartel:	Jose	Rodriguez	Gacha	and	Pablo	Gavria
Escobar,	 men	 whose	 business	 turnover	 was	 greater	 than	 the	 gross	 domestic
product	of	some	countries,	men	who	commanded	private	armies	equipped	with
missiles	and	heavy	machine	guns,	and	a	ruthlessness	matched	only	by	the	Mafia.
Gacha	was	 the	 first	 to	die.	Thanks	 to	 the	 ISA’s	 intercepts,	a	 local	paramilitary
team	hit	his	hideaway,	a	farmhouse	on	the	border	with	Panama,	with	helicopter
gunships.	Gacha	tried	to	escape	into	the	jungle	with	his	son	and	five	bodyguards.
On	the	ground,	a	captain	 in	 the	Anti-Narcotics	Police	used	his	SAS	training	 to
identify	Gacha’s	 likely	 escape	 route.	He	 set	 up	 an	 ambush	 and	waited.	Gacha
and	 his	 party	walked	 onto	 the	 guns.	There	were	 no	 survivors.	 In	 1993,	 it	was
Escobar’s	 turn.	 Again,	 ISA	 identified	 the	 target’s	 location	 and	 called	 in	 a	 hit
team	 of	 Colombian	 police.	 Some	 sources	 suggest	 that	 the	 coup	 de	 grâce	 was



delivered	by	a	member	of	Delta.
The	 victory	 over	 the	 Medellin	 cartel	 triggered	 the	 law	 of	 unintended

consequences.	Alfred	W.	McCoy	points	out:	“After	 the	Medellin	cartel’s	 terror
ended	with	Pablo	Escobar’s	death	in	December	1993,	the	rival	Cali	cartel’s	quiet
infiltration	 of	 the	 state	 culminated	 in	 its	 secret	 contributions	 to	 the	 1994
campaign	 that	 helped	 elect	 President	 Ernesto	 Samper	 and	 half	 the	 Colombian
Congress.	 Within	 two	 years,	 however,	 Cali’s	 leaders	 too	 were	 jailed	 and	 the
traffic	 fragmented	 among	 dozens	 of	 smaller	 syndicates.	 In	 this	 vacuum,	 the
leftist	 FARC	 guerrillas	 and	 their	 blood	 rivals,	 the	 rightist	 paramilitaries,	 soon
captured	the	drug	trade,	using	rising	coco	profits	to	buy	arms	for	civil	war….	As
FARC’s	 influence	 grew,	 the	 military	 countered	 by	 backing	 the	 violent
paramilitaries,	 particularly	 the	 United	 Self-Defense	 Forces	 commanded	 by
Carlos	Castano,	a	 former	 lieutenant	 to	drug	 lord	Pablo	Escobar.”83	Not	 for	 the
first	 or	 last	 time	would	 a	 finely	 honed	Special	 Forces	 team	 achieve	 a	 brilliant
tactical	success	in	furtherance	of	a	failed	strategy	thanks	to	a	political	wish-list
that	 was	 none	 of	 its	 making.	 The	 Activity’s	 pursuit	 of	 enemy	 big	 fish	 failed
repeatedly	in	Somalia,	Bosnia,	and	the	pursuit	of	bin	Laden	as	the	targets	learned
to	 avoid	 using	 vulnerable	 cell	 phones,	 relying	 on	 human	 couriers	 instead.	 In
Somalia	 in	October	 1993,	 the	 target	was	Mohammed	Farah	Aideed,	 a	warlord
and	 clan	 chieftain	 disinclined	 to	 go	 along	 with	 a	 Western-imposed	 plan	 for
nation-building	 in	 his	 country.	 Allegedly,	 Italian	 military	 sources	 in	 Somalia
tipped	off	the	wanted	man,	who	eluded	capture.	The	attempt	to	snatch	two	of	his
lieutenants	 in	Mogadishu	 as	 an	 alternative	 to	Aideed	 resulted	 in	 the	 trauma	of
Black	Hawk	Down:	 the	 loss	of	 first	one	helicopter,	 then	another,	 and	eighteen
GIs	as	more	assets	were	thrown	into	a	battle	which	also	took	the	lives	of	around
500	 Somalis.	 In	 Bosnia,	 from	 1996,	 the	 big	 fish	 that	 got	 away	 was	 Radovan
Karadic,	 the	 Serb	 leader	 who	 allegedly	 presided	 over	 the	 massacre	 of	 8,000
people	at	Srebrenica,	as	their	UN	protectors	stood	idly	by.	The	British	SIS	had	a
plan	to	assassinate	him,	never	put	into	effect.	Karadic,	bearded	and	disguised	as
a	 practitioner	 of	 alternative	 medicine,	 was	 finally	 arrested	 by	 Serbian
paramilitary	police	in	2008	after	thirteen	years	on	the	run	and	put	on	trial	a	year
later	 at	 The	 Hague.	 His	 chief	 executioner,	 Ratko	 Mladic,	 was	 still	 at	 large,
protected	by	 the	Serbian	 army	brotherhood.	Bin	Laden	was	 repeatedly	 sighted
and	 targeted	 by	 a	 number	 of	 intelligence	 agencies,	 notably	 the	 CIA,	 whose
historian	 and	 critic	 Tim	Weiner	 quotes	 an	 Agency	 veteran,	 John	 MacGaffin:
“The	CIA	knew	bin	Laden’s	 location	almost	every	day,	sometimes	within	fifty
feet.”	But,	Weiner	records,	while	at	least	fifteen	American	special	forces	soldiers
were	 killed	 or	 injured	 in	 training	 missions	 for	 an	 anticipated	 assault	 on	 bin
Laden,	 “commanders	 in	 the	Pentagon	 and	 civilian	 leaders	 in	 the	White	House



continually	backed	down	from	the	political	gamble	of	a	military	mission	against
bin	Laden.”84

The	U.S.	National	Commission’s	 report	 on	 9/11	 confirmed	 that	 it	was	 the
ghost	of	Desert	One	that	inhibited	conventional	military	commanders.	“General
William	Boykin,	 the	 current	deputy	under-secretary	of	defense	 for	 intelligence
and	a	founding	member	of	Delta	Force,	told	us	that	‘opportunities	were	missed
because	 of	 an	 unwillingness	 to	 take	 risks	 and	 a	 lack	 of	 vision	 and
understanding.’…One	Special	Operations	commander	[Boykin]	said	his	view	of
‘actionable	intelligence’	was	that	‘if	you	give	me	the	action,	I	will	give	you	the
intelligence.’”85



CHAPTER	3

BLOOD,	OIL,	AND	DOLLARS

America’s	affair	with	Iraq	took	a	serious	turn	when	Saddam	Hussein	confronted
April	Glaspie,	the	U.S.	ambassador	to	Baghdad,	on	25	July	1990.	It	was	the	start
of	 a	 confrontation	 with	 an	 Arab	 powderkeg	 that	 was	 to	 continue	 to	 drain
Washington’s	military	 resources	 twenty	 years	 later.	 Saddam	 had	 not	 forgotten
Irangate	 and	 the	 aid	 supplied	 to	 his	 Iranian	 enemy	 as	 part	 of	 Oliver	 North’s
arms-for-hostages	deal	four	years	earlier.	Now	he	complained	that	Kuwait,	with
American	complicity,	was	stealing	Iraqi	territory	and	oil.	Alongside	expressions
of	respect,	he	added	menace:	“I	do	not	belittle	you	but…yours	is	a	society	which
cannot	accept	10,000	dead	in	one	battle.”	Eight	days	later,	Iraq	invaded	Kuwait.

This	war,	 like	 the	 one	 that	 followed	 in	 2003,	was	 essentially	 about	 oil.	 In
1990,	 U.S.	 experts	 noted	 that	 Iraq	 controlled	 more	 than	 10	 per	 cent	 of	 the
world’s	accessible	oil	 reserves.	 Invading	Kuwait	added	another	9.6	per	cent	 to
Saddam’s	resources.	If	he	were	to	follow	this	through	and	invade	Saudi	Arabia,
it	would	give	him	almost	26	per	cent	more.	The	arithmetic	was	very	bad	news
for	 Western	 economies.	 Oil	 was	 still	 the	 issue	 in	 2003.	 Four	 years	 after	 the
second	Gulf	War,	Alan	Greenspan,	chairman	of	the	Federal	Reserve	and	an	icon
of	 capitalism,	 wrote:	 “I	 am	 saddened	 that	 it	 is	 politically	 inconvenient	 to
acknowledge	what	everyone	knows:	the	Iraq	war	is	largely	about	oil.”86

For	the	allied	buildup	that	followed	Saddam’s	seizure	of	Kuwait	 in	August
1990,	 five	 months	 were	 needed	 to	 create	 an	 expeditionary	 force	 of	 almost	 a
million	men	and	women,	poised	 to	strike	 in	January	1991	from	bases	 in	Saudi
Arabia.	The	process	was	perceived	by	bin	Laden’s	fundamentalists	as	defilement
of	sacred	land,	made	worse	by	the	presence	of	healthy	American	females,	armed,
booted,	 in	 uniform	 and	 driving	 trucks	 on	 the	 streets	 of	 Riyadh.	 The	 local
morality	 police	 were	 not	 pleased.	 One	 was	 unwise	 enough	 to	 challenge	 an
American	 Amazon	 who	 happened	 to	 be	 a	 karate	 black	 belt.	 He	 lost	 and
discovered	horizontality.	Virtually	no	place	 in	 this	massive	 invasion	 force,	 the
biggest	since	Vietnam,	was	allocated	to	allied	Special	Forces.	The	U.S.	C-in-C,
General	Norman	(“The	Bear”)	Schwarzkopf,	made	no	secret	of	his	reservations
about	SF	operations,	which	he	saw	as	pin-prick	initiatives,	marginal	to	the	main



action.
He	told	journalists	during	the	buildup:	“The	Vietnam	experience	left	a	lot	of

scars.	 I	was	 on	 the	Cambodian	 border	 at	 a	 time	when	 the	 rules	were	 that	 the
enemy	 could	 attack	 across	 the	 border	 and	 beat	 up	 on	 you	 and	 do	 anything	 he
wanted.	 But	 when	 you	 started	 to	 get	 the	 upper	 hand	 you	 weren’t	 allowed	 to
chase	 him.	 That’s	 not	 my	 favorite	 way	 to	 fight	 a	 war.	When	 you	 go	 to	 war,
you’re	going	 to	war	all	 the	way.”	General	Colin	Powell,	chairman	of	 the	Joint
Chiefs,	 shared	 Schwarzkopf’s	 opinion:	 “Light	 and	 lethal	 is	 good	 but	 you	 also
need	heavy	and	lethal.”	Powell’s	belief	in	overwhelming	force	gave	his	name	to
the	Powell	Doctrine.	But	it	was	a	decision	by	the	JCS,	faced	with	the	first	Scud
attacks	on	Israel,	that	finally	tipped	the	balance	in	favor	of	giving	Special	Forces
a	limited	role	in	this	conflict.

By	a	piquant	coincidence,	the	general	commanding	British	forces	in	the	Gulf
was	Sir	Peter	de	la	Billiere,	a	lifelong	SAS	soldier,	who	labored	to	persuade	his
American	partner	 to	accept	a	 role	 for	Special	Forces.	The	SAS	were	not	given
their	chance	until	almost	a	week	after	the	shattering	allied	air	offensive	began	on
17	January	1991.	In	general,	 in	spite	of	total	dedication	and	courage	by	British
SAS	non-commissioned	officers,	their	regiment	did	not	have	a	good	war	in	Iraq
(see	 chapter	 7).	Both	U.S.	 and	U.K.	Special	 Forces	 put	much	 effort,	 and	 took
huge	risks,	to	find	the	Scuds.	In	one	case,	a	tanker	carrying	hundreds	of	gallons
of	fuel	was	misidentified,	in	darkness,	for	a	mobile	Scud	launcher	and	destroyed.
The	presence	of	Western	commandos	deep	inside	Iraq,	before	the	main	ground
offensive,	 prompted	 a	 change	 of	 tactics	 by	 the	 Iraqis.	 They	 withdrew	 their
missiles	further	north,	putting	Israel	out	of	Scud	range.	An	NCO	from	the	U.S.
Air	Force	24th	Special	Tactics	Squadron	was	greeted	by	Defense	Secretary	Dick
Cheney:	“So	you’re	one	of	the	men	who	kept	Israel	out	of	the	war.”87

The	 opening	 salvoes	 of	 the	 Gulf	 War	 were	 fired	 by	 soldiers	 of	 101st
Airborne	air	assault	division,	flying	heavily	armed	Apache	helicopters.	Eight	of
them,	guided	by	two	U.S.	Air	Force	MH-53	helicopters	capable	of	blind-flying,
wiped	out	Iraqi	radar	sites,	blinding	the	country’s	air	defense	system.	One	of	the
first	 SF	 operations	 on	 25	 January	 (D+8)	 was	 a	 largely	 British	 Special	 Boat
Service	(U.K.	SEALs)	attack	on	Iraqi	ground	communications	less	than	twenty
miles	from	Baghdad.	Deep-buried	cables	had	to	be	dug	up	and	then	destroyed.
The	 SBS	 team	 of	 twenty	was	 augmented	 by	 three	Green	 Berets	 and	 a	 USAF
combat	 controller,	 Master	 Sergeant	 Steve	 Jones,	 to	 handle	 close	 air	 support.
They	cut	out	a	length	of	the	cable	for	expert	analysis,	then	detonated	400	pounds
of	 high	 explosive.	 “In	 90	 minutes	 the	 SBS	 had	 crippled	 the	 Iraqi
communications	grid	with	no	casualties.	The	lieutenant	leading	the	team	grabbed
one	of	the	markers	for	the	cable	route	and	presented	it	to	General	Schwarzkopf



on	 their	 return.”88	This	was	a	 remarkably	 short	ground	war—just	100	hours—
and	 inevitably	 left	 Special	 Forces,	 given	 their	 late	 start,	 on	 the	 sidelines.
Observers	 noted	 that	 although	 Iraqi	 militia	 units	 (the	 fedayeen)	 sometimes
fought	bravely,	 even	 fanatically,	 the	 regular	 army—aside	 from	 local	 actions	 at
Nasaryiah	and	elsewhere—imploded.	After	Saddam’s	reference	 to	10,000	dead
in	 one	 battle	 and	 the	 Iraqi	 Army’s	 sacrifices	 in	 the	 war	 with	 Iran,	 it	 was	 an
enigma.	Was	 the	 Iraqi	Army’s	 apparent	 change	of	personality	due	 to	 the	most
remarkable	Special	Forces/CIA	operation	of	all,	and	 the	most	uncelebrated?	 In
May	2003,	General	Tommy	Franks,	Assistant	Division	Commander	(Maneuver)
with	the	1st	Cavalry	Division	during	Desert	Storm,	was	interviewed	by	Defense
News	editor	Vago	Muradian.	A	reliable	summary	of	that	interview	suggests	that
before	the	first	Gulf	War	began,	“U.S.	Special	Forces	had	gone	in	[to	Iraq]	and
bribed	Iraqi	generals	not	to	fight.”	Franks	was	quoted:	“I	had	letters	from	Iraqi
generals	 saying,	 ‘I	 now	 work	 for	 you.’”89	 The	 article	 quoted	 an	 anonymous
“senior	official”	(possibly	American)	saying:	“What	is	the	effect	you	want?	How
much	 does	 a	 cruise	missile	 cost?	Between	 $1m	 and	 $2.5m.	Well,	 a	 bribe	 is	 a
precision-guided	missile.	It	achieves	its	aim.	But	it’s	bloodless	and	there’s	zero
collateral	damage.”	Another	told	the	journal:	“We	knew	how	many	of	these	Iraqi
generals	were	 going	 to	 call	 in	 sick.”	General	 Franks’s	 own	memoir	American
Soldier	makes	no	reference	to	this	episode

There	 was	 also	 the	 anomalous	 political	 end	 to	 this	 war,	 leaving	 Iraq’s
regime,	 including	 enough	military	 force	 intact	 and	 fit	 to	 fight	 an	 internal	war
against	 dissident	Marsh	Arabs	 in	 the	 South	 and	Kurds	 in	 the	North.	A	 theory
circulated	 at	 that	 time	 suggested	 that	 once	Kuwait’s	 sovereignty	was	 restored,
Saddam’s	Iraq	was	still	needed	as	a	counterweight	to	likely	Iranian	domination
of	the	Gulf	region.	However,	if	bribery	was	the	secret	weapon	of	Desert	Storm,
it	might	provide	an	alternative	 theory	 to	explain	Saddam’s	survival	for	another
twelve	years.

By	the	time	America	and	Britain	resumed	their	onslaught	on	Iraq,	the	world
had	changed.	The	gulf	between	the	two	wars	was	more	than	chronological.	The
post-9/11	world	was	a	different	place	in	which	the	clash	of	cultures,	led	from	the
West	by	a	president	who	believed	in	a	crusade,	was	worldwide	and	open-ended,
and	tailor-made	for	irregular	military	forces.	A	war	had	been	fought	successfully
in	 Afghanistan	 against	 the	 Taliban,	 apparently	 confirming	 that.	 Yet	 in	 2003,
dismantling	Saddam	Hussein’s	regime	along	with	his	alleged	weapons	of	mass
destruction	 was	 a	 misplaced	 experiment	 in	 “invasion	 lite,”90	 turning	 upside
down	the	post-Vietnam	policy	known	as	the	Powell	doctrine.	This,	as	the	Senate
Foreign	Affairs	Committee	report	on	the	Tora	Bora	battle	points	out,	advocated



“overwhelming	and	disproportionate	military	force	to	achieve	concrete	political
gains.”

Anyone	 who	 took	 part	 in	 operation	 Desert	 Shield	 will	 recall	 that	 the
counterattack	 on	 Iraq	 following	 Saddam’s	 occupation	 of	 Kuwait	 in	 1990
required	an	American	expeditionary	force	of	500,000	to	occupy	only	a	small	part
of	 Iraq.	 The	 first	 men	 in	 during	 the	 days	 immediately	 after	 the	 invasion—a
tripwire	force	of	the	82nd	Airborne—shared	a	mordant	joke	about	the	“General
Custer	 battle	 plan.”	 Some	 fatalistic	 Saudi	 males	 were	 said	 to	 believe	 in	 the
“Insh’Allah”—“If	 God	Wills”—battle	 plan.	 By	 contrast,	 the	 invasion	 of	 2003
was	 an	 act	 of	 faith,	 or	 worse,	 one	 that	 depended	 on	 the	 belief	 that	 248,000
soldiers	could	seize	and	hold	down	five	times	as	much	territory	as	Desert	Storm
by	audacity,	speed,	and	deception.

Pentagon	planners	 led	by	Defense	Secretary	Donald	Rumsfeld	gambled	on
the	hope	 that	 Iraqis	would	greet	Westerners	 as	 liberators	 and	 that	within	 three
years,	only	5,000	U.S.	soldiers	would	be	needed	in	the	country.91	Other	unstable
elements	in	the	invasion	gamble	included	the	decision	of	Paul	Bremer,	head	of
the	 Coalition	 Provisional	Authority,	 to	 disband	 the	 regular	 Iraqi	Army,	 losing
control	of	its	armories	and	to	purge	the	Baathist	apparatus	that	ran	the	country’s
civil,	 secular	government.	Priority	was	given	 to	 safeguarding	oil	assets.	As	Sir
David	Manning,	 Tony	 Blair’s	 foreign	 policy	 adviser,	 told	 a	 U.K.	 inquiry:	 “It
took	 us	 completely	 by	 surprise	 and	 judging	 from	 my	 conversations	 with	 Dr.
Condoleezza	Rice,	it	took	her	by	surprise	too.	It	was	a	mistake.	The	assumption
that	 the	 Americans	 would	 have	 a	 coherent	 plan	 after	 the	 war	 was	 obviously
proved	to	be	unfounded.”

Planning	for	the	war	of	2003	began	soon	after	a	tiny	band	of	Special	Forces
operators,	combined	with	an	even	smaller	advance	party	from	the	CIA’s	Special
Operations	Group,	achieved	a	lightning	victory	over	the	Taliban	in	Afghanistan,
using	 local	 surrogate	 militia	 and	 air	 power	 as	 force	 multipliers.	 It	 was	 an
attractive	 formula:	 not	 many	 U.S.	 lives	 at	 risk	 and	 maximum	 benefit	 to	 be
derived	 from	America’s	 superior	 (and	 vastly	 expensive)	 technology,	 a	 process
best	described	as	Invasion	Lite/Capitalism	Heavy.	When	America	and	its	allies,
led	by	the	U.K.,	invaded	Iraq	in	2003	the	same	formula	was	employed,	though
on	a	larger	scale.	Ahead	of	the	main	invasion,	a	Special	Operations	Group	team
helped	construct	a	Kurdish	guerrilla	army.	SOG	also	identified	potential	targets
for	U.S.	air	power	and	built	 the	 sinews	of	escape	 routes	 for	airmen	shot	down
over	enemy	territory.	The	Special	Operations	Command	component,	meanwhile,
was	 increased	 from	 350	Green	Berets	 to	 10,000,	welded	 onto	 the	 big,	 regular
battalions	in	Iraq.

Special	 Operations	 commanders	 wanted	 to	 prove	 that	 their	 small	 units



(typically,	a	twelve-man	Operational	Detachment	Alpha,	or	ODA)	could	play	a
significant	role	in	a	large-scale	conventional	campaign.	For	them	the	war	was	an
experiment	that	largely	succeeded	in	establishing	their	style	of	soldiering	as	the
way	 to	 the	 future,	 the	 major	 growth	 industry	 of	 the	 American	 military	 and	 a
larger	 slice	 of	 the	 Pentagon	 budget.	 The	 reverse	 happened.	 As	 the	 war
developed,	 the	 regular	 army	 often	 operated	 in	 support	 of	 Special	 Forces,
rewriting	the	norms	of	 the	game.	As	an	official	history	points	out:	“Integrating
these	formations	raised	the	kinds	of	issues	expected	when	units	do	not	habitually
train	together.	SOF	and	conventional	infantry	approach	the	battlefield	from	two
fundamentally	different	perspectives.	Moreover,	the	Army’s	doctrine	on	how	to
integrate	SOF	and	conventional	units	is	not	mature	enough	to	provide	adequate
guidance.	Additionally,	since	they	had	not	trained	with	each	other	to	any	degree,
they	had	not	developed	 the	 trust	and	procedures	so	critical	 to	working	 through
the	 unknown	 issues.	 Finally,	 the	 command	 and	 control	 relationship	 created
potential	 for	 disagreement	 since	 conventional	 forces	 are	 traditionally	 the
supported	force	and	not	the	other	way	around….	But	the	troops	worked	through
these	frictionpoints.”92

Before	 the	 invasion,	key	roles	 identified	for	Special	Forces	were	 to	protect
Iraq’s	 oil	 facilities	 by	 preventing	 the	 environmentally	 disastrous	 sabotage
inflicted	 on	 Kuwait	 by	 Saddam’s	 troops	 in	 1991;	 to	 provide	 forward
reconnaissance	 for	 conventional	 ground	 forces;	 and	 to	 stalk	 the	 most-wanted
leaders,	starting	with	Saddam	and	his	two	sons.	U.S.	and	allied	SF	accomplished
all	 those	things.	But	a	more	crucial	strategic	victory	was	achieved	out	of	sight,
against	the	odds	and	in	a	situation	not	anticipated	by	planners.	The	plan	had	been
that	an	attack	by	British	and	American	forces	from	the	north,	across	Turkey	into
the	Kurdish	 region	 of	 Iraq,	would	 pin	 down	 thirteen	 Iraqi	 divisions	 otherwise
available	to	resist	the	advance	on	Baghdad	from	the	south.

This	scheme	was	blocked	at	 the	last	moment	by	Turkey’s	refusal	 to	permit
its	 territory	 to	 be	 used	 in	 this	 war.	 Ankara	 probably	 calculated	 that	 if—as
happened—the	Americans	armed	Turkey’s	Kurdish	enemy	in	northern	Iraq,	then
the	strategy	would	leave	the	Turks	with	a	legacy	of	trouble.	America	responded
to	 this	 crisis	 by	 calling	 on	 5,200	SF	 soldiers,	 including	 a	British	Special	Boat
Service	team,	to	lead	70,000	Kurdish	guerrillas	against	thirteen	Iraqi	divisions.	A
division	is	around	10,000–12,000	men.	In	the	most	critical	battles,	an	average	of
two	 SF	 soldiers	 was	 allocated	 to	 360	 guerrillas.93	 In	 northern	 Iraq,	 as	 in
Afghanistan	 and	 Orwell’s	Animal	 Farm,	 some	 animals	 were	 more	 equal	 than
others.	The	apparent	inequality	in	manpower	was	smoothed	over	by	the	West’s
ability	 to	call	down	 fire	 from	heaven,	without	a	politically	embarrassing	allied



body	count.
America	 enjoyed	 some	 street	 cred	 among	 the	 Kurds.	 After	 Saddam

Hussein’s	 defeat	 in	 the	 Gulf	 in	 1991,	 his	 forces	 punished	 the	 Kurds	 for	 their
support	of	the	Coalition’s	offensive,	Operation	Desert	Storm.	It	was	not	the	first
time	 the	 Kurds	 were	 hammered.	 In	 1988,	 Saddam	 had	 used	 poison	 gas	 in	 an
indiscriminate	attack	on	Halabja.	In	April	1991,	three	battalions	of	the	10th	U.S.
Special	Forces	Group	had	been	sent	on	a	UN	humanitarian	mission	 to	provide
shivering	refugees	with	food	and	shelter.	General	John	R.	Galvin	asserted:	“The
Group	saved	a	half	million	Kurds	from	extinction.”94	A	number	of	officers	and
NCOs	 from	 the	10th	were	 still	 serving	when	 their	 advance	guard	 sneaked	 into
northern	 Iraq	 ahead	 of	 the	main	 invasion	 in	 2003.	The	Kurds	 greeted	 them	as
trusted	friends.	As	in	Afghanistan,	the	Green	Berets	were	met	and	supported	by
officers	 from	 the	 CIA’s	 paramilitary	 team,	 the	 Special	 Activities	 Division
(SOG).	 The	 Kurdish	 welcome	 was	 probably	 tempered	 by	 the	 CIA’s	 doomed
attempt,	 in	 1995,	 to	 stir	 up	 a	Kurdish	 rebellion	 against	 Saddam	 that	 ended	 in
disaster.	Hundreds	of	Kurdish	agents	were	executed.

Planning	the	2003	invasion	ran	into	an	acute,	last-minute	complication	when
two	 fighting	divisions—the	U.S.	 4th	 Infantry	 and	British	1st	Armoured—were
blocked	 out	 of	 Kurdish	 northern	 Iraq	 by	 Turkey’s	 veto.	 At	 short	 notice	 a
substitute	 force	 had	 to	 be	 found	 to	 enter	 and	 hold	 enemy	 territory	 without
crossing	Turkey.	No	less	than	thirteen	Iraqi	divisions	held	their	positions	in	the
north,	 convinced	 by	 an	 elaborate	 American	 deception	 plan	 that	 this	 was	 the
region	which	the	U.S.	Army	would	strike	first	and	hardest.	The	key	player	in	this
spoof	was	a	U.S.	officer	known	as	April	Fool	who,	for	almost	two	months	ahead
of	 the	 event,	 had	 been	 selling	 the	 Iraqis	 genuine	 but	 outdated	 invasion	 plans,
crown	jewels	that	were	really	mere	paste.	The	spoof	was	given	its	final	cutting
edge	by	a	decision	 to	 commit	 the	173rd	Airborne	Brigade,	which	 should	have
been	attached	to	 the	4th	Infantry	Division,	 to	a	classic	coup	de	main	parachute
drop	onto	a	strategically	valuable	airfield	at	Bashur	in	the	far	north	of	Iraq,	near
the	Iranian	border.

The	 173rd	was	 now	 officially	 under	 Combined	 Forces	 Special	Operations
and	part	of	the	northern	command	titled	Task	Force	Viking.	As	an	official	U.S.
Army	history	concedes:	“Without	the	4th	Infantry	Division,	Special	Operations
Forces	 troops	 would	 be	 wholly	 responsible	 for	 northern	 Iraq	 until	 the
conventional	 forces	 could	 fight	 their	way	 north	 from	Kuwait.”95	 It	 is	 unlikely
that	the	parachute	soldiers	knew	of	April	Fool,	whose	success	focused	Iraqi	eyes
on	 the	 area	 into	 which	 they	 jumped.	 The	 main	 invasion	 was	 mounted	 from
Kuwait,	 to	 the	 southeast.	For	 anyone	within	 the	magic	 circle	 that	did	know	of



this	deception,	and	with	a	memory	of	doomed	enterprises,	a	parachute	operation
in	Northern	Iraq	in	these	circumstances	must	have	been	haunted	by	specters	of
Arnhem,	 1944	 (where	 clear	 intelligence	 that	 a	 Panzer	 division	 lurked	 near	 the
drop	 zone	 was	 ignored)	 or	 Dien	 Bien	 Phu,	 1954	 (where	 French	 and	 Foreign
Legion	 men	 jumped,	 some	 without	 parachute	 training,	 into	 an	 area	 already
surrounded	by	a	superior	enemy	force).

As	 it	 turned	out,	 this	 latest	operation—Operation	Northern	Delay,	 the	44th
combat	jump	in	U.S.	history—got	lucky.	A	mixed	team	of	Special	Forces,	CIA
Special	Operations	Group	agents,	Kurdish	Peshmerga	guerrillas,	and	drop	zone
pathfinders	was	in	place	at	the	undefended	airfield	on	the	evening	of	26	March,
three	days	after	 the	main	ground	offensive	began	 in	 the	 south,	when	a	 fleet	of
five	C-17	Globemasters	approached	Iraqi	air	space	at	30,000	feet,	then	dived	to
600	 feet	 so	 fast,	 to	elude	enemy	ground	 fire,	 that	 the	paratroopers	experienced
negative	gravity.	The	Globemaster	is	a	big	bird	with	a	wingspan	of	170	feet,	not
designed	 for	 dive	 bombing	 or	 dogfights.	 Nevertheless,	 in	 one	 pass,	 the	 C-17s
dropped	 ten	heavy	drop	platforms	of	vehicles	and	equipment.	The	 first	man	 to
jump	after	this	was	173rd’s	commander,	Colonel	William	Mayville.	During	the
next	57	seconds,	another	962	paras	followed	him.	It	was	probably	a	record.	The
total	 might	 have	 been	 close	 to	 1,000,	 had	 not	 thirty-two	men	 been	 prevented
from	 jumping	 as	 the	 Globemasters	 “powered	 up	 to	make	 their	 violent	 escape
back	up	to	altitude.”	The	DZ	was	now	10,000	feet	long.96

This	journey	to	war	had	been	no	picnic:	a	five-hour	flight	from	Aviano,	Italy
to	 a	drop	zone	 that	was	glutinous	mud,	 in	 total	 darkness	on	a	moonless	night.
Thirty	minutes	from	the	drop	zone,	 internal	 lights	in	the	aircraft	were	switched
off	to	be	replaced	by	red	lights	over	the	doors,	a	signal	that	the	time	to	jump	was
not	far	off.	Tension	inside	the	aircraft	rose	further	as	Air	Force	jumpmasters	took
the	men	the	men	through	the	exit	drills.	One	of	the	paras	recalled:	“By	the	time
we	 stood	 up	 to	 wait	 for	 the	 green	 [jump]	 light,	 my	 stomach	 was	 doing
somersaults.	I	thought	for	a	second	I	might	throw	up	and	had	to	put	my	head	on
the	parachute	of	the	guy	in	front	of	me	to	get	my	bearings.	We	stood	up	and	our
rucksacks	[carried	in	front	of	the	body	for	the	jump]	were	as	heavy	as	hell,	so	we
were	 leaning	 on	 everything	 and	 trying	 not	 to	 stand	 up	 straight	 because	 it	was
horrendous.”97

Bodies	crushed	together,	the	paras	hooked	up	their	static	lines	to	a	wire	cable
above	 them	and	checked	 the	parachute	container	of	 the	man	 in	 front.	Then	 the
jumpmasters	opened	the	doors	on	each	side	of	 the	fuselage.	A	cold	blast	of	air
hit	them	and	so	did	swirling	desert	dust.	One	of	the	soldiers	recalled:	“We	were
already	standing	and	hooked	up	when	they	went	into	this	crazy	dive.	When	they



started	 to	pull	 out	 of	 it	 I	 couldn’t	 stand	up	with	 all	 the	weight	 I	 had	on.	All	 I
wanted	to	do	was	to	get	out	of	the	bird.”	As	the	aircraft	leveled	off,	the	sensation
was	 as	 if	 an	 elevator	 had	 descended	 at	 speed	 from	 a	 skyscraper	 to	 hit	 the
basement	without	 pausing.	At	 the	 same	moment,	 the	 green	 light	 came	 on	 and
voices	shouted	“Go!	Go!	Go!”	Adrenaline	time.	“That’s	when	all	the	fear	left	me
and	I	just	wanted	to	get	out	of	the	plane.	Everybody	is	screaming	to	get	out	of
the	door	because	nobody	wants	to	be	left	behind.”

At	such	low	level,	with	so	many	men	under	canopy	in	the	same	place	at	the
same	time,	there	was	a	risk	of	mid-air	entanglement,	though	that	does	not	seem
to	 have	 happened.	 Instead,	 on	 the	 ground,	 there	 was	 mud	 that	 swallowed	 up
some	men	to	their	waists.	Some	were	extracted	at	the	price	of	losing	a	boot,	with
the	prospect	of	a	long	march	ahead.	It	was	dark,	dead	silent,	and	cold.	One	man
recalled,	 “My	weapon	was	 a	big	 chunk	of	mud.	The	barrel	was	 clogged	and	 I
couldn’t	get	 to	 the	 trigger.	 It	was	all	over	my	uniform,	my	skin	and	my	hair.	 I
spent	the	rest	of	the	night	pulling	people	out	of	it.	It	was	crazy.”

As	 the	official	U.S.	Army	history	notes,	 the	 sun	 rose	on	“‘LGOPPs—little
groups	of	pissed	off	paratroopers’”—linking	up	with	anyone	they	could	find	to
form	ad	hoc	fighting	teams.98	But	fifteen	hours	after	the	jump,	173rd	was	once
again	 a	 coherent	 brigade,	 preparing	 the	 runway	 for	 an	 airborne	 bridge	 that
brought	 in	 twelve	Globemasters	 each	day.	The	U.S.	Air	Force	delivered	2,160
soldiers	 and	 381	 pieces	 of	 heavy	 equipment	 including	 tanks	 and	 artillery	 in
ninety-six	hours.	With	the	airhead	secured,	the	173rd	moved	forward	to	link	up
with	 a	 Special	 Operations	 task	 force	 and	 their	 Kurdish	 allies	 to	 confront	 the
Iraqis	near	Kirkuk	and	its	vulnerable	oilfields.

On	5	April,	a	forward	reconnaissance	team—twenty-six	Green	Berets,	three
Air	 Force	 controllers,	 and	 two	 intelligence	 officers	 driving	 southeast	 from	 the
territory	 now	 held	 by	 their	 Kurdish	 allies—approached	 an	 enemy-held
crossroads	 on	 the	 main	 road	 linking	 Kirkuk	 and	 Mosul.	 The	 approach	 was
blocked	by	minefields	and	Debecka	Ridge,	a	feature	that	defined	the	Green	Line
separating	the	semi-autonomous	Kurdish	region	from	the	Iraqi	Arab	heartland	to
the	south.	Iraqi	soldiers	stood	on	bunkers	on	the	ridge,	apparently	unconcerned
by	 the	 appearance	 of	 such	 a	 tiny	 enemy	 force	 in	 thin-skinned	 Humvee’s	 and
Range	 Rovers.	 The	 Iraqis	 had	 confidence	 in	 the	 knowledge	 that	 their	 armory
included	 Russian	 T-55	 main	 battle	 tanks,	 equipped	 with	 100mm	 guns.	 That
night,	 the	 Americans	 called	 down	 B-52	 strikes	 on	 the	 ridge.	 It	 shattered	 the
morale	of	many	of	the	Iraqi	defenders,	who	deserted.

The	recce	team	was	now	joined	by	only	eighty	Kurdish	Peshmerga	fighters
rather	 than	 the	 200	 they	 expected.	Faced	with	 a	 defensive	 earthen	berm	and	 a
minefield,	the	Kurds	drove	a	Jeep	armed	with	a	recoilless	rifle,	clearing	mines	as



they	went,	 to	 the	top	of	 the	ridge.	Led	by	some	of	 the	team	on	foot,	 the	Green
Berets,	with	 their	 heavier	 vehicles,	 followed	 through	 to	 a	 secondary	 ridge	 that
they	 called,	with	 good	 reason,	 the	Alamo.	 Iraqi	 infantry	 opened	 fire	 on	 them.
Under	 heavy	 enemy	 fire,	 Staff	 Sgt	 Jason	 D.	 Brown	 lowered	 his	 profile	 by
squatting	 down,	 a	 Javelin	 anti-tank	missile	 on	 his	 shoulder.	He	 had	 fired	 only
one	practice	round	before	this	moment.	Hoping	that	the	missile’s	fire-and-forget
infrared	 guidance	 system	 would	 do	 what	 the	 Army	 promised,	 he	 lined	 up	 an
enemy	truck	full	of	troops	at	a	range	of	3,000	meters.	The	vehicle	exploded	in	a
fireball.	 In	 the	 battle	 that	was	 to	 follow,	 the	 Javelin	was	 “worth	 its	weight	 in
gold”	according	to	Sergeant	1st	Class	Frank	Antenori.99

The	team	now	drove	forward	at	70	mph	to	occupy	the	crossroads.	Then,	out
of	 the	 morning	 haze,	 three	 Iraqi	 utility	 vehicles—SUVs—came	 toward	 them,
headlights	flashing.	For	a	moment	 it	seemed	that	 they	wished	to	surrender,	but
then	they	released	smoke	grenades	to	cover	the	rest	of	the	convoy:	three	armored
personnel	carriers	on	each	side	of	the	SUVs.	They	were	followed	by	a	column	of
tanks.	 As	 Staff	 Sergeant	 Bobby	 Farmer	 said:	 “I	 couldn’t	 believe	 what	 I	 was
seeing.”100	As	bullets	and	shells	exploded	around	them,	it	was	time	to	retreat	to
the	nominal	sanctuary	of	the	Alamo	ridgeline.	Once	there,	Brown	jumped	from
his	Humvee,	carrying	a	loaded	Javelin,	sat	down,	and	sighted	the	weapon	on	the
leading	 armored	 personnel	 carrier.	 For	 a	 brief,	 heart-stopping	 moment	 the
missile	appeared	to	hesitate	as	 it	 left	 the	tube,	moving	a	safe	distance	from	the
firing	point	 before	 its	main	motor	 fired	 up	 and	hurtled	 like	 an	 avenging	 angel
toward	the	target.	When	flame	and	smoke	cleared,	little	remained	of	the	vehicle
but	a	charred	chassis.

Brown	was	 joined	by	 two	of	his	comrades	who	also	carried	Javelins.	They
were	 Staff	 Sergeant	 Jeffrey	 M.	 Adamec	 and	 Master	 Sergeant	 Kenneth
Thompson.	By	 the	 end	 of	 a	 five-hour	 battle,	 the	 team	 had	 unleashed	 nineteen
missiles.	According	 to	Sergeant	Antenori,	 “sixteen	hit	 enemy	vehicles;	 two	hit
other	 structures	 (mud	hut,	monument)	 as	 a	 result	 of	 gunner	 error	 (accidentally
locking	on	the	wrong	target),	and	one	missile	actually	missed.”	Discovering	their
vulnerability,	Iraqi	infantry	left	the	cover	of	their	APCs	only	to	be	cut	down	by
the	Green	Berets’	machine	guns.

Undeterred,	in	tactics	reminiscent	of	their	sacrificial	war	with	Iran,	the	Iraqis
“just	 kept	 coming	 and	 coming”	 according	 to	 the	 team	 leader,	 Captain	 Eric
Wright.	 A	 later	 estimate	 by	 Antenori	 is	 that	 the	 allied	 team	 was	 indeed
outnumbered.	As	well	as	five	tanks,	 the	Iraqi	force	totaled	up	to	200	men.	The
tanks,	concealed	behind	a	berm,	were	out	of	the	reach	of	the	Javelins,	but	their
100mm	guns	were	 able	 to	maintain	 a	 dangerous	 barrage	 on	 the	Green	Berets’



exposed	Alamo	position.	The	SF	 team	summoned	an	air	 strike.	The	result	was
disastrous.	A	Navy	F-14	bombed	the	wrong	position,	killing	sixteen	Peshmerga
and	wounding	at	 least	forty.	Two	Green	Berets	were	also	wounded,	as	was	the
BBC	 war	 correspondent	 John	 Simpson,	 who	 was	 traveling	 with	 the	 Kurds.
Simpson’s	 translator,	Kamaran	Abdurazaq	Muhammed,	 lost	both	 legs	and	bled
to	death.	Simpson	said	he	witnessed	a	scene	from	hell	as	bodies	littered	the	dusty
road	amid	burning	wrecks.	“I	saw	the	bomb	coming	out	of	one	of	the	planes	and
then,	 extraordinarily,	 I	 saw	 it	 as	 it	 came	 down	 beside	 me….	 I	 saw	 people
burning	to	death	in	front	of	me.”101	Had	Simpson	not	worn	his	flak	jacket,	which
was	riddled	with	shrapnel,	he	also	would	have	died.

Led	 by	 Captain	 Wright,	 six	 of	 the	 recce	 force	 including	 the	 team	 medic
raced	to	the	scene.	Their	first,	macabre	job	was	to	sort	the	dead	and	dying	from
potential	 survivors,	 whose	 wounds	 they	 treated.	 On	 the	 ridge,	 the	 battle
continued.	An	Iraqi	tank	moved	from	cover	toward	the	handful	of	Special	Forces
soldiers	facing	 them	across	 the	Kirkuk	road.	Staff	Sergeant	Eric	Strigotte	hit	 it
from	a	 range	of	3,700	meters,	 substantially	more	 than	 the	 Javelin’s	 theoretical
effective	range	of	2,500	meters.	More	air	attacks,	on	target	this	time,	broke	the
Iraqi	advance.	They	fled	on	foot,	 leaving	eight	 tanks	and	sixteen	APCs	behind
them.

Next	day,	recalled	Antenori,	“we	were	counterattacked	by	a	larger	force	of
six	T-55	and	sixteen	armored	personnel	carriers.	We	took	out	the	lead	tank	with
a	Javelin	and	dropped	some	bombs	on	the	rest.	The	counterattack	stalled	when
the	enemy	turned	around…later	abandoning	their	vehicles	about	three	kilometers
away.”

The	road	to	Kirkuk	was	now	open.	The	city	was	taken	in	a	virtual	walkover
by	the	Kurdish	Peshmerga	and	their	Green	Beret	friends,	supported	by	U.S.	air
power,	followed	up	by	the	Paras	of	the	173rd.	No	one	was	spoiling	for	a	fight	at
Kirkuk,	 a	 city	 with	 a	 large	 and	 long-established	 Kurdish	 population,	 living
alongside	Arabs,	Turkmen,	Assyrians,	Christians,	 and	Muslims.	An	 Iraqi	 army
officer,	 Amir	 Sahib	Aziz,	who	 had	 sworn	 to	 die	 to	 defend	 the	 city,	 admitted:
“The	Peshmerga	came	and	they	called	out	to	us	and	said,	‘We	are	your	brothers
and	your	countrymen.	If	you	give	up,	we	will	not	hurt	you.’”102

The	next	strategic	target,	Mosul,	was	another	matter.	This	city	of	two	million
people	 included	 thousands	 who	 were	 fiercely	 loyal	 to	 Saddam.	 In	 due	 time,
Saddam’s	two	sons	would	seek	sanctuary	in	Mosul	and	die	there	under	the	guns
of	American	Special	Forces.	In	April	2003	the	senior	U.S.	officer	in	the	region,
Lieutenant	 Colonel	 Robert	Waltemeyer,	 had	 only	 380	Green	 Berets	 from	 2nd
Battalion,	 10th	 Special	 Forces	 Group,	 to	 take	 over	 the	 city.	 Suddenly,	 his



Kurdish	 allies	 were	 a	 political	 embarrassment.	 Had	 they	 led	 the	 occupation,
Turkey	might	have	fulfilled	its	threat	to	invade	northern	Iraq.	Invasion	Lite	was
unraveling.	The	2,000	men	of	the	173rd	Airborne	were	now	committed	to	one	of
Washington’s	 top	 priorities,	 seizure	 and	 protection	 of	 oil	 refineries	 at	Kirkuk.
The	 result	 was	 general	 mayhem	 in	 Mosul	 and	 within	 a	 year,	 much	 of	 Iraq
descended	 into	 a	 chaotic,	 unstructured	 conflict	 that	 mocked	 President	 Bush’s
boast	“Mission	accomplished!”

The	campaign	in	northern	Iraq	in	March	and	April	2003	bears	closer	scrutiny
by	 believers	 in	 the	 refashioned	 doctrine	 of	 Unconventional	 Warfare.	 UW	 is
defined	 in	 that	 document	 as	 “a	 broad	 spectrum	 of	 military	 and	 paramilitary
operations,	 predominantly	 conducted	 through,	 with,	 or	 by	 indigenous	 or
surrogate	forces	organized,	trained,	equipped,	supported	and	directed	in	varying
degrees	 by	 an	 external	 source.”103	 If	 Special	 Forces	 and	 ethnic	 surrogates	 are
used	as	a	means	of	reducing	the	number	of	regular	American	or	Allied	soldiers,
then	 there	 are	 manifold	 risks	 in	 employing	 the	 surrogates	 as	 an	 army	 of
occupation	rather	than	a	useful	extra	tool	on	the	battlefield.

There	is	another	sort	of	surrogate,	used	to	the	same	effect	but	not	discussed
in	FM	3-05.20.	This	is	the	private	military	contractor,	whose	employment	in	Iraq
provoked	 controversy.	 On	 31	March	 2004,	 the	 Blackwater	 company	 sent	 two
two-man	teams	(including	former	SEALs)	into	Fallujah	as	guards	for	a	catering
company.	They	were	ambushed	at	a	position	later	renamed	Blackwater	Bridge,
dragged	 from	 their	 vehicles,	 lynched	 in	 scenes	 reminiscent	 of	 Mogadishu,
murdered,	their	bodies	mutilated	and	set	on	fire.	The	incident	detonated	a	bloody
siege	lasting	a	month	during	which	twenty-seven	U.S.	soldiers	and	an	unknown
number	 of	 civilians	 and	 insurgents	 were	 killed.	 The	 verdict	 on	 Special
Operations	Forces	in	northern	Iraq	in	2003,	nevertheless,	must	be	that	yet	again
a	tiny,	elite	force—thanks	to	its	versatility	and	intelligence	as	well	as	courage—
had	 a	 strategic	 impact	 on	 the	 course	 of	 events.	 If,	 at	 times,	 too	 much	 was
expected	of	Task	Force	Viking,	that	was	no	novelty	either.

So	 far	 as	 the	 American	 government	 was	 concerned,	 there	 were	 two
objectives	of	greater	priority	at	the	other	end	of	the	country.	These	were	strategic
“decapitation”—the	 assassination	 of	 Iraq’s	 leadership,	 starting	with	 Saddam—
and	 the	preservation	of	 Iraq’s	 oilfields.	For	President	Bush,	 removing	Saddam
seems	 to	 have	 been	 a	 personal	 issue,	 linked	 to	 his	 determination	 to	 nail	 any
perceived	ally	of	al	Qaeda	after	9/11.	For	neocons	the	war	was	about	oil.

In	 the	 event,	 removing	 key	 leaders,	 a	 policy	 of	 decapitation,	 won	 out,	 if
narrowly.	 It	 missed	 its	 targets	 but	 had	 the	 unexpected	 result	 of	 triggering	 a
premature	ground	invasion	ahead	of	the	“shock	and	awe”	attack	from	the	air.	On
19	 March,	 the	 U.S.	 high	 command	 received	 “highly	 perishable	 intelligence



reporting	 that	 Saddam	 Hussein	 and	 several	 key	 subordinates	 were	 gathered
together	 in	 a	 known	 location….	Unsure	 if	 such	 an	 opportunity	would	 present
itself	again,”	President	Bush	authorized	a	strike	by	Nighthawk	Stealth	bombers
and	 Tomahawk	 cruise	missiles.”104	 The	 target	was	 a	 farm	 complex	 known	 as
Dora,	identified	by	the	CIA.	The	only	casualty	was	the	CIA’s	own	spy.105

Within	hours,	this	preemptive	attack	seems	to	have	triggered	an	Iraqi	plan	to
sabotage	oilfields	in	the	south	of	the	country	and	offshore	in	the	Gulf,	an	event
that	in	turn	prompted	ground	force	commanders	to	launch	their	operation	ahead
of	the	agreed	deadline	and	in	advance	of	the	air	onslaught	in	yet	another	gamble.
The	 invasion	 timetable	 was	 brought	 forward	 twenty-four	 hours	 when	 Army
intelligence	analysts,	studying	images	provided	by	a	Predator	drone,	detected	the
beginning	of	sabotage	in	Iraq’s	southern	oilfields.	As	the	U.S.	Army’s	history	of
the	campaign	makes	clear:	“Early	on	the	morning	of	19	March,	a	small	group	of
intelligence	analysts	located	at	Camp	DOHA,	Kuwait,	made	the	key	intelligence
call	that	launched	the	ground	war	on	the	21st.	Protecting…the	Iraqi	oil	wells	was
so	 important	 that	 detecting	 indications	 of	 sabotage	was	 a	 ‘priority	 intelligence
requirement.’…Determining	 if	 the	 oil	 wells	 were	 in	 danger	 of	 destruction—
before	 they	were	 destroyed—was	 a	 vital	 question	 and	difficult	 to	 answer.	The
decision	on	when	to	start	the	ground	war	rested	on	that	answer.”106

The	oil	issue	had	a	further	impact	on	U.S.	strategy.	The	Air	Force	could	not
meet	the	accelerated	timetable	as	it	put	the	final	touches	to	its	fine-tuned	“shock
and	awe”	assault	on	Iraq.	Turning	this	problem	to	its	advantage,	General	Tommy
Franks,	 now	 chief	 of	 CENTCOM,	 decided	 that	 the	 Iraqis	 would	 expect	 a
massive	air	assault	before	the	main	ground	attack	went	in.	Reversing	the	order—
ground	 first,	 air	 second—would	surprise	 the	enemy.	Or	 so	 it	was	hoped.	Once
more,	Special	Forces	were	 invoked	 to	save	 the	situation,	 just	as	 they	had	been
during	the	Scud	attacks	in	the	First	Gulf	War.	It	was	preceded	by	an	episode	that
should	be	worth	its	place	in	any	history	of	military	intelligence.

The	man	 who	 alerted	 the	 high	 command	 to	 the	 start	 of	 the	 sabotage	 was
Major	David	Carstens,	an	intelligence	officer	with	fifteen	years	of	experience	in
Haiti,	 the	 Balkans,	 and	 Afghanistan.	 Responsible	 for	 an	 elite	 team	 of	 forty
analysts,	Carstens	 had	 learned	 to	 distinguish	 between	 false	 reports	 that	 the	 oil
wells	were	on	fire	(when	the	flames	were	normal,	precautionary	burn-offs)	and
the	 real	 thing.	 He	 taught	 himself	 by	 studying	 video	 images	 of	 Saddam’s
destruction	 of	 Kuwait’s	 facilities	 in	 1991.	 When	 he	 received	 images	 relayed
from	 a	 Predator	 drone	 of	 “oil	well	 fires	with	 pressure-backed	 flames	 reaching
60–310	 feet	 into	 the	 air”	 on	 the	morning	 of	 19	March	 2003,	 he	 called	 senior
officers	and	obtained	confirmation	for	his	diagnosis	from	a	civilian	oil	expert.	At



0830	hours	he	was	summoned	into	the	presence	of	Colonel	Steven	Rotkoff,	his
superior.

“Dave,	what	do	you	think	this	is?”	asked	the	colonel.	“Do	you	think	it	is	the
beginning	of	the	sabotage	we	talked	about?”

“Yes,	sir.”
“Dave,	I	just	want	to	be	sure	because	we	are	getting	ready	to	launch	60,000

Marines	across	the	border.”
“Yes.	I’m	sure.”
Shortly	thereafter,	the	authors	of	On	Point	observe,	General	Franks	gave	the

ground	 forces	 the	 order	 to	 go	 “and	 1	Marine	 Expeditionary	 Force	 attacked	 to
seize	the	oilfields	on	the	night	of	the	20th.”	They	“achieved	tactical	surprise	and
quickly	secured	the	oilfields,	preventing	the	Iraqis	from	igniting	more	than	a	few
small	fires.”	Though	successful—only	nine	out	of	1,000	oilfields	were	torched—
the	 operation	 to	 save	 the	 oil	 was	 not	 straightforward.	 It	 required	 an
airborne/amphibious	 task	 force	 comprising	 U.S.	 SEALs,	 Marines,	 fast	 Navy
craft,	 helicopters,	 U.K.	 Special	 Boat	 Service,	 Royal	Marines	 of	 3	 Commando
Brigade,	 and	 Polish	 Grom	 commandos	 trained	 by	 the	 SAS.	 With	 250	 men
committed,	it	was	the	SEALs’	biggest	operation	since	Vietnam.

Oil	 protection	 in	 southern	 Iraq	was	 a	 two-pronged	 affair.	 Swooping	 in	 by
helicopter,	 a	 Sunday	 Times	 team	 reported,	 “British	 and	 U.S.	 forces	 dropped
behind	enemy	 lines	north	of	Basra	and	struck	south….	Other	 forces	moved	on
Umm	Qasr,	 a	 port	 just	 over	 the	 border	 from	Kuwait	whose	 deep-water	 docks
were	seen	as	vital	for	bringing	in	humanitarian	aid….	In	the	al-Faw	peninsula	to
the	 east,	 helicopters	 were	 skimming	 low	 through	 the	 night,	 ferrying	 U.S.	 and
British	commandos	over	the	border….	AC130	gunships	circled	giving	fearsome
covering	fire	as	the	commandos	established	beachheads….”107

The	most	daring	attacks	were	on	two	vulnerable	oil	platforms	offshore,	fifty
miles	 apart.	 One	 was	 taken	 by	 an	 elite	 SEAL	 team	 known	 by	 the	 acronym
DEVGRU	(for	the	enigmatically	named	“Development	Group”).	The	second	rig
was	targeted	by	a	Polish	commando	known	as	“Grom”	(“Thunderbolt”).	Twenty
men	moved	by	fast	open	craft	fitted	with	machine	guns	until	they	were	within	a
mile	of	the	target.	They	then	switched	to	a	pair	of	dinghies	propelled	by	silenced
engines	and,	finally,	paddles.	As	they	nosed	against	the	steel	supports	of	the	rig,
a	diving	 team	slid	under	 the	water	 to	check	 for	demolition	charges.	This	 time,
the	intelligence	was	correct.	The	explosives	were	found,	carefully	unpicked	and
made	safe.	The	rest	of	the	team,	observing	no	signs	of	life	on	the	rig,	began	the
long	 climb	 up	 the	 structure	 using,	 according	 to	 one	 source,	 magnets	 as	 a
climbing	aid	on	the	smooth	superstructure.

Exactly	on	 time,	 a	U.S.	Black	Hawk	helicopter	 flying	 just	 above	 sea	 level



swept	up	and	hovered	as	the	SEAL	snipers	on	board	it	lined	up	their	night	sights
on	 the	 rig.	Guards	 appeared,	 possibly	 alerted	 by	 a	 telephone	 that	 rang	 in	 their
watchroom.	 The	 snipers	 picked	 them	 off	 as	 if	 this	 was	 a	 duck	 shoot.	 Three
minutes	later,	the	operation	was	over,	the	rig	secured.108

The	SEALs’	extraordinary	marksmanship	was	demonstrated	to	the	world	on
12	April	2009	when	Captain	Richard	Phillips,	captain	of	a	U.S.	container	ship,
was	held	hostage	by	Somali	 pirates.	Beaten	off	 the	vessel,	 three	of	 the	pirates
escaped	 in	 one	 of	 the	 ship’s	 lifeboats,	 taking	 Phillips	 with	 them.	 As	 ransom
negotiations	began,	the	hijacked	lifeboat	was	held	in	tow	by	a	U.S.	warship.	In
the	 darkness,	 the	 SEALs	 parachuted	 into	 the	 sea	 and	 were	 picked	 up.
Subsequently,	when	it	seemed	that	Phillips—held	with	an	AK-47	to	his	head—
was	about	to	be	executed,	three	SEAL	snipers,	perched	on	superstructure	above
the	 tail	 of	 the	 towing	 vessel,	 fired	 simultaneously,	 killing	 three	 pirates.	 The
fourth	surrendered.	Synchronised	sniping	to	eliminate	multiple	targets	is	a	finely
honed	art.	If	it	works,	it	ensures	that	no	enemy	survives	to	kill	a	hostage.	But	in
this	case	it	was	complicated	by	the	movement	of	both	ships	involved,	separated
by	thirty	meters,	and	reliance	on	night	sights.109

It	 was	 not	 only	 the	 route	 through	 the	maritime	minefields	 of	 the	 Shatt	 al
Arab	 that	 made	 the	 ground	 invasion	 of	 Iraq	 on	 21	 March	 2003	 a	 high-risk
option.	Only	one	major	ground	formation—3rd	Infantry	Division—was	ready	to
move	at	H-hour	on	G	(for	ground	force	operations)	Day.	As	the	official	history
confirms,	when	the	3rd	ID	advanced	to	cross	the	berm	originally	erected	to	stave
off	a	second	Iraqi	invasion	of	Kuwait,	“it	was	the	only	Army	division	ready	to
fight	 out	 of	 the	 four	 that	 the	 original	 plan	 required.	The	 remaining	 units	were
still	moving	into	the	theater,	linking	up	with	their	equipment,	or	moving	forward
to	attack	positions.”	 In	spite	of	 that,	“the	ground	war	actually	started	 two	days
before	 formal	 air	 operations	 began…General	 [Tommy]	 Franks	 made	 the
deliberate	decision	to	start	the	ground	fight	before	some	of	the	designated	forces
were	available	and	ready	for	combat.	He	balanced	the	strategic,	operational,	and
tactical	benefits	of	a	rapid,	early	advance	against	the	risk	inherent	in	not	having
sufficient	 combat	 power	 to	 achieve	 the	 campaign’s	 objective	 at	 the	 start	 of
operations.	The	 tensions	within	 this	balance	affected	 the	campaign’s	execution
and	 are	 a	 defining	 characteristic	 of	 the	 entire	 operation.”	 In	 retrospect,	 the
importance	 of	 Special	 Forces	 operations	 in	 the	 north	 of	 the	 country,	 pinning
down	 thirteen	 Iraqi	 divisions	 (approximately	 130,000	 men),	 was	 even	 greater
than	most	commentators	appreciated	at	the	time.

Initial	 SF	 maneuvers	 involving	 Delta	 Force,	 Australian	 and	 British	 SAS
soldiers,	U.K.	SBS,	and	American	Green	Beret	Alpha	teams	had	started	around



forty-eight	 hours	 or	 more	 before.	 The	 initial	 heliborne	 assaults	 were	 on	 Iraqi
command	posts	and	vital	communications.	As	in	the	first	Gulf	War	in	1991,	the
teams	identified	and	dug	up	fiber	optic	cables	on	which	the	enemy	depended	for
secure	communications.

Special	 Forces	 patrols	 emerged	 like	 desert	 ghosts	 to	 meet	 the	 incoming
invaders.	 On	 22	March,	 the	 second	 day	 of	 the	 ground	 invasion,	 an	 American
cavalry	team	approaching	the	city	of	As	Samawah	encountered	a	group	of	small
pickup	 trucks	mounted	with	heavy	machine	guns,	 flying	 large	American	 flags.
“They	were	an	SOF	team	conducting	linkup.	The	team	had	been	in	the	town	for
several	 days	 conducting	 reconnaissance	 and	 surveillance….	The	 SOF	 troopers
effected	the	linkup	in	accordance	with	an	established	recognition	signal	worked
out	with	 the	 special	 forces	 liaison	 element.	 The	 SOF	 team	 confirmed	 that	 the
bridges	were	intact	and	not	wired	for	demolition.	The	SOF	troops	had	developed
a	contact	in	town	who	reported	on	the	infiltration	of	Republican	Guard	troops	in
town	and	the	presence	of	paramilitary	forces	as	well.”110

The	 risk	 of	 fratricide,	 given	 the	 ambiguous	 appearance	 of	 Special	 Forces
mingling	on	the	battlefield	with	friendly	forces,	never	goes	away	in	this	kind	of
warfare.	 American	 SF	 tried	 to	 minimize	 it	 by	 carrying	 tracking	 devices	 that
enabled	 a	 joint	 command	 to	 avoid	 confliction.	 Sometimes	 it	 required	 heroic
intervention	 on	 the	 ground.	 Special	 Forces	 soldiers	 often	 took	 the	 risk	 of
becoming	 targets	 from	 their	 fellow	Americans	when	 they	 intervened	 in	 stand-
offs	between	one	U.S.	force	and	another.

This	 super-cool	 approach	 was	 sometimes	 misapplied.	 One	 infantry	 team
faced	 with	 an	 obstacle	 was	 joined	 by	 SF	 soldiers	 who	 proposed,	 before	 the
firefight	began,	talking	to	tribal	chiefs,	“the	men	with	beards”	to	settle	the	affair
peacefully.	 It	 was	 a	Woody	 Allen	 moment.	 Earlier	 arrivals	 on	 the	 scene	 had
come	under	heavy	 fire	and	could	not	believe	what	 the	SF	proposed.	When	 the
Special	 Forces	men	 also	 encountered	 a	withering	 barrage,	 they	 dressed	 in	 full
battle	kit	and	went	to	work	to	do	the	business	the	hard	way.

Some	 SF	 operations	 became	 media	 spectaculars,	 good	 for	 morale	 back
home.	 These	 included	 the	 removal	 from	 an	 Iraqi	 hospital	 of	 Private	 1st	 Class
Jessica	 Lynch	 by	 Special	 Forces	 supported	 by	 Marines	 and	 the	 subsequent
recovery	 of	 other	 lost	 personnel	 including	 two	 valuable	Apache	 pilots.	 Lynch
and	 some	of	 her	 comrades,	 part	 of	 a	 supply	 convoy,	 came	 under	 fire	 near	An
Nasiriyah	on	23	March.	A	multiple	road	crash	resulted,	fatally	injuring	two	men.
Another	 two	 died	 after	 capture	 in	 unknown	 circumstances.	 Lynch,	 seriously
injured,	was	alive	but	unconscious.	Her	captors	took	her	to	a	hospital	in	the	city,
where	she	received	medical	care.	The	official	history	records:	“On	the	evening
of	 1	 April	 2003,	 SOF,	 supported	 by	 marines,	 assaulted	 the	 hospital	 in	 which



Private	Jessica	Lynch	was	being	treated.	Although	there	have	been	news	stories
subsequently	suggesting	that	the	assault	was	unnecessary	since	Iraqi	troops	had
left	the	day	before,	one	fact	is	clear:	the	SOF	brought	Lynch	out.”

Alongside	 the	 northern	 campaign	 and	 oil	 protection,	 allied	 Special	 Forces
mounted	a	major	operation	 in	 the	west	of	 the	country	 to	 reduce	 the	 threat	 that
Iraqi	 Scud	 missiles	 might	 be	 unleashed	 yet	 again,	 indiscriminately	 against
Kuwait	or	Israel.	This	vast	area,	thousands	of	square	miles	of	desert,	became	the
exclusive	preserve	of	a	family	of	Special	Forces	units	from	the	U.S.,	Britain,	and
Australia	 known	 as	 Task	 Force	 Dagger,	 under	 the	 command	 of	 General
“Shooter”	Harrell.	In	their	search,	they	were	disappointed.	There	is	no	publicly
available	evidence	that	any	Scuds	were	fired	during	this	war,	though	seventeen
smaller	weapons—the	Ababil-100,	with	 a	 range	 of	 90	miles	 and	 a	 payload	 of
300	kg—were	aimed	from	the	Basra	area	at	coalition	assembly	points	in	Kuwait.
They	missed	their	targets	or	were	intercepted	by	defensive	Patriot	missiles.	But
as	 in	 the	first	Gulf	War,	1991,	 it	was	 the	fear	of	what-might-happen	that	made
the	Scuds	a	potent	psychological	weapon.

The	 campaign	 in	 the	 west	 opened	 on	 the	 night	 of	 20	March	 with	 sorties
against	 border	 positions	 by	Little	Bird	 helicopters,	which	 shot	 up	 their	 targets
and	 returned	 unscathed.	 Iraqi	 soldiers	 got	 the	 message	 and	 began	 evacuating
airfields	that	the	allies	needed	as	forward	operational	bases.	Fired	up	and	ready
for	battle,	British	and	Australian	SAS	soldiers,	arriving	from	Jordan	by	Chinook
or	desert	vehicles	 to	occupy	 the	bases	 (known	as	H2	and	H3),	met	 little	or	no
resistance.	They	probably	experienced	a	sense	of	anticlimax.	Certainly	that	was
how	an	American	close	air	support	expert,	Technical	Sergeant	Ed	Shulman,	felt
about	target	H3.	He	said:	“We	had	a	team	in	place	watching	H3	as	the	rest	of	us
were	converging	on	 the	airfield.	They	watched	a	 thirty-vehicle	convoy	 leaving
H3	 and	 they	 couldn’t	 get	 permission	 to	 hit	 it.	 The	 FOB	 [forward	 operational
base]	was	saying,	‘Don’t	fire	until	you	are	fired	upon.	Don’t	initiate	contact.’”111
As	 time	 passed	 and	 no	Scuds	were	 found,	 though	 around	 100	 possible	 launch
sites	 were	 inspected,	 more	 aggressive	 tactics	 were	 permitted.	 Meanwhile,	 the
abandoned	 airfields	 were	 crowded	 with	 Allied	 C-130	 transports	 and	 Chinook
helicopters.	 The	 once-mighty	 Iraqi	 Air	 Force	 was	 nowhere	 to	 be	 seen.	 The
auguries	 were	 good	 for	 the	 U.S.	 75th	Airborne	 Rangers	 to	 parachute	 into	 yet
another	 desert	 air	 base,	 H1,	 an	 operation	 that	 went	 smoothly	 enough	 on	 25
March.

But	all	was	not	quiet	on	the	western	front,	all	the	time.	Unconfirmed	reports
suggest	 a	 fierce	 battle	 near	 Qaim,	 close	 to	 the	 Syrian	 border,	 in	 which	 SAS
soldiers	 and	Green	Berets	 fought	Republican	Guards	 for	 control	of	 a	 chemical



fertilizer	plant	once	suspected	of	being	a	nuclear	facility.112	There	 is	no	public
collateral	 to	support	a	claim	that	on	22	March,	 in	 the	same	area,	an	Australian
patrol	of	six	SAS	men	took	on	an	Iraqi	force	of	between	thirty	and	fifty,	killing
twelve,	forcing	the	rest	to	surrender	without	any	losses.

Meanwhile,	the	main	coalition	forces	thrust	from	the	south,	up	the	Euphrates
and	main	supply	 routes	 toward	Baghdad,	encountered	 their	heaviest	 resistance,
less	from	the	regular	Iraqi	army	than	the	paramilitary	fedayeen,	fundamentalists
who	 would	 later	 continue	 the	 fight	 as	 guerrillas	 after	 the	 regulars	 accepted
defeat.	 Repeatedly,	 at	 such	 places	 as	 Nasiriyah	 and	 Najaf,	 fanatical
paramilitaries	 deserted	 their	 natural	 battlegrounds—urban	 areas—to	 expose
themselves	to	American	firepower	during	frontal	attacks	on	allied	supply	lines.
But	 in	 spite	 of	 such	determined	 resistance,	 the	 advance	paused	only	briefly	 as
Coalition	 air	 power,	 night	 vision,	 and	 electronic	 surveillance	 made	 this	 an
unequal	contest.	Baghdad	fell	on	9	April.	Hostilities	against	the	Baathist	regime
officially	ended	on	30	April.	On	1	May,	on	board	the	carrier	Abraham	Lincoln,
President	Bush	announced	victory.	Behind	him,	a	banner	proclaimed:	“Mission
accomplished!”	 In	 one	 important	 sense,	 that	 was	 correct.	 Regime	 change	 had
happened	 and	 Paul	 Bremer	 was	 about	 to	 take	 over	 as	 Bush’s	 proconsul	 in
Baghdad.	The	fighting	was	not	over	by	a	long	way,	but	the	nature	of	the	conflict
had	 changed,	 decisively.	 From	 mid-April,	 this	 was	 no	 longer	 a	 war	 between
nation-states	 but	 an	 insurrection	 led	 by	 several	 factions	 against	 the	 new	order,
one	in	which	Special	Forces	would	turn	their	strategy	around	180	degrees,	from
acting	as	a	destabilizing	 force	 to	one	 that	picked	off	opponents	of	government
and	defended	the	status	quo.

The	opposition	included	an	army	without	leadership,	pensions,	promotion	or
future,	and	access	to	many	tons	of	armaments.	From	having	the	initiative	and	a
fine-grained	plan	of	attack,	U.S.	forces	were	now	plunged	into	a	conflict	with	no
front	 line	 and	 no	 fixed	military	 doctrine.	 Instead,	 it	 involved	 a	 chaotic	war	 of
modern	 cowboys,	 a	 free-play	 contest	 in	 which	 the	 man,	 or	 woman,	 who	 was
quickest	on	the	draw	was	the	one	who	lived	to	fight	another	day.	It	was	Northern
Ireland	all	over	again,	complete	with	car	bombs,	but	on	a	grander	scale	and	the
added	horror	of	suicide	bombers.	The	first	phase	of	 the	war	had	lasted	twenty-
one	days	and	cost	America	109	soldiers	killed	in	action,	with	116	wounded	and
unfit	for	further	service.	Phase	II,	the	counterinsurgency	war,	from	1	May	2003
until	 31	August	 2010,	when	America’s	 combat	mission	would	 end,	would	 see
around	 4,000	 body	 bags	 returning	 home.	 (The	 author’s	 estimated	 figure	 is
conservative	and	could	well	be	greater.	It	was	unlikely	to	be	less.)

The	top	priority	of	the	counterinsurgency	(“coin”)	campaign	was	the	former
enemy’s	 leadership,	 starting	 with	 Saddam	 Hussein	 and	 his	 sons,	 Uday	 and



Qusay.	The	difference	now	was	that	leaders	of	the	regime	were	no	longer	targets
for	death	in	battle,	unless	they	chose	that	road	to	glory,	but	were	fugitives	from
victor’s	justice.	Having	eluded	Tomahawk	missiles	and	smart	bombs	dropped	on
his	palace	and	a	remote	farm	during	the	official	war,	Saddam	would	be	tried	by
an	Iraqi	court	and	clumsily	hanged	for	crimes	against	humanity	on	30	December
2006.	Uday	and	Qusay	would	opt	for	the	glory	road	on	22	July	2003.

The	hunt	for	all	“high-value	targets”	was	spearheaded	by	a	dedicated	team	of
various	 SF	 skills,	 from	 close-in	 surveillance	 to	 silent	 killing,	 known	 as	 Task
Force	20,	later	redesignated	Task	Force	121	and	then	Task	Force	145.	Delta’s	C
Squadron	made	a	point	of	picking	up	anyone	closely	connected	 to	 the	Hussein
clan	in	Tikrit,	a	town	full	of	the	dictator’s	kin.	They	got	lucky	when	one	of	these
revealed	Saddam’s	hideout.	By	6	P.M.,	under	cover	of	darkness,	the	Army	had	a
600-man	cordon	around	the	area.	The	sharp	end	of	this	operation	was	run	not	by
Special	 Forces	 but	 by	 Colonel	 James	 B.	 Hickey,	 son	 of	 Irish	 immigrants,	 a
scholar-soldier	 and	 boss	 of	 a	 conventional	 unit,	 1st	 Brigade,	 4th	 Infantry
Division.	At	 8:30	 P.M.,	 150	meters	 from	Hickey’s	 command	post,	 some	of	 his
men	 searched	 a	 rundown	 adobe	 hut	 that	 contained	 a	 camp	 bed.	 It	might	 have
been	a	tramp’s	shelter	but	for	the	$75,000	in	a	box	beneath	the	bed.

Nearby,	one	of	the	hunters	noticed	an	abnormality	in	ground	levels.	Closer
examination	revealed	a	polystyrene	 trap	door	covered	by	a	kitchen	mat.	Ready
for	a	firefight,	one	of	the	soldiers	pried	the	lid	open,	ready	to	hurl	a	grenade	into
the	 void.	 Then	 two	 supplicatory	 hands	 appeared.	 Saddam	 responded	 to	 the
soldiers’	challenge	not	with	gunfire	but	an	announcement	that	deserves	its	place
in	the	history	of	bathos:	“My	name	is	Saddam	Hussein,”	he	said	 in	English.	“I
am	the	President	of	Iraq	and	I	want	to	negotiate.”

Hickey,	 embarrassed	 by	media	 acclaim	 back	 home	 in	America,	 dismissed
the	coup	 in	a	 television	 interview.	“It	pretty	much	went	off	as	we	had	planned
and	we	got	 the	guy	we	were	looking	for,”	he	said.	The	soldier	who	discovered
Saddam’s	hole	has	never	been	identified.	There	were	no	citations	or	medals	for
this	man.	 It	was	a	minor	anomaly,	perhaps,	but	 the	sort	of	 thing	 that	gave	 rise
later	to	a	seemingly	plausible	conspiracy	theory,	that	the	real	heroes	of	the	hunt
for	 Saddam	 were	 not	 Americans	 but	 Kurdish	 Peshmerga.	 There	 was	 another
loose	end.	Senior	officers	advised	CNN	that	“it	 is	unclear	whether	anyone	will
receive	the	$25	million	bounty	on	Saddam	because	the	information	leading	to	his
capture	came	under	duress	and	from	more	than	one	person.”	Major	General	Ray
Odierno,	 commander	of	 the	4th	 Infantry	Division,	 told	 the	network:	 “Over	 the
last	ten	days	we	brought	in	about	five	to	ten	members	of	these	[Tikriti]	families,
who	were	 then	 able	 to	 give	 us	 even	more	 information	 and	 finally	we	 got	 the
ultimate	information	from	one	of	these	individuals.”113



Five	months	before	Saddam	surrendered	so	ignominiously,	his	sons	had	died
in	a	hail	of	gunfire.	From	mid-July,	 the	Hussein	brothers	had	been	hiding	 in	a
fortified	 compound	 in	 Mosul,	 a	 city	 that	 had	 resisted	 American	 occupation.
British	 SAS	 soldiers,	well	 practiced	 in	 the	 arts	 of	 concealment	 and	 deception,
dressed	 as	 locals	 and	 speaking	 excellent	 Arabic,	 as	 well	 as	 electronic
surveillance,	had	confirmed	the	presence	of	the	two	wanted	men.	The	original	tip
had	come	from	an	inside	source	for	whom	a	bounty	of	$15	milllion	for	each	of
Saddam’s	sons	had	proved	greater	than	his	loyalty	to	a	defeated	leader.

The	use	of	bounty	in	this	way	originated	in	a	U.S.	Supreme	Court	judgment
of	 1873,	 legalizing	 the	 role	 of	 bounty	 hunters.	 In	 2007	 a	 British	 barrister
representing	 the	U.S.	 government	 in	 a	 case	 heard	 in	London	 confirmed	 that	 it
was	 acceptable	 under	American	 law	 to	 kidnap	 people	 if	 they	were	wanted	 for
offenses	in	America.	“The	U.S.	does	have	a	view	about	procuring	people	to	its
own	shores	which	is	not	shared,”	he	said.114	In	November	2009,	an	Italian	court
sentenced	 twenty-three	 former	CIA	agents	up	 to	eight	years	 in	prison	 for	 their
part	 in	 abducting	 a	 terrorist	 suspect,	 Abu	 Omar	 (aka	 Osama	Mustafa	 Hassan
Nasr),	 an	 Egyptian	 on	 a	 Milan	 street,	 in	 February	 2003.115	 The	 practice	 of
paying	bounty	was	widely	used	in	Pakistan	during	the	War	on	Terror,	resulting
in	some	suspects	becoming	“rendered”	for	interrogation	elsewhere.

In	 the	 case	 of	 the	Hussein	 brothers,	 no	 local	 legal	 framework	 existed.	No
U.S.	warrant	seems	to	have	been	issued	for	 their	arrest.	They	were	about	 to	be
taken	 into	 custody,	 therefore,	 as	 enemy	 combatants.	 It	 was	 not	 a	 very	 subtle
process.	 Rather	 than	 follow	 the	 SAS	 style	 of	 stealth,	 silence,	 darkness,
distraction,	 and	 sudden,	 shocking	 force,	 the	Delta	Force	 team,	backed	up	by	 a
cordon	 from	 101st	 Airborne	 Division,	 positioned	 an	 Iraqi	 interpreter	 in	 the
street,	 equipped	with	 a	 bullhorn,	 ordering	 the	 brothers	 to	 come	 out	with	 their
hands	 up.116	 It	 might	 have	 been	 a	 remake	 of	 a	 1935	 black-and-white	 movie
about	the	G-men,	starring	James	Cagney.	The	Hussein	brothers,	faithful	to	their
role	 in	 the	 drama,	 responded	 with	 a	 burst	 of	 ill-directed	 automatic	 fire	 that
wounded	a	 civilian	 spectator.	Delta	 failed	 to	 take	 the	 fugitives	 alive.	This	was
not	surprising	since	“in	the	end,”	after	a	four-hour	gunfight,	“it	 took	almost	all
the	 firepower	 the	Army	 could	muster—TOW	 (wire-guided	 anti	 tank	missiles),
Kiowa	helicopter	rockets	and	Mk.	19	grenade	launchers—to	punch	through	the
fortress-like	 inner	 walls	 of	 the	 villa	 and	 kill	 Uday	 Hussein	 and	 his	 brother,
Qusay.”117

With	 the	 end	 of	 conventional	 warfare,	 the	 counterinsurgency	 pattern	 that
emerged	 followed	 a	 pattern:	 huge	 bribes	 available	 to	 defectors	 and	 informers,
occasional	 arrests,	 and,	 less	 frequently,	 the	 use	 of	 timely	 information	 to	 kill	 a



particularly	 dangerous	 opponent	 by	 Special	 Forces	 combined	 with	 air	 power.
Seven	 fugitives,	 former	Baathist	 leaders,	got	 the	message	and	gave	 themselves
up.	By	 2005	 only	 eight	 of	 the	 fifty-five	 people	 on	 “Iraq’s	Most	Wanted”	 list,
identified	with	the	help	of	playing	cards	at	the	beginning	of	the	campaign,	were
still	 at	 large.	The	majority,	 thirty-five,	were	pursued	and	captured.	The	 fate	of
three	 was	 unknown	 though	 one,	 Saddam’s	 right-hand	 man,	 Izzat	 Ibrahim	 al-
Douri,	was	rumored	to	have	died	in	an	air	raid.	The	two	Hussein	brothers	were
the	only	ones	on	the	original	list	to	have	been	killed	by	Coalition	forces.

With	the	ancien	regime	accounted	for,	the	insurgency	came	under	different
brand	 names.	 Embittered	 former	 Army	 officers	 and	 Baath	 Party	 officials
constituted	only	one	of	these.	Much	more	dangerous	were	the	emerging	sectarian
forces	 of	 the	 former	 Sunni	 ruling	 class,	 notoriously	 led	 by	 a	 Jordanian
psychopath	whose	nom	de	guerre	was	Abu	Musab	 al	Zarqawi,	 and	 the	Shi’ite
Mahdi	 Army	 loyal	 to	 the	 charismatic	 preacher	 Moqtada	 al-Sadr.	 Al-Sadr’s
family	 traditionally	 opposed	 the	 Saddam	 regime.	 The	 two	 private	 armies
represented	 ancient	 fault	 lines	 in	 a	 country	 invented	 by	 the	U.S.,	 Britain,	 and
France	after	the	First	World	War	following	the	collapse	of	the	Ottoman	empire.
Their	potential	for	trouble,	post-Saddam,	went	unnoticed	during	the	planning	of
Operation	 Iraqi	Freedom.	With	 the	conventional	war	officially	over,	 the	 job	of
containing	 the	 activities	 of	 Sunni	 and	 Shi’ite	 terrorism—a	 mirror	 image,	 to
some,	of	the	IRA/Loyalist	war—would	keep	U.S.	and	U.K.	Special	Forces	busy
for	years,	until	final	Western	withdrawal.

The	most	bloodthirsty	guerrilla	leader,	Zarqawi	was	an	acolyte	of	Osama	bin
Laden	who	wanted	to	outdo	his	better-educated	mentor	in	the	politics	of	horror.
Zarqawi’s	triumphs	included	his	beheading,	personally,	of	a	62-year-old	British
civil	 engineer,	 Kenneth	 Bigley,	 and	 Nicholas	 Berg,	 a	 jobless	 26-year-old
American	 from	 West	 Chester,	 Pennsylvania.	 Zarqawi	 deliberately	 engineered
suicide	bomb	attacks	on	civilian	Shia	areas,	 including	shrines	and	mosques,	 in
order	 to	 provoke	 a	 religious	 war	 between	 the	 communities.	 The	 atrocity	 that
finally	marked	the	beginning	of	 the	end	of	his	career,	and	his	 life,	shocked	the
Arab	 world,	 including,	 it	 was	 rumored,	 bin	 Laden.	 On	 the	 evening	 of	 9
November	2005	three	suicide	bomb	attacks	on	separate	hotels	in	Amman,	capital
of	 Jordan,	 killed	 around	 seventy	 people	 including	 guests	 at	 a	 wedding	 party.
Most	of	 the	dead	were	Sunni,	 the	people	Zarqawi	claimed	to	 lead	 in	Iraq.	One
American	was	killed.	A	former	British	SAS	commander,	a	veteran	of	the	French
Foreign	Legion	on	his	way	to	Iraq,	survived	because	he	was	shielded	from	the
blast	 by	 a	 concrete	 pillar	 in	 the	 room	 where	 the	 wedding	 banquet	 bomb
exploded.

From	 this	 point	 on,	 Jordan’s	 intelligence	 service	 joined	 a	 hunt	 already



controlled	 by	 Task	 Force	 145,	 a	 group	 that	 loosely	 covered	 four	 autonomous
Special	 Forces	 teams,	 one	 of	 which,	 Task	 Force	 Black,	 was	 built	 around	 a
British	SAS	squadron	and	support	 forces	from	the	U.K.’s	Parachute	Regiment.
Task	 Force	 West	 had	 as	 its	 core	 the	 SEAL	 unit	 known	 as	 DEV-GRU.	 Task
Force	Central	was	 a	Delta	 squadron	with	Rangers	 as	 backup,	 and	 Task	 Force
North	was	a	Ranger	battalion	attached	to	a	Delta	cadre.	The	driving	force	behind
this	small	empire	was	the	boss	of	Joint	Special	Operations	Command,	Lieutenant
General	 Stan	 McChrystal,	 later	 put	 in	 command	 of	 a	 new	 U.S.	 strategy	 in
Afghanistan.

Prior	 to	 the	Amman	 bombs,	 Task	 Force	 145	 had	 come	 close	 to	 capturing
Zarqawi	several	times.	By	August	2005,	the	team	had	captured	or	killed	200	of
his	most	loyal	fighters.	The	man	himself	proved	almost	as	elusive	as	bin	Laden.
He	 escaped	 one	 ambush	 by	 driving	 at	 speed	 through	 a	 checkpoint	manned	 by
Rangers	 before	 they	 could	 react.	 At	 other	 times	 he	melted	 away	 dressed	 as	 a
woman	or	a	policeman.	In	April	2006,	Zarqawi	released	a	video	that	presented
him	 as	 a	 figure	 as	 charismatic	 as	 bin	 Laden,	 delivered	 with	 all	 the	 flowery
rhetoric—”	Where	 are	 the	 lions	 of	 Anbar?	Where	 are	 the	 lions	 of	 Salah	 ud-
Deen?”	(or	Saladin)—that	comes	with	the	Arabic	language.

Task	Force	145	was	closing	in	on	his	circle.	The	same	day	that	the	video	was
released,	 a	 Special	 Forces	 team	 attacked	 a	 house	 in	 Yusufiyah,	 twenty	 miles
from	 Baghdad,	 killing	 twelve	 of	 Zarqawi’s	 men.	 Zarqawi	 himself	 was	 now
worth	$25	million	to	a	lucky	bounty	hunter.	Helped	by	a	prisoner	picked	up	on
the	 border	 with	 Jordan	 in	 May,	 satellite	 intercepts	 probably	 provided	 by	 the
NSA,	and	a	Predator	drone,	the	hunters	identified	the	chink	in	Zarqawi’s	armour.
This	 was	 his	 spiritual	 adviser,	 Abdul-Rahman.	 Thanks	 to	 the	 Jordanians,	 the
team	had	collateral	for	the	movements	of	people	close	to	their	quarry.	One	was	a
courier	known	as	Mr.	X.	When	both	Rahman	and	X	turned	up	in	a	hamlet	thirty
miles	north	of	Baghdad,	Delta	force	moved	in	for	the	kill.	On	the	evening	of	7
June,	from	the	cover	of	date	and	palm	trees,	 they	watched	as	Zarqawi’s	people
came	and	went	from	the	farmhouse,	where	their	target	was	about	to	share	dinner
with	his	inner	circle,	including	Rahman	and	X.

Using	the	license	given	them	by	McChrystal,	the	team	did	not	seek	clearance
from	higher	authority	for	their	decision	to	kill	Zarqawi	and	anyone	close	to	him.
They	summoned	a	passing	Air	Force	F-16	 to	bomb	the	house.	This	 it	did	with
cool	precision,	with	two	500-pound	bombs	from	20,000	feet.	According	to	one
eyewitness,	Ali	Abbas,	a	local	laborer:	“We	saw	the	bodies	of	two	women	that
had	been	fleeing	away	from	the	blast….	Another	body	was	totally	destroyed	and
in	 pieces.	Then	we	 heard	 a	moan	 coming	 from	 another	 part	 of	 the	 house.	We
found	 the	body	of	 a	big	man,	middle-aged.	There	was	 life	 in	him	still.	 It	 took



seven	of	us	to	move	him	out….	He	just	moaned	over	and	over	again.	He	had	an
injury	 to	 the	 back	 of	 his	 head.”118	 First	 Iraqi	 security	 forces,	 then	 seven	U.S.
helicopters	 descended	 on	 the	 scene.	 It	 seemed	 as	 if	 Zarqawi,	 on	 a	 stretcher,
would	 still	 refuse	 to	 die.	 He	 became	 briefly	 conscious	 and	 recognized	 the
uniforms	looming	over	him.	He	tried	to	roll	off	the	stretcher	as	if	to	make	a	final
escape.	When	he	did	so,	 it	was	 into	 the	next	world.	Next	day,	a	newly	elected
Iraqi	Prime	Minister,	Nouri	al-Maliki,	said	the	$25	million	dollar	reward	would
be	honored.	“We	will	meet	our	promise,”	he	said	enigmatically.	While	Special
Forces	pursued	the	strategy	of	decapitation,	Iraq	descended	steadily	into	growing
chaos	between	2004	and	2007.	Abu	Khalaf,	Zarqawi’s	successor	as	leader	of	the
Sunni	 terrorist	 movement	 (calling	 itself	 “al-Qaeda	 in	 Iraq”),	 commanded	 an
army	of	12,000.	Khalaf	was	killed	by	SF	Task	Force	88,	including	British	SAS,
in	Mosul	on	24	June	2008.

General	David	Petraeus,	installed	as	military	supremo	in	Iraq	during	the	last
year	of	the	Bush	presidency,	adopted	a	classic	Special	Forces	technique,	refined
by	the	British	during	their	war	in	Oman,	1970–1976,	to	turn	the	tide.	He	bought
out	 the	 Sunni	 opposition.	 He	 did	 so	 by	 inventing	 local	 groups	 of	 “concerned
local	 citizens,”	 paying	 them	 and	 giving	 them	 authority	 to	 protect	 their
neighborhoods.	It	is	likely	that	much	of	the	strategy	was	inspired	by	Petraeus’s
SAS	deputy,	 the	Scottish	General	Graeme	Lamb.	 (As	Colonel	Kurt	Pinkerton,
commanding	2/5	Cavalry	Regiment,	said	of	his	experience	in	Baghdad:	“When	I
first	got	here,	a	sheikh	told	me	that	anyone	wearing	my	uniform	deserves	to	be
shot.	 Then	 after	 General	 Lamb	 approached	 community	 leaders	 who	 said	 they
were	 prepared	 to	 do	 something,	 this	 same	 guy	 is	 thanking	 me	 for	 my
persistence.”)

Two	other	factors	were	vital	 if	 this	hearts-and-minds	strategy	was	to	work.
First,	there	was	the	brutality	of	the	self-styled	local	al	Qaeda	against	their	hosts,
alienating	local	people.	Equally	important	was	a	surge	in	military	force,	agreed
to	by	President	Bush	on	10	January	2007,	of	up	to	30,000	more	troops.	Terrorist
car	 bombs,	 averaging	 forty-two	 a	 month	 in	 Baghdad	 in	 the	 summer	 of	 2006,
dropped	 to	 twenty-three	 by	 September	 2007.	 In	Oman,	 the	 British	 had	 armed
their	 recent	 enemy	with	 the	 latest	 self-loading	 rifle.	 In	 Iraq,	 no	weapons	were
handed	out,	 but	 the	men	 signing	up	 to	 join	 the	new	militias,	 sometimes	 called
“Awakening	Councils,”	had	plenty	of	those.	In	the	disordered	economy	of	Iraq,
they	needed	dollars.	At	first,	the	U.S.	taxpayer	provided	each	man	with	$130	to
$300	per	month.	Later,	when	the	Iraq	government	took	over,	the	pay	evaporated,
leaving	the	door	open	to	a	return	by	the	dissidents.

Nevertheless,	 by	 the	 summer	 of	 2009,	 the	 situation	 in	 much	 of	 Iraq	 had
stabilized	 sufficiently	 for	 the	 U.S.	 Army	 to	 withdraw	 street	 patrols	 and	 for



President	Obama	to	propose	an	entire	withdrawal	from	the	country	by	December
2011.	While	the	Iraq	government	presented	this	as	a	victory	over	America,	many
local	people	feared	that	once	the	foreign	soldiers	disappeared,	the	nightmare	of	a
de	facto	civil	war,	accompanied	by	ethnic	cleansing,	would	return.	It	would	be
surprising,	however,	if	agents	from	the	CIA’s	Special	Activities	Division	and	the
U.K.’s	MI6	 did	 not	maintain	 their	 street	 knowledge	 by	 one	means	 or	 another.
The	 U.S.-Iraqi	 agreement	 permitted	 the	 Pentagon	 to	 continue	 unspecified
military	operations,	if	necessary.

In	2007,	well	before	the	end	of	operations	in	Iraq,	General	Barry	McCaffrey,
an	adjunct	professor	at	West	Point,	reported	that	the	SF	elite	there	was	“simply
magic….	Deadly	in	getting	their	target—with	normally	zero	collateral	damage—
and	 with	 minimal	 friendly	 losses	 or	 injuries.	 Some	 of	 these	 assault	 elements
have	 done	 200	 to	 300	 ‘takedown’	 operations	 at	 platoon	 level.	 The
comprehensive	intelligence	system	is	phenomenal.	We	need	to	rethink	how	we
view	 these	 forces.	 They	 are	 a	 national	 strategic	 system	 akin	 to	 a	B1	 [Stealth]
bomber.”

This	was	not	the	whole	picture.	The	Special	Forces	culture	also	included	an
American	 (and	 possibly	 even	 Israeli)	 trained	 Iraqi	 Counterterrorism	Bureau,	 a
stand-alone	entity	distinct	from	Baghdad’s	armed	forces	and	the	police.	By	April
2008	 the	 Iraq	 Special	 Operations	 Force,	 ISOF,	 had	 3,709	 trained	 warriors.
According	to	Shane	Bauer,	an	Arabic-speaking	freelance	journalist	based	in	the
Middle	 East,	 an	 eight-man	 team	 from	 ISOF	 raided	 a	 house	 in	 Sadr	 City,
Baghdad’s	rundown	Shiite	district,	during	a	drive	against	the	Mahdi	Army.	They
smashed	their	way	into	 the	home	of	Hassan	Mahsan,	a	police	officer,	accusing
him	of	terrorist	links.

“The	men	didn’t	move	like	any	Iraqi	forces	he’d	ever	seen.	They	looked	and
spoke	 like	 his	 fellow	 countrymen	 but	 they	 were	 wearing	 American-style
uniforms	 and	 carrying	 American	 weapons	 with	 night-vision	 scopes.	 They
accused	him	of	being	a	commander	in	the	local	militia,	the	Mahdi	Army,	before
they	 dragged	 him	 off,	 telling	 his	wife	 he	was	 ‘finished.’	 But	 before	 they	 left,
they	 identified	 themselves.	 ‘We	 are	 the	 Special	 Forces.	 The	 dirty	 brigade,’
Hassan	recalls	them	saying.”119

There	was	 one	 other	 deeply	 clandestine	 Special	 Forces	 priority	 during	 the
allied	 occupation	 of	 Iraq.	 This	 was	 the	 movement	 of	 enemy	 guerrillas	 and
terrorists	 across	 Iraq’s	 borders	with	 Iran	 and	Syria.	By	 their	 very	 nature,	 such
operations	 are,	 or	 should	 be,	 invisible.	 But	 the	 motivation	 and	 political
architecture	were	present	to	make	such	cross-border	operations	at	least	credible.
For	 a	 start,	many	 of	 the	 Improvised	Explosive	Devices	 used	 to	 kill	 and	maim
American	 and	 British	 soldiers	 on	 Iraqi	 roads	 were	 anything	 but	 improvised.



They	 were	 factory-made	 anti-tank	 missiles,	 probably	 in	 Iran,	 and	 supplied	 to
their	co-religionists	 in	 the	Mahdi	Army.	Interdicting	 those	supplies	would	be	a
natural	 function	 of	 Special	 Forces	 assisted	 by	 the	 CIA’s	 Special	 Activities
Division.

U.S.	 and	 U.K.	 Special	 Forces	 could	 rely	 on	 knowledgeable	 allies	 in	 the
Kurdish	north	of	 Iraq,	 to	 cross	 back	 and	 forth	 across	 Iran’s	 exposed	border	 in
that	area.	On	their	own	account,	Kurdish	guerrillas	belonging	to	the	PJAK	(Party
of	 Free	 Life	 in	 Pakistan)	 clashed	 repeatedly	with	 Iranian	 security	 forces	 from
2004	onward.	Links	with	U.S.	or	U.K.	Special	Forces,	however,	would	need	to
be	more	 than	usually	“black.”	The	Obama	administration	declared	 the	group	a
terrorist	 organization	 in	 2009,	 forbidding	 contact	 between	 PJAK	 and	 U.S.
citizens.	This	was	 in	 line	with	Obama’s	“extended	hand”	policy	 toward	Iran	at
the	time.

When	 132,000	 U.S.	 soldiers	 were	 withdrawn	 from	 the	 crowded,	 jostling
streets	of	 the	country’s	urban	areas	on	30	June	2009,	 the	Baghdad	government
declared	 a	 national	 holiday	 to	 celebrate	 a	 great	 victory,	 but	 feelings	 about	 the
transfer	 of	 security	 were	 mixed	 on	 both	 sides.	 A	 total	 of	 4,321	 American
soldiers,	179	Brits,	and	many	thousands	of	Iraqis	were	dead.	The	fault	 lines	of
Iraq’s	 disordered	 social	 architecture	 splintered	 into	 four	 separate,	 polarized
entities	 subdivided	 into	 clan	 loyalties	 and	 criminal	 fraternities,	 all	 driven	 by
anger	 and	 fear.	 More	 blood	 flowed.	 During	 the	 last	 ten	 days	 of	 Coalition
presence	 on	 the	 streets,	 more	 than	 250	 people,	 most	 of	 them	 civilians,	 were
murdered	 by	 terrorists.	 By	October	 2009,	 the	 insurgency	was	 still	 killing	 300
people	each	month,	a	reduction	of	90	per	cent	on	the	previous	year.	But	on	the
countdown	to	Iraq’s	election	in	2010,	the	bombers	were	back.	A	truck	and	a	car
carrying	bombs	were	driven	undetected	through	a	series	of	checkpoints	manned
by	Iraqi	security	forces	to	kill	155	people,	injure	another	500,	and	destroy	three
government	buildings	in	the	capital.

The	 U.S.	 withdrawal	 from	 the	 streets	 of	 Iraq	 was	 far	 from	 being	 as
ignominious	as	the	last	helicopter	out	of	Saigon,	or	the	British	surrender	to	the
militias	 at	Basra,	or	 the	British	 retreat	 from	Palestine.	 Indeed,	 after	 the	double
bomb	attack	 in	Baghdad	on	25	October,	 the	question	 in	many	Iraqi	minds	was
whether	it	was	a	good	idea	to	say	farewell	to	American	protection.	A	majority	of
Iraqis	 were	 more	 than	 satisfied	 with	 Pax	 Americana.	 They	 now	 wanted	 it	 to
work.	As	one	close	observer	 in	Baghdad	noted,	 the	more	violent	 Iraq	became,
the	harder	it	would	be	to	justify	a	full	U.S.	withdrawal	in	2011.

If	regular,	conventional	U.S.	soldiers	were	not	to	return	to	restore	order	and
hold	 the	 line	 for	 an	 indefinite	 period,	 then	 the	 obvious	 Special	 Operations
remedy	 would	 be	 Iraq’s	 own,	 U.S.-trained	 Special	 Forces	 supported	 by



American	 intelligence	 to	 arrange—who	 knows?—a	 return	 to	 the	 Phoenix
Program?	After	extraordinary	rendition,	Abu	Ghraib,	and	Guantanamo,	it	would
probably	 be	 a	 step	 too	 far	 for	most	Americans,	 and	 their	 friends,	 to	 accept.	 It
would	assuredly	need	 to	be	more	scientific,	more	accurate,	and	more	plausibly
deniable	than	America’s	earlier	assassination	agendas.	The	name	of	Fidel	Castro
comes	 to	 mind.	 History	 looms	 like	 Nemesis	 over	 such	 notions.	 During	 the
Algerian	 War	 of	 the	 1950s,	 the	 French	 Foreign	 Legion	 achieved	 a	 military
victory	over	 terrorism	 in	Algiers	 by	 torturing	 terrorists.	The	French	Army	 lost
their	war	politically	and	morally,	back	home	in	Paris,	when	the	news	got	out,	as
it	usually	does.



CHAPTER	4

CLOAK-AND-DAGGER	DONS	THE	GREEN	BERET

The	 story	 of	 America’s	 thirty-year	 military	 campaign	 in	 Afghanistan,	 led	 by
Special	 Forces	 and	 the	 CIA,	 has	 been	 one	 of	 expediency	 camouflaged	 as
strategy,	from	the	destabilization	of	a	Soviet	client	ruler	and	arming	mujahideen
guerrillas	 in	 the	 1970s	 so	 as	 to	 draw	 the	 Russians	 into	 “their	 own	 Vietnam”
(Zbigniew	 Brzezinksi)	 to	 the	 mutating	 strategies—none	 convincing	 as	 yet—
addressing	the	Islamist	threat;	from	the	moral	certainties	of	Charlie	Wilson’s	war
against	 the	 Soviets	 to	 the	 carefully	 limited	 commitment	 of	 President	 Obama;
from	eight	wasted	years	of	military	 inconsistency	after	2001,	 to	 the	 search	 for
political	legitimacy	in	Kabul	thereafter;	from	the	canonization	of	Hamid	Karzai
(“a	 future	 national	 leader	 who	 could	 unite	 the	 disparate	 ethnic	 factions,”
according	 to	 General	 Tommy	 Franks)	 to	 Karzai’s	 diminished	 status	 as	 just
another	mediocre	 politician;	 from	 the	 spread	of	 drug	dependency	 as	 a	weapon
against	Russian	soldiers	 to	 the	demonization	of	poppy	barons	now	placed	on	a
U.S.	 death	 list…the	 meandering	 policies	 continued	 as	 American	 casualties
mounted.

By	2014,	according	to	one	expert	analysis	by	Deloitte,	the	figure	could	reach
5,400	 including	927	killed,	but	not	 including	300,000	military	victims	of	post-
traumatic	stress	disorder	among	veterans	of	this	conflict	if—and	it	was	a	big	if—
American	boots	were	still	on	Afghan	soil	by	2014.	By	way	of	comparison,	 the
Red	Army	during	its	nine-year	occupation	lost	14,427	men	killed	augmented	by
576	KGB	dead.	The	financial	cost	of	the	war	to	the	U.S.,	by	the	fall	of	2009,	was
running	at	$3.6	billion	per	month.

It	 did	 not	 have	 to	 be	 like	 this.	 In	 2001,	 following	 the	 9/11	 assault	 on
America,	an	initiative	led	by	a	handful	of	Green	Beret	Special	Forces	and	CIA
operators	 gave	 the	 West	 effective	 control	 of	 Afghanistan.	 But	 then,	 in	 an
exercise	 of	 monumental	 hubris	 immortalized	 by	 the	 phrase	 “Mission
Accomplished!”	America	 and	Britain	 turned	 their	 attention	 away	 from	 nation-
building	 in	 Afghanistan	 and	 their	 guns	 on	 Iraq.	 When	 Obama	 took	 office	 in
January	2009,	as	he	points	out,	“We	had	just	over	32,000	Americans	serving	in
Afghanistan,	 compared	 to	 160,000	 in	 Iraq	 at	 the	 peak	 of	 the	war.”	Along	 the



way,	much	of	Pakistan	was	also	radicalized	in	the	madrassas	of	Quetta.	Benazir
Bhutto	was	assassinated	and	her	country	plunged	into	its	own	dark	night	of	the
soul.	 Secret	 contingency	 plans	 were	 made	 in	 the	 Pentagon	 to	 deal	 with
Pakistan’s	nuclear	arsenal,	should	that	be	compromised.

In	“Af-Pak,”	a	shorthand	name	for	 this	now-complex	geopolitical	problem,
the	war	could	not	be	won	by	military	means	alone.	Nor	could	it	be	won	without
military	 muscle.	 Militarily,	 Obama	 switched	 budget	 priorities	 and	 military
command	 toward	Special	 Forces.	 Politically,	 he	 banged	 together	 two	 heads	 of
state:	Afghanistan’s	 fleet-footed,	sinuous	Hamid	Karzai	and	Pakistan’s	money-
grubbing	 Asif	 Ali	 (“Mr	 Ten	 Per	 Cent”)	 Zardari,	 in	 an	 effort	 to	 plug	 the	 gap
through	which	Taliban	and	al	Qaeda	warriors	were	able	to	attack	Western	forces
and	then	back	off,	with	impunity,	to	fight	another	day.	A	medallion	of	generals
on	both	sides	of	the	Atlantic	lined	up	to	declare	that	the	war	was	not	being	won
and,	possibly,	might	never	be.	It	could	be	that	the	West	might	have	to	think	the
unthinkable	and	settle	for	what	a	British	minister	(Reginald	Maudling)	proposed
during	 the	 thirty-year	 Irish	 insurgency:	 “A	 tolerable	 level	 of	 violence.”	 In	 that
case,	it	might	succeed	in	keeping	Islamist	terror	on	the	back	foot	until,	 like	the
Provisional	 IRA,	 this	 enemy	 also	 tired	 of	 an	 unwinnable	 war	 of	 attrition	 and
settled	for	the	best	deal	it	could	get.

The	 new	 strategy,	 placing	 imaginative,	 lateral	 thinking	 at	 the	 heart	 of
military	policy,	was	most	dramatically	expressed	with	the	removal	from	office	of
America’s	 military	 commander	 in	 Afghanistan,	 General	 David	McKiernan,	 in
May	 2009.	 McKiernan,	 a	 distinguished	 soldier	 with	 a	 background	 in
conventional	warfare,	was	replaced	by	Lieutenant	General	Stanley	McChrystal,
a	 Special	 Forces	 veteran	 with	 a	 proven	 track	 record	 in	 Iraq.	 The	 new
administration	 introduced	a	political	 rottweiler	 into	 the	diplomatic	arena	 in	 the
form	 of	 Richard	 Holbrooke.	 During	 the	 Balkan	 wars	 in	 1995,	 Holbrooke
revealed	how	the	Serb	army	was	defeated	by	the	Croats,	with	American	help.	He
said:	“We	hired	these	guys	[the	Croats]	to	be	our	junkyard	dogs	because	we	were
desperate.	We	need	 to	 ‘control’	 them.	But	 this	 is	 no	 time	 to	 get	 squeamish….
That	is	essential	for	us	to	get	stability,	sowe	can	get	out.”120

The	reconstruction	of	all	U.S.	Special	Forces	 including	those	controlled	by
the	Pentagon	following	9/11	rolled	through	the	defense	budget	before	and	after
Obama’s	 inauguration.	 As	 Obama	 pointed	 out	 in	 his	West	 Point	 speech	 of	 2
December	 2009:	 “By	 the	 time	 I	 took	 office	 the	 cost	 of	 the	 wars	 in	 Iraq	 and
Afghanistan	approached	a	 trillion	dollars.	Our	new	approach	 in	Afghanistan	 is
likely	 to	 cost	 us	 roughly	 $30	 billion	 for	 the	 military	 this	 year.”	 Special
Operations	Forces,	once	the	little	brother	of	U.S.	defense,	had	already	emerged
as	 the	 main	 actor	 in	 a	 new,	 asymmetric	 style	 of	 conflict	 demanding	 a



realignment	of	planning	priorities	and	budgets.	 In	November	2007,	Michael	G.
Vickers,	 a	 former	Green	Beret	NCO	and	CIA	paramilitary	officer	who	 rose	 to
become	 Special	 Forces	 supremo	 under	 President	 Bush,	 revealed	 that	 funds
allocated	 to	Special	Operations	Command	had	doubled	 to	 $6	billion	 for	 2008,
while	 its	 strength	 was	 to	 increase	 from	 54,000	 to	 67,000	 by	 2011.121	 Todd
Harrison,	an	expert	on	military	budgets,	confirmed	in	May	2009	that	the	winners
in	President	Obama’s	$534	billion	core	defense	budget	for	FY	2010	“are	Special
Forces	and	programs	that	are	designed	to	help	fight	irregular	wars.”	Marching	in
step,	 the	U.K.’s	Defence	Minister	 announced	 that	 “the	next	decade	must	 see	a
major	rebalancing	of	our	armed	forces	toward	Special	Forces	in	response	to	the
new	 threats.”	 Britain	 and	 America,	 he	 said,	 were	 conducting	 an	 urgent	 joint
analysis	to	identify	how	their	armed	forces	could	best	work	together.122

Even	 before	 Obama	 took	 office,	 in	 spite	 of	 anxieties	 about	 constitutional
niceties,	 the	 clear	 separation	 of	 duties,	 roles,	 and	 powers	 between	 the	 CIA’s
front	 line	Special	Activities	Division	and	 the	Special	Forces	of	 the	U.S.	Navy,
Marines,	Army,	and	Air	Force	was	 largely	eradicated	by	 the	brutal	 realities	of
GWOT,	 the	Global	War	On	 Terror.	Which	 element	within	 the	USA—CIA	 or
military	Special	Operations	Command	(SOCOM),	an	entity	independent	of	other
services—would	ultimately	dominate	 the	 irregular	warfare	empire	was	unclear.
The	rivalry	continues.	In	2004,	the	main	arm	of	the	Army’s	Special	Force	team,
the	Green	Berets,	claimed	that	it	could	do	better	than	the	CIA	in	running	agents
in	 contested	 areas.	 At	 Fort	 Lewis,	 near	 Tacoma,	 it	 opened	 an	 advanced
intelligence	 course	 resembling	 the	 CIA’s	 Camp	 Peary	 (“The	 Farm”)	 near
Williamsburg,	VA.	The	 thinking	 blades	 of	 the	Agency,	 an	 organization	which
recruits,	 almost	 exclusively,	 university	 graduates,	 were	 also	 looking	 at	 the
options	 when,	 in	 2005,	 following	 the	 intelligence	 failures	 preceding	 the	 Iraq
War,	a	shiny	new	organism	emerged	to	coordinate	clandestine	activities	and,	in
effect,	swallow	up	the	Agency’s	entire	Directorate	of	Operations.	This	included
the	 agent-running	 and	 covert	 warfare	 Special	 Activities	 Division	 and	 its	 sub-
unit,	the	paramilitary	Special	Operations	Group,	a	child	of	the	Vietnam	conflict.
The	new	organism	was	called	the	National	Clandestine	Service.

In	 a	 press	 release,	 Intelligence	 supremo	 John	D.	Negroponte	 and	 the	CIA
Director,	Porter	J.	Goss,	said	that	the	takeover	“reflects	the	thinking	of	some	the
most	seasoned	veterans	in	human	intelligence	collection,	men	and	women	with
decades	 of	 experience	 in	 the	 field.”	 It	 also	 “represents	 a	 grant	 of	 trust	 and	 an
expression	 of	 confidence	 in	 CIA	 from	 the	 President,	 the	 Director	 of	 National
Intelligence	 (Negroponte)	 and	 our	 partners	 throughout	 government.”123	 The
statement	made	much	of	 coordinated	Humint	 operations.	 It	 said	 nothing	 about



the	covert	warfighting	activities	of	the	Agency’s	Special	Activities	Division.
The	 de	 facto	 coalition	 of	Army/Agency	 guerrillas	 had	 not	 gone	 unnoticed

elsewhere.	In	2002	a	U.S.	Army	lawyer,	Colonel	Kathryn	Stone,	was	working	on
an	analysis	of	 the	 implications	of	 “employing	CIA	operatives	 in	 a	warfighting
role	 alongside	Special	Operations	Forces.”124	Taking	9/11/2001	as	her	 starting
point,	 she	 noted	 that	 President	Bush,	 backed	by	Congress,	 ordered	 the	CIA	 to
“use	all	necessary	means”	to	destroy	Osama	bin	Laden	and	al	Qaeda.	The	focus
of	 U.S.	 paramilitary	 operations	 at	 this	 time	 was	 Afghanistan,	 identified	 as	 al
Qaeda’s	 training	 ground.	The	 distraction	 of	 Iraq	 did	 not	 occur	 until	 two	 years
later.

Stone	correctly	asserts	that	a	small	number	of	CIA	operators	had	been	on	the
ground	in	Afghanistan	since	September	1999,	supporting	anti-Taliban	warlords
in	the	Northern	Alliance	such	as	the	Afghan-Uzbek	Abdul	Rashid	Dostum,	in	a
non-combat	 role.	 The	 pioneers	 included	 a	 former	 Marine	 captain	 and	 CIA
operator	named	Johnny	(Mike)	Spann.	A	handsome,	boyish	all-American	hero,
he	 was	 destined	 to	 be	 the	 first	 American	 to	 die	 after	 the	 U.S.	 intervention	 in
Afghanistan	in	2001.	Before	9/11,	the	assistance	Spann	and	his	colleague	Dave
Tyson	could	offer	 to	 their	 local	allies	usually	amounted	 to	 intelligence	derived
from	 America’s	 satellite	 and	 electronic	 spy	 systems,	 tactical	 advice,	 better
communications,	and	money.

In	practice,	 the	Agency	had	been	covertly	fishing	 in	 the	 troubled	waters	of
the	 region	 for	much	 longer,	 certainly	 for	months	before	 the	Soviet	 invasion	of
Afghanistan	 in	December	 1979.	The	CIA’s	most	 experienced	 field	 operator	 in
Afghanistan,	Gary	C.	Schroen,	had	been	involved	in	that	country’s	affairs	since
1978.125	 By	 30	 March	 1979	 Under	 Secretary	 of	 Defense	 Walter	 Slocombe,
thinking	aloud	at	a	meeting	of	the	National	Security	Council,	wondered	whether
“there	 is	 value	 in	 keeping	 the	 Afghan	 insurgency	 going,	 ‘sucking	 the	 Soviets
into	 a	Vietnamese	quagmire.’”126	On	3	 July	 that	year,	President	 Jimmy	Carter
ordered	the	CIA	to	start	secret	operations	to	undermine	Russia’s	puppet	regime
in	 Kabul.	 Zbigniew	 Brzezinksi,	 Carter’s	 National	 Security	 Adviser,	 in	 an
interview	with	 a	French	 journal,	 later	 revealed	 that	Carter’s	 strategic	objective
was	“to	draw	the	Soviets	 into	 the	Afghan	trap….	Their	own	Vietnam	War.”127
The	 chief	 strategist	 for	 this	 indirect	 war	 on	 Russia	 was	 probably	Michael	 G.
Vickers.

On	behalf	of	America,	British	SF	teams,	 including	members	of	 the	Special
Boat	Squadron	(Royal	Marine	Commandos,	the	U.K.’s	SEALs)	and	deniable	ex-
SAS	men	working	for	a	military	company	known	as	KMS	were	covertly	training
friendly	mujahideen	 from	1979.	 In	1982,	 twenty	potential	 leaders	among	 these



guerrillas,	members	of	Ahmed	Shah	Masood’s	Northern	Alliance,	were	 trained
by	 the	 SAS	 at	 privately	 owned	 estates	 in	Britain	 and	Oman.	One	 of	 the	most
successful	British	operators	in	this	deniable	campaign	was	Richard	Adamson,	an
SBS	 instructor	at	 the	U.K.’s	Commando	Training	Centre,	posted	 to	 Iran	 in	 the
early	1970s	 to	 set	up	a	 commando	 school	 for	 the	Shah’s	government.	For	 this
assignment	he	learned	Farsi,	then	Pashto.	When	the	Shah	was	overthrown	1979,
Adamson	escaped	from	Iran	and	was	chosen	by	Prime	Minister	Thatcher	to	join
an	 undercover	 team	 in	 Afghanistan	 training	 mujahideen	 to	 fire	 U.S.	 Stinger
missiles.	Working	subsequently	for	a	private	military	company,	he	was	a	hostage
in	 Somalia,	 survived	 that,	 and	 returned	 to	 Kabul	 after	 the	 overthrow	 of	 the
Taliban	in	2001.	He	was	murdered	by	gangsters	in	Kabul	in	2007.

Limited	by	the	doctrine	of	plausible	deniability	in	the	early	eighties,	the	CIA
increasingly	 turned	 to	British	Special	Forces	veterans.	 In	London	 in	1982,	 two
SAS	 veterans	 were	 invited	 to	 meet	 a	 team	 from	 the	 Agency,	 which	 wanted
unattributable	 advice:	 a	 battle	 plan	 for	 an	 attack	 on	 a	 Soviet	 air	 base	 in
Afghanistan.	The	Brits,	one	of	whom	was	a	long-serving	sergeant-major	named
Ken	Connor,	studied	reconnaissance	photographs	of	24	MiG-21	aircraft,	parked
in	 a	 line.	 They	 wrote	 a	 detailed	 plan	 of	 action	 itemizing	 untraceable	 plastic
explosive,	 weight	 to	 carry,	 time	 to	 target,	 entry	 and	 exit	 methods,	 and	 force
requirements.	A	month	later,	the	CIA	team	contacted	Connor	again	and	showed
him	photographs	of	the	same	air	strip.	The	MiGs	were	still	there,	but	their	backs
had	been	broken	as	if	a	scimitar	had	sliced	through	them.128

In	July	1983,	working	on	behalf	of	the	Defense	Intelligence	Agency,	a	five-
man	 British	 team	 infiltrated	Afghanistan	 from	 Peshawar.	 Their	 controller	 was
the	 British	 Secret	 Intelligence	 Service	 head	 of	 station	 on	 the	 Pakistan	 border.
Unwisely,	they	carried	electronic	eavesdropping	equipment	supplied	by	the	U.S.
National	 Security	 Agency,	 NSA.	 They	 had	 been	 operating	 for	 three	 months
when	they	were	detected	and	hunted	down.	Radio	Kabul	identified	them	by	their
noms-de-guerre	 as	 Stuart	 Bodman,	 who	 was	 shot	 dead	 during	 the	 pursuit,
Roderick	Macginnis,	 Stephen	 Elwick,	 and	 three	 others	 known	 only	 as	 “Tim,”
“Chris,”	and	“Phil.”	Their	fate	remains	unknown.	The	U.K.	government	denied
all	knowledge	of	the	team,	who	carried	false	passports.

From	 the	 mid-eighties,	 U.S.	 Green	 Beret	 soldiers	 were	 cleared	 to	 enter
Afghanistan.	They	 spent	 seven	months	 there	 on	 a	CIA-led	mission.	 Following
9/11	 and	 Bush’s	 declaration	 to	 use	 all	 necessary	 means,	 CIA	 paramilitary
operators	 entered	 Afghanistan	 on	 26	 September	 2001	 ahead	 of	 the	 Army’s
Special	 Operations	 Forces	 teams.	 They	 included	 Gary	 C.	 Schroen,	 the	 CIA’s
most	 experienced	Afghanistan	 hand.	 During	 the	 anti-Soviet	 campaign,	 he	 had
gone	alone	into	the	country,	carrying	bags	full	of	dollars	to	encourage	resistance



leaders	and	warlords	to	participate	in	the	West’s	version	of	jihad.	They	included
Ahmed	 Shah	 Masood.	 Two	 days	 before	 9/11,	 Masood	 was	 assassinated	 by
agents	of	Osama	bin	Laden.	Schroen	had	known	Masood	well.	The	CIA	veteran
was	 now	 expected	 to	 establish	 working	 relations,	 neglected	 after	 the	 Soviet
withdrawal	in	February	1989,	with	Masood’s	successors.

Aged	59,	deferring	his	retirement,	Schroen	was	accompanied	by	seven	other
CIA	 veterans	 including,	 according	 to	 some	 sources,	 the	 redoubtable	 Billy
Waugh,	 a	 soldier	 from	 1948	 until	 1972	 and	member	 of	 the	Agency’s	 Special
Activities	Division	from	1962.	In	September	2001,	Waugh	was	aged	71	and	still
battle-fit.	The	team’s	orders	included	the	instruction:	“Your	job	is	to	capture	bin
Laden,	kill	him	and	bring	his	head	back	in	a	box	full	of	dry	ice.”129	For	some	of
them,	 it	was	 their	most	dangerous	assignment.	They	updated	 their	wills	before
they	set	off.

Schroen	flew	into	Afghanistan	in	a	Russian-made	helicopter,	carrying	a	war
chest	of	$3	million	to	encourage	leaders	of	the	Northern	Alliance	to	join	the	hunt
for	bin	Laden.	It	required	energetic	diplomacy.	Three	weeks	later,	the	first	joint
CIA/SF	operations	in	Afghanistan	got	off	to	a	mixed	start.	In	the	early	hours	of
20	 October	 2001,	 a	 Special	 Forces	 Operational	 Detachment	 Alpha	 Team—
codenamed	555	and	therefore	nicknamed	“Triple	Nickel,”	led	by	Chief	Warrant
Officer	David	Diaz—landed	somewhere	in	the	Panshir	Valley.	Two	helicopters
carried	 the	 eleven-man	 group	 and	 a	 heavy	 load	 of	 equipment	 including	 laser
designators	 to	direct	missiles	onto	 targets.	Each	designator	weighed	around	90
pounds.	Though	Schroen’s	people	had	 carefully	marked	 the	 landing	 zone	with
lights	 that	 should	 have	 been	 identifiable	 even	 without	 the	 aid	 of	 night-vision
goggles,	placed	at	coordinates	known	to	the	pilots,	both	helicopters	landed	in	the
wrong	place.	The	Alpha	team,	burdened	with	up	to	300	pounds	of	equipment	per
man,	exited	the	choppers	and	went	to	ground.

Diaz,	 spotting	 flashlights	 moving	 toward	 their	 impromptu	 landing	 zone,
moved	forward	alone,	machine	gun	ready.	As	the	Washington	Post’s	Dana	Priest
later	recounted,130	Diaz	told	his	men:	“I’m	going	to	try	to	talk	to	these	guys.	If	I
hit	 the	 ground	 I	 expect	 you	 guys	 to	 start	 shooting.”	 The	 leader	 of	 the	 group
coming	toward	them	was	“a	monster	of	a	man.”	He	stretched	out	a	welcoming
hand	 to	 Diaz	 and	 his	 unquestionably	 American	 voice	 boomed:	 “Hi!	 I’m	 Hal.
Damn	glad	to	meet	you!”	Hal	was	also	known	as	Murray.	A	former	SEAL,	he
was	now	a	 freelance	working	on	contract	 for	 the	CIA,	having	 resigned	from	it
earlier	 in	 his	 career.	 In	 another	 context,	 Diaz	 might	 have	 joked,	 “Dr.
Livingstone,	I	presume?”	The	encounter	in	Afghanistan	marked	the	symbiosis	of
CIA	and	Special	Forces	as	a	new	warfighting	organism	that	nevertheless	shared



some	 common	 features	 with	 the	 MAC/SOG	 (Military	 Assistance	 Command
Special	Operations	Group)	of	Vietnam	days.

After	a	slow	start	due	to	political	maneuvers	in	Washington	and	Islamabad
to	hobble	 the	anti-Taliban	Northern	Alliance,	 the	 first	 twelve	of	a	Green	Beret
“Alpha”	 team,	having	 landed	by	helicopter,	had	 to	 ride	on	horseback	 for	eight
hours	 to	 link	 up	 with	 General	 Abdul	 Rashid	 Dostum.	 With	 them	 went	 two
operators	from	the	U.S.	Air	Force’s	own	commandos,	the	Special	Tactics	team.
Only	 two	 of	 the	 party	 had	 ridden	 a	 horse	 prior	 to	 their	 introduction	 to
Afghanistan.	 The	 combined	 CIA/SF	 teams	 called	 in	 U.S.	 airstrikes	 against
closely	 packed	 formations	 of	 Taliban	 tanks	 and	 artillery.	 They	 also	 secured
helicopter	landing	grounds	for	Green	Beret	Special	Forces	and	acted	as	guides	to
the	 newcomers,	 “who	 arrived	 with	 their	 arsenal	 of	 laser	 target	 designators	 to
enable	U.S.	aircraft	to	strike	[more	accurately]	Taliban	positions.”131	During	the
following	forty-nine	days,	a	mere	316	SF	soldiers	with	three	CIA	teams,	and	a
handful	of	Air	Force	air	controllers	with	godlike	powers	to	call	down	fires	from
heaven,	 turned	 the	 tide	 in	Afghanistan.	Taliban	 forces	 retreated	 from	 their	 last
redoubt,	 the	 southern	 city	 of	 Kandahar,	 before	 the	 Northern	 Alliance	 on	 6
December.

Behind	 this	dramatic	victory,	 a	massive	 logistical	 exercise	had	 taken	place
controlled	 by	 General	 Tommy	 Franks	 at	 U.S.	 Central	 Command	 and	 closely
monitored	by	Defense	Secretary	Donald	Rumsfeld.	It	involved	40,000	men	and
women,	393	aircraft,	and	thirty-two	ships	coordinated	with	the	help	of	thirty-one
nations.	Alongside	attacks	on	suspected	al	Qaeda	bases	with	Tomahawk	cruise
missiles,	200	men	 from	75th	Ranger	Regiment	parachuted	onto	a	high-altitude
drop	zone	to	secure	it	for	a	force	of	incoming	Marines.

But	as	U.S.	policy	became	obsessed	by	Iraq—by	 its	mirage	of	weapons	of
mass	destruction,	 the	refined	cruelty	of	Saddam	Hussein’s	regime,	and	the	lure
of	cheap	oil—the	early	victory	in	Afghanistan	was	foregone.	America’s	mistake
in	 walking	 away	 from	 the	 Afghanistan	 power	 vacuum	 after	 the	 Soviet
withdrawal	 in	 1991	 was	 repeated	 in	 2003.	 Little	 by	 little,	 like	 the	 ragged-
trousered	 army	 of	 the	 Vietcong,	 the	 Taliban	 returned.	 It	 also	 mutated	 from	 a
vulnerable	 force	 equipped	with	 tanks	 and	 artillery	 into	 a	 world-class	 guerrilla
army.

The	initial	U.S.	operations,	successful	as	they	were	militarily,	converted	CIA
paramilitaries	 into	 de	 facto	 fighting	 soldiers,	 at	 times	 embedded	 with	 regular
army	formations	in	the	Global	War	on	Terror.	Colonel	Kathryn	Stone	concluded:
“The	 full	 spectrum	 dominance	 bought	 with	 this	 CIA-SOF	 integration	 of
warfighting	 capabilities	 has	 produced	 a	 new,	 successful	 battlefield	 synergy.
Improving	 the	 ways	 of	 warfighting	 by	 integrating	 all	 means	 has	 not	 only



succeeded,	 but	 that	 has	 transformed	 the	 traditional	 view	on	 the	 prosecution	 of
armed	conflict.”132

But,	 as	 a	 judge	 advocate	who	believes	 that	 the	 rule	 of	 law	and	defense	of
America	are	synonymous,	she	offered	a	warning	 that	 the	synergy	of	plausibly-
deniable	CIA	methods	and	more	lawfully	accountable	Army	strategies	could	go
badly	wrong	 if	 the	 process	 were	 not	 handled	 carefully.	 She	 had	 a	 point.	 CIA
operators,	if	taken	prisoner,	are	deniable	by	their	government	and	pay	the	price.
Special	 Forces	 soldiers	 enjoy	 at	 least	 the	 fig-leaf	 of	 the	Geneva	 Conventions.
The	 problem	 with	 this	 impeccable	 logic,	 however,	 is	 that	 special	 operations,
usually	 beyond	 the	 front	 line,	 are	 often	 unstable	 and	 not	 easily	 resolved	 by
reference	 to	 the	 classic	 risk-versus-gain	 equation	 of	 intelligence-gathering
theory.	Luck,	for	which	there	is	no	legal	remedy	or	reward,	often	plays	a	major
part	 in	 the	 outcome.	 The	 death	 of	 the	 CIA	 field	 officer	 Mike	 Spann	 on	 25
November	 2001,	 less	 than	 a	month	 after	 the	 first	U.S.	 fighting	 unit	went	 into
action,	illustrates	the	point.

Dostum	 had	 corralled	 hundreds	 of	 Taliban	 prisoners	 in	 the	 courtyard	 of	 a
19th	century	fort	north	of	Mazar-I-Sharif.	The	prisoners	had	not	been	searched
and	 Dostum’s	 men	 in	 control	 of	 the	 fort	 were	 apparently	 unaware	 that	 the
cellars,	 accessible	 to	 the	 prisoners,	 concealed	 an	 armory	 of	 thousands	 of
automatic	 rifles.	 Spann	 and	 Tyson	 had	 heard	 that	 the	 prisoners	 included	 an
exotic	 individual	who	 spoke	 excellent	English.	Armed	with	Kalashnikov	 rifles
and	pistols,	 they	went	 into	 the	courtyard	 to	 find	 the	 foreigner.	The	man	was	a
bearded	 Caucasian	 with	 black	 shoulder-length	 hair.	 He	 resembled	 the	 mass
murderer	Charles	Manson.	His	local	name,	a	nom	de	guerre,	was	Abdul	Hamid.
Spann	noted	that	the	suspect	was	wearing	a	British	army	sweater.	In	this	part	of
the	world,	 the	 garment	might	 just	 have	 been	worn,	 at	 some	 time,	 by	 a	British
Special	Forces	operator.	In	the	fort	that	day,	it	was	a	sinister	souvenir.

Spann	 repeatedly	asked	 the	man:	“Where	are	you	 from?	Who	brought	you
here?”	 “Hamid”	 blanked	 him.	 Spann	 snapped	 his	 fingers	 in	 front	 of	 the
prisoner’s	 face.	 “Hey!	 Wake	 up!”	 Still	 the	 man	 said	 nothing.	 The	 CIA	 men
conferred,	 then	 explained	 their	 deal	 to	 the	 prisoner,	 who	 was	 subsequently
identified	 as	 a	 twenty-year-old	Californian.	 Ironically,	 having	 espoused	 a	 faith
that	rejects	alcohol,	the	prisoner	shared	his	original,	American	name	with	that	of
a	well	 known	 brand	 of	 Scotch	whisky.	Once	 upon	 a	 time,	 “Hamid”	 had	 been
“Johnny	Walker.”	His	second	surname	was	Lindh.

“I	explained	to	the	guy	we	just	want	to	talk	to	him,	find	out	what	his	story
is,”	Spann	told	his	comrade	Tyson	in	a	stage	whisper	directed	at	 the	prisoner’s
ears.	“He’s	got	to	decide	if	he	wants	to	live	or	die	and	die	here….	He’s	going	to



fucking	sit	in	prison	the	rest	of	his	fucking	short	life.	It’s	his	decision,	man.”133
Still	 Hamid/Walker	 Lindh	 said	 nothing.	 A	 necessarily	 short,	 tactical
interrogation	ended	there.	Walker	rejoined	the	other	prisoners.	A	very	short	time
after	 that,	 a	burst	of	 automatic	 fire	 inside	 the	compound	 triggered	a	gun	battle
that	was	to	last	three	days.	One	of	the	first	to	die	was	Spann.

Tyson	 shot	 his	 way	 out	 of	 the	 compound	 and	 summoned	 reinforcements.
Soon,	 the	courtyard	became	an	abattoir	 as	 a	C-130	gunship	arrived	and	 rained
down	lead.	On	the	ground,	reinforcements	included	a	team	of	six	British	Special
Boat	 Service	 commandos.	 They	 joined	 other	 guards	 on	 the	 high	 wall
surrounding	the	courtyard	and	blazed	away	with	machine	guns.	Someone	called
for	close	air	support.	A	guided	bomb	exploded	on	 the	position	from	which	 the
call	was	made,	killing	several	of	Dostum’s	men.	It	was	not	the	first,	or	last,	own-
goal	 of	 this	 sort	 in	 Afghanistan.	 As	 the	 battle	 drew	 to	 its	 end,	 a	 handful	 of
Taliban	fighters	retreated	to	the	cellars.	Dostum	flooded	the	place	to	flush	them
out.	Around	eighty	recaptured	prisoners	included	John	Walker	Lindh.	Later,	he
entered	a	plea	bargain	in	the	U.S.	and	received	a	twenty-year	prison	sentence.

The	victory	lost	through	neglect	was	not	foreseen	when	the	new,	combined
CIA/Green	 Beret	 units—initially	 seventy-eight	 men	 operating	 from	 Bagram
airfield—repeatedly	 directed	 deadly	 air	 strikes	 on	 Taliban	 positions.	 Victory-
into-defeat	 might	 have	 been	 anticipated	 had	 successive	 U.S.	 administrations
identified	the	source	of	its	troubles	as	a	philosophy—Islamist	fundamentalism—
rather	than	its	messenger,	Osama	bin	Laden.	Yet	the	CIA	had	itself	used	the	idea
of	 Islam	 (or	 a	 version	 of	 it)	 as	 a	 psychological	weapon.	 In	 the	mid-1980s	 the
Agency,	 in	alliance	with	Pakistan’s	 Inter-Service	 Intelligence	Directorate	 (ISI),
had	stoked	the	theocratic	fires	in	Afghanistan	and	neighboring	Soviet	republics
such	 as	 Uzbekistan.	 The	 CIA	 translated	 the	 Koran	 into	 local	 languages	 and
printed	 thousands	 of	 copies	 that	were	 smuggled	 into	 the	 region	 as	 part	 of	 the
ongoing	 Cold	 War.134	 British	 Prime	 Minister	 Margaret	 Thatcher,	 on	 a	 high-
profile	 visit	 to	 the	 border	 between	 Pakistan	 and	 Afghanistan,	 was	 also	 on-
message.	 She	 reminded	Afghan	 refugees:	 “You	 left	 your	 country	 because	 you
refused	 to	 live	 under	 a	 godless	 Communist	 system	which	 is	 trying	 to	 destroy
your	religion	and	your	independence.”

Soon	after	the	prisoners’	revolt	in	the	fort	compound	at	Mazar-I-Sharif,	there
was	a	second	catastrophe	involving	a	guided	bomb	known	as	JDAM	(for	“Joint
Direct	 Attack	 Munition”).	 The	 victims	 were	 a	 14-strong	 Green	 Beret	 team
escorting	the	prime	minister,	Hamid	Karzai,	on	his	advance	into	Kandahar	as	the
Taliban	 retreated.	 They	 identified	 a	 cave	 complex	 in	which	 Taliban	 guerrillas
were	thought	to	be	hiding.	They	called	down	an	air	strike.	Flying	high	overhead,



a	B-52	 crewman	 pressed	 the	 button	 to	 release	 the	 2,000-pound	 bomb	 onto	 its
target.	There	was	a	problem.	This	was	that	the	target	identified	by	the	guidance
system	was	the	position	occupied	by	the	Green	Berets	calling	the	strike.	Two	of
them	were	killed	outright.	Others	lost	limbs	or	suffered	multiple	injuries.	Karzai
was	knocked	unconscious	and	suffered	a	number	of	cuts.	Three	of	his	fighters,
sitting	 on	 a	 wall	 a	 few	 yards	 away,	 were	 vaporized.	 How	 could	 this	 have
happened?	The	most	plausible	theory	is	that	at	some	point,	a	battery	in	the	GPS
receiver,	 from	 which	 target	 coordinates	 were	 sent,	 was	 replaced.	 The	 system
would	then	go	into	default	mode	to	display	the	only	coordinates	it	recognized:	its
own.	If	this	went	uncorrected,	then	the	team	inadvertently	targeted	itself.

The	first	U.S.	soldier	to	be	killed	by	enemy	fire	was	Nathan	Ross	Chapman,
aged	31,	of	Georgetown,	Texas.	A	Green	Beret	communications	expert,	he	was
working	 alongside	 a	 CIA	 agent	 on	 a	 high-risk	 contact	 assignment	 with	 tribal
leaders	near	Khost,	on	the	border	with	Pakistan.	Making	contacts	and	gathering
intelligence	 are	 central	 to	 the	 role	 of	 Special	 Forces	 in	 a	 guerrilla	 war.	 The
British	 have	 lost	 a	 number	 of	 their	 most	 talented	 people	 on	 just	 such
assignments,	among	them	Sarah	Bryant,	aged	26,	a	Pashtu-speaking	corporal	in
the	 Intelligence	 Corps.	 On	 4	 January	 2002,	 as	 Nathan	 Chapman	 and	 his	 CIA
companion	left	their	meeting,	they	were	ambushed.	The	Agency’s	man,	though
wounded,	survived.

In	 2002,	 after	 the	 Taliban	 were	 temporarily	 expelled	 from	 most	 of
Afghanistan,	the	new	CIA/SF	synthesis	did	not	always	produce	the	right	result.
There	were	growing	pains	and	mutual	 recriminations.	The	heat	was	on	Osama
bin	 Laden.	 It	 had	 been	 since	 at	 least	 1996	when	 a	 team	within	 the	 Agency’s
Counterterrorist	 Center,	 codenamed	 Alec	 Station,	 had	 dedicated	 itself
obsessively	 to	 the	 sole	objective	of	nailing	him.	As	a	 result	of	 the	1998	bomb
attacks	 on	 two	U.S.	 embassies	 in	Africa,	 President	Clinton	wanted	 bin	Laden,
alive	 or	 dead.	 After	 9/11,	 that	 sentiment	 was	 shared	 by	 Clinton’s	 successor,
George	 W.	 Bush.	 Repeated	 efforts	 were	 made	 to	 assassinate	 fundamentalist
Islam’s	prophet	of	doom.	But	 like	 those	earlier	 targets	Castro	 and	Gaddafi,	 he
was	 not	 around	 when	 the	 moment	 came	 to	 strike.	 He	 had	 the	 same	 sense	 of
impending	danger	as	T.	S.	Eliot’s	mystery	cat	Macavity	(“He’s	called	the	hidden
paw….”	Whenever	retribution	was	imminent,	“Macavity’s	not	there.”)	The	U.S.
Navy,	 relying	 on	 CIA	 intelligence,	 struck	 bin	 Laden’s	 main	 training	 camp	 in
Afghanistan	with	75	Tomahawk	cruise	missiles.	Bin	Laden,	tipped	off—perhaps
by	allies	in	Pakistan—was	not	present.

Arguments	 continue	 about	 the	 failure	 of	 the	 world’s	 most	 sophisticated
intelligence	and	military	machine	to	assassinate	bin	Laden.	He	had	been	in	their
sights	many	times.	At	the	top	of	the	military	pyramid,	clearance	to	proceed	was



never	given	until	9/11	happened.	Some	commentators	believe	 that	 the	bruising
experience	 of	 Somalia	 and	 the	 spectacle	 of	American	 bodies	 being	 desecrated
there	 in	 1993	 had	 infected	 the	 Joint	Chiefs	 of	 Staff	with	 a	 risk-averse	 culture
during	the	Clinton	years.	Special	Forces,	with	their	gung-ho	testosterone	energy
were	perceived	as	“‘cowboys’	whose	operations	would	only	get	senior	officers
into	trouble	and	damage	their	careers.”135

Risk	 avoidance	was	 not	 part	 of	 President	 George	W.	 Bush’s	 agenda	 after
9/11.	His	finding	directed	the	CIA	to	use	all	necessary	means	to	destroy	Osama
bin	Laden	and	al	Qaeda.	Yet,	as	the	Senate	Foreign	Relations	Committee	would
conclude	in	November	2009,	serious	efforts	to	nail	bin	Laden	before	he	escaped
from	entrapment	 in	 the	 rabbit	warren	of	Tora	Bora,	 near	 the	Pakistan	 frontier,
mean	 putting	 American	 lives	 on	 the	 line.	 The	 committee’s	 report,	 Tora	 Bora
Revisted…,	notes:	“The	injection	of	more	U.S.	troops	and	the	resulting	casualties
would	 have	 contradicted	 the	 risk-averse	 ‘light-footprint’	 model	 formulated	 by
Rumsfeld	 and	 Franks.	 But	 commanders	 on	 the	 scene	 and	 elsewhere	 in
Afghanistan	argued	that	the	risks	were	worth	the	reward.”

Tora	Bora	 is	 “a	 fortress	 like	 section	of	 the	White	Mountains	 that	 stretches
about	 six	miles	 long	 and	 six	miles	wide	 across	 a	 collection	of	narrow	valleys,
snow-covered	ridgelines	and	jagged	peaks	reaching	14,000	ft.”	Bin	Laden,	scion
of	a	prominent	engineering	enterprise	in	Saudi	Arabia,	built	a	road	into	the	area,
excavated	 new	 tunnels,	 and	 reinforced	 existing	 ones	 to	 create	 a	 military
honeycomb.	Around	30	November,	he	retreated	to	this	redoubt	with	1,000	or	so
Spartan	 warriors	 prepared	 to	 die	 in	 his	 defense,	 in	 their	 own,	 last-stand
Thermopylae.

In	the	valley,	a	handful	of	CIA	had	established	a	base	in	a	schoolhouse,	from
which	they	dispensed	gold	coins	to	two	local	tribal	leaders	and	their	militias.	In
early	 December,	 ninety	 Delta	 Force	 commandos	 joined	 this	 team,	 dressed	 as
Afghans.	Major	“Dalton	Fury,”	commanding	them,	told	the	Senate	inquiry	that
bin	Laden’s	communications	were	constantly	monitored,	partly	 thanks	 to	an	al
Qaeda	 radio	 retrieved	 from	 the	 body	 of	 one	 of	 bin	 Laden’s	 jihadists.	 A	 CIA
specialist	confirmed	that	one	of	the	voices	was	that	of	bin	Laden.	It	was	just	one
gem	 in	 a	 jewel	 box	 of	 intelligence	 confirming	 that	 the	 Americans	 had	 the
world’s	leading	terrorist	within	their	grasp.

The	Tora	Bora	assault	began	with	an	intensive	aerial	bombing	offensive	 in
which	Special	Forces,	moving	in	pairs,	played	a	key	role,	creeping	close	enough
to	the	enemy	positions	to	be	able	to	target	them	precisely	with	global	positioning
devices	and	laser	designators.	The	hired	Afghan	warriors	“insisted	on	retreating
to	 their	base	at	 the	bottom	of	 the	mountains	each	night,	 leaving	the	Americans
alone	inside	al	Qaeda	territory.”	Nevertheless,	two	Delta	Force	soldiers	got	close



enough	 to	al	Qaeda	positions	 to	call	down	air	 strikes	 for	 seventeen	continuous
hours,	 forcing	 the	 enemy	 to	 retreat.	 One	 attack	 used	 a	 15,000-pound	 Daisy
Cutter	 bomb—capable	 of	 sucking	 oxygen	 from	 the	 air	 around	 the	 massive
explosion	over	a	wide	area—rolled	 from	the	 tailgate	of	a	C-130,	 in	a	 return	 to
the	 tactics	 of	 the	 Vietnam	 War.	 The	 bomb	 “shook	 the	 mountain	 for	 miles
around.”

By	 14	December,	 bin	Laden	was	writing	 his	will,	 a	 remarkable	 document
later	recovered	by	the	CIA:	“Allah	bears	witness	that	the	love	of	jihad	and	death
in	 the	 cause	 of	 Allah	 has	 dominated	 my	 life	 and	 the	 verses	 of	 the	 sword
permeated	every	cell	in	my	heart,	‘and	fight	the	pagans	all	together	as	they	fight
you	altogether.’	How	many	times	did	I	wake	up	to	find	myself	reciting	this	holy
verse!”	 In	 his	 own	 reinterpretation	 of	 the	Koran,	 he	 left	 orders	 that	 his	wives
should	not	remarry.	He	apologized	to	his	children—whom	he	had	treated	harshly
—for	devoting	himself	to	jihad.	And	then	he	escaped	into	Pakistan.

The	 reason,	 as	 the	Senate	 committee	 explains	with	 a	wealth	 of	 supporting
evidence,	was	that	repeated	requests	from	the	CIA	and	Delta	for	more	American
boots	 on	 the	 ground,	 to	 ensure	 that	 the	 back	 door	 into	 Pakistan	 was	 firmly
blocked,	 were	 rejected	 in	Washington.	 It	 asserts:	 “The	 decision	 not	 to	 deploy
American	 forces	 to	 go	 after	 bin	 Laden	 or	 block	 his	 escape	 was	 made	 by
Secretary	 of	 Defense	 Donald	 Rumsfeld	 and	 his	 troop	 commander,	 General
Tommy	 Franks,	 the	 architect	 of	 the	 Afghan	 battle	 plan	 known	 as	 Operation
Enduring	 Freedom.	 Rumsfeld	 said	 at	 the	 time	 that	 he	was	 concerned	 that	 too
many	U.S.	 troops	 in	Afghanistan	would	 create	 an	 anti-American	 backlash	 and
fuel	 widespread	 insurgency….	 The	 Afghan	 [military]model	 emphasized
minimizing	 the	 U.S.	 presence	 by	 relying	 on	 small,	 highly	 mobile	 teams	 of
special	 operations	 troops	 and	 CIA	 paramilitary	 operatives	 working	 with	 the
Afghan	 opposition.	 Even	 when	 his	 own	 commanders	 and	 senior	 intelligence
officials	 in	 Afghanistan	 and	 Washington	 argued	 for	 dispatching	 more	 U.S.
troops,	Franks	refused	to	deviate	from	the	plan.”

General	Tommy	Franks,	 leader	 of	U.S.	Central	Command	at	 the	 time,	 has
always	 contended	 that	 there	 was	 no	 hard	 intelligence	 about	 bin	 Laden’s
whereabouts	 at	 the	 time	 and,	 further,	 that	 it	 was	 best	 to	 leave	 the	 fighting	 to
Afghans	because	they	knew	the	Tora	Bora	terrain	best.	That	view	is	not	shared
by	 the	 British	 SAS	 soldiers	 who	 fought	 alongside	 their	 Delta	 Force	 blood-
brothers	at	Tora	Bora.

Bruce	Anderson,	an	influential	British	journalist,	describes	a	visit	by	former
Secretary	 of	 State	Henry	Kissinger	 to	 the	 SAS	 base	 near	Hereford	 in	 January
2002,	 soon	 after	 bin	 Laden’s	 latest	 feline	 disappearance.	 “Kissinger	 rapidly
realised	that	he	would	have	to	defend	his	country.	He	was	talking	to	men	with	a



grievance,	who	believed	that	American	generals	had	let	bin	Laden	escape.	Some
of	 Dr	 Kissinger’s	 audience	 had	 just	 come	 back	 from	 Afghanistan.	 They	 had
taken	part	in	the	attack	on	the	cave	complex	at	Tora	Bora,	where	two	squadrons
of	 the	 SAS	 [around	 120	men]	went	 into	 action:	 a	 significant	 proportion	 of	 its
total	 strength….	 The	 SAS	 was	 fighting	 alongside	 Delta	 Force…the	 SAS	 was
happy	enough	with	Delta	Force.	 It	was	 the	American	high	command	which	 let
their	own	men	down,	and	everyone	else.	The	SAS	and	Delta	Force	won	a	victory
for	the	West.	The	American	generals	then	ensured	that	the	full	fruits	of	victory
could	not	be	harvested.

“By	the	end	of	the	battle,	the	SAS	was	certain	that	it	knew	where	bin	Laden
was:	 in	a	mountain	valley,	where	he	could	have	been	 trapped.	The	men	of	 the
SAS	would	have	been	happy	 to	move	 in	 for	 the	kill,	 dividing	 themselves	 into
beaters	 and	 guns.	 Going	 round	 the	 side,	 the	 guns	 would	 have	 positioned
themselves	at	 the	head	of	 the	valley	 to	cut	off	bin	Laden’s	 retreat.	The	beaters
would	then	have	swept	up	the	glen.	If	such	a	drive	had	taken	place,	the	SAS	is
convinced	that	bin	Laden	would	not	have	escaped.	It	would	have	been	happy	to
fight	 alongside	 Delta	 Force	 and	 would	 have	 been	 glad	 of	 the	 assistance	 of
American	ground-attack	 aircraft.	But	 it	would	 also	 have	 been	 confident	 that	 it
could	finish	the	job	on	its	own.

“It	did	not	get	 the	chance.	The	SAS	was	under	overall	U.S.	command,	and
the	 American	 generals	 faltered.	 Understandably	 enough,	 they	 wanted	 Delta
Force	to	be	in	at	the	death.	They	would	have	preferred	it	if	bin	Laden	had	fallen
to	an	American	bullet.	So	would	Delta	Force;	every	bit	as	much	as	the	SAS,	its
men	were	raring	to	go.	It	was	their	commanders	who	held	them	back.

“Being	 in	at	such	a	death	 involves	 the	 risk	of	death.	 It	 seems	unlikely	 that
bin	Laden	could	have	been	bagged	without	casualties.	The	men	on	 the	ground
did	not	quail	at	that	prospect;	the	generals	on	the	radio	did.	They	wanted	Delta
Force	to	kill	bin	Laden;	they	were	not	prepared	to	allow	their	men	to	be	killed	in
the	process.	They	would	not	even	allow	USAF	ground-attack	aircraft	to	operate
below	12,000	feet.	As	far	as	the	SAS	could	tell,	their	hope	was	that	the	ragged-
trousered	 militants	 of	 the	 Northern	 Alliance	 would	 do	 most	 of	 the	 dangerous
stuff—and	take	most	of	the	casualties—while	Delta	Force	came	in	for	the	coup
de	grace.	Nor	were	the	American	generals	willing	to	allow	the	SAS	to	win	the
glory	which	they	were	denying	to	American	troops.

“So	strategy	was	sabotaged	by	schizoid	irresolution.	There	followed	hours	of
fiffing	 and	 faffing,	 while	 gold	 coins	 were	 helicoptered	 in,	 to	 encourage	 the
Northern	Alliance.	The	USA	is	the	greatest	military	power	in	the	history	of	the
planet,	 spending	well	 over	 $300	billion	 a	 year	 on	defence,	 yet	 everything	was
paralysed	 because	 it	 would	 not	 allow	 its	 fighting	 men	 to	 fight.	 While	 the



generals	 agonised	 about	 bodybags,	 bin	 Laden	 was	 escaping.	 Henry	 Kissinger
tried	 to	 put	 all	 this	 in	 context.	He	 told	 the	SAS	 that	 in	 his	 first	 five	weeks	 as
National	 Security	 Adviser,	 the	 U.S.	 lost	 at	 least	 400	 lives	 every	 week	 in
Vietnam,	and	that	was	only	a	small	percentage	of	the	total	casualties.	The	scars
of	those	losses	in	a	lost	war	take	a	long	time	to	heal.”136

If	Tora	Bora	was	mishandled,	then	the	battle	known	as	Operation	Anaconda
that	followed	a	few	months	later	was	worse.	Like	Tora	Bora,	it	depended	heavily
on	local	militia	known	as	the	Afghan	Military	Forces,	assisted	by	Special	Forces
and	 backed	 up	 by	 air	 power.	 It	was	 to	 prove	 a	 deeply	 flawed	 order	 of	 battle.
Many	of	the	Afghan	militia	were	not	up	to	the	job	and	air	power	was	critically
restricted	by	bad	visibility,	poor	coordination	with	ground	forces,	and	refueling
problems.	The	attacking	forces,	yet	again,	had	no	artillery	other	than	mortars.	To
win	a	mountain	battle,	fighting	uphill,	would	depend	on	good	luck,	the	element
of	 surprise,	 coordination,	 and	 overwhelming	 firepower.	 In	 the	 event,	 most	 of
these	ingredients	were	not	available	in	the	right	order,	or	time.

Following	 bin	 Laden’s	 escape,	 the	 remnants	 of	 his	 army	 held	 out	 in	 the
Shahi-Kot	Valley,	a	killing	zone	on	the	Pakistan	border	surrounded	by	10,000-
foot	mountains.	 It	was	 familiar	 terrain	 to	mujahideen	who	 had	 twice	whipped
Soviet	 soldiers	 there.	 Bin	 Laden’s	 veterans	 stayed	 there	 through	 a	 freezing
Afghan	 winter,	 stoically	 awaiting	 the	 next	 Allied	 assault	 and	 their	 tickets	 to
paradise.	 In	 February	 2002,	 they	 were	 joined	 by	 al	 Qaeda	 volunteers	 from
Uzbekistan	and	Chechnya	as	well	as	the	Middle	East	and	further	afield.	Britain’s
signals	 intelligence	 center,	 GCHQ,	 detected	 a	 flurry	 of	 cell	 phone	 traffic
centered	on	the	river	running	through	the	valley.	A	Special	Forces	recce	on	10
February	 detected	 an	 enemy	presence.	There	was	 also	 human	 intelligence	 that
was	hard	to	evaluate.	An	initial	estimate	of	1,000	enemy	fighters	was	reduced	to
200.137	 That	 was	 a	 mistake.	 The	 original	 figure	 was	 nearer	 the	 mark.	 To	 an
optimist,	 the	revised	intelligence	seemed	a	gift	 that	offered	the	chance	to	crush
the	last	of	the	Taliban	in	open	battle.	As	ever,	the	coalition	believed	that	thanks
to	technology,	it	could	count	on	an	unequal	fight	in	favor	of	the	coalition,	adding
a	new	luster	 to	 the	phrase	“asymmetric	warfare.”	As	an	old	SAS	joke	went,	“I
don’t	believe	in	dying	for	my	country.	I	believe	in	allowing	the	other	guy	to	die
for	his.”

But	in	practice,	Taliban	intelligence	about	coalition	forces	was	as	accurate,	if
not	more	so,	than	that	of	the	allies.	Well	in	advance	of	the	operation,	the	Taliban
evacuated	women	and	children	from	local	mountain	villages.138	They	prepared	a
defense	 in	 depth,	 with	 machine	 guns,	 mortars,	 and	 rocket	 launchers	 on	 the
heights,	 and	 fallback	 sanctuaries	 in	 caves.	 What	 Western	 forces	 expected—a



three-day	action	with	few	casualties—became	a	17-day	pitched	battle	notable	in
American	 history	 as	 the	 highest-altitude	 battle	 its	 soldiers	 ever	 faced.	 The
engagement	 involved	 1,700	 U.S.	 conventional	 soldiers,	 Army	 Special	 Forces,
Navy	 SEALs,	 and	 the	 CIA’s	 Special	 Activities	 Division.	 It	 also	 drew	 in
hundreds	 of	 allied	 forces:	 men	 from	 the	 Australian	 and	 New	 Zealand	 SAS
Regiments,	 British	 Royal	 Marines,	 Canadian	 snipers,	 and	 Special	 Forces
contingents	 from	 Norway,	 Denmark,	 and—in	 spite	 of	 political	 inhibitions—
Germany.	Afghan	friendly	 forces	 totaled	1,000.	The	air	assets	 included	French
Mirage	 aircraft.	 The	 number	 of	 Taliban	 fighters	 is	 guesswork,	 something
between	150	(the	initial	estimate)	and	1,000	or	more.	A	thousand	was	a	healthy
number	to	fight	a	well-prepared	defense.

Operation	Anaconda	was	probably	compromised	from	the	start.	A	five-man
Delta	Force	reconnaissance	team,	codename	Juliet,	was	inserted	by	helicopter	as
a	 preliminary	move.	 Its	 lightweight,	 all-terrain	 vehicle	 imprinted	 tracks	 in	 the
snow	 like	 Man	 Friday’s	 footprint	 that	 were	 spotted	 by	 local	 guerrillas.	 The
element	of	surprise	was	now	lost.	The	five-man	Delta	 team,	perched	on	a	high
point	with	a	lordly	view	over	the	hostile	villages,	lost	sight	of	the	opposition	that
stalked	them	as	a	snowstorm	began.	A	day	or	so	later,	as	an	official	report	put	it
with	masterly	understatement:	“Increased	enemy	activity	in	the	valley	seemed	to
indicate	that	the	enemy	forces	were	aware	that	something	was	afoot.”139

As	it	dawned	on	the	top	brass	 that	Anaconda	required	a	major	operation,	a
grand	and	complex	plan	of	attack	was	composed.	Basically,	one	force	of	Afghan
militia,	with	Special	Forces	 liaison	 teams	able	 to	summon	air	 strikes	would	be
Task	Force	Hammer,	attacking	enemy	positions.	A	second	would	be	Task	Force
Anvil,	a	stop-party	to	intercept	Taliban	fugitives.	Western	forces	would	provide
circles	of	containment:	the	anaconda	that	would	devour	its	prey.	Objectives	to	be
seized	 by	 heliborne	 commandos	 were	 painstakingly	 identified.	 In	 the	 event,
Hammer	 came	 to	 grief	 before	 it	made	 contact	with	 the	 enemy.	 “As	 the	 trucks
moved	off	 the	main	 road	 [in	darkness]	 and	onto	 the	muddy	 track	 that	was	 the
main	approach	 route	 to	 the	valley,	 things	began	 to	go	wrong.	One	of	 the	 large
‘jinga’	trucks	tipped	over,	halting	the	convoy.	After	cross-loading	the	troops	and
equipment,	 the	 convoy	 began	 to	 move	 out	 again,	 only	 to	 have	 other	 vehicles
become	 stuck,	 break	 down,	 or	 tip	 over.	 Hours	 were	 consumed	 extricating	 the
vehicles….”140	 The	 militiamen,	 in	 desperation,	 threw	 hundreds	 of	 combat
rations	under	the	wheels	of	vehicles	to	provide	a	stable	platform	for	wheels	that
spun	in	snow	and	ice.	Many	of	the	Afghan	friendlies	gave	up	this	struggle	and
marched	toward	the	official	battle	start	line.141

Thanks	 to	 the	 use	 of	 headlights,	 as	well	 as	 shouted	voices,	 the	 element	 of



surprise	 was	 now	 lost	 on	 this	 part	 of	 the	 battlefield.	 The	 convoy	 came	 under
heavy	 fire.	 A	 mortar	 bomb	 scored	 a	 direct	 hit	 on	 the	 leading	 Special	 Forces
vehicle.	Worse,	a	C-130	USAF	Spectre	gunship	lurking	above	the	Hammer	team
mistook	 the	 convoy	 for	 enemy	 and	 shot	 it	 up,	 killing	 Chief	 Warrant	 Officer
Stanley	Harriman,	aged	34,	belonging	 to	 the	Third	Special	Forces	Group.	Two
Afghan	militiamen	were	also	killed	and	up	to	fifteen	wounded.	Evacuating	them
delayed	 the	 advance	 by	 another	 hour.	 Promised	 air	 support	 produced	 only	 a
handful	 of	 bombs	on	 the	 heights	 surrounding	 the	 convoy,	 from	which	Taliban
fire,	 including	 artillery,	 rained	 down.	 The	 lack	 of	 support	 “demoralized	 the
Afghans	and	frustrated	the	Special	Forces.”142

Unaware	 of	 this	 shambles,	 elements	 of	 the	U.S.	 10th	Mountain	 and	 101st
Airborne	divisions	were	delivered	by	helicopter	to	a	flat,	exposed	area	near	the
targeted	villages	that	was,	in	truth,	a	killing	zone.	Two	Australian	SAS	soldiers
were	attached	to	this	group.	Martin	Wallace,	a	signaler,	knew	he	was	in	trouble
the	moment	his	boots	touched	the	ground.	The	smoke	trail	of	a	rocket-propelled
grenade	 fired	 from	 300	meters	 fizzed	 toward	 him,	missing	 him	 by	 inches.	He
said	later:	“The	RPG	round	hit	the	ground	and	slid	through	the	mud,	chasing	us
up	 the	 hill	 as	 we	 ran	 from	 it.	 It	 just	 lay	 there	 steaming	 in	 the	 ground	 as	 we
scrambled	 for	 cover.”	 In	 a	 later	 interview	he	 recalled:	 “We	hadn’t	moved	100
meters	from	the	choppers	when	we	started	taking	heavy	fire	from	machine	guns
and	RPGs.	It	was	relentless.	There	was	no	cover	and	82	people	were	looking	for
some.”	He	watched,	horrified,	as	a	mortar	round	struck	a	group	of	Americans.	“I
was	just	lying	there,	watching	them	out	of	the	corner	of	my	eye	and	about	five	or
six	of	them	[U.S.	soldiers]	disappeared	in	a	puff	of	gray	smoke.	It	was	basically
a	 direct	 hit	 on	 the	 American	 mortar	 from	 the	 al	 Qaeda	 mortar.”	 Under	 fire,
Wallace	ran	forward	and	dragged	those	who	were	wounded	but	alive	into	a	ditch
where	he	had	found	shelter.

Wallace	had	one	weapon	that	saved	the	day.	In	the	confusion	that	followed
their	landing,	most	of	the	American	soldiers,	following	normal	procedure	in	such
a	tight	corner,	dropped	their	backpacks	so	as	to	be	more	mobile.	Wallace	had	not
discarded	his	pack	because	“we	didn’t	have	as	far	to	go	for	cover.”	It	contained
his	radio.	He	was	able	to	call	for	air	support.	He	told	his	headquarters:	“We	are
in	a	bit	of	a	shit-fight.	We	need	help.”	Tactical	air-hq	obliged	and	sent	a	B-52.	“I
was	lying	on	my	back,	watching	the	B-52	come	overhead	and	you	could	see	the
bomb	bay	doors	open	and	the	bombs	as	they	started	to	fall.	You’re	just	hoping
that	they’re	going	to	be	on	target.”

The	ground	shook,	but	the	bombs	silenced	enemy	fire	for	only	15	minutes.
The	combined	airborne	force,	codenamed	Rakassan,	was	pinned	down	for	more
than	18	hours	before	Wallace	was	able	to	bring	in	a	Spectre	gunship.	This	gave



the	team	covering	fire	as	helicopters	rescued	the	assault	team,	with	its	wounded.
Having	 heard	 the	 story,	 General	 Frank	 Hagenack,	 overall	 commander	 of
Anaconda,	 acknowledged:	 “I	 would	 not	 have	 wanted	 to	 do	 that	 operation
without	the	Australian	SAS	folks	on	that	ridge	side.	I	mean	they	made	it	happen
that	day.”143

During	 the	 following	 24	 hours,	 3–4	March	 2002,	 the	 action	 shifted	 to	 an
11,000-foot	peak	named	Takur	Ghar	overlooking	the	entire	Shahikot	Valley.	At
3	A.M.	 on	 3	March,	 two	Chinook	 helicopters	 tried	 to	 land	 near	 the	 summit	 to
deliver	 two	SEAL	teams	on	a	 recce	mission.	They	were	advised	 that	 the	place
was	undefended.	As	 the	first	machine	 touched	down,	 it	was	shredded	by	small
arms	fire.	The	Taliban	were	dug	in	and	waiting	for	this	moment.	Three	RPGs	hit
the	Chinook.	Petty	Officer	1st	Class	Neil	C.	Roberts,	on	the	tailgate,	was	hurled
out	 of	 the	 aircraft	 under	 the	 impact,	 taken	 prisoner,	 and	 later	 shot	 dead.	 The
crippled	Chinook	crash-landed	in	the	valley	four	miles	away.	A	second	Chinook
dropped	another	SEAL	patrol	on	the	same	mountaintop	to	search	for	the	missing
petty	 officer.	 For	 the	 Taliban	 it	 was	 a	 turkey	 shoot.	 They	 killed	 Technical
Sergeant	 John	 A.	 Chapman,	 a	 USAF	 Special	 Forces	 combat	 controller,	 and
wounded	 two	 of	 the	 newly	 arrived	 SEALs.	 This	 patrol,	 codenamed	Mako	 30,
retreated	down	the	mountain.	Shortly	before	dawn,	yet	another	rescue	team—25
Rangers	 on	 two	 helicopters—made	 another	 attempt.	 The	 first	 to	 land	 was
disabled	by	heavy	fire.	Three	Rangers	and	a	member	of	the	helicopter	crew	died
immediately.

The	second	heliborne	Ranger	team	was	put	on	the	ground	“several	hundred
meters	 away.”	 But	 “these	 Rangers	 were	 forced	 to	 move	 slowly	 up	 the	 steep
slopes	 of	Takur	Ghar	 as	 their	 comrades	were	 engaged	 in	 sharp	 fighting	 at	 the
top.”144	 The	 two	 parties	 linked	 up	 but	 came	 under	 attack	 from	 enemy
reinforcements	that	had	contrived	to	climb	to	the	summit	unnoticed.	By	now,	al
Qaeda	had	declared	jihad	and	every	able-bodied	man	in	the	region	was	expected
to	 join	 the	 fight	as	a	 religious	duty.	The	renewed	battle	continued	all	day.	The
Rangers	had	 found	 the	body	of	 the	missing	SEAL.	The	bitter	 cold	wore	down
one	 of	 the	 wounded,	 an	 Air	 Force	 medic.	 He	 became	 the	 seventh	 and	 last
American	to	die	on	Operation	Anaconda.	The	Rangers	dug	in	and	held	on	until
they	were	extracted	as	darkness	fell	on	4	March.	The	U.S.	Army’s	history	of	the
battle	records	that	the	rescue	was	at	a	final	cost	for	the	U.S.	of	seven	dead:	two
Army,	 two	Air	 Force,	 and	 one	Navy	 (as	well	 as	 the	 first	 fatal	 casualty,	CWO
Harriman	victim	of	friendly	fire).	“The	fight	on	Takur	Ghar	was	the	most	deadly
firefight	during	Operation	Anaconda.”

Opinions	 differed	 about	 the	 true	 nature	 of	 this	 battle.	 General	 Tommy



Franks,	 commander	 of	 Central	 Command,	 saw	 it	 as	 “an	 unqualified	 and
complete	 success.”	His	aides	believed	 that	800	enemy	had	been	killed,	 though
there	 was	 no	 body	 count	 to	 substantiate	 that.	 The	 journalist,	 author,	 and
pathologist	 of	 military	 mishaps	 Seymour	 Hersh	 dismissed	 it	 as	 “a	 debacle,
plagued	 by	 squabbling	 between	 the	 services,	 bad	 military	 planning	 and
avoidable	 deaths	 of	American	 soldiers,	 as	well	 as	 the	 escape	 of	 key	 al	Qaeda
leaders,	likely	including	Osama	bin	Laden.”145

Did	 it	 have	 to	happen	 this	way?	That	 this	 became	an	unexpected	battle	 of
attrition	 was	 due	 to	 an	 intelligence	 failure	 of	 some	 sort.	 Why	 was	 the	 first
estimate	 of	 enemy	 strength—1,000	 fighters—massaged	 down	 to	 a	 more
optimistic	200?	The	Pentagon	does	not	say.	An	exhaustive	review	of	the	battle,
completed	in	September	2003,	was	passed	from	one	DOD	office	to	another	and
underwent	“an	extensive	security	review”	before	being	cleared	for	publication	in
February	2009.	The	review	did	note:	“Anaconda	shows	the	liabilities	of	relying
on	 questionable	 human	 intelligence	 and	 of	 trying	 to	 use	 communications
intelligence	(COMINT)	when	the	enemy	has	good	communications	security.	The
best	 solution	 is	 often	 better	 ‘boots	 on	 the	 ground,’	 reconnaissance	 by	 Special
Operations	Forces	and	Army	units,	which	was	not	heavily	pursued	at	Anaconda
owing	 to	 the	 desire	 to	 surprise	 the	 enemy”146	 [author’s	 emphasis].	 The
Anaconda	 battle	was	 a	 success	 for	American	 forces	 and	 their	 allies	 in	 that	 an
unknown	number	of	enemy	were	killed	and	a	terrorist	base	area	was	eliminated.
But	 the	 affair	 increased	 the	 credibility	 of	 the	Taliban	 and	 al	Qaeda	 as	 a	well-
organized	 fighting	 force	 capable	 of	 taking	 on	 the	 best	 from	 the	West.	 It	 was,
arguably,	a	pyrrhic	victory	in	spite	of	the	heroism	of	the	men	sent	to	win	it.

Soon	 after	 Anaconda,	 in	 the	 spring	 of	 2002,	 there	 were	 renewed	 tensions
about	the	quality	of	intelligence	when	the	CIA	came	up	with	a	possible	location
for	bin	Laden’s	 latest	hideout	 in	Pakistan.	Another	 target	 in	 the	same	area	was
his	 deputy,	 Ayman	 al-Zawahiri,	 an	 Egyptian	 doctor.	 Military	 top	 brass
questioned	 the	accuracy	of	 the	CIA’s	 intelligence	and,	given	 the	political	 risks
inherent	 in	 a	 clandestine	 cross-border	 operation,	 were	 reluctant	 to	 sanction	 a
reconnaissance.	 Unfortunately,	 shared	 intelligence	 with	 Pakistan	 was	 also
fraught	 with	 the	 risk	 that	 what	 the	 CIA	 shared	 with	 Islamabad’s	 intelligence
service	 might	 be	 promptly	 shared	 by	 some	 within	 the	 ISI	 with	 bin	 Laden.
Nevertheless,	a	Green	Beret	reconnaissance	team	tiptoed	across	the	border	with
Afghanistan.	 Bin	 Laden	was	 not	 at	 home.	 The	 hit	 team	 tiptoed	 out	 again.	An
anonymous	Pentagon	spokesman	seemed	to	regard	the	latest	failure	as	some	sort
of	 vindication	of	 the	Army	after	Tora	Bora	 and	Anaconda.	He	or	 she	 told	 the
journal	 USA	 Today:	 “We	 like	 to	 underpromise	 and	 overdeliver.	 That	 other



agency	likes	to	overpromise.”147
Alongside	Anaconda,	sniping	between	the	Pentagon	and	the	CIA’s	futuristic

portals	 at	 Langley	 had	 continued	 as	 usual.	 In	 February	 2002	 an	 Agency-
controlled	Raptor	loosed	a	missile	at	a	white-clad	figure	in	eastern	Afghanistan,
apparently	on	 the	basis	 that	 he	was	 tall	 and	 so	was	Osama.	Defense	Secretary
Donald	Rumsfeld	 allegedly	 commented:	 “God	help	 anyone	over	 five-foot-four
in	 that	 country.”	 In	 some	of	 his	 later	 public	 statements	 he	was	more	generous
about	 the	 Agency.	 But	 when	 the	 bruises	 of	 Tora	 Bora	 were	 still	 fresh,	 the
Pentagon	went	on	the	record	with	a	litany	of	complaints	about	its	CIA	comrade-
in-arms.	 These	 were	 that	 the	 Army	 was	 held	 responsible	 for	 air	 strikes	 and
ground	 attacks	 based	 on	 faulty	 intelligence,	 leading	 to	 civilian	 deaths;	 the
Agency	had	wanted	to	arm	warlords	who	then	used	the	weapons	in	local	feuds	or
worse,	perhaps,	against	U.S.	forces;	optimistic	CIA	leaks	about	the	hunt	for	bin
Laden	 undermined	 confidence	 in	 operations	 when	 the	 hunt	 produced	 another
false	lead.

The	complaints	 reflected,	 at	best,	naïvety	about	 the	nature	of	 this	 irregular
conflict,	 with	 its	 constantly	 shifting	 loyalties,	 loyalties	 shaped	 by	 two	 often-
incompatible	 factors.	 These	 were	 tribal	 dedication	 to	 some	 longstanding	 local
blood	 feud	 versus	 the	 lure	 of	 the	 dollar	 as	 Uncle	 Sam’s	 inducement	 to	 stay
onside.	Differing	interpretations	of	the	Koran	and	its	additional	doctrinal	work,
the	Hadith,	complicated	matters	 further.	Then	 there	was	 the	burgeoning	heroin
trade.	And	endemic	corruption	at	every	official	level.	The	CIA	was	familiar	with
all	this	and	had	learned	to	live	with	it.	During	the	campaign	to	defeat	the	Soviets,
one	 of	 its	 surrogates	 was	 Gulbudding	 Hekmatyar,	 a	 warlord	 who	 received
hundreds	of	millions	of	CIA	dollars	by	way	of	the	Pakistan	intelligence	agency
ISI.	 Langley	 might	 have	 detected	 a	 hint	 of	 things	 to	 come	 when	 Hekmatyar,
having	 taken	 the	 money,	 refused	 to	 travel	 to	 New	 York	 to	 shake	 hands	 with
Ronald	Reagan.	 Instead,	 he	 espoused	 Islamist	 fundamentalism	 and	 became	 an
enemy	 of	 the	West	 and	 ally	 of	 bin	 Laden	 during	 the	 civil	 war	 that	 followed
Soviet	withdrawal.	Identified	by	the	U.S.	as	“a	global	terrorist,”	Hekmatyar	was
the	target	of	an	agency-launched	missile	attack	on	his	convoy	in	Kunar	province
on	6	May	2002.	The	missile	missed	its	intended	target	but	killed	ten	civilians.148

There	was	also	the	Stinger	saga.	During	the	anti-Soviet	war	of	1979–89,	the
Agency’s	Afghan	Task	Force	had	 supplied	 around	2,000	of	 these	 anti-aircraft,
shoulder-fired	missiles	to	the	resistance	movement.	When	that	war	was	over	and
the	risk	to	U.S.	military	and	civilian	aircraft	became	apparent,	case	officers	were
dispatched	in	secret	to	buy	back	any	missiles	still	in	circulation.	The	going	rate
ranged	 from	 $80,000	 to	 $150,000.	 This	 was	 not	 a	 CIA	 misjudgment.	 The



Agency	had	initially	opposed	the	introduction	of	such	a	deadly,	Western	weapon
into	 a	 Cold	War	 conflict	 but	 was	 overruled	 by	 the	 administration.	 The	 initial
outcome	was	a	military	success.	As	 the	French	analyst	Olivier	Roy	concluded:
“A	staff	of	around	100	CIA	officers;	no	American	citizens	killed	or	imprisoned;
no	retaliation	against	U.S.	 interests	and	the	nominal	expense	of	$2	billion	over
ten	 years:	 these	were	 relatively	 low	 costs	 for	 one	 of	 the	most	 important	 post-
World	 War	 II	 conflicts.”149	 The	 anti-Western	 jihad	 that	 followed	 the	 Soviet
defeat	 was	 regretted	 at	 Langley,	 no	 doubt.	 But	 the	 CIA	 knew	 from	 long
experience	that	you	have	to	lose	some	to	win	some.

In	 the	 hunt	 for	 bin	 Laden,	 it	 lost	 two	 valuable	 paramilitaries,	 ostensibly
working	as	civilian	contractors,	on	25	October	2003.	They	were	Glenn	Mueller,
aged	32,	of	San	Diego	(a	former	SEAL)	and	William	(“Chief”)	Carlson,	aged	43,
of	Southern	Pines,	North	Carolina.	Soon	after	joining	the	CIA,	Mueller	spent	a
year	living	like	a	vagrant,	“rocking	’n’	rolling,”	as	he	told	a	friend,	in	Western
Iraq.	 Shortly	 before	 he	 died,	 he	 telephoned	 home	 and	 told	 a	 lifelong	 friend:
“We’re	looking	for	the	golden	ring,”	meaning	bin	Laden’s	inner	circle.	The	day
he	died,	he	and	Carlson	were	in	the	badlands	adjoining	the	Pakistan	border	when
they	 were	 trapped	 in	 a	 Taliban	 ambush.	 An	 Afghan	 commander	 with	 whom
Mueller	 had	 established	 mutual	 trust	 was	 hit	 and	 went	 down.	 Mueller	 broke
cover,	entered	the	killing	ground,	and	dragged	his	buddy	to	safety.	In	doing	so,
he	stopped	a	bullet	 in	 the	chest.	Carlson	died	with	 them.	Known	as	“Chief”	 in
recognition	 of	 his	 heritage	 as	 a	member	 of	 the	 Blackfoot	Nation	 of	Montana,
Carlson	was	a	former	Delta	Force	soldier	who	had	retired	after	twenty	years	in
the	Army	and	still	thirsted	for	action	when	he	signed	the	Agency	contract.

At	 the	 CIA	 headquarters,	 just	 inside	 the	 imposing	 entrance,	 on	 the	 north
side,	 they	 have	 a	Wall	 of	 Honor,	 decorated	 with	 stars.	 Each	 represents	 a	 life
sacrificed	 in	 the	 line	 of	 duty.	 Some,	 such	 as	 the	 one	 commemorating	William
Buckley,	 the	 Agency’s	 station	 chief	 tortured	 to	 death	 in	 1985,	 are	 clearly
identified.	Many	others	remain	anonymous,	even	in	death.	For	their	names	to	be
revealed,	 posthumously,	 could	 compromise	 ongoing	 operations.	 In	 February
1991	 there	 were	 sixty-nine	 stars,	 dating	 from	 1950.	 By	 the	 time	 Carlson	 and
Mueller	were	commemorated	at	Langley	 in	2004,	 the	number	had	 increased	 to
eighty-three.	 They	 included	 three	 stars	 that	 were	 added	 following	 the	 Carlson
ambush.	But	three	stars?	The	extra	one	was	a	tribute	to	a	man	whose	name	was
still	withheld.	At	 the	commemoration,	Director	of	 Intelligence	George	J.	Tenet
said:	“Chris	and	Chief	put	the	lives	of	others	ahead	of	their	own.	That	is	heroism
defined.”	These	deaths	underscored	 the	 risk	of	Special	Operations	of	all	kinds.
One	expert	assessment	 is	 that	although	SF	men	comprise	only	 two	per	cent	of



U.S.	armed	forces,	they	record	thirty-one	per	cent	of	combat	casualties.150
The	 hunt	 for	 bin	Laden	was	 downgraded	 in	 2005,	when	Alec	 Station	was

formally	 disbanded.	 Its	 analysts	 were	 reassigned	 to	 other	 duties	 within	 the
Counterterrorist	 Center—though,	 subsequently,	 retired	 CIA	 veterans	 were
brought	back	into	service	 to	sit	 in	caves	 in	 the	badlands	of	 the	Pakistan	border
with	Afghanistan.	The	CIA	briefed	 journalists	 to	suggest	 that	al	Qaeda	was	no
longer	 as	 hierarchical	 as	 it	 once	 was.	 Nevertheless,	 it	 was	 also	 a	 move	 away
from	 a	 longstanding	 American	 fondness	 for	 personalizing	 complex	 political
issues,	as	if	the	troubles	of	the	world	were	a	manichean	cowboy	movie	inhabited
by	good	guys	in	white	hats	(with	or	without	the	cattle)	and	the	bad	guys	in	black
ones.	The	Tom	Mix/John	Wayne	approach	and	its	concomitant	demonization	of
bin	Laden	probably	contributed	more	to	his	legend	than	did	his	deeds.

During	the	first	few	years	of	the	war	in	a	region	to	be	renamed	by	Obama’s
team	as	“Af-Pak,”	the	symbiosis	of	Green	Beret	and	Agency	Special	Activities
operators	 was	 contradicted	 by	 increasing	 rivalry	 between	 the	 Pentagon	 and
Langley.	 As	 Rumsfeld’s	 people	 at	 the	 Defense	 Department	 saw	 things,	 if	 the
CIA	could	exercise	a	military	role,	then	DoD	could	run	an	intelligence	business.
It	deployed	clandestine	teams	from	the	Defense	Intelligence	Agency	“to	deliver
intelligence	 that’s	 finer-grained	 than	 what	 the	 CIA	 provides,	 for	 example,
architectural	details	of	a	building	that	commandos	must	storm.”151	In	2005,	the
defense	 analyst	 William	 Arkin	 identified	 more	 than	 a	 hundred	 secret	 units,
intelligence	initiatives	and	linked	operations	invented	by	the	Pentagon	as	part	of
the	Gobal	War	on	Terror.	They	 included,	 for	example,	 Joint	Task	Force	Aztec
Silence,	 set	 up	 in	 December	 2003	 to	 counter	 international	 terrorism	 in	 North
Africa.

In	Tampa,	Florida,	the	Army’s	Special	Operations	Command,	SOCOM,	had
50,000	 commandos,	 most	 of	 them	 Green	 Berets	 for	 strike	 operations.	 It	 also
controlled	 an	 ultra-secret	 intelligence	 team	 that	 regularly	 changes	 its	 name,
chameleon-like,	every	 two	years,	 to	confuse	everyone.	Variously	known	as	 the
Intelligence	Support	Activity,	“The	Activity,”	“Gray	Fox,”	and	“Capacity	Gear,”
it	was	based	at	Fort	Belvoir	outside	Washington	and,	 for	 that	 reason,	 acquired
yet	another,	informal	name,	“The	Army	of	North	Virginia.”	The	ISA’s	primary
role,	what	 it	does	best,	 is	 covert	 surveillance	of	 terrorists,	which	enables	other
security	 forces	 to	 strike	hard	 and	 true,	 to	kill	 terrorists	 and,	 sometimes,	 rescue
hostages.

The	 ISA	also	uses	 lethal	 force	on	 its	own	account,	when	necessary,	but	as
observers	including	Douglas	Waller	have	pointed	out,	“the	Defense	Department
has	had	a	checkered	history	with	cloak-and-dagger	work.	The	Pentagon	set	up



intelligence	units	 in	the	early	1980s	that	were	kept	secret	from	Congress.	They
became	 rogue	 outfits,	 using	 tax	 dollars	 for	 questionable	 operations,	 to	 pay	 for
expensive	 hotel	 rooms,	 first-class	 airline	 tickets	 and,	 in	 one	 instance,	 a	 hot-air
balloon	and	a	Rolls-Royce….”	For	Rumsfeld	and	his	successors,	the	test	would
be	whether	the	soldier	spies	“can	do	better	than	the	CIA	overseas	and	keep	out
of	trouble	at	home.”

As	hundreds	of	Special	Forces	operators,	Agency	Special	Activities	 artists
and	 freelance	 guns	 hired	 from	 the	 private	 sector	 penetrated	 the	 undefined
battlefields	of	Af-Pak,	the	sort	of	fine-tuning	expected	by	Congress	was	usually
overtaken	by	events,	many	of	them	lethal.	The	first	strategic	error	was	to	switch
Special	 Operations	 resources	 from	Afghanistan	 to	 Iraq.	 As	 Gary	 Schroen	 has
pointed	 out:	 “In	 early	 2002,	 in	 the	 immediate	 aftermath	 of	 the	 battle	 at	 Tora
Bora…CIA	and	specially	trained	U.S.	military	Special	Operations	units	began	to
organize	 teams	 in	 the	 provincial	 areas	 east	 and	 southeast	 of	 Kabul	 along
Afghanistan’s	 border	with	 Pakistan.	 These	 teams,	 relatively	 small	 and	mobile,
operated	 out	 of	 temporary	 compounds	 protected	 by	 local	 commanders,	 who
provided	 manpower,	 intelligence	 and	 firepower	 as	 the	 teams	 tracked	 down
terrorist	elements….	Initial	results	were	promising.

“However,	 as	 early	 as	 March	 2002,	 the	 U.S.	 military	 began	 to	 withdraw
many	of	the	key	units	involved	in	this	effort,	in	order	to	allow	them	to	regroup
and	train	in	preparation	for	the	coming	war	with	Iraq.	These	special	units	were
replaced,	for	the	most	part,	with	members	of	conventional	U.S.	military	forces,
such	as	the	10th	Mountain	Division.	While	staffed	with	excellent,	brave	soldiers,
these	forces	lacked	the	training	and	the	agility	in	guerrilla	warfare	of	the	Special
Operations	units.”152

Later,	 though	 the	 CIA’s	 increasing	 use	 of	Hellfire	 anti-tank	missiles	 fired
from	Predator	drones	caused	dismay	to	Islamist	foes,	critics	claimed	this	strategy
also	 brought	 about	 so	many	 innocent	 civilian	 deaths	 that	 its	 employment,	 like
strategic	 B-52	 bombing	 in	 Cambodia	 and	 elsewhere,	 became	 politically
counterproductive.	Irregular	warfare,	after	all,	is	about	winning	hearts	and	minds
rather	 than	 occupation	 of	 territory	 or,	 as	 in	 Vietnam,	 computing	 success	 by
reference	to	the	body	count.	As	the	CIA	prepared	to	increase	Predator	strikes	on
“high	value	human	targets,”	officials	claimed	that	in	eighty	such	attacks	between
the	summer	of	2008	and	mid-December	2009,	more	than	400	militants	had	been
killed,	 as	 well	 as	 twenty	 civilians.	 Human	 rights	 groups	 believed	 the	 civilian
death	toll	was	260.

Targeted	 assassination	 from	 the	 air,	 combined	with	 ritualized	 regret	 about
“collateral	 damage,”	 was	 perfected	 by	 Israel.	 But	 then,	 Israel	 seeks	 not	 to
persuade	 its	 enemies	 but—witness	 Operation	Wrath	 of	 God,	 the	 international



manhunt	for	the	Munich	Massacre	terrorists—to	suppress	them.
Within	 a	 Pentagon	 think	 tank	 called	 the	 Defense	 Science	 Board,	 the

philosophy	was	taken	a	stage	further	in	2002	with	a	proposal	for	a	Proactive	Pre-
emptive	 Operations	 Group	 (P2OG)	 to	 “proactively,	 pre-emptively	 evoke
responses	from	adversary/terrorist	groups.”153	This	could	be	interpreted	to	mean
that	a	clandestine	unit,	 similar	 to	 the	pseudo-gangs	employed	by	 the	British	 in
Kenya	 in	 the	 1950s,	 would	 launch	 false-flag	 operations	 aimed	 at	 stimulating
reactions	among	terrorists.	The	defense	analyst	David	Isenberg	believed	it	would
“prod	terrorist	cells	 into	action,	 thus	exposing	them	to	‘quick	response’	attacks
by	U.S.	 forces.	The	means	 by	which	 it	would	 do	 this	 is	 the	 far	 greater	 use	 of
special	forces.”

Such	 blue-sky	 thinking	 probably	 appealed	 to	 the	 Bush	 administration,
contributing	to	the	creation	of	the	National	Clandestine	Service	in	2005.	But	in
this	conflict,	the	underlying	assumption—that	by	flushing	out	the	enemy	so	as	to
kill	 him	 in	 large	 numbers,	 a	 political	 victory	 could	 be	 achieved—failed	 to
recognize	the	potency	of	the	cult	of	death	and	martyrdom	that	underpins	Islamist
terror.	The	 immediate	 impact	was	 to	make	 the	Pentagon,	not	 the	CIA,	 the	 lead
agency	 in	operations	 that	 could	be	 characterized	 as	 “black.”	The	new	doctrine
evolved	into	a	belief	in	decapitation.	This	did	not	mean	the	physical	removal	of
victim	 heads	 (though	 the	 British	 did	 chop	 them	 in	 Malaya,	 to	 identify	 dead
terrorists	 more	 easily	 than	 removing	 an	 entire	 body	 from	 the	 jungle	 by
helicopter).	 In	 Iraq	 and	Afghanistan,	 “decapitation”	was	 used	 figuratively	 and
politically	to	describe	a	policy	of	removing	key	players	on	the	opposition	team.
The	 Pentagon’s	 decision	 to	 issue	 packs	 of	 playing	 cards	 to	 soldiers	 in	 Iraq,
bearing	portraits	 of	 the	most-wanted	 fugitives,	 gave	physical	 expression	 to	 the
process.	The	 jury	must	 still	 be	 out	 on	 the	 result	 of	 this	 strategy	 in	 the	Af-Pak
War.	The	 strategy	worked	 for	Michael	Collins	 in	 Ireland	back	 in	1919/20,	but
then	 he	 led	 an	 indigenous	 resistance	 guerrilla	 army,	 not	 an	 alien
counterinsurgency	force.

In	terms	of	attrition,	decapitation	seemed	to	have	something	going	for	it	by
2007.	 In	 that	 year,	 according	 to	 a	 source	 within	 the	 rebel	 movement,	 the
insurgency	lost	half	 its	deputy	commanders.	U.S.	field	commanders	claimed	to
have	killed	or	captured	100	middle	ranking	enemy	and	a	number	of	top	people	in
addition.	This	was	achieved	by	a	variety	of	means	developed	by	the	Israelis	as
well	 as	 British	 and	 American	 signals	 intelligence	 specialists	 at	 the	 National
Security	Agency	and	 its	English	 counterpart,	GCHQ.	Cell	 phones	 and	 satellite
phones	were	like	a	tin	can	tied	to	a	dog’s	tail,	and	more	easily	pursued.	British
Special	 Forces	 in	 the	 wilderness	 of	 Afghanistan	 received	 real-time	 guidance
about	 the	 locations	 of	 their	 adversaries	 from	 a	 base	 in	 England.	 In	 the	 field,



infantry	units	were	able	to	employ	their	own	Unmanned	Aerial	Vehicles	such	as
Hermes	 to	 watch	 the	 enemy	 prepare	 hides	 for	 roadside	 mines	 known	 in	 the
jargon	 as	 IEDs	 (for	 Improvised	 Explosive	Devices).	 The	 British	 problem	was
that	they	were	under-resourced.	There	were	more	IEDs	than	UAVs.

The	 Taliban	 response	 to	 Anaconda	 was	 to	 cut	 the	 number	 of	 sacrificial
frontal	assaults.	It	also	ordered	commanders	to	use	couriers	in	preference	to	cell
phones	and	to	limit	 the	number	of	men	in	most	operations	to	between	five	and
eight.	 a	policy	 that	worked	 for	 the	 IRA	 in	Northern	 Ireland	between	1970	and
1998.	After	2002,	the	indirect	warfare	strategy	represented	by	IEDs,	perfected	by
Islamists	in	Iraq	and	reliant	on	technical	know-how	from	Iran	and	Pakistan,	was
one	of	the	most	effective	weapons	employed	by	the	Taliban	in	this	second	phase
of	 the	Afghanistan	war.	Out	of	21	Green	Berets	killed	 in	action	between	2001
and	2009,	twelve	fell	victims	to	roadside	bombs.	In	2009,	at	least	175	American
and	allied	troops	were	killed	this	way,	double	the	number	the	year	before.	In	Iraq
and	Afghanistan,	many	British	 Special	 Forces	were	 killed	 by	 roadside	 bombs,
largely	 due	 to	 their	 country’s	 failure	 to	 invest	 in	 hardened	 vehicles	 and
helicopters.	 There	 were	 also	 numerous	 coalition	 victims	 among	 conventional
military	units	not	engaged	in	 the	higher-risk	operations	 that	SF	teams	accepted
as	part	of	the	job.

The	price	of	stalemate	 in	Afghanistan	as	 the	Bush	era	came	 to	an	end	was
being	paid	 in	civilian	 lives	as	well	as	 those	of	combatants	on	both	sides.	Most
civilian	 casualties,	 as	 Human	 Rights	 Watch	 acknowledges,	 were	 caused	 by
Taliban	fighters	including	suicide	bombers.	This	conclusion	was	confirmed	by	a
UN	 report	 that	 found	 that	 militants	 were	 responsible	 for	 55	 per	 cent	 of	 the
deaths.	The	greater	political	damage	was	suffered	by	U.S.	and	NATO	forces	as
wedding	parties	in	obscure	villages	came	under	deadly	aerial	bombing.

The	 New	 York-based	 advocacy	 group	 Human	 Rights	 Watch	 (HRW)
concluded	after	dogged	 research:	 “The	combination	of	 light	ground	 forces	and
overwhelming	air	power	has	become	the	dominant	doctrine	of	war	for	the	U.S.
in	Afghanistan.”154	The	same	analysis	distinguished	between	pre-planned	strikes
on	 suspected	Taliban	 hideouts	 (“Interdiction”	 in	 soldier-speak)	 and	 the	 forces’
response	to	unexpected	contacts	with	the	enemy	(“Close	Air	Support”)	whether
by	 accident	 or	 as	 a	 result	 of	 ambush.	 In	 cases	 that	 HRW	 categorized	 as
“unplanned”	 air	 strikes,	 U.S.	 Special	 Forces	 were	 prominent,	 if	 only	 because
they	 often	 acted	 as	 the	 forward	 reconnaissance	 team	 for	 a	 sweep	 by	 regular
soldiers.	 Sometimes	 outnumbered	 and	 surrounded,	 their	 only	 recourse	 was	 to
call	 on	 air	 power,	 a	 legitimate	 reaction	 in	 a	 free-fire	 zone	but	 inappropriate	 in
densely	 populated	 civilian	 areas.	 In	 another	 scenario,	 as	 HRW	 noted,	 Taliban
fighters	occupied	villages	so	as	to	use	them	as	bases	for	attacks	on	U.S.	forces,



effectively	using	local	people	as	human	shields.
The	concern	increased	after	a	suicide	bomb	attack	on	a	U.S.	Marine	Corps

Special	Operations	team	near	Jalalabad	on	4	March	2007.	Human	rights	groups
alleged	that	the	Marines’	response	was	to	kill	nineteen	unarmed	civilians	and	to
wound	 another	 fifty	 as	 the	 convoy	 drove	 away	 from	 the	 scene,	 shooting	 at
everything	 that	 moved	 over	 a	 six-mile	 route.	 The	 unit	 was	 ordered	 out	 of
Afghanistan	by	Army	General	Frank	Kearney,	commander	of	Special	Operations
in	 the	 region.	A	court	 of	 inquiry	 followed	 in	 the	U.S.	The	Marine	Lieutenant-
General	 commanding	 U.S.	Marine	 Forces	 at	 Central	 Command	 ruled	 that	 the
convoy	“acted	appropriately	and	in	accordance	with	the	rules	of	engagement	and
tactics,	techniques	and	procedures	in	place	at	the	time	in	response	to	a	complex
attack.”

Germany’s	 response	 to	 a	 similar	 nightmare	was	 less	 robust.	 In	 September
2009,	two	petrol	tankers	were	hijacked	by	the	Taliban	and	taken	to	the	banks	of
the	Kunduz	River,	where	they	were	bogged	down.	A	German	officer	 in	charge
of	the	area	called	an	air	strike	by	two	USAF	F-15s,	whose	bombs	wiped	out	the
tankers	and	killed	around	142	people,	including	a	number	of	civilians.	Was	it	a
legitimate	 call?	 Some	 civilians	 were	 looting	 the	 petrol,	 either	 for	 their	 own
benefit	or	on	 instructions	 from	 the	Taliban.	Was	 it	clear	enough	 that	 to	hit	 the
target	would	cause	unacceptable	civilian	casualties,	contravening	McChrystal’s
new	 policy	 of	 avoiding	 such	 incidents?	 A	 leaked	 report	 on	 the	 affair	 back	 in
Germany	 coincided	with	America’s	 appeal	 to	 allies	 to	 send	more	 soldiers	 into
this	 war.	 A	 political	 rumpus	 provoked	 the	 resignation	 of	 Germany’s	 Defense
Minister,	Franz	Josef	Jung.

The	ramifications	of	the	affair	did	not	end	there.	Though	the	German	Army
was	slow	to	follow	up	the	air	attack	on	the	ground,	to	confirm	the	facts	and	head
off	a	Taliban	propaganda	coup,	an	Anglo-Irish	journalist	named	Stephen	Farrell,
working	for	The	New	York	Times,	and	his	interpreter,	Sultan	Munadi,	did	reach
the	scene	the	following	day.	They	were	promptly	taken	hostage	by	the	Taliban.
An	urgent,	joint	Anglo-American	Special	Forces	rescue	operation	was	mounted.
Aided	 by	 radio	 and	 telephone	 intercepts	 provided—almost	 certainly—by	 The
Activity,	British	SAS	soldiers	launched	an	attack	on	the	compound	where	Farrell
and	Munadi	were	held.	An	intense	gun	battle	followed.	Farrell	dived	into	a	ditch
and	shouted	to	his	rescuers	he	was	a	British	hostage.	Munadi	was	killed,	as	was
an	 SAS	 soldier.	 The	 incident	 revived	 a	 debate	 among	 British	 Special	 Forces
about	 the	 role	 of	 reporters,	 and	 whose	 responsibility	 it	 was	 if,	 on	 high-risk
assignments	of	their	choosing,	they	became	prisoners.

In	 2008,	 the	 UN	 concluded,	 a	 total	 of	 2,118	 civilians	 had	 been	 killed	 in
Afghanistan,	 the	 worst	 year	 since	 the	 2001	 invasion.	 While	 insurgents	 were



responsible	for	the	majority	of	these,	828	of	the	casualties	were	caused	by	pro-
government	forces.	Two	thirds	of	that	group	died	as	a	result	of	air	strikes.	The
impact	 of	 these	 deaths	 sent	 ripples	 of	 indignation	 through	 the	 coalition.	 In	 an
unsourced	 statement,	 HRW	 claimed:	 “Beyond	 violations	 of	 international
humanitarian	law,	the	political	cost	of	each	bombing	that	goes	awry	is	high.	In
one	district,	a	senior	British	commander	asked	U.S.	Special	Operations	Forces	to
leave	his	district	due	 to	 the	mounting	civilian	casualties	 caused	when	 the	U.S.
repeatedly	called	 in	airstrikes	 to	 rescue	small	numbers	of	 special	 forces	during
firefights	 with	 insurgent	 forces.	 Each	 civilian	 death	 for	 which	U.S.	 or	 NATO
forces	are	perceived	to	be	responsible	increases	hostility	to	the	U.S.	and	NATO
forces	and	may	increase	support	for	anti-government	forces.”	In	December	2008,
Kai	 Eide,	 the	 UN’s	 special	 representative	 in	 Kabul,	 suggested	 that	 harsh
criticism	of	 allied	 strategy	 by	Hamid	Karzai	 (by	 then	 into	 his	 first	 tour	 as	 the
country’s	president)	was	“authentic.”

For	 a	 time,	 the	 bombing	 and	 attacks	 on	 civilian	 houses	 continued	 after
President	Obama’s	 inauguration.	U.S.-led	air	 strikes	 in	Farah	province	early	 in
May	2009	destroyed	houses	“packed	with	terrified	civilians,”	killing	more	than	a
hundred	people.	Yet	with	 the	Obama	 factor	 came	 the	 first	 signs	 of	 a	 dramatic
change	of	strategy.	Covert	Special	Forces	operations,	 including	nocturnal	 raids
on	 the	 homes	 of	 Taliban	 suspects,	 were	 halted	 on	 the	 orders	 of	 Special
Operations	Command.	The	only	exceptions	permitted	were	“the	highest	ranking
leaders	of	the	Taliban	and	Al	Qaida.”

Soon	after	this	decision,	the	senior	American	soldier	in	Afghanistan,	General
David	D.	McKiernan,	was	forced	to	resign	to	clear	the	way	for	a	new	approach
to	the	conduct	of	the	war.	He	had	been	in	command	for	only	eleven	months.	He
was	replaced	by	Lieutenant	General	Stanley	A.	McChrystal,	commander	of	 the
Joint	Special	Operations	Command,	a	Green	Beret	soldier	and	qualified	Ranger
who	liked	to	lead	from	the	front.	In	Iraq,	Delta	Force,	under	his	command,	was
credited	with	capturing	Saddam	Hussein	and	with	 the	hunt	 that	ended	with	 the
death	 of	Abu	Musab	 al-Zarqawi,	 an	 al	Qaeda	 chieftain.	 Both	 operations	were
remarkable	for	their	precision.

It	would	be	some	time	before	the	new	strategy	could	be	expected	to	achieve
a	military	victory	while	retrieving	the	catastrophic	loss	of	popular	support	for	the
anti-Taliban	campaign	that	had	occurred	in	both	Afghanistan	and	Pakistan	over
the	 preceding	 eight	 years.	 Some	 commentators	 believed	 that	 McChrystal
represented	 “a	 more	 aggressive	 and	 innovative”	 approach,	 though	 what	 the
Afghanistan	strategy	needed,	after	decades	of	conflict,	was	a	rapier	rather	than	a
cosh.	 This	 implied	 even	 greater	 reliance	 on	 Special	 Forces	 of	 every	 sort,	 but
limiting	 their	 use	 of	 air	 power	 as	 a	 form	 of	 instant	 and	 often	 self-defeating



artillery.
The	Maudling	 formula,	 “a	 tolerable	 level	 of	 violence,”	 if	 that	was	 to	 be	 a

component	 of	 future	 of	 U.S.	 strategy,	 would	 require	 a	 stoic,	 if	 not	 resigned,
acceptance	of	the	normality	of	body	bags	returning	from	Af-Pak’s	poppy-laden
killing	fields.	Certainly,	at	that	time,	the	nation’s	military	planners	expected	the
Global	War	on	Terror	to	be	a	very	prolonged	business	indeed,	stretching	over	a
generation	 or	 more.	 General	 McChrystal	 was	 the	 first	 to	 recognize,	 publicly,
another	 consequence	 of	 the	 new	 strategy,	 combining	Special	 Forces	 finesse	 to
reduce	 civilian	 casualties	 while	 killing	 foreign	 enemy	 fighters.	 As	 allied
casualties	resulting	from	the	surge	in	Afghanistan	rose	sharply	in	the	summer	of
2009,	McChrystal	 “ordered	his	 forces	 to	 reduce	aerial	bombing	because	of	 the
risk	to	civilians.”	One	outcome	was	that	“the	additional	risks	to	soldiers	were	a
price	worth	paying.	If	 the	Afghan	people	swung	behind	the	Taliban	this	would
make	 the	war	unwinnable,”	he	 said.	 “In	 the	 long	 run	 it	 is	more	 economical	 in
terms	of	loss	of	life	to	operate	this	way	because	we	can	gain	the	support	of	the
population.”155

Meanwhile,	the	cost	in	U.S.	lives	was	rising.	On	26	October	2009	a	Chinook
helicopter	attempted	to	rescue	a	Special	Forces	team	that	had	made	a	nocturnal
raid	on	a	drug	smuggler’s	compound	in	Badghis	Province,	western	Afghanistan.
The	operation	was	supported	by	Afghan	commandos	and	civilians	from	the	Drug
Enforcement	 Agency.	 The	 helicopter	 crashed	 on	 takeoff,	 landing	 in	 a	 local
bazaar.	 Taliban	 sources	 claimed	 they	 had	 shot	 it	 down.	 A	 U.S.	 military
spokesman	revealed:	“Seven	U.S.	service	members	and	three	U.S.	civilians	were
killed.”	 At	 least	 eleven	 American	 soldiers	 were	 wounded,	 as	 were	 fourteen
Afghan	soldiers	and	one	American	civilian.	“More	than	a	dozen	enemy	fighters
were	 killed	 in	 the	 ensuing	 firefight.”156	 The	 “ensuing	 firefight”	 was	 a	 hectic
affair	in	which	the	Islamists	pressed	home	their	attack.	It	was	not	clear	how	the
survivors	were	finally	extracted.

There	was	 less	doubt	 about	 the	 reasons	why	 the	attack	was	 launched.	 In	 a
radical	 tactical	 shift	 away	 from	poppy	eradication	 toward	 interdicting	 the	drug
supply	 train	 and	 in	 collaboration	with	Britain	 and	Australia,	 the	Pentagon	 had
recently	 placed	 fifty	 of	 the	most	 powerful	 drug	 barons	 on	 a	 “kill	 or	 capture”
agenda,	officially	described	as	 “the	 joint	 integrated	prioritized	 target	 list.”	The
list	 included	 another	 317	 individuals.	 The	 reason	 the	 drug	 barons	 now	 rated
equally	with	leading	terrorists	as	legitimate	military	targets	was	that	the	Taliban
depended	increasingly	for	funds	on	the	narcotics	industry.	The	narcos,	for	their
part,	could	not	function	without	Taliban	protection	and	logistics.	To	qualify	for
inclusion	 in	 the	 list,	 the	 suspect	 must	 have	 “proven	 links	 to	 the	 insurgency”



confirmed	by	two	“verifiable	human	sources.”	They	could	not	be	killed	off	the
battlefield,	but	 “battlefield,”	 in	 this	 context,	was	not	defined.	Because	of	 these
caveats,	in	Pentagon	eyes,	the	agenda	could	not	be	described	as	an	assassination
plan.	 As	 Rear	 Admiral	 Gregory	 Smith,	 senior	 U.S.	 military	 spokesman	 in
Afghanistan,	confirmed:	“The	list	of	targets	are	those	that	are	contributing	to	the
insurgency—the	key	leadership—and	part	of	that	obviously	is	the	link	between
the	narco-industry	and	the	militants.”157	In	the	Pentagon’s	eyes,	the	targets	were
not	assassinated,	since	their	deaths	occurred	on	the	battlefield.

America’s	 allies	 in	 this	 strategy	were	Britain	 and	Australia.	 It	was	unclear
whether	all	the	British	participants	knew	what	they	were	getting	into.	Little	or	no
public	 discussion	 took	 place	 in	 the	 U.K.	 An	 investigator	 representing	 the
country’s	Serious	Organized	Crime	Agency	suggested:	“In	the	past,	the	military
would	 have	 hit	 and	 evidence	 would	 not	 have	 been	 collected.	 Now,	 with	 law
enforcement	present,	we	are	seizing	the	ledgers	and	other	information	to	develop
an	 intelligence	 profile	 of	 the	 networks	 and	 the	 drug	 kingpins,”	 to	 which	 an
American	military	officer	dryly	replied:	“Our	long-term	approach	is	 to	 identify
the	regional	drug	figures	and	corrupt	government	officials	and	persuade	them	to
choose	legitimacy	or	remove	them	from	the	battlefield.”158	They	might	be	lucky
to	 have	 a	 choice.	 In	 2002,	 a	 senior	 Pentagon	 legal	 official	 suggested	 to	 the
Crimes	 of	 War	 Project:	 “When	 we	 have	 a	 lawful	 military	 target	 that	 the
commander	 determines	 needs	 to	 be	 taken	 out,	 there	 is	 by	 no	 means	 a
requirement	 under	 the	 law	 of	 armed	 conflict	 that	 we	must	 send	 a	 warning	 to
those	people	and	say,	you	may	surrender	 rather	 than	be	 targeted,”	 though	U.S.
policy	“did	not	try	to	kill	people	who	could	be	detained.”159

Whatever	the	legalities,	the	new	strategy	had	some	early	success.	An	official
report	discloses:	“The	village	of	Marjah	in	southern	Afghanistan	has	long	been
an	insurgent	stronghold	and	bustling	hub	of	drug	smuggling	about	fifteen	miles
southwest	 of	 Lashgar	 Gah,	 the	 capital	 of	 poppy-rich	 Helmand	 Province.	 The
Taliban	felt	safe	gathering	and	training	there,	and	they	often	stored	weapons	and
explosives	in	the	village	bazaars.

“In	 late	April	2009,	U.S.	military	 intelligence	picked	up	 information	 that	a
spectacular	attack	on	Lashgar	Gah	had	been	ordered	by	the	Taliban’s	leadership
in	 exile,	 safely	 ensconced	 across	 the	 border	 in	 Quetta,	 Pakistan.	 The	 target
appeared	to	be	Gulab	Mangal,	the	new	governor	who	was	having	some	success
persuading	 farmers	 to	 turn	 away	 from	 poppy	 to	 other	 crops.	 Marjah	 was
designated	 by	 the	Taliban	 leadership	 as	 the	 staging	 ground	 for	 the	 attack,	 and
fighters	 from	 across	 Afghanistan	 and	 as	 far	 away	 as	 Waziristan	 in	 Pakistan
began	filtering	into	the	village.	Along	with	the	usual	arsenal	of	AK-47s,	grenade



launchers,	and	explosives,	they	towed	in	four	Soviet-era	anti-aircraft	guns,	a	sign
the	operation	was	going	to	be	big.

“As	the	contingent	grew,	the	Taliban	bosses	in	Quetta	pressed	to	launch	the
attack.	 But	 the	 local	 commanders	 insisted	 on	 delaying	 because	 many	 of	 their
fighters	were	working	 in	 the	 fields,	harvesting	 the	 last	of	 the	poppy	crop.	 ‘We
still	have	poppies	in	the	field,’	one	commander	said	in	a	conversation	picked	up
by	military	intelligence.	‘We	do	it	when	we	come	out.’

“As	Afghan	and	U.S.	 troops	prepared	 for	 their	 surprise	assault	on	Lashgar
Gah,	an	opportune	distraction	occurred.	British	forces	killed	a	local	tribal	leader
in	 an	 unrelated	 skirmish,	 causing	 the	 Taliban	 to	 postpone	 the	 attack	 for	 three
days	 of	 funeral	 services	 for	 the	 leader,	 who	 had	 ties	 to	 the	 insurgency.	 The
Taliban	fighters	were	 in	 the	midst	of	 the	second	night	of	mourning	on	May	19
when	 they	 heard	 the	 prodigious	 thumping	 of	 a	 fleet	 of	 military	 helicopters
approaching.	Within	minutes,	 the	 night	 sky	was	 ablaze	with	 the	 first	 shots	 in
what	would	become	a	fierce	three-day	firefight	on	a	deadly	piece	of	ground	not
far	from	the	border	with	Pakistan.

“The	composition	of	the	coalition	force	that	attacked	Marjah	says	a	lot	about
how	 far	we	have	 come	 in	Afghanistan.	Eighty	 percent	 of	 the	 216	 troops	were
American-trained	 commandos	 from	 the	 Afghan	 National	 Army.	 They	 were
augmented	 by	 U.S.	 Special	 Forces	 and	 NATO	 soldiers.	 The	 presence	 of	 a
twelve-man	 DEA	 paramilitary	 team	 also	 reflected	 a	 new	 level	 of	 cooperation
between	 the	military	 and	 law	 enforcement;	 the	DEA	was	 there	 to	 identify	 the
drugs	 and	 processing	 chemicals	 that	 intelligence	 had	 said	 were	 hidden	 in	 the
local	bazaars.

“After	 three	 days	 of	 intense	 fighting,	 about	 sixty	 militants	 lay	 dead	 and
coalition	 forces	 had	 seized	 roughly	 100	 tons	 of	 heroin,	 hashish,	 opium	 paste,
poppy	seeds	and	precursor	chemicals	used	to	turn	opium	into	heroin.	The	troops
also	 uncovered	 a	 cache	 of	 weapons,	 suicide	 belts	 and	 explosives	 as	 well	 as
sophisticated	 communications	 equipment	 inside	 the	 opium	 bazaar,	 indicating
that	the	Taliban	had	used	it	as	a	command	center.	The	haul	was	dragged	into	a
huge	pile	on	the	outskirts	of	the	town	and	plans	were	made	to	have	a	jet	fly	over
and	bomb	the	material.	But	a	senior	U.S.	military	officer	said	that…the	resulting
explosion	would	be	the	equivalent	of	an	80,000-pound	bomb,	which	would	have
wiped	 out	 everything	 in	 a	wide	 swath.	 So	 the	 cache	was	 divided	 into	 smaller
piles	 and	 blown	 up	 from	 the	 ground.”	 An	 equally	 large	 store	 of	 drugs	 was
spirited	away	before	the	attackers	could	get	to	it.	Who	owned	the	drugs?	“There
is	 strong	 evidence	 the	 drugs	 belonged	 to	 a	 former	 police	 chief	 now	 living	 in
Kabul.”160

By	the	time	the	Marjah	operation	happened,	a	police	colonel	identified	only



as	Commander	S.	was	 in	custody	 in	Kabul	awaiting	 trial	on	drug	charges.	His
property	 was	 raided	 in	 November	 2008	 by	 Special	 Forces	 soldiers	 who
discovered	forty	 tons	of	cannabis	plants.	His	 lawyer	said	 the	plants	were	being
kept	“for	use	as	winter	fuel.”	He	was	not	arrested	until	eight	months	later,	when
CIA	 and	 British	 SIS	 agents	 enticed	 him	 into	 a	 meeting	 at	 Kandahar	 airport,
where	 he	was	 separated	 from	 his	 bodyguard	 by	 local	 Special	 Forces,	 the	 333
Commando	Brigade,	mentored	by	the	British	SBS.	British	officials	alleged	that
80	kilograms	of	opium	was	found	in	the	commander’s	home	and	that	instead	of
congratulations,	 there	were	 “howls	 of	 protest”	 from	President	Karzai’s	 palace.
The	 commander’s	 defense	 lawyer	 pleaded	 guilty	 on	 his	 behalf	 to	 assisting
smugglers	but	denied	he	ran	a	network	in	Arghestan,	near	the	Pakistan	border.

The	 emphasis	 on	 a	 strategy	 of	 decapitation	 was	 sometimes
counterproductive.	During	the	summer	of	2009	the	son	and	wife	of	Abdul	Wahid
Baghrani,	described	as	“the	most	senior	former	Taliban	commander	in	Helmand
to	 have	 been	 reconciled”	 to	 collaboration	 with	 the	 West,	 were	 killed	 in	 a
“mistargeted	 ambush	 by	 Special	 Forces	 operating	 in	 the	 British	 zone.”	 The
killings	 caused	 outrage	 among	 Helmand’s	 tribes.	 Baghrani	 was	 no	 longer
reconciled.	Such	episodes	also	left	unresolved	the	depressing	possibility	that	the
presence	 of	 foreign	 troops	 on	Afghan	 soil	might	 become	 the	 problem,	 not	 the
solution.

President	Obama	 spent	months	weighing	 the	 implications	of	 a	 report	 from
General	 McChrystal,	 proposing	 a	 new	 surge	 of	 40,000	 men	 to	 drive	 the
insurgency	out	of	population	centers	to	protect	civilians.	An	alternative	strategy
envisaged	 a	minimal	 presence	on	 the	ground	 accompanied	by	maximum	hunt-
and-kill	missions	 targeted	 on	 al	Qaeda	 leaders	 using	 Special	 Forces.	Obama’s
planning	 was	 also	 bogged	 down	 by	 Afghanistan’s	 stolen	 election	 and	 the
confirmation	of	Hamid	Karzai’s	re-election	as	his	country’s	president.

As	 he	 pondered,	 like	Rodin’s	 Thinker,	 a	 parallel	 strategy	 of	 striking	 local
deals	 with	 the	 enemy	 was	 lapping	 around	 the	 back	 of	 the	 White	 House.	 An
incoming	tide	of	new	facts	was	embracing	Cnut’s	throne;	and	a	throne,	as	Cnut
might	 have	 said,	 is	 not	 a	 beachhead.	 There	 were	 rumors	 that	 the	 Italian
contingent	had	bought	peace	in	its	area	of	responsibility	(Sarobi,	forty	miles	east
of	Kabul),	leaving	its	French	successors	to	walk	unwittingly	into	a	hail	of	bullets
when	the	bribes	ceased.	Ten	French	soldiers	were	killed	and	twenty	wounded	in
one	 ambush.	 A	 local	 warlord	 allegedly	 on	 the	 Italian	 payroll,	 Ghulam	Yahya
Akbari,	did	not	live	long	enough	to	spend	the	money	before	he,	too,	was	killed
by	U.S.	Special	Forces.161	Even	the	British	produced	a	new	doctrine	proposing:
“The	best	weapons	to	counter	insurgents	don’t	shoot.	In	other	words,	use	bags	of
gold	in	the	short	term	to	change	the	security	dynamics.	But	you	don’t	just	chuck



gold	at	them.	This	has	to	be	done	wisely.”162	This,	like	many	other	confusions,
was	 not	 the	 result	 of	 the	 fog	 of	 war.	 It	 reflected	 an	 uncoordinated	 military
command.	 As	 the	 British	 experience	 of	 Malaya	 had	 demonstrated	 fifty	 years
earlier,	an	overarching,	unified	civil/military	command	structure	was	vital	if	this
sort	of	war	was	not	to	be	lost	to	the	guerrillas.

Meanwhile	the	CIA	had	apparently	reverted	to	its	old	habits,	running	its	war
in	 its	 own	 way	 in	 Afghanistan,	 lubricating	 warlords	 with	 dollars.	 In	 October
2009,	The	New	York	Times	 claimed	 that	 a	 tribal	 leader	was	 being	 paid	 by	 the
Agency	to	arrange	contacts	with	the	Taliban	to	permit	U.S.	Special	Forces	and
local	 paramilitaries	 known	 as	 the	 Kandahar	 Strike	 Force	 to	 use	 a	 large
compound	 near	 that	 city.	 The	 compound	 was	 a	 former	 home	 of	 the	 Taliban
founder,	Mullah	Omar.	The	tribal	leader	on	the	payroll,	it	was	alleged,	was	none
other	than	the	Afghan	president’s	controversial	brother,	Ahmed	Wali	Karzai.	As
a	Senate	committee	report	put	it:	“Stories	about	him	are	legendary—how	Afghan
police	 and	military	 commanders	 who	 seize	 drugs	 in	 southern	Afghanistan	 are
told	 by	 Ahmed	 Wali	 to	 return	 them	 to	 the	 traffickers,	 how	 he	 arranged	 the
imprisonment	 of	 a	 DEA	 informant	 who	 had	 tipped	 the	 Americans	 to	 a	 drug-
laden	 truck	near	Kabul,	how	his	accusers	have	often	 turned	up	dead.	No	proof
has	surfaced,	and	he	and	President	Karzai	have	denied	the	accusations.”163

In	targeting	the	drug	industry’s	big	players—or	at	least	those	believed	to	be
in	 bed	 with	 the	 Taliban—Obama’s	 strategy	 seemed	 to	 be	 moving	 toward	 a
revival	 of	 the	Phoenix	 strategy	 of	 selective	 assassination	 in	Vietnam.	 It	 raised
complex	 legal	 issues	 about	 human	 rights	 and	 rules	 of	 engagement.	 No	 doubt
Obama,	 a	 skilled,	 experienced	 lawyer,	 had	 thought	 of	 that.	 But	 talking	 to	 the
enemy,	 while	 still	 killing	 his	 grunts,	 is	 a	 classic	 stratagem	 in	 any
counterinsurgency,	as	 the	British	demonstrated	in	Northern	Ireland.	It	has	been
tried	 once	 and	might	 have	 succeeded	 but	 for	 the	 Kabul	 government.	 In	 2007
Michael	Semple,	an	Irish	diplomat	working	as	a	UN	political	officer,	established
a	 discreet	 dialogue	with	 a	 Taliban	 former	 general.	 Their	 shared	 objective	was
practical	 reconciliation	 through	 rehabilitation	 camps	 for	 former	 enemies.	 The
Afghans	involved	were	arrested	on	Karzai’s	orders.	During	the	Christmas	break
a	few	weeks	later,	Semple	and	a	colleague	from	Northern	Ireland	were	expelled
for	 “actions	 prejudicial	 to	 the	 security	 of	Afghanistan.”	 It	was	 another	missed
chance	of	peace.164

In	 2010,	 President	Obama	 tried	 again,	 dispatching	 another	 30,000	 soldiers
on	 a	 limited	 mission,	 to	 regain	 the	 military	 and	 political	 initiative	 from	 the
Taliban	 in	 eighteen	months.	 But	 he	 also	 predicted	 a	 longer,	 continuing	 global
struggle	beyond	that	deadline	in	which	Special	Operations	Forces	would	be	the



cutting	edge	yet	again.



CHAPTER	5

PLAUSIBLY	DENIABLE	(AND	OTHER	WAYS	INTO
TROUBLE)

The	darkest,	most	 sensitive	Special	Forces	operations	are	 linked	 to	official,	or
quasi-official,	 intelligence	 agencies	 while	 remaining	 plausibly	 deniable.	 The
relationship	 between	 freelance	 soldier	 and	 government	 is	 akin	 to	 that	 of	 the
ventriloquist	 and	 his	 dummy.	 It	 is	 also	 sometimes	 competitive,	 sometimes
symbiotic.	While	the	CIA	has	its	own	direct	action	team,	the	Special	Activities
Division/Special	Operations	Group,	it	also	depends	for	many	of	its	operations	on
the	multi-service	Special	Operations	Command.	Neither	of	those	sources	might
be	armed	with	sufficient	deniability	to	make	them	plausible	comrades	in	arms	on
black	operations.	In	any	case,	critics	of	the	CIA	such	as	the	espionage	historian
David	Wise	argue:	“The	CIA	would	be	much	better	 serviced	by	getting	out	of
the	paramilitary	business	altogether	and	strengthening	its	clandestine	intelligence
gathering.	 It	 was,	 after	 all,	 created	 to	 avoid	 another	 Pearl	 Harbor.	 It	 should
concern	itself	now	with	preventing	another	9/11.”165	Even	some	former	insiders
argue	 that	 the	 Agency	 should	 stick	 to	 its	 main	 job	 of	 running	 agents	 and
collecting	intelligence,	leaving	it	to	SOCOM	to	carry	out	the	derring-do.

The	CIA’s	problem,	of	course,	is	that	SOCOM	is	under	Pentagon	control.	So
for	 the	 most	 controversial	 black	 operations,	 such	 as	 armed	 coups	 and
assassinations,	the	Agency	still	has	a	tendency	to	sub-contract	to	the	paramilitary
private	 sector.	 In	 June	 2009,	 Leon	 Panetta,	 newly	 appointed	 to	 run	 the	 CIA,
exposed	 to	 Congress	 a	 program	 through	 which	 the	 controversial	 security
company	Blackwater—now	rebranded	as	“Xe	Services”—would	help	train	CIA
assassins	to	kill	al	Qaeda	leaders.	Though	the	secret	program	ran	for	seven	years,
it	 seems	 to	have	produced	a	 zero	body	count.	Blackwater	would	have	 “helped
the	Agency	with	planning,	training	and	surveillance.”166	The	millionaire	boss	of
Blackwater,	 Erik	 Prince,	 felt	 betrayed.	He	 told	Vanity	 Fair:	 “When	 it	 became
politically	 expedient…someone	 threw	me	 under	 the	 bus.”	 It	 became	 apparent
that	 Prince,	 a	 right-wing	 patriot,	 offered	more	 than	 advice	 to	 the	Agency.	 He
claimed	 to	have	been	a	vetted	CIA	asset	 for	 five	years,	developing	at	his	own



expense	covert	means	of	penetrating	hard-target	countries	and	stalking	potential
targets,	including	al	Qaeda	operatives,	for	assassination.	A	source	close	to	Prince
disclosed:	“This	program	died	because	of	a	lack	of	political	will.”	And,	it	might
be	added,	fear	of	legal	trouble	in	spite	of	President	George	W.	Bush’s	license	to
the	CIA	to	use	“all	necessary	means”	against	Islamist	terrorists

News	of	 this	 arrangement	was	 broken	 by	 the	New	York	Times	 almost	 two
months	after	Panetta	informed	Congress.	The	paper	conceded	that	it	was	unclear
whether	 the	CIA	had	planned	to	use	 the	contractors	 to	capture	or	kill	al	Qaeda
operatives	 in	 practice	 or	 just	 to	 help	with	 training	 and	 surveillance.	Questions
about	 accountability	 also	 hung	 in	 the	 air.	 Robert	 Baer,	 a	 veteran	 CIA	 case
officer,	 mid-East	 expert,	 and	 skeptic	 of	 misplaced	 direct	 action,	 surmised:	 “I
suspect	that	if	 the	agreements	are	ever	really	looked	into—rather	than	a	formal
contract,	the	CIA	reportedly	brokered	individual	deals	with	top	company	brass—
we	will	 find	 out	 that	Blackwater’s	 assassination	work	was	more	 about	 bilking
the	U.S.	taxpayer	than	it	was	killing	Osama	bin	Laden	or	other	al	Qaeda	leaders.
More	than	a	few	senior	CIA	officers	retired	from	the	CIA	and	went	to	work	at
Blackwater….	But	Blackwater	 stood	 no	 better	 chance	 of	 placing	 operatives	 in
Pakistan’s	tribal	areas,	where	the	al	Qaeda	leadership	was	hiding	in	2004,	 than
the	CIA	or	the	U.S.	military	did.”167

This	 is	 not	 entirely	 accurate.	 The	 CIA-driven	 drone	 offensive	 in	 Pakistan
fired	 more	 than	 fifty	 missiles	 at	 Islamist	 targets	 in	 the	 tribal	 belt	 of	 Pakistan
during	 the	 year	 preceding	 Panetta’s	 disclosure,	 killing	 numerous	 enemy
including	 the	 Taliban	 commander	 in	 Pakistan,	 Baitullah	 Mehsud.	 Part	 of	 the
price	of	that	strategy	was	the	innocent	blood	of	an	unknown	number	of	civilians
caught	in	the	crossfire	of	this	war.	At	the	same	time,	up	to	100	CIA	and	Special
Forces	 operators	 spent	months	 staring	 at	 computer	 screens	 inside	 the	 caves	 of
Waziristan,	 scanning	 hours	 of	 video	 footage	 of	 suspect	 houses,	 vehicles,	 and
faces	in	the	ongoing	hunt	for	bin	Laden	and	his	associates.	CIA	veterans	brought
out	 of	 retirement,	 back	 to	 the	 front	 line,	 are	 known	 as	 “The	 Cadre.”	 Their
freedom	 to	 roam	 was	 limited	 by	 their	 “hosts,”	 Pakistan’s	 own	 intelligence
agency	the	ISI,	elements	of	which	have	been	been	accused	of	secretly	supporting
the	Taliban.	Instead,	The	Cadre	did	their	best	using	human	surrogates,	who	were
regularly	assassinated.	One	agent	on	this	beat	was	Art	Keller,	who	told	a	British
correspondent:	 “These	 old	 hands,	 despite	 their	 age,	 are	willing	 to	 spend	many
months	in	conditions	most	people	would	say	is	akin	to	prison.	The	divorce	rate	is
through	the	roof.	Yet	it’s	part	of	the	allure	that	keeps	driving	them	back.	A	lot	of
the	time	you	are	just	sitting	reading	stuff	but	you	are	also	in	the	right	area.	It’s
the	big	show.	You	are	at	retirement	age,	but	are	you	really	going	to	sign	up	for



the	bowling	league?”168
If	 things	go	wrong	for	agents	manning	such	outposts,	 the	covert	extraction

plan	 is	 invoked.	 It	 is	 usually	 risky.	 Its	 political	 origins	 are	 hard	 to	 conceal
combining,	as	it	does,	the	joint	efforts	of	an	intelligence	agency,	Special	Forces
and,	occasionally,	freelances	drawn	from	the	private	sector.	Britain,	for	example,
relies	upon	“The	Increment,”	an	elite	drawn	from	the	SAS	and	SBS,	to	provide
tactical	support	for	the	Secret	Intelligence	Service	(MI6)	as	well	as	the	Royal	Air
Force	Special	Duties	Flight.	Using	specially	equipped	Puma	helicopters,	C-130
Hercules	 transports,	 and	 a	 variety	 of	 civilian	 aircraft,	 Increment	 groups	 can
usually	 smuggle	 agents	 into	 alien	 territory	 at	 night	 and	 in	 all	 weathers	 and
retrieve	 them	 from	 remote	 airstrips	 identified	 in	 advance.	 Nearby,	 there	 is	 a
prearranged	 emergency	 rendezvous.	 A	 plastic	 beer	 keg,	 buried	 underground,
contains	emergency	survival	rations	and	other	 items	enabling	the	compromised
spy	to	hide	out	for	several	days	until	the	rescue	team	arrives.	The	agents	in	their
turn	 are	 trained	 to	 use	 standard	 NATO	 flashlights	 fitted	 with	 infrared	 filters.
Arranged	in	a	T,	these	help	the	Special	Duty	pilots	to	identify	the	covert	airstrip.
Members	 of	 the	maritime	SBS,	 as	well	 as	 running	miniature	 submarines,	 take
civilian	qualifications	enabling	them	to	command	a	variety	of	non-military	craft
including	trawlers	as	part	of	the	same	organization.

A	former	SIS	officer,	Richard	Tomlinson,	described	how,	during	a	training
exercise	in	darkness	and	heavy	rain,	“the	Hercules	screamed	into	view….	With
its	props	on	full	reverse	thrust	and	its	tires	screeching	in	protest,	it	halted	in	an
astonishingly	short	space.	The	rear	ramp	dropped	and	a	Range	Rover	burst	out
and	tore	off	down	the	runway	toward	the	control	tower.	As	briefed…we	ran	to
the	aircraft	and	clambered	into	the	spacious	hold.	The	aircraft	executed	a	sharp
U-turn	and	accelerated	back	down	the	runway	as	we	clung	to	the	webbing	seats
inside,	took	off,	flew	a	tight	circuit,	and	landed	again.	The	rear	ramp	was	already
half-open	as	the	plane	touched	down,	giving	a	view	of	the	Range	Rover	hurtling
down	the	runway	after	us.	With	the	aircraft	still	rolling,	the	Range	Rover	hurtled
up	the	ramp	at	alarming	speed.	The	[Increment]	crew	strapped	it	down	and	only
seconds	after	 touching	down	we	were	airborne	again.	‘That	was	an	example	of
how	 we	 do	 hot	 exfiltrations,’	 Barry	 [one	 of	 the	 Increment]	 shouted	 over	 the
roaring	engines.”169

The	 greater	 the	 risk	 of	 compromise,	 the	 greater	 is	 the	 need	 for	 plausible
deniability.	It	is	also	the	area	where	freelance	soldiers,	many	of	them	ex-Special
Forces	 veterans,	 continue	 their	 military	 lifestyle	 beyond	 the	 limits	 of
accountability.	 Sometimes	 they	 are	 formally	 released	 from	 regular	 military
service	for	the	duration	of	a	black	operation	through	an	informal	re-identification



process	known	as	“sheep	dipping.”	Intelligence	agencies	will	employ	freelances
only	when	 there	 is	 no	 alternative.	Blocks	on	 the	use	of	 regular	Special	Forces
may	be	 legal	and	financial,	as	 in	 the	case	of	Nicaragua,	when	Congress	 turned
off	 funding	 for	 the	 Contras.	 They	 may	 be	 geopolitical,	 in	 cases	 where	 the
fingerprints	of	Washington,	London,	Paris,	or	Tel	Aviv	must	not	be	traced	to	a
black	operation.	The	attempt	to	blow	up	Sheikh	Fadlallah,	the	spiritual	leader	of
Hezbollah,	on	8	March	1985	in	Beirut	was	manipulated	through	various	cutouts
including,	possibly,	a	British	planner	and	Lebanese	foot	soldiers.

There	 are	 also,	 in	 the	 subtle	 world	 of	 intelligence	 warfare,	 degrees	 of
deniability.	 A	 spy	 using	 diplomatic	 cover	 as,	 say,	 his	 embassy’s	 commercial
secretary,	is	likely,	when	caught,	to	suffer	nothing	worse	than	a	declaration	that
he	is	persona	non	grata	and	sent	home,	though	the	loss	of	face	and	diplomatic
cover	can	be	substantial.	In	2005	four	British	SIS	men	were	filmed	at	different
times	 in	 a	 Moscow	 park	 while	 retrieving	 data	 from	 an	 electronic	 device
concealed	 inside	 a	 dummy	 rock.	 This	 was	 described	 by	 the	 Russian	 counter-
espionage	service,	the	Federal	Security	Service,	as	“the	21st	century	version	of
the	 dead-letter	 drop.”	 Using	 a	 palmtop	 high-speed	 transmitter	 carried	 by	 a
Russian	 intelligence	 “asset,”	 the	 secrets	 were	 downloaded	 to	 the	 rock	 as	 the
agent	 strolled	 past.	 The	 device,	 30	 centimeters	 wide,	 hollowed	 out	 to
accommodate	 a	 waterproof	 box	 containing	 the	 electronics	 to	 fit	 inside	 the
“rock,”	had	a	range	of	twenty	meters.

The	 data	 was	 retrieved	 electronically	 by	 one	 of	 the	 agent’s	 British
controllers.	The	British	agents	were	filmed	in	action	and	the	rock	itself	opened
and	 displayed	 on	 Russian	 television.	 Nikolai	 Zakharov,	 a	 spokesman	 for
Russia’s	FSB	 intelligence,	 said	 that	 the	U.K.’s	Secret	 Intelligence	Service	 had
promised	 in	1994	 that	 it	would	 stop	 spying	on	Russia,	 “but	 still	 as	a	 rule	 they
send	their	most	 talented	men.”	Surprisingly,	no	formal	complaint	was	made	by
Russia.	For	diplomatic	reasons,	the	Russians	concluded	that	television	exposure
and	the	arrest	of	the	British	“asset,”	along	with	international	ridicule,	sufficed.

For	other	spies,	using	a	natural	cover	as	a	doctor,	journalist	or	businessman
—cases	 where	 the	 cover	 is	 fact—the	 risk	 is	 the	 greater	 since	 diplomatic
immunity	from	trial	and	punishment	is	not	an	option.	British	intelligence	uses	a
tiny	band	of	patriots	known	as	“UKN.”	These	people	have	a	variety	of	skills	as
civil	 pilots,	 sailors,	 veterinary	 surgeons,	 and	 medical	 specialists.	 When	 SIS
blows	 the	bugle,	 they	volunteer	 to	work	at	 short	notice	 in	hostile	 situations.	 If
they	 are	 caught,	 the	 British	 government	 denies	 all	 knowledge	 of	 them.
Extracting	them	might	be	delegated	to	the	private	sector,	to	a	company	such	as
Control	Risks.	Following	Iraq’s	invasion	of	Kuwait	in	1990,	a	number	of	British
citizens	 working	 in	 Iraq	 became	 hostages.	 Some	 were	 alerted	 by	 secret	 radio



messages	to	arrive	at	a	prearranged	rendezvous	at	a	given	time.	They	were	then
smuggled	out	by	way	of	Kurdish	northern	Iraq,	into	Iran	and	flown	from	Tehran
back	 to	Britain.	Deals	of	 that	 sort	usually	 form	part	of	 the	K&R—Kidnap	and
Ransom—industry.

At	 the	extreme	end	of	deniability	 is	 the	use	of	assassination.	As	a	political
instrument,	 it	 is	 usually	 of	 little	 value	 except	 in	 those	 cases	 where	 the	 target
commands	 unusually	 centralized	 political	 power.	 The	 killing	 of	 the	 Taliban
chieftain	Baitullah	Mehsud	was	 such	 a	 case.	After	 his	 death,	 a	 power	 struggle
began	 within	 the	 Pakistani	 Taliban,	 setting	 off	 a	 series	 of	 terrorist	 attacks	 in
Pakistan	 by	 factions	 claiming	 leadership.	 If	 power	 is	 diffused,	 democratically,
then	 it	makes	 little	 sense	 to	 pick	 off	 one	 or	 two	 individuals.	 The	 IRA’s	 near-
success	 in	wiping	 out	 Prime	Minister	Thatcher	 and	 a	 number	 of	 her	ministers
with	a	bomb	at	their	Brighton	hotel	in	1984	came	close	to	achieving	a	decisive
political	 success.	The	 terrorists	 succeeded,	obliquely,	 in	1990,	by	assassinating
Thatcher’s	former	aide,	Ian	Gow,	a	Member	of	Parliament.	His	death	led	to	a	by-
election	 in	 a	 safe	 Conservative	 constituency.	 The	Conservatives	 lost.	 It	 was	 a
shock	result	that	finally	provoked	Thatcher’s	own	supporters	to	turn	against	her.
She	was	forced	to	resign	in	1990	during	Operation	Desert	Shield,	when	Britain
was	on	the	brink	of	war.

In	 spite	 of	 the	 unwisdom	 of	 assassination	 as	 a	 tool	 of	 political	 change,	 it
happens.	 “In	 unguarded	 moments”	 Major	 Andre	 Dennison,	 a	 former	 SAS
officer,	serving	the	white	supremacist	regime	in	Rhodesia,	“hinted	of	dark	deeds,
like	the	elusive	IRA	leader	holed	up	in	his	Londonderry	‘safe	house,’	where	the
frustrated	 SAS	 could	 not	 ‘legally’	 reach	 him	 for	 months	 on	 end.	 Then	 the
mysterious,	never-explained	shotgun	blast	in	the	dark	of	night,	snuffing	out	the
IRA	man	on	his	own	doorstep	when	he	answered	the	coded	knock	known	only	to
his	mistress.”170

The	 former	 British	 spy	 Tomlinson,	 claimed	 he	 was	 shown	 three	 plans	 to
assassinate	 the	Serbian	President	Slobodan	Milosevic.	These	did	not	bear	 fruit
but	 the	 third	 plan	 interested	 conspiracy	 theorists	 who	 studied	 the	 death	 of
Princess	Diana	 in	a	car	accident	 in	 the	Alma	Tunnel,	Paris	 in	1997.	Milosevic
Plan	3	envisaged	an	arranged	car	crash,	in	a	tunnel,	triggered	by	use	of	a	flashing
strobe	gun	wielded	by	a	member	of	UKN,	disguised	as	a	papparazo,	to	blind	the
chauffeur.	While	 some	 people	were	 disposed	 to	 believe	 the	 theory	 that	 Diana
was	 assassinated	by	 agents	working	 for	SIS,	 the	 long,	 official	 inquiry	 into	her
death	dismissed	it.

American	doctrine	on	political	assassination	has	wobbled	over	the	years.	For
some	 time,	 heads	 of	 state	 were	 held	 to	 be	 untouchable,	 though	 the	 notorious
plots	 against	 Fidel	 Castro	 (at	 least	 eight,	 constructed	 by	 the	 CIA)	 suggest



otherwise.	The	U.S.	aerial	bombing	of	Gaddafi’s	Libyan	tent	in	1986	was	carried
out	because	Gaddafi	qualified,	 in	Washington’s	eyes,	as	a	certified	 terrorist.	 In
the	 world	 of	 plausible	 deniability	 and	 cutouts,	 there	 is	 no	 doctrine	 except
pragmatism.	 It	 might	 be	 no	 more	 than	 the	 by-product	 of	 an	 agenda	 aimed	 at
political	 change	 (and	 pursuit	 of	 profit)	 by	 ex-CIA	 and	 Special	 Forces
mercenaries	 doubling	 as	 patriots.	 The	 anti-Castro	 movement,	 enthusiastically
supported	by	Cuban	exiles	in	Florida,	became	an	integral	part	of	the	disastrous
invasion	attempt	on	Cuba	known	as	the	Bay	of	Pigs	fiasco.

This	 operation	 was	 a	 triumph	 of	 optimism	 and	 disorganization	 over
experience.	 It	 rested	 on	 two	 fallacies:	 first,	 that	 in	 1961,	 around	 30,000
dissidents	would	take	up	arms	against	Castro	if	they	were	encouraged	by	a	token
occupation	 of	 part	 of	 the	 Cuban	 coast	 by	 a	 small	 invasion	 force	 based	 in	 the
USA;	 second,	 that	 1,500	 paramilitaries,	 after	 an	 amphibious	 landing	 without
close	air	support,	could	take	on	Cuba’s	Revolutionary	Army	of	30,000,	backed
by	200,000	militia	newly	furnished	with	40,000	tons	of	Warsaw	Pact	weapons.
The	 CIA	 wrongly	 assumed	 that	 any	 civilian	 opponent	 of	 Castro	 was	 an
insurgent.	Substitute	“Saddam	Hussein”	for	“Castro”	and	it	was	a	miscalculation
repeated	in	Iraq	in	2003.	In	Cuba	there	was	no	meaningful	Resistance	of	the	sort
that	 Eisenhower—who	 first	 approved	 the	 operation—applauded	 in	 Occupied
Europe	during	the	Second	World	War.

By	 the	 time	 the	 invasion	 plan	 was	 transferred	 to	 the	 incoming	 President
Kennedy	 in	 January	 1961	 it	 was	 already	 mired	 in	 administrative	 chaos,	 its
political	front	composed	of	exiles	torn	by	internal	feuds,	its	secrecy	blown	in	the
press.	As	an	official	report	noted:	“‘Plausible	denial’	was	a	pathetic	illusion.”171
Radio	Moscow	announced	the	impending	invasion	four	days	before	it	happened.
All	 that	 was	 required	 to	 ensure	 failure	 was	 a	 decision	 by	 Kennedy,	 after	 the
invasion	fleet	had	set	sail	from	Nicaragua,	to	deny	the	force	proper	air	cover.	An
official	 report,	classified	 top	secret	 for	many	years,	 reveals:	“Late	on	16	April,
the	 eve	 of	 D-Day	 [in	 Cuba],	 the	 air	 strikes	 designed	 to	 knock	 out	 the	 rest	 of
Castro’s	 air	 force	 on	 the	 following	 morning	 were	 called	 off.	 The	 message
reached	the	field	too	late	to	halt	the	landing	operation,	as	the	decision	to	cancel
the	 air	 strike	 was	 made	 after	 the	 landing	 force	 had	 been	 committed.”	 The
outcome	was	predictable.	As	the	invasion	fleet	approached	Cuba,	Castro’s	B-26
light	bombers,	Sea	Fury	and	T-33	fighters	sank	a	supply	ship,	caused	a	transport
to	 beach	 uncontrollably	 and	 damaged	 an	 infantry	 landing	 craft.	 A	 projected
beach	landing	was	abandoned,	its	assets	transferred	to	another	beach.	Cuban	air
attacks	went	on	 throughout	D-Day.	At	a	 third	beachhead,	Blue	Beach,	“enemy
ground	 attacks,	 supported	 by	 aircraft,	 began	 from	 three	 directions	 on	 the
afternoon	of	18	April	[D+1].”	Six	of	the	invaders’	B-26,	two	flown	by	American



freelances,	 “inflicted	 heavy	 damage	 on	 the	 Castro	 column…using	 napalm,
bombs,	rockets	and	machine	gun	fire	to	destroy	several	tanks	and	about	twenty
troop-laden	 trucks.	Air	 support	 to	 the	Blue	Beach	 troops	was	continued	on	 the
morning	 of	 19	 April,	 when	 three	 friendly	 [anti-Castro]	 B-26s	 including	 two
piloted	by	Americans	were	shot	down	by	Castro	T-33s….

“In	 spite	 of	 a	 reported	 1,800	 casualties	 suffered	 by	 the	 Castro	 forces,	 the
[exile]	 brigade’s	 ability	 to	 resist	 depended	 in	 the	 last	 resort	 on	 resupply	 of
ammunition	which	had	now	become	impossible….

In	the	last	hours	of	resistance	the	brigade	commander	sent	a	series	of	 terse
and	desperate	messages	to	the	task	force	command	ship	pleading	for	help:

“‘We	 are	 out	 of	 ammo	 and	 fighting	 on	 the	 beach.	 Please	 send	 help.	 We
cannot	hold.’

“‘In	water.	Out	of	ammo.	Enemy	closing	in.	Help	must	arrive	in	next	hour.’
“‘When	your	help	will	be	here	and	with	what?’
“‘Why	your	help	has	not	come?’
“‘Am	destroying	 all	 equipment	 and	 communications.	 Tanks	 are	 in	 sight.	 I

have	nothing	to	fight	with.	Am	taking	to	woods.	I	cannot	repeat	cannot	wait	for
you.’”172

During	 the	 following	 days,	 two	 freelance	 Americans	 and	 some	 Cuban
frogmen	 rescued	 twenty-six	 survivors	 from	 the	 beach	 and	 nearby	 islands.	 The
invaders	lost	118	killed	and	1,202	captured.	Cuba	lost	176	dead.

The	Bay	of	Pigs	 left	 the	memory	of	a	nightmare	 that	 still	haunts	America.
This	 is	 the	 well-grounded	 but	 unproven	 suspicion	 that	 Kennedy’s	 belated
decision	 to	 withhold	 air	 support	 from	 the	 Cuban	 Exile	 Brigade,	 to	 ensure
Washington’s	 plausible	 deniability,	 lay	 at	 the	 root	 of	 the	 president’s
assassination	 in	Dallas	 on	 22	November	 1963.	 At	 least	 100,000	 Cuban	 exiles
flooded	into	the	U.S.	during	Castro’s	first	year	of	power	in	1960.	They	included
small	 but	 extremely	 violent	 mafias	 such	 as	 Alpha	 66	 that	 continued	 raids	 on
Cuba	 after	 the	 Bay	 of	 Pigs	 fiasco.	When	 Kennedy	 ordered	 those	 to	 stop,	 the
exiles—some	 linked	 to	 the	 CIA	 as	 well	 as	 organized	 crime—saw	 this	 as	 a
further	betrayal.	As	one	investigator	reminds	us:	“By	1963,	an	intense	bitterness
pervaded	 the	 community	 of	 anti-Castro	Cubans	 toward	 the	man	 they	 believed
betrayed	them,	John	F.	Kennedy.	That	hatred	was,	at	the	least,	as	great	as	their
hatred	of	Fidel	Castro.”173

In	 1979,	 after	 a	 three-year	 investigation,	 the	 House	 Select	 Committee	 on
Assassinations	 reported	 that	 there	 probably	 was	 a	 conspiracy	 to	 kill	 Kennedy
and	 that	 the	 exiles	 “had	 the	motive,	 based	 on	what	 they	 considered	 President
Kennedy’s	 betrayal	 of	 their	 cause,	 the	 liberation	 of	 Cuba	 from	 the	 Castro



regime;	 the	 means,	 since	 they	 were	 trained	 and	 practiced	 in	 violent	 acts,	 the
result	of	the	guerrilla	war	they	were	waging	against	Castro	and	the	opportunity,
whenever	 the	 President	 appeared	 at	 public	 gatherings,	 as	 in	 Dallas	 on	 22
November	1963.”174	However,	 the	 committee	 stopped	 short	 of	 identifying	 any
Cuban	group	as	such	as	being	a	formal	part	of	the	conspiracy.	It	concluded:	“The
committee	believes,	on	the	basis	of	the	evidence	available	to	it,	that	anti-Castro
groups,	 as	 groups,	 were	 not	 involved	 in	 the	 assassination…but	 that	 on	 the
available	 evidence	 does	 not	 preclude	 the	 possibility	 that	 individual	 members
may	have	been	involved.”175	If,	indeed,	Cuban-exile	bitterness	was	what	fueled
the	Kennedy	assassination	 then	 it	was	one	of	history’s	more	 lurid	examples	of
the	 law	of	unintended	consequences,	known	 in	military	 circles	 as	 “blowback,”
that	can	result	from	ill-advised	and	clandestine	paramilitary	operations.

Assassinations	 can	 even	 happen	 in	Washington—perhaps	 a	 mere	 fourteen
blocks	away	from	the	White	House—as	well	as	 in	Dallas	when	an	 intelligence
agency,	or	a	conspiracy	of	intelligence	agencies,	puts	their	minds	to	it.	Between
1973	and	1977	an	international,	anti-Marxist	crusade	shared	by	numerous	South
American	governments	embarked	on	Operation	Condor,	to	hunt	down	perceived
enemies	around	the	world.	Leading	the	pack	was	President	Augusto	Pinochet	of
Chile	 and	 his	 secret	 police	 chief,	Manuel	 Contreras,	 who	 received	 a	 payment
from	the	CIA	officially	explained	away	by	“miscommunications	in	timing.”

On	21	September	1976,	Orlando	Letelier,	his	country’s	former	ambassador
to	 the	U.S.,	 and	Ronni	Karpen	Moffitt,	his	American	colleague	 in	 the	 Institute
for	 Policy	 Studies,	 were	 assassinated	 by	 a	 car	 bomb	 at	 Sheridan	 Circle,
Washington,	 D.C.	 Hundreds	 of	 other	 opponents	 of	 Pinochet	 were	 dying
suddenly,	 violently,	 at	 the	 time.	After	 the	 Pinochet	 regime	 fell,	Contreras	was
convicted	 of	 Letelier’s	 murder.	 He	 claimed	 he	 was	 acting	 under	 orders	 from
Pinochet,	with	CIA	complicity.	In	fact,	he	was	brought	to	trial	for	this	crime	in
Chile	in	1995	as	a	result	of	U.S.	pressure.	He	served	seven	years	for	this	crime
and	 in	 June	 2008	 was	 further	 convicted	 of	 the	 assassination	 of	 Carlos	 Prats,
former	Chilean	Army	chief,	and	his	wife	 in	Buenos	Aires	 in	1974,	also	by	car
bomb,	and	given	two	life	terms.

When	Letelier	 and	Moffitt	were	murdered,	 the	CIA	was	being	prodded	by
the	Nixon	administration	 into	promoting	anti-Communist	 coups	 in	Central	 and
South	America,	with	a	beatitude	of	dollars	to	promote	the	right	sort	of	publicity
and	 influence.	 The	 Agency	 was	 also	 encouraged	 to	 stop	 short,	 just,	 of	 actual
assassination,	 leaving	 it	 to	 surrogates	 to	 do	 the	 dirty	 work.	 The	 dilemma
Operation	 Condor	 presented	 to	 the	 CIA	was	made	 plain	 in	 an	 Agency	 report
dated	18	September	2000.	 It	 conceded:	 “In	addition	 to	 information	concerning



external	threats,	CIA	sought	from	Contreras	information	regarding	evidence	that
emerged	 in	 1975	 of	 a	 formal	 Southern	 Cone	 cooperative	 intelligence	 effort
—‘Operation	Condor’—building	on	informal	cooperation	 in	 tracking	and,	 in	at
least	 a	 few	 cases,	 killing	 political	 opponents.	 By	 October	 1976	 there	 was
sufficient	information	that	the	CIA	decided	to	approach	Contreras	on	the	matter.
Contreras	confirmed	Condor’s	existence	as	an	 intelligence-sharing	network	but
denied	that	it	had	a	role	in	extra-judicial	killings….	As	a	result	of	lessons	learned
in	 Chile,	 Central	 America	 and	 elsewhere,	 the	 CIA	 now	 carefully	 reviews	 all
contacts	 for	 potential	 involvement	 in	 human	 rights	 abuse	 against	 the	 potential
intelligence	value	of	continuing	the	relationship.	These	standards,	established	in
the	 mid-1990s,	 would	 likely	 have	 altered	 the	 amount	 of	 contact	 we	 had	 with
perpetrators	 of	 human	 rights	 violators	 in	Chile	 had	 they	 been	 in	 effect	 at	 that
time.”176	But	 that	 sentiment,	 of	 course,	 predated	 9/11	 and	 the	 sea	 change	 that
overtook	many	liberal	Western	regimes	afterward.

Sometimes,	 in	 an	 untidy	 world,	 who	 dares	 wins.	 Shortly	 before	 Kennedy
was	 assassinated—some	 veterans	 suggest	 the	 day	 before—Kennedy	 told	 the
British	 prime	minister,	 the	 14th	Earl	 of	Home	 (pronounced	 “Hume”)—that	 he
was	 concerned	 about	 rumors	 concerning	 a	 force	 of	Anglo-French	mercenaries
running	 a	 private	 war	 in	 Yemen.	 That	 this	 operation	 shared	 some	 of	 the
characteristics	of	the	Bay	of	Pigs	concept	did	not	strike	Kennedy	as	anomalous.
He	 had	 his	 Frontiersman’s	 dream	 of	 a	 world	 in	 which	 decaying	 European
empires	would	be	replaced	by	newly	independent,	democratic	states	that	had	to
be	brought	on-side	before	Soviet	Russia	impregnated	them	with	Communism.	In
Yemen,	 a	 medieval	 monarchy	 had	 been	 overtaken	 by	 a	 Marxist	 republican
revolution	 supported	 by	 an	 Egyptian	 expeditionary	 force.	 The	 republicans
controlled	 the	 country’s	 few	 urban	 areas	 including	 the	 capital,	 Sana’a.	 The
royalists,	 headed	 by	 Imam	 Mohammed	 al-Badr,	 were	 fighting	 a	 rearguard
guerrilla	war	in	the	mountains.

British	 SAS	 and	 French	 Foreign	 Legion	 veterans,	 with	 the	 complicity	 of
both	their	governments,	were	training	and	leading	the	royalist	resistance.	Britain
and	France	did	not	trust	the	word	of	the	Egyptian	leader	Colonel	Gamal	Abdel
Nasser,	 whose	 country	 they	 had	 invaded	 in	 1956.	 Nor	 did	 they	 sign	 up	 to
Kennedy’s	vision.	The	Brits,	with	effective	control	of	Aden	and	 its	hinterland,
feared	 the	domino	effect	of	Yemen	on	access	 to	Gulf	oil.	Saudi	Arabia	 feared
Egyptian	 expansionism	 by	 way	 of	 Yemen.	 But	 Kennedy	 recognized	 the	 new
regime	in	Sana’a.	The	British	held	off.	For	the	Western	alliance,	it	was	a	can	of
worms.	 Kennedy’s	 events	 diary	 for	 the	 time	 reveals	 how	 heavily	 Yemen
weighed	 on	 his	 mind,	 even	 alongside	 Vietnam,	 following	 the	 downfall	 and
murder	of	President	Diem.



“October	4,	1963,	10.30-11.25:	Meeting	with	British	Foreign	Minister,	 the
Earl	of	Home	 [later	prime	minister]	and	Ambassador	David	Ormsby-Gore,	 the
White	House.”	In	 that	conversation,	Home	gave	his	personal	word	 to	Kennedy
that	 “Britain	 has	 given	no	 aid	 to	 the	 Imam”	 and	was	 not,	 therefore,	 running	 a
secret	war	in	Yemen.177

“October	 10,	 1963:	 President	Kennedy	 directs	 the	Secretaries	 of	 State	 and
Defense	 to	 keep	 pressing	 Saudi	 Arabia	 and	 the	 United	 Arab	 Republic	 to
disengage	from	the	civil	war	in	Yemen.”

“October	28,	1963:	5:25–6:00	P.M.:	Meeting	with	advisers	to	discuss	Yemen,
Morocco	and	Algeria.”

Twenty-four	days	later,	Kennedy	was	dead,	replaced	as	president	by	Lyndon
Johnson,	whose	sympathies	lay	more	with	Israel	than	emerging	Arab	republics.
Macmillan	had	been	replaced	as	British	Prime	Minister	by	Lord	Home.	It	is	now
apparent	 that	when	Lord	Home	 told	Kennedy	 that	Britain	 had	not	 assisted	 the
Imam	 in	 Yemen,	 he	 was—to	 use	 a	 phrase	 later	 conjured	 in	 London—being
economical	with	 the	 truth.	For	many	months,	a	cabal	of	 right-wing	politicians,
including	government	ministers	and	serving	and	former	SAS	soldiers,	had	been
running	a	war	of	attrition	in	Yemen	in	a	campaign	that	Nasser	would	describe	as
“my	 Vietnam.”	 It	 was	 a	 war	 that	 sapped	 Egypt’s	 fighting	 strength	 on	 the
countdown	to	the	1967	war	with	Israel.

The	London	circle	was	known	as	the	Aden	Group.	Before	that,	 it	had	been
the	Suez	Group,	political	cheerleaders	for	the	Anglo-French	invasion	of	the	Suez
Canal	 Zone,	 with	 Israeli	 complicity,	 in	 1956.	 One	 of	 the	 group	 was	 Neil
(“Billy”)	McLean,	a	British	Member	of	Parliament,	wartime	veteran	of	SOE	in
Albania	 and	 the	 Far	 East,	 and	 SIS	 “asset.”	 Another	 was	 Air	 Minister	 Julian
Amery,	son-in-law	of	the	then	Prime	Minister,	Harold	Macmillan.	Amery	would
later	 double,	 secretly,	 as	 “Minister	 For	 Yemen.”	 In	 September	 1962,	 King
Hussein	of	Jordan	visited	London,	met	Amery,	and	appealed	for	non-recognition
of	the	Yemen	Arab	Republic	(YAR).	Amery	asked	McLean	to	visit	the	country
to	 obtain	 ground	 truth	 about	 the	 war.	 Could	 the	 royalists	 hold	 out?	 Was	 the
Egyptian	Air	Force	using	chemical	weapons	against	civilians?	Using	journalistic
cover,	McLean	 took	 to	 the	 hills	 of	Yemen	with	 enthusiasm.	 In	December,	 he
returned	 to	 advise	Macmillan	 that	 the	Egyptians	 could	be	defeated.	 In	 January
1963,	 the	British	 cabinet	 received	 an	unsourced	 intelligence	 assessment,	 based
on	McLean’s	report,	suggesting	that	to	recognize	the	YAR	would	be	to	surrender
control	over	 the	Gulf	 to	America.	Diplomatic	recognition	of	 the	Sana’a	regime
withheld,	the	movement	toward	a	deniable	military	intervention	began.

The	 operation	 had	 a	 slow	 start,	 possibly	 because	 McLean	 and	 others
depended	 on	 the	 Secret	 Intelligence	 Service	 to	 handle	 recruitment,	 while	 the



Saudis	 acted	 as	 banker	 for	 this	 enterprise.	 In	 mid-April,	 at	 White’s,	 a
gentleman’s	 gambling	 club	 in	 London,	 Amery	 and	 Home	 (then	 Foreign
Secretary)	 met	 SAS	 founder	 Colonel	 David	 Stirling,	 Brian	 Franks,	 by	 now
Colonel-Commandant	 of	 the	 SAS,	 and	 McLean.	 By	 this	 time,	 McLean	 had
visited	 Yemen	 again.	 British	 positions	 in	 the	 Aden	 Federation	 were	 coming
under	 guerrilla	 assault	 from	 Yemen,	 confirming	 the	 worst	 fears	 of	 the	 U.K.
government	about	recognizing	the	YAR.	A	delegation	from	the	Yemeni	royalists
had	 visited	 Israel,	 which	 was	 now	 delivering	 arms	 into	 areas	 under	 royalist
control.

One	 of	 those	 involved	 in	 the	 later	 operation	 recounts	 what	 happened.
“McLean	 told	 the	 gathering,	 ‘Whatever	 the	 Egyptians	 are	 telling	Washington,
the	coup	in	Yemen	is	not	a	success.	Resistance	continues.	We	have	to	get	some
sort	 of	operation	going.’	Home	 reported	 that	SIS	was	having	difficulties.	Alec
[Home]	said,	‘I	will	talk	to	SIS	but	they	say	they	have	no	agents	in	Yemen	and	it
will	take	six	months	to	set	something	up.’”

Stirling	 snorted:	 “Rubbish.	 I	 can	 produce	 a	 guy	 in	 London	 who	 has	 just
given	up	command	of	21	SAS	[the	reserve	regiment	ostensibly	dedicated	to	stay-
behind	 actions	 should	 the	Warsaw	Pact	 invade	western	Europe].	He	 could	 put
something	 together.”	 The	man	 Stirling	 had	 in	mind	 was	 Jim	 Johnson,	 former
Guards	officer	and	a	broker	at	the	insurance	market,	Lloyds.	Franks	telephoned
Johnson	 immediately	 and	 invited	 him	 to	 have	 a	 drink	 at	 the	 club.	 As	 they
exchanged	 regimental	 small	 talk,	 Franks	 asked	 Johnson:	 “Do	you	 fancy	 going
into	Yemen	and	burning	 the	MiGs	which	are	upsetting	 the	 tribes	and	bombing
them?	 The	 tribes	 have	 no	 defense	 against	 them.”	 Johnson	 thought	 this	 was	 a
good	idea.	At	a	later	meeting	in	London,	Johnson	and	McLean	met	the	Imam’s
foreign	minister,	 Ahmed	 al-Shami.	 Johnson	 asked	 what	 funds	 were	 available.
Al-Shami	 laid	 his	 checkbook	 in	 front	 of	 them	 and	 wrote	 a	 check	 for	 around
$10,000.	The	money	trail,	which	ultimately	led	back	to	Saudi	Arabia,	had	to	be
concealed.	Franks	picked	up	 the	 check	 and	 funneled	 it	 through	 the	Hyde	Park
Hotel	account,	a	process	made	easier	by	his	role	as	chairman	of	the	hotel	board.

Johnson	took	leave	of	absence	from	Lloyds	and	opened	a	secret	headquarters
near	 the	 headquarters	 of	 21	SAS.	The	 commander	 of	 the	 regular,	 full-time	 22
SAS	 Regiment	 obligingly	 provided	 unattributable	 weapons	 including	 Swedish
submachine	guns,	which	were	stored	in	Johnson’s	fashionable	London	home	on
Sloane	Avenue.	Stirling	drummed	up	his	wartime	comrade	and	one-time	driver,
Major	 John	Cooper,	now	working	as	a	contract	officer	 for	 the	Sultan’s	Armed
Forces	in	Oman.

On	6	June,	the	anniversary	of	D-Day,	Johnson,	Stirling,	and	Cooper	were	at
a	 mansion	 in	 Paris	 to	 meet	 two	 mercenaries	 nominated	 by	 the	 French	 Secret



Service.	 These	were	 Colonel	 Roger	 Faulques,	 a	 scarred	 veteran	 of	 a	 Vietnam
prison	 camp	 and	 the	 Algerian	 war,	 and	 Robert	 Denard,	 a	 hulking	 freelance
soldier	 from	 the	 French	 Atlantic	 coast.	 The	 gathering	 also	 included	 senior
government	officials	from	London	and	Paris.	If	Kennedy	was	mentioned,	it	was
in	 less	 than	 reverent	 tones.	 The	 SIS	 also	 probably	 came	 in	 for	 its	 share	 of
criticism.	 Much	 wine	 was	 drunk.	 Johnson	 later	 told	 the	 author:	 “We	 were
entertained	 royally.	 The	 French	 side	 said	 they	 had	 a	 lot	 of	 ex-Foreign	Legion
Paras	who	had	served	in	Algeria	and	spoke	Arabic.	But	it	was	the	wrong	Arabic,
Maghrib	Arabic.	They	were	unintelligible	to	everyone	but	themselves.”

What	emerged	from	this	gathering	was	a	decision	to	send	an	advance	party
of	 four	 French	 and	 four	 British	 freelances	 on	 a	 reconnaissance	 mission	 to
Yemen,	led	by	Cooper,	whose	experience	with	the	French	Resistance	during	the
Second	World	War	would	be	useful	 in	calling	 in	 Israeli	 supply	drops.	Back	 in
London,	the	word	was	sent	to	Morse	signals	specialists	serving	with	21	SAS.	On
arrival,	they	were	“invited”	to	join	Johnson’s	secret	army.	Three	regular	soldiers
serving	with	 22	 SAS—Geordie	Dorman,	 a	mortar	 expert;	Corporal	Chigley,	 a
medical	orderly;	and	Trooper	Richardson,	all-round	firearms	expert—were	given
leave	of	absence,	or	sheep-dipped	(nominally	discharged	from	the	Army),	to	join
the	team.

The	 French	 volunteers	 drove	 from	 Paris	 in	 an	 official	 staff	 car,	 with	 a
uniformed	military	 driver	 and	 concealed	weapons.	 One	 of	 them	was	 Tony	 de
Saint-Paul,	alias	Roger	de	Saint	Prieux,	a	tall,	sinister	figure	with	deep-set	eyes
who	went	into	battle	dressed	as	an	Arab,	a	curved	dagger	at	his	waist.	He	was	to
meet	a	painful	death	in	Yemen	soon	afterward.

Shortly	 before	 they	 were	 to	 leave,	 Johnson	 received	 word	 that	 the	 U.K.
government	 had	 taken	 fright.	 Scandals	 in	 high	 places,	 including	 the	 forced
resignation	of	War	Minister	 John	Profumo,	meant	 that	 there	could	be	no	other
source	of	political	embarrassment	for	the	time	being.	Risky	military	adventures
were	 not	 wanted.	 Nevertheless,	 Johnson	 hastily	 booked	 the	 team	 in	 ones	 and
twos	onto	any	flight	available	out	of	Britain,	in	the	direction	of	Aden,	before	the
British	 government	 could	 intervene.	 In	 a	 duplicitous	 farewell	 that	 night,	 Lord
Home	dined	with	Johnson	and	the	team.

Cooper	 flew	 first	 to	 Tripoli,	 in	 Libya.	 He	 later	 recalled:	 “We	 had	 just
collected	our	baggage	from	our	various	incoming	flights	when	one	of	the	cases
broke	open,	spilling	out	rolls	and	rolls	of	plastic	explosive.”	Some	of	the	Libyan
security	guards,	he	added,	“actually	helped	us	repack	the	stuff.	I	told	them	that
stuff	was	marzipan,	because	of	the	smell,	for	various	Arab	heads	of	state.”

In	Aden,	the	mercenaries	and	their	dangerous	cargo	were	able	to	bypass	the
usual	 formalities	 with	 the	 help	 of	 a	 young	 officer	 serving	 with	 British	 forces



there:	 Captain	 (later	 Lieutenant-General)	 Peter	 de	 la	 Billiere.	 DLB,	 as	 he	 is
known	in	SAS	circles,	arranged	for	the	team	to	move	by	a	Dakota	of	Aden	Air	to
a	 border	 area	 controlled	 by	 an	 ally	 among	 local	 rulers,	 the	 Sharif	 of	 Beihan.
Then	the	party	of	six,	dressed	as	Arabs,	with	two	guides,	loaded	their	camels	and
joined	a	train	of	150	camels	carrying	supplies	to	the	royalists	to	cross	the	border.
It	was	a	hazardous	journey,	moving	by	night	to	avoid	Egyptian	aircraft,	in	single
file	through	minefields.

From	a	mountain	village	 called	Gara,	 headquarters	of	Prince	Abdullah	bin
Hassan,	Taylor	 sent	 out	 reconnaissance	 patrols	 stiffened	by	his	mercenaries	 in
spite	 of	 continuous	 air	 raids	 in	which	 attacks	with	 iron	 bombs	were	 followed
with	 low	strafing	runs	by	Yak	fighters	using	machine	guns.	Next,	he	set	up	an
ambush	 for	 Egyptian	 infantry	 and	 tanks	 obliged	 to	 climb	 a	 gully	 to	 reach
Hassan’s	 redoubt.	Each	gun	position	was	 camouflaged	and	 sheltered	by	 rocks,
with	additional	shelter	nearby	in	case	of	air	attack.	Cairns	were	built	as	markers,
or	 orientation	 points	 for	 the	 defenders.	 Cooper	 wrote	 later:	 “As	 the	 enemy
reached	our	markers,	our	men	opened	up	with	devastating	effect,	knocking	down
the	 closely	 packed	 infantry	 like	 ninepins.	 Panic	 broke	 out	 in	 the	 ranks	 behind
and	then	the	tanks	started	firing,	not	into	our	positions	but	among	their	own	men.
Then	the	light	artillery	opened	up,	causing	further	carnage.”178

The	mercenaries’	 campaign	 ran	 for	 the	 next	 three	 years,	 during	which	 the
Egyptians	 were	 increasingly	 confined	 to	 paved	 roads.	 They	 hit	 back	 with	 air
power	and	poison	gas.	For	example,	on	4	July	1963,	McLean,	back	in	Yemen,
reported	to	the	U.K.	ambassador	to	Saudi	Arabia	on	his	visit	to	a	village	called
Kowma.	“I	went	to	the	exact	spot	where	two	bombs	had	landed….	Even	after	an
interval	of	about…five	weeks	during	which	heavy	rains	fell…I	was	immediately
aware	 of,	 from	 between	 twenty	 and	 thirty	 yards	 away,	 an	 unusual,	 unpleasant
and	 pungent	 smell…rather	 like	 a	 sweet	 sour	 musty	 chloroform	 mixed	 with	 a
strong	 odour	 of	 geranium	 plant…I	 was	 told	 that	 all	 of	 the	 120	 people	 in	 the
village	 still	 have	 severe	 coughs,	 irritation	 of	 the	 skin	 and	 of	 the	 twenty-two
people	injured,	many	still	vomit	black	blood	after	severe	coughing.”179

A	gradual	stalemate	developed.	The	Egyptians	placed	a	bounty	on	the	heads
of	 the	 mercenaries.	 Just	 before	 he	 was	 blown	 up	 by	 an	 enemy	 shell,	 the
Frenchman	 Tony	 de	 Saint-Paul	wrote:	 “The	 Egyptians’	 price	 on	my	 head	 has
now	 grown	 from	 $500	 to	 $10,000.	 I	 hope	 they	 increase	 it	 even	 more.”	 His
companion,	known	only	as	“Peter,”	blinded	by	poison	gas,	survived	a	two-week
journey	 by	 camel	 to	 Aden,	 before	 being	 flown	 home	 to	 France.	 Though
outgunned,	 the	 royalists	 enjoyed	 two	 powerful	 advantages	 thanks	 to	 the
mercenary	 force.	First	was	 the	use	of	 tactical	communications,	which	gave	 the



Imam’s	 men	 flexibility	 the	 Egyptians	 usually	 lacked.	 Second,	 the	 supplies
parachuted	by	Israel	into	drop	zones	controlled	by	Cooper	gave	the	royalists	an
increasingly	 sophisticated	 edge.	 Jim	 Johnson,	 the	 political	 commander	 of	 the
mercenary	force,	flew	on	some	of	these	missions,	using	a	new	identity	supplied
by	Israel	with	a	Canadian	passport	and	an	escape	kit	including	gold	sovereigns.
Serial	 numbers	 on	 the	 weapons	 Israel	 supplied	 had	 been	 filed	 off.	 Wood
shavings	in	the	containers	were	imported	from	Cyprus	and	the	parachutes	from
Italy.	A	total	of	50,000	British	rifles	was	also	dropped	by	civilian	aircraft	piloted
by	former	Royal	Air	Force	pilots,	one	of	whom	was	now	on	Johnson’s	team.

In	1965,	300	camels	were	used	in	the	buildup	for	a	royalist	ambush	on	a	road
linking	Sana’a	and	 the	Saudi	border	at	a	defile	known	as	Wadi	Humaidat.	The
ambush	would	need	81-mm	mortars	to	destroy	an	Egyptian	convoy	and	cut	the
road.	The	historian	Clive	Jones	writes:	“In	what	was	perhaps	the	most	efficient
battle	fought	by	the	Royalists,	362	soldiers	of	the	First	Army,	backed	by	1,290
tribesmen…directed	by	two	British	and	three	French	mercenaries	cut	 this	main
supply	 route	 and,	despite	 several	days	of	determined	Egyptian	counter-attacks,
held	on	to	their	positions.”180

In	1966,	the	French	mercenaries	launched	a	barrage	of	covering	fire	to	assist
a	royalist	advance	on	Sana’a,	but	the	Imam’s	men	did	not	move.	The	royalists’
lack	 of	 resolve	went	 beyond	 the	 front	 line.	 Johnson,	 after	 conferring	with	 the
Saudis	 who	 bankrolled	 the	 operation,	 concluded	 that	 a	 stalemate	 that	 pinned
down	 70,000	 Egyptian	 soldiers	 in	 a	 war	 of	 attrition	 suited	 the	 Saudis	 nicely.
With	a	new,	Socialist	government	in	London,	SIS	was	also	lukewarm	about	the
right-wingers’	 Yemen	 adventure.	 So	 in	 October	 1966,	 Johnson	 wrote	 a
memorandum	describing	“the	apparent	lack	of	interest	by	HMG	[Her	Majesty’s
Government]	and	the	stated	indifference	to	our	activities	by	MI6	[SIS]	coupled
with	the	absolute	disinterest…of	HRH	[Saudi	Prince]	Sultan	we	appear	to	have
three	 courses	 open	 to	 us….”	He	 nominated	 the	 first	 of	 these,	 “to	withdraw	 as
soon	as	possible	from	the	Yemen	before	disaster	overtakes	us,”	for	“there	is	no
indication	that	HMG	wants	us	to	continue	now.”

On	6	October	he	confronted	the	Saudis	and	asked:	“Do	you	want	us	to	win
this	 war	 or	 not?	 The	 British	 have	 announced	 the	 date	 to	 leave	 Aden.	 If	 I	 go
before	they	leave,	it	will	be	a	shambles.”

The	 stalemate	 became	 a	 political	 fact	 in	 1970,	 recognized	 by	 Egypt	 and
Saudi	Arabia,	backed	with	a	$300	million	bribe	from	Kuwait	and	Saudi	Arabia
to	compensate	Egypt	for	lands	lost	to	Israel	during	the	1967	war,	the	outcome	of
which	was	affected	by	the	absence	from	that	battlefield	of	Nasser’s	lost	army	in
Yemen.	The	 timing	of	 this	event	oozed	with	dramatic	 irony.	 It	was	 the	year	 in
which	 Communist	 guerrillas,	 based	 in	 the	 Peoples’	 Democratic	 Republic	 of



Yemen	(formerly	the	British-controlled	Aden	Federation),	launched	an	offensive
on	Oman,	coming	close	to	bringing	that	kingdom	into	Moscow’s	orbit.	The	SAS
were	to	spend	the	next	six	years	defending	this	gateway	to	the	Gulf.	No	one	now
sought	 to	 defend	 Kennedy’s	 idealistic,	 unquestioning	 support	 of	 newly
independent	 former	 colonies	 with	 a	 taste	 for	 republican	 government.	 Such
countries	were	 now	 part	 of	 a	 global	 battlefield	 over	which	 the	Cold	War	was
being	fought	for	real.

In	1975	the	CIA	spotted	an	opportunity	to	give	the	Soviets	a	bloody	nose	in
Africa,	 specifically	 in	Angola,	 using	 plausibly	 deniable	 British	 assets.	 By	 this
time,	 according	 to	 the	 Church	 Committee,	 the	 Agency	 had	 run	 900	 major
interventions	 and	 3,000	 minor	 ones	 around	 the	 world	 during	 the	 preceding
fourteen	 years.	With	 the	 withdrawal	 of	 Portuguese	 colonists,	 Angola	 was	 the
latest	 ripe	 African	 fruit	 toward	 which	 both	 superpowers	 were	 reaching.
Kissinger,	witnessing	Cuban	intervention,	warned	the	NSC	and	the	Agency	that
unless	 something	 were	 done,	 “the	 whole	 international	 system	 could	 be
destabilized.”	In	any	case,	in	the	wake	of	the	Vietnam	fiasco,	it	would	be	good
for	morale	to	score	in	Africa.	Bill	Colby,	director	of	the	CIA,	gave	the	message
to	the	National	Security	Council	from	the	shoulder:	“Gentlemen,	this	is	a	map	of
Africa	and	here	 is	Angola.	Now	in	Angola	we	have	 three	factions.	There’s	 the
MPLA	 [Popular	 Movement	 For	 the	 Liberation	 of	 Angola,	 including	 the
Communist	Party].	They’re	the	bad	guys.	The	FNLA	[National	Liberation	Front,
Angola],	 they’re	 the	good	guys,	and	 there’s	Jonas	Savimbi	[leading	Unita],	we
don’t	know	too	well.”181	As	a	geopolitical	model	it	had	the	merit	of	simplicity.

John	 Stockwell,	 a	 lifelong	Africa	 hand	 and	 chief	 of	 the	 CIA	Angola	 task
force,	believed	that	in	backing	FNLA	leader	Holden	Roberto,	the	most	violent	of
the	warlords,	 the	Agency	ensured	 that	“the	 fate	of	Angola	was	cast,	written	 in
blood.”182	The	operation	was	also	fatally	flawed.	A	war	chest	of	$31.7	million
was	conjured	from	contingency	funds,	out	of	sight	to	Congress.	In	this	respect,
the	 phantom	 budget	 anticipated	Oliver	North’s	 plan	 to	 recycle	 funds	 from	 the
Iran	arms-for-hostages	deal	to	fund	the	war	in	Nicaragua	after	Congress	blocked
funding	 for	 that	 campaign.	 The	 problem	 with	 the	 Angola	 deal	 was	 that	 the
Russians	 took	 up	 the	 challenge,	 played	 poker	 and—uninhibited	 by	 democratic
issues—raised	the	stakes	to	$400	million.	The	CIA	ran	out	of	money	and	blinked
first.

The	strategy	was	also	designed	for	losers.	A	memorandum	prepared	for	the
CIA	Director,	George	Bush,	Sr.	 in	 the	Agency’s	Africa	Division	 stated,	 in	 the
second	paragraph,	that	large	supplies	of	arms	to	Roberto	in	northern	Angola	and
Savimbi	 in	 the	 south	 “would	 not	 guarantee	 they	 could	 establish	 control	 of	 all



Angola,	but	that	assistance	would	permit	them	to	achieve	a	military	balance	that
would	 avoid	 a	 cheap	 Neto	 victory”	 (Agostinho	 Neto	 was	 president	 of	 the
MPLA).183	Stockwell,	reading	the	proposal,	noted:	“This	memo	did	indeed	state
a	 no-win	 policy…I	 wondered	 what	 ‘cheap’	 meant.	 Would	 it	 be	 measured	 in
dollars	or	in	African	lives?”

The	Angola	program	was	then	coordinated	by	Frank	G.	Wisner,	Jr.,	whose
father	had	been	chief	of	the	OSA	and	CIA	covert	operations	a	generation	earlier.
Wisner	Jr.	was	now	working	for	Kissinger	in	the	State	Department.	He	reasoned:
“We	had	been	forced	out	of	Vietnam.	There	was	a	real	concern	on	the	part	of	the
[Ford]	 Administration	 that	 the	 U.S.	 would	 now	 be	 tested”	 by	 the	 forces	 of
Communism	worldwide.184

The	CIA	recruited,	at	extravagant	cost,	some	French	mercenaries	through	the
quality-control	mechanism	of	Robert	Denard.	 It	was	 all	 profit	 for	Denard,	 but
there	 is	 no	 evidence	 that	 it	 benefited	 the	 operation	 known	 at	 Langley	 as
IAFEATURE.	Meanwhile	Roberto,	by	some	occult	means,	was	advised	to	make
contact	with	British	mercenaries.	The	gang	he	 recruited	was	 led	by	Red	Beret
psychos	who	had	served	together	in	Northern	Ireland	and	had	been	dishonorably
discharged	 from	 the	 army.	 One	 was	 convicted	 for	 selling	 army	 weapons	 to
Loyalist	Ultras	and	was	deemed	mentally	unstable.	Another	had	 robbed	a	post
office	 using	 army	 weapons	 and	 an	 easily	 identified	 army	 vehicle.	 These	 two
rounded	 up	 a	 ragbag	 collection	 of	Walter	Mitties	 and	 dreamers	 including	 two
former	 road	 sweepers	 as	 well	 as	 a	 tiny	 kernel	 of	 professionals.	 The	 latter
included	one	SAS	expert,	an	SIS	man,	and	a	former	submariner.	News	of	their
recruitment	became	public	knowledge.	Though	many	of	them	had	no	passports,
the	British	and	Belgian	authorities	waved	them	through	open	doors	on	their	way
to	Angola	 via	 Zaire.	 Later,	 they	were	 joined	 by	 a	 handful	 of	 naïve	American
crusaders	against	Communism.

Once	 established	 in	 Angola,	 the	 British	 contingent	 set	 about	 massacring
civilians	for	sport,	or	to	test	their	weapons	on	human	targets,	before	turning	on
one	 another.	 (One	 of	 their	 intended	 victims	was	 the	 author,	 the	 subject	 of	 an
assassination	contract.)	Even	by	the	standards	of	mercenaries	in	Africa,	it	was	a
macabre	 story	 which	 ended	 with	 a	 show	 trial	 in	 Luanda,	 a	 firing	 squad	 for
captured	leaders,	and	prolonged	imprisonment	for	the	surviving	grunts.

A	 few	had	 tried	 to	 fight	 their	well-armed,	professional	Cuban	enemy	who,
after	the	Bay	of	Pigs,	were	giving	the	West	another	bloody	nose.	One	mercenary
recalled:	 “Men	 literally	 threw	 themselves	 at	 tanks	 though	 we	 had	 no	 real
equipment	 to	knock	them	out.	The	only	way	was	 to	get	on	 the	 turret,	open	 the
hatch,	 and	drop	a	grenade	 inside.	Unfortunately,	 the	T54	hatch	 locks	 from	 the



inside.”	The	same	man	tried	to	incinerate	the	tank	crews,	“but	we	did	not	have
enough	petrol.”

And	yet,	 at	 the	 start	 of	 the	 campaign,	 the	view	 from	Washington	was	 that
everything	was	going	just	fine.	On	11	November	1975,	as	the	FNLA	advanced
on	 the	 capital	 Luanda,	 a	 celebration	 was	 under	 way	 at	 the	 CIA’s	 Langley
headquarters.	The	Angola	task	force	office	was	decorated	with	crepe	paper,	as	if
for	 Christmas,	 the	 wine	 and	 cheese	 delicately	 laid	 out.	 Stockwell	 reported:
“People	 came	 from	all	over	 the	building,	 from	 the	Portuguese	Task	Force,	 the
French	 Desk	 and	 the	 Special	 Operations	 Group	 to	 drink	 to	 the	 program’s
continued	 success.	 Then	 the	 Cubans’	 122-mm	 rockets	 began	 to	 land	 in	 the
Quifangondo	valley,	not	like	single	claps	of	thunder	but	in	salvoes,	twenty	at	a
time.”	The	devastation	was	witnessed	by	CIA	case	officers	from	a	nearby	ridge
as	 the	FNLA	men	 “fled	 in	 panic,	 abandoning	weapons,	 vehicles	 and	wounded
comrades.”185	The	Angolan	civil	war	outlasted	the	Cold	War	by	a	decade.	The
government	 that	was	still	 standing	 in	Luanda	was	 the	MPLA,	characterized	by
Colby	 as	 the	 bad	 guys.	 Having	 survived,	 the	 MPLA	 hired	 a	 team	 of	 South
African	mercenaries	to	secure	the	country’s	oil	assets.	It	was	symptomatic	of	a
movement	by	governments	 toward	 the	private	market	 for	black	operations	and
intelligence-gathering.

The	use	of	 the	British	 firm	KMS	 in	Nicaragua	 (where	a	devastating	bomb
attack	 on	 an	 army	 barracks	 in	 the	 capital	Managua	was	 attributed	 by	Colonel
Oliver	North	 to	 a	 former	 SAS	major,	David	Walker,	 a	 link	 he	 denies)	 and	 in
Afghanistan,	where	KMS	operators	 trained	 the	mujahideen,	was	merely	 the	 tip
of	a	covert	warfare	iceberg.	It	did	not,	of	course,	do	much	for	open	government
or	the	American	tradition.	The	majority	report	from	a	Congressional	Committee
Investigating	the	Iran	Contra	plot,	issued	on	18	November	1987,	quoted	a	long-
dead	Supreme	Court	judge,	Louis	Brandeis:	“Our	Government	is	the	potent,	the
omnipresent	teacher.	For	good	or	ill,	it	teaches	the	whole	people	by	its	example.
Crime	 is	 contagious.	 If	 the	 Government	 becomes	 the	 lawbreaker,	 it	 breeds
contempt	for	 law,	it	 invites	every	man	to	become	a	law	unto	himself,	 it	 invites
anarchy.”	The	committee	added:	“The	Iran-Contra	affair	resulted	from	a	failure
to	heed	this	message.”

During	the	presidency	of	George	W.	Bush,	the	market	in	officially	licensed
privatized	 warfare,	 far	 from	 diminishing,	 grew	 at	 the	 expense	 of	 the	 very
agencies	that	were	charged	with	covert	operations	as	special	forces	soldiers	quit
to	join	the	private	sector.	The	failure	of	the	CIA	and	British	SIS	to	establish	the
facts	about	Saddam	Hussein’s	non-functioning	weapons	of	mass	destruction,	or
to	 anticipate	 the	 threat	 of	 Islamist	 terrorism	 on	 the	 streets	 of	 New	 York	 and
London,	 were	 symptoms	 of	 their	 weakness.	 Intelligence	 (and	 the	 covert



operations	that	often	flowed	from	it)	was	“just	another	form	of	politics.”	It	was
also	to	become	a	marketable	commodity.

A	 purge	 of	 CIA	 veterans	 that	 began	with	 the	 appointment	 of	 Porter	Goss
produced	a	crisis	through	which,	by	2005,	half	the	CIA’s	workforce—operators
and	analysts	alike—had	five	years’	experience	or	less.	Their	experience	had	now
moved	to	private	corporations	that	the	Agency	was	obliged	to	hire.	As	the	writer
Tim	Weiner	points	out:	“Corporate	clones	of	the	CIA	started	sprouting	all	over
the	 suburbs	 of	 Washington	 and	 beyond.	 Patriotism	 for	 profit	 became	 a	 $50-
billion-a-year	 business	 by	 some	 estimates—a	 sum	 about	 the	 size	 of	 the
American	intelligence	budget	itself.”

As	 the	 West	 became	 bogged	 down	 in	 the	 ill-comprehended	 global	 war
against	Islamist	terrorism,	the	CIA	and	Special	Forces	were	obliged	by	force	of
circumstance	 to	 share	 their	 expertise	 and	 personnel.	 But	 in	 that	 process,
diplomatically	 as	 well	 as	 militarily,	 it	 was	 the	 culture	 of	 Special	 Forces,
personified	by	General	Stanley	McChrystal	 in	Afghanistan,	 that	dominated	 the
agenda.	In	the	increasingly	shared	culture	of	private	and	public	covert	warfare,
the	 first	 victim	 was	 public	 accountability.	 This	 was	 good	 for	 clandestine
operations	but,	given	the	history	of	plausible	deniability,	inevitably	treated	with
suspicion	by	a	skeptical	public.



CHAPTER	6

JOSEPH’S	COAT	OF	MANY	DISRUPTIVE	PATTERNS

America,	 Ireland,	 and	 Israel	 share	 a	 secret.	 This	 that	 in	 every	 case,	 their
successful	 resistance	 to	 British	 rule	 depended,	 initially,	 on	 irregular	 military
forces.	Revolutionary	America	 had	 its	Minutemen	 and	 less	 accomplished	 state
militias.	Ireland	had	Sinn	Fein	and	the	IRA.	Zionists	working	to	undermine	the
British	Mandate	in	Palestine	had	Haganah.	The	military	traditions	that	followed
independence	were	strongly	influenced	by	the	idea	that	special	forces	operations,
as	 they	 later	became	known,	were	 the	military	norm,	 the	 template	 for	defense.
By	contrast,	most	European	models,	following	the	Peace	of	Westphalia	in	1648,
invested	 the	 state	 with	 a	 monopoly	 of	 lethal	 force,	 a	 deal	 requiring	 regular,
standing	armies.	Conventional	warriors	regarded	Special	Forces	with	suspicion.
So	 did	 their	 political	masters.	 In	 Ireland	 and	America,	many	 former	 guerrillas
moved	 smoothly	 enough	 into	 the	 conventional	 fold,	 adopted	 formal	 dress,	 and
took	 the	 salute	 at	 public	 events,	 but	 the	 sons	 of	Zion	 never	 quite	 gave	 up	 the
champagne	 taste	 of	 clandestine	warfare.	 Like	Don	 John	 of	Austria,	 they	were
never	 quite	 legit,	 except	 in	 Israel.	 In	 Israel,	military	 SF	 and	 intelligence	 units
proliferate.	At	the	latest	count,	there	were	around	thirty	of	them.

Alongside	the	remarkable	but	real	evolution	of	Israel’s	Special	Forces—the
external	 intelligence	 service	 Mossad,	 its	 military	 cousin	 Aman,	 and	 domestic
espionage	service	the	Israeli	Security	Agency	(Shin	Bet)—pervasive	myths	were
cultivated	 and	 administered	 like	 a	 magic	 potion	 to	 successive	 generations	 of
Israelis.	 In	2009,	Time	magazine	 interviewed	Jewish	settlers	on	 the	Palestinian
West	 Bank,	 where	 Zionist	 migration	 had	 increased	 from	 138,000	 in	 1995	 to
nearly	300,000	within	fourteen	years.	One	typical	family,	from	Woodmere,	New
York,	“believe	Arabs	arrived	in	the	area	only	in	the	1970s.”186	Other	great	minds
made	 the	 same	 mistake.	 Even	 as	 Colonel	 T.	 E.	 Lawrence	 (“Lawrence	 of
Arabia”)	 was	 leading	 his	 Arab	 Revolt	 against	 the	 Turks,	 Arthur	 Balfour,	 the
British	 prime	 minister	 who	 committed	 his	 country	 to	 support	 for	 a	 Jewish
homeland	in	1917,	professed	he	“did	not	know	there	were	Arabs	in	that	country”
[Palestine].187	In	those	days,	Jewish	resistance	to	Turkish	rule	in	Palestine	led	to
the	formation	of	Netzah	Yisrael	Lo	Yeshaker	 (or	NILI),	an	espionage	team	that



made	 common	 cause	 with	 Britain	 until	 one	 of	 NILI’s	 carrier	 pigeons	 was
intercepted,	 with	 disastrous	 results	 for	 its	 human	 controllers	 as	 well	 as	 the
pigeon.

The	true	story	of	Mossad	and	Israel’s	special	military	agencies,	though	often
embellished	by	enthusiastic	myth-makers	(and	what	is	a	myth	other	than	a	poetic
extrapolation	of	truth?),	does	not	need—to	quote	Churchill—a	bodyguard	of	lies.
In	Israel	as	in	Ireland,	a	sense	of	destiny	backed	by	attachment	to	the	sanctified
earth	 (personified	 by	 fundamentalist	 Irish	 republicans	 as	 “Cathleen	 ni
Houlihan”)	 helps	 to	mold	martyrs.	 So	 does	 the	 brutal	 reality	 of	 diaspora.	 The
extraordinary	 story	 of	 Bricha—the	 secret	 escape	 line	 for	 survivors	 of	 the
Holocaust	after	1945,	from	Eastern	Europe	into	the	American	sector	of	Occupied
Germany,	with	U.S.	complicity—contains	all	these	elements	and	more.	In	a	new
Exodus,	Bricha	engineered	the	migration	of	250,000	European	Jews	to	Palestine,
170,000	of	them	Poles.188

America	 was	 rewarded	 for	 its	 support	 with	 an	 invaluable	 intelligence	 by-
product:	ground	 truth	about	conditions	behind	 the	 Iron	Curtain	 that	could	only
come	from	those	who	had	experienced	it.	As	Black	and	Morris	noted,	“Military
installations,	factories	and	railways	behind	the	Iron	Curtain	were	of	no	interest	to
Israel.	 For	 the	 CIA	 the	 product	 was	 priceless.”189	 It	 included	 Soviet	 identity
cards,	handed	over	to	the	CIA	for	use	in	secret	operations	inside	Russia.	In	May
1951,	with	a	little	help	from	James	Jesus	Angleton,	this	harvest	led	to	a	formal
U.S./Israel	agreement	on	Intelligence	co-operation.

There	are	other	elements	that	shape	a	unique	Israeli	culture	and	its	defense
forces.	 Unlike	 most	 developed	 countries,	 Israel	 retains	 the	 draft,	 compulsory
military	service	for	virtually	all	citizens	of	fighting	age,	something	that	binds	the
nation	 organically	 to	 its	 army.	 Then	 there	 is	 The	 Book,	 religious	 doctrine
perceived	as	divine	 revelation.	 In	 Israel’s	 case,	divinely	 inspired	holy	 text	 is	 a
potent	element	to	unite	a	diaspora	of	the	disinherited,	spread	across	centuries	and
continents,	 though—even	 after	 more	 than	 2,000	 years—it	 can	 still	 generate
confusion	about	what	territory	actually	constitutes	Israel.	Among	Zionists,	God’s
guidance	about	this	matter	is	to	be	found	in	Genesis	15:18:	“…the	Lord	made	a
covenant	with	Abram,	 saying,	 ‘Unto	 thy	 seed	 I	 have	given	 this	 land,	 from	 the
river	of	Egypt	[the	Nile]	unto	the	greater	river,	the	river	Euphrates’”	[in	modern
Iraq.]	There	 is	 also	 the	book	of	Numbers,	 one	of	 the	 five	works	 that	 form	 the
Torah.	“The	Lord	spoke	to	Moses,	saying:	‘Send	men	that	they	may	spy	out	the
land	 of	 Canaan,	which	 I	 give	 to	 the	 children	 of	 Israel;	 of	 every	 tribe	 of	 their
fathers	shall	you	send	a	man,	every	one	a	prince	among	them.’”	(The	resonant
phrase	Every	Spy	a	Prince	was	adopted	by	an	American	journalist	and	an	Israeli



scholar	as	the	title	of	a	“warts-and-all”	history	of	Israeli	intelligence	operations
in	1991.)

The	notion	that,	in	the	right	circumstances,	every	man	is	a	prince-in-waiting
matches	perfectly	the	Special	Forces	philosophy	of	SAS	founder	David	Stirling:
“We	believe,	 as	 did	 the	 ancient	Greeks	who	originated	 the	word	 ‘aristocracy,’
that	every	man	with	the	right	attitude	and	talents,	regardless	of	birth	and	riches,
has	a	capacity	in	his	own	lifetime	of	reaching	that	status	in	its	true	sense….	All
ranks	in	the	SAS	are	of	‘one	company,’	 in	which	a	sense	of	class	 is	both	alien
and	ludicrous.”

Canaan	encompasses	contemporary	Israel,	much	of	Lebanon,	Gaza,	and	the
Palestinian	 territories.	 This	 is	 not	 the	 so-called	 Greater	 Israel	 comprising	 the
State	of	Israel	and	the	Palestine	of	Mandate	times.	Nor	is	it	the	UN’s	nostrum	for
partition	 in	 1947;	 nor	 the	 Israel	 enlarged	 by	 the	 1967	 Six	Day	War,	 doubling
Israeli-controlled	territory	to	incorporate	the	Golan	Heights,	Sinai	and	the	Gaza
strip,	Jerusalem,	and	the	West	Bank.	As	a	result	of	that	feat	of	arms,	materially
helped	by	freelance	British	and	French	mercenaries	in	the	Yemen	civil	war,	the
UN	sought	“withdrawal	of	Israeli	armed	forces	from	territories	occupied	in	the
recent	conflict”	in	exchange	for	Arab	recognition	of	Israel’s	right	to	exist.

If	 there	 are	 biblical	 ambiguities	 about	 Israel’s	 geography,	 there	 are	 bigger
questions	 about	 the	 authenticity	 of	 a	 universal	 Jewish	 identity,	 raised
significantly	 by	 Shlomo	 Sand,	 a	 teacher	 of	 contemporary	 history	 at	 Tel	 Aviv
University,	who	challenges	the	veracity	of	one	of	his	country’s	creation	myths,
that	there	was	a	golden	age	before	the	Romans	evicted	Jews	from	their	country
after	the	fall	of	the	temple	in	the	year	70	C.E.	He	does	not	believe	that	the	Jews
occupied	the	land	of	Canaan	in	the	era	of	David	and	Solomon;	or	even	that	there
was	a	diaspora.	He	argues	 that	 there	was,	 instead,	a	diffusion	of	Judaic	culture
by	merchants	and	missionaries	far	beyond	Jerusalem,	long	before	the	fall	of	the
temple.190	As	the	English	historian	Max	Hastings	commented,	reviewing	Sand’s
work:	“The	legend	of	the	ancient	exile	and	modern	return	stands	at	the	heart	of
Israel’s	self	belief.”191	For	the	foreseeable	future	this	will	have	no	impact	on	the
special	fervor	of	Israel’s	armed	forces,	particularly	 its	most	dedicated	warriors,
the	Special	 Forces.	As	 the	 Irish	 know,	what	matters	 is	 not	 the	 fact	 behind	 the
ancient	legend,	but	its	current	vitality,	refreshed	by	new	suffering.

There	is	one	other	characteristic	of	Israel’s	Special	Forces	that	makes	them
unique.	This	 is	a	 religious	mission	 to	 save	and	protect	 Jews	wherever	 they	are
endangered,	whether	by	military	intervention	beyond	Israel,	such	as	at	Entebbe,
Uganda,	in	1976,	or	in	the	1985	exodus	of	Falashas	from	Sudan,	or	by	changing
the	 demography	 of	 Palestine	 through	 the	 Jewish	 right	 of	 return.	 Predating	 the



Holocaust,	 from	 the	 1930s	 onward,	 tens	 of	 thousands	 of	 Jews	were	 imported,
often	in	defiance	of	local,	British-administered	laws	and	later,	to	take	over	land
previously	 occupied	 by	 Arabs.	 The	 process	 continued	 into	 the	 21st	 century.
From	the	resulting	backlash,	three	forms	of	resistance	emerged.	There	was	first
the	 secular,	 political	 Palestinian	 response	 personified	 by	Yassir	Arafat’s	 Fatah
organization	after	the	1967	defeat;	the	international	terrorism	of	warlords	such	as
Abu	 Nidal	 and	 Imad	 Mughniya;	 and	 finally	 Islamist	 fundamentalism,	 often
perverting	Muslim	doctrine,	embodied	by	Osama	bin	Laden.	Had	the	Arab	states
adjoining	 Palestine	 in	 1947	 accepted	 the	 UN-brokered	 deal—to	 partition	 the
country	into	separate	Jewish	and	Arab	entities	joined	in	an	economic	union—the
outcome	 might	 have	 been	 different,	 though	 the	 guerrilla	 wars	 on	 both	 sides
created	a	 less	 than	optimistic	climate.	 (The	British	Field	Marshal	Montgomery
did	not	expect	the	new	state	of	Israel	to	survive	more	than	three	weeks.)	Twenty-
four	hours	after	 Israel	came	 into	existence,	 the	armies	of	Egypt,	Syria,	 Jordan,
Iraq,	 and	 Lebanon	 attacked	 from	 three	 points	 of	 the	 compass.	 Against	 all	 the
odds,	 Israel	 survived	 to	 fight	 another	 day,	 and	 another.	 If	 this	 seemed	 like	 a
miracle	to	some,	it	was	perceived	as	a	sign	of	god	by	dedicated	Zionists.

The	pact	between	Israel	and	the	diaspora	was	not	a	one-way	deal.	According
to	 one	 former	 case	 officer	 (a	 katsa)	 and	 later	 critic	 of	 Mossad,	 loyal	 Jews,
wherever	 they	 are	 to	 be	 found,	 in	 whatever	 job	 or	 profession,	 are	 part	 of	 the
sayanim,	a	secret	international	army	offering	safe	houses,	arms,	intelligence,	and
whatever	 else	 is	 required	 by	 Mossad	 and	 its	 agents.192	 This	 might	 be	 an
exaggeration.	If	it	is	not,	it	calls	into	question	the	reliability	of	many	Jews	in	the
eyes	 of	 their	 host	 governments,	 making	 them	 objects	 of	 suspicion	 as	 were
Roman	Catholics	in	post-Reformation	England.	The	case	of	Jonathan	Pollard,	an
American	 Jew	 employed	 by	 U.S.	 Navy	 intelligence,	 sentenced	 to	 life
imprisonment	in	1987	for	passing	secrets	to	Mossad,	makes	the	sayanim	issue	a
legitimate	topic	for	public	discussion,	but	that	should	come	with	the	caveat	that
generations	of	anti-semites	have	fed	on	a	“world	Jewish	conspiracy.”	That	said,
it	is	historical	fact	that	hundreds	of	Jews	who	served	with	the	British	army	in	the
war	 against	 Hitler	 used	 their	 knowledge	 and	 contacts	 within	 British	 forces	 to
betray	their	former	comrades-in-arms	when	Hitler	was	defeated.

Dedicated	Zionists	would	not	perceive	 this	as	betrayal,	but	as	a	 regrettable
necessity	resulting	from	their	religious	duty	to	the	greater	priority	of	patriotism.
As	Pollard’s	first	wife,	Anne,	memorably	put	it:	“We	did	what	we	were	expected
to	do,	and	what	our	moral	obligation	was	as	Jews,	what	our	moral	obligation	was
as	human	beings,	and	I	have	no	regrets	about	that.”193	Most	warfare,	particularly
within	 the	world	of	 intelligence	and	special	operations,	 is	morally	dubious.	As



Isser	 Be’eri,	 the	 first	 head	 of	 Haganah’s	 intelligence	 service,	 told	 his	 court
martial:	“The	moment	an	 intelligence	service	begins	 to	act	according	 to	 law,	 it
will	cease	to	be	an	intelligence	service.”194

The	use	by	Western	intelligence	of	former	Nazis	(Gehlen	et	al.)	in	postwar
Europe	 and	 beyond	 could	 also	 be	 seen	 as	 a	 betrayal	 of	 the	 ideals	 that
underpinned	 the	Second	World	War.	The	 ambiguities	 of	 the	 postwar	world	 of
intelligence	 and	 Special	 Forces	were	 to	 be	 found	 in	 the	 friendships	 of	 people
such	as	James	Jesus	Angleton,	the	OSS/CIA	officer,	with	former	Italian	Fascists
as	 well	 as	 with	 David	 Ben-Gurion;	 or	 between	Maurice	Oldfield	 of	MI5	 (the
U.K.’s	internal	security	service)	and	Teddy	Kollek,	a	Mossad	liaison	officer;	or
Otto	Skorzeny,	the	Nazi	commando	who	liberated	Mussolini,	and	Mossad	agents
running	 a	 “false	 flag”	 operation.	 In	 spite	 of	 that,	 the	 clandestine	 campaign	 of
Haganah	 in	pre-independence	Palestine	 is	 seen	by	some	 romantics	as	a	golden
age	 of	 Jewish	 resistance,	 aided	 by	 worthy	 goyim	 in	 a	 process	 that	 retrieved
Jewish	dignity	from	the	ashes	of	the	Holocaust.

The	British	Mandate	was	a	poisoned	chalice	handed	down	by	the	League	of
Nations,	 timed	 to	 expire	 after	 twenty-five	 years,	 on	 24	May	 1948.	 For	 years
before	 the	 deadline,	 Jewish	 underground	 forces	 led	 by	 Haganah	 and	 its
intelligence	bureau	anticipated	a	war	for	survival.	By	1947,	Zionist	intelligence
was	 running	 sixty	British	 and	 Jewish	 agents	 (many	 of	 them	working	 for	U.K.
agencies)	and	eighty	Arabs.	A	British	army	captain	gave	Haganah	a	list	of	5,000
of	 its	members	who	were	 to	be	arrested,	 in	exchange	 for	a	 love	nest	where	he
could	be	with	his	Jewish	mistress.

The	moral	authority	of	the	Jewish	resistance	movement	was	not	enhanced	by
the	activities	of	two	splinter	groups,	the	Irgun	Svai	Leumi	and	the	Lehi,	known
to	 the	British	 as	The	Stern	Gang,	 after	 its	 leader	Avraham	Stern,	who	did	 not
“disqualify	 terrorism	 as	 a	 means	 of	 combat.”195	With	 the	 British	 withdrawal,
Israel’s	declaration	of	statehood,	and	the	Arab	armies’	attacks	in	1948,	Haganah
became	 the	 basis	 of	 the	 emerging	 Israel	 Defense	 Force	 while	 its	 intelligence
agency	 was	 reorganized	 as	 the	 Army’s	 intelligence	 arm,	 Aman.	 In	 a	 further
reorganization	Mossad	was	formed	in	1951	to	coordinate	the	competing	teams	of
internal	 security	 (Shin	 Bet),	 the	 military	 intelligence	 wing	 Aman,	 and	 the
Political	Department	of	 Israel’s	Foreign	Office	 as	part	 of	 the	Prime	Minister’s
office.	The	reform	was	bitterly	opposed	by	the	existing	intelligence	freemasonry,
many	 of	 whom	 resigned	 en	 masse	 in	 a	 “spies	 revolt”	 similar	 to	 the	 British
officers’	Curragh	Mutiny	in	1914.

From	a	few	dozen	case	officers,	Mossad	grew	to	1,200	by	the	early	1990s,
augmented,	 according	 to	 Ostrovsky,	 by	 many	 thousands	 of	 Jewish-Zionist



syanim	 sleepers	 outside	 Israel.	 The	 astonishing	 scale	 and	 scope	 of	 Mossad
operations	around	the	world—particularly	“direct	action”	missions	by	Mossad’s
Metsada	 combatants	 and	 its	 sub-unit	 Kidon	 (Bayonet)	 team,	 responsible	 for
assassination	 and	 kidnap—suggests	 a	 much	 higher	 force	 level	 even	 when
allowance	is	made	for	augmentation	of	Kidon	hit	teams	by	the	Special	Forces.

The	 most	 important	 and	 daring	 among	 the	 military	 Special	 Forces	 is	 the
“Sayeret	Matkal,”	an	army	reconnaissance	and	commando	unit	modeled	on	the
British	SAS	even	to	the	extent	of	adopting	the	SAS	motto,	“Who	Dares	Wins.”
In	 practice	 many,	 perhaps	 a	 majority,	 of	 the	 spectacular	 Israeli	 raids,	 rescue
operations,	and	coups	de	main	attributed	to	Mossad	were	the	work	of	the	Sayeret
Matkal	 (also	 known	 as	 General	 Reconnaissance	 Unit	 269).	 The	 Israeli	 prime
minister,	Benjamin	Netanyahu,	served	with	it,	as	did	his	 two	brothers.	Another
veteran	of	Sayeret	Matkal	was	Ehud	Barak,	Israel’s	tenth	prime	minister.	Sayeret
units	 are	 now	 routinely	 built	 into	 Israel’s	 other	 military	 arms,	 including	 the
infantry.	 For	 example,	 Sayeret	Yahalom	 “is	 a	 special	 elite	 combat	 unit	 of	 the
Engineering	Corps.	 It	 specializes	 in	accurate	demolitions	and	planting	pinpoint
explosives	along	with	other	high-scale	engineering	operations	in	and	outside	the
Israeli	 borders.”	 Over	 the	 years	 many	 other	 Special	 Forces	 teams	 have	 been
created	 in	 response	 to	 Israel’s	 wars	 of	 survival.	 According	 to	 Israeli	 military
sources,	they	include	the	following:

Mistaravin:	 Pseudo-Arabs	 trained	 in	 counter-terrorism,	 used	 for	 “surprise,
hit-and-run	missions”	 within	 the	 Occupied	 Territories.	 Israeli	 military	 sources
assert	 that	 the	Mistaravin	use	 force	economically	and	precisely,	 containing	 the
threat	 of	 greater	 violence.	 “Undercover	 riot	 control	 is	 a	 good	 example….	 A
couple	of	undercover	operators,	who	infiltrate	the	riot,	can	quickly	take	out	the
riot’s	 leaders,	 preventing	 the	 need	 to	 use	 riot	 control	 techniques	 on	 the
participants	 using	 large	 uniformed	 forces….	 During	 the	 first	 Intifada	 (1987–
1994)	 and	 the	 second	 Intifada	 (2000–2005)	 the	 units	 conducted	 thousands	 of
missions,	killing	or	capturing	hundreds	of	terrorists….	Today…there	is	a	distinct
preference	 to	 capture	 the	 terrorists	 alive	when	possible	 so	 they	can	be	used	as
intelligence	sources.”

Sayeret	Egoz:	 “Originally	 a	 counter-guerrilla	 force	 set	 up	 in	 the	1960s	 for
retaliatory	cross-border	missions,	principally	in	Lebanon.”

YATA	 (Urban	 Tactical	 Units)	 created	 in	 2004	 “to	 fight	 surgically	 and
effectively	against	insurgents	in	urban	areas.”

LOTAR	 (Counter-Terror)	 Eilat:	 Based	 in	 Israel’s	most	 southern	 city,	 it	 is
“the	 only	 Israeli	 Defense	 Force	 unit	 which	 specializes	 in	 hostage	 rescue….
Especially	renowned	for	its	snipers.”

Sayeret	Shaldag	(Special	Air	Ground	Designating	Team):	An	SF	unit	within



the	 Israeli	Air	Force	 set	 up	 after	 the	Yom	Kippur	War	 in	 1973—in	which	 the
IAF	lost	100	aircraft—as	a	reserve	to	Sayeret	Matkal	 to	direct	air	strikes	using
laser	 designators.	 It	 is	 described	 as	 “the	 IDF	 primary	 airborne	 assault	 force,”
modeled	 on	 the	 British	 SAS.	 In	 1982,	 in	 operations	 in	 Lebanon,	 Shaldag
destroyed	missile	sites	and	anti-aircraft	batteries,	ensuring	Israeli	air	superiority.
In	 1986–87,	 the	 first	 years	 of	 the	 Intifada,	 “Shaldag	was	 among	 the	 very	 first
units	 to	 conduct	 undercover	 missions	 wearing	 typical	 Arab	 clothing.”	 In
September	2007,	the	unit	was	thought	to	be	involved	in	an	attack	by	F-15	Israeli
Air	Force	strike	aircraft	on	a	cache	of	nuclear	materials	supplied	by	North	Korea
to	Syria.

Shayetet	 13:	 Naval	 commando	 unit	 formed	 in	 1949.	 During	 its	 early
decades,	 until	 the	 1980s,	 the	 unit	 suffered	 from	 insufficient	 training	 and
specialization;	but	then,	in	Lebanon,	it	had	“an	excellent	track	record	of	dozens
of	successful	operations	each	year,	without	casualties”	including	“interdiction	of
terrorists’	vessels,	blowing	up	enemy	headquarters	and	key	facilities,	conducting
ambushes	and	planting	explosives	 in	 terrorists’	routes.”	Against	 that	record,	“it
lost	twelve	of	its	operators	in	a	botched	raid	in	Lebanon	in	1997.”	In	November
2009,	 a	 flotilla	 of	 Shayetet	 13’s	 speed	 boats	 intercepted	 the	Antiguan-flagged
freighter	 Francop	 off	 the	 coast	 of	 Cyprus.	 It	 carried	 a	 large	 consignment	 of
missiles,	rockets,	shells,	grenades,	and	assault	rifles	hidden	in	containers	 in	the
hull	 “bound	 for	 Hizbollah	 from	 Iran,”	 said	 Israel’s	 Deputy	 Foreign	 Minister
Danny	Ayalon.	The	haul	was	the	biggest	of	its	kind	for	seven	years.	In	the	Red
Sea	in	2002	Shayetet	had	intercepted	the	Karine	A,	also	carrying	arms	from	Iran
to	its	Hamas	ally	in	the	Gaza	Strip.

This	 list	 is	 far	 from	 exhaustive.	 Other	 teams	 include	 Army	 Unit	 8200
(signals	 intelligence);	 Unit	 504	 running	 agents	 in	 occupied	 territories;	 even
faceless	establishments	such	as	Facility	1391,	known	as	“Israel’s	Guantanamo.”
There,	according	to	the	newspaper	Ha’aretz,	“detainees	are	blindfolded	and	kept
in	blackened	cells,	never	told	where	they	are,	brutally	interrogated	and	allowed
no	visitors	of	any	kind….	No	wonder	Facility	1391	officially	does	not	exist.”196
Brassey’s	most	recent	International	Intelligence	Yearbook	(2003	edition)	adds	to
this	 list	 the	Nativ,	or	Liaison	Bureau,	still	assisting	Jews	 to	 leave	Russia	while
acquiring	 that	 useful	 by-product,	 intelligence;	 deep	 reconnaissance	 units	 5707
and	 669;	 and	 Malmad,	 operating	 from	 the	 Defense	 Ministry	 and	 allegedly
responsible	 for	 computer	 espionage.	 Its	 predecessor,	 Lekem	 (or	 Lakam),	 was
disbanded	as	a	result	of	Pollard’s	betrayal	of	the	U.S.	Navy.

Mossad,	 the	 Israeli	 state’s	 intelligence	 service,	 comprises	 ten	 separate
departments.	It	is	still	primarily	an	intelligence	agency	similar	to	the	CIA	and	the
British	Secret	Intelligence	Service	(MI6),	on	which	it	was	originally	modeled.	Its



covert	 strike	 force,	 Kidon,	 is	 part	 of	 a	 “Mossad-Within-Mossad”	 operational
branch	known	as	Metsada.

	

This	is	probably	not	a	complete,	up-to-date	list;	but	it	is	possible,	by	identifying
the	 operations	 in	 which	 these	 agencies	 have	 taken	 part,	 to	 replicate	 Israel’s
Special	 Forces	 agenda.	 This	 would	 include	 (on	 Mossad’s	 part)	 Strategic
Intelligence	(such	as	disclosure	of	Khrushchev’s	secret	denunciation	of	Stalin	in
1956);	Direct	Action	including	assassination	(in	conjunction	with	Army	Special
Forces);	Kidnap	 (with	 agencies	 such	 as	Shin	Bet);	Rescue	Operations	 (largely
military	 SF);	 Acquisition	 of	 Military	 Hardware	 (including	 Operation	 Noah’s
Ark,	the	mysterious	escape	from	Cherbourg	on	Christmas	Day,	1969	of	Israel’s
impounded	 gunboats;	 and	 acquisition	 of	 a	 MiG-23,	 after	 its	 Syrian	 pilot	 was
turned,	 12	October	 1989);	 Interdiction	Operations	 (such	 as	Operation	 Sphinx,
the	air	attack	on	Iraq’s	nuclear	facility,	1981;	or	Operation	Plumbat,	the	theft	at
sea	of	an	entire	cargo	of	200	tons	of	uranium	oxide);	Invisible	Military	Exports,
including	 arms	 deals	 and	 training	 teams	 for	 the	 Kurdish	 Peshmerga;	 Chilean
special	 forces;	 Colombian	 guerrillas	 and—simultaneously—Tamils	 and
Sinhalese,	 then	 at	war	with	 one	 another.	There	were	 some	 spectacular	 failures
along	the	way	but,	by	and	large,	more	gains	than	losses.

What	follows	is	a	far	from	complete	account.	It	is	indicative,	however,	of	the
nature	 of	 the	 operations	 run	 by	 Mossad	 and	 its	 allies,	 combining	 courage,
ingenuity,	 and—thanks	 to	 the	 belief	 that	 the	 ultimate	 Commander-in-Chief	 is
God	 himself—sublime	 indifference	 to	 the	 niceties	 of	 international	 law	 or
international	 opinion.	 Two	 operations	 dominate	 the	 history	 of	 Israel’s	 special
operations,	 operations	 linked	 by	 daring	 and	 public	 exposure.	 One	 was	 an
exercise	 in	 Jewish	 vengeance;	 the	 other,	 the	 preservation	 of	 precious	 Jewish
blood.

For	two	decades	from	the	1960s	onward,	Western	institutions	were	plagued
by	 violent,	 “chic”	 revolution	 whose	 icon	 was	 Che	 Guevara,	 a	 movement	 that
swept	 university	 campuses	 from	 Berlin	 via	 France,	 the	 Netherlands,	 and
Northern	 Ireland	 to	Ohio.	 Some	 protests	 had	 their	 origin	 in	 extreme	 left-wing
politics.	 Others	 opposed	 military	 conscription	 for	 war	 service	 in	 Vietnam.	 In
Ulster	and	elsewhere,	there	was	a	legitimate	issue	of	civil	rights.	Some	of	these
events,	particularly	in	Ireland,	began	with	the	politics	of	provocation	and	spilled
over	 into	 lethal	 civil	 war.	 Extremists	 of	 every	 kind	 made	 common	 cause	 to
overturn	the	established	order.	They	were	often	from	wealthy	backgrounds,	part
of	a	generation	that	had	not	been	chastened	by	the	Second	World	War.	Libya’s
leader,	 Colonel	 Gaddafi,	 supplied	 the	 IRA	 with	 assault	 rifles	 and	 explosives.



Palestinian	 extremists	 merged	 with	 West	 German	 Marxist	 terrorists.	 Starting
with	the	hijack	of	four	airliners	bound	for	New	York	but	blown	up	on	Dawson’s
Field,	Jordan	in	September	1970,	air	travel	was	perceived	as	a	very	bad	idea.	A
Terrorist	International	had	come	into	being.

In	Germany,	the	imprisoned	leaders	of	the	Baader-Meinhof	group	(the	Red
Army	 Faction)	 called	 on	 the	 Palestinian	 terrorist	 group	 Black	 September	 for
help.	 The	 Palestinians	 spotted	 their	 chance	 during	 the	 countdown	 to	 the	 1972
Olympic	Games	in	Munich.	Hostage-taking	and	prisoner	exchange	were	part	of
the	landscape	of	terror	practiced	on	all	sides.	Black	September	(named	after	the
defeat	 of	 Syrian-backed	 Palestinians	 attempting	 to	 subvert	 Jordan	 two	 years
earlier)	 sent	 a	 team	 of	 eight	 into	 the	 Olympic	 village	 in	 the	 early	 hours	 of	 5
September	where	many	of	the	Israeli	team	were	quartered.	Having	taken	eleven
hostages,	 the	 terrorists	 issued	 their	 demand:	 release	 and	 transfer	 to	 Egypt	 234
Palestinians	 and	 others	 held	 in	 Israel,	 as	 well	 as	 Andreas	 Baader	 and	 Ulrike
Meinhof,	 in	 prison	 in	 Germany.	 The	 Israeli	 prisoners,	 weight-lifters	 and
wrestlers,	 did	not	go	quietly.	 In	 some	of	 the	 fights	 that	 followed,	 two	of	 them
were	shot	dead.

Hours	 of	 negotiation	 followed.	 The	 German	 authorities	 persuaded	 the
terrorists	 to	 travel	with	 their	hostages	by	helicopter	 to	Fürstenfeldbruck	NATO
air	 base,	 ostensibly	 to	 be	 flown	 by	 a	 Lufthansa	 civil	 airliner	 to	 Egypt.	 In	 the
febrile	atmosphere	at	the	airport,	the	terrorists	smelled	a	rat.	After	inspecting	the
Lufthansa	 jet,	 two	 of	 them	 started	 running	 back	 to	 the	 helicopter.	 It	was	 now
dark.	An	unqualified	police	 sniper	opened	 fire.	 In	 the	 chaos	 that	 followed,	 the
remaining	hostages	were	murdered	and	five	of	 the	 terrorists	shot	dead,	 the	 last
one	after	a	manhunt	that	continued	into	the	early	hours.	Three	terrorists	survived,
only	to	be	handed	over	by	the	West	German	government	to	Libya,	following	the
hijack	of	another	Lufthansa	airliner.

The	 West	 Germans’	 loss	 of	 control	 at	 Fürstenfeldbruck,	 where	 only	 five
untrained,	 badly	 deployed	 police	 snipers	 were	 initially	 outnumbered	 by	 their
enemy,	 was	 observed	 from	 the	 control	 tower	 with	 cold	 anger	 by	 Mossad’s
director,	Zvi	Zamir,	and	Victor	Cohen,	Shin	Bet’s	senior	interrogator.	They	were
allotted	a	grandstand	seat	on	condition	they	remained	passive	observers	of	their
countrymen’s	murders.	 The	 surviving	 terrorists	 and	 their	 dead	 comrades	were
received	by	most	of	the	Arab	world,	aside	from	Jordan,	as	heroes.

The	stage	was	now	set	for	the	next	part	of	this	bloody	drama.	In	spite	of	the
fact	that	one	of	Mossad’s	operations	to	hunt	down	and	kill	the	Munich	terrorists
and	 their	key	planners	was	codenamed	“Wrath	of	God,”	General	Zamir	denied
that	 vengeance	 had	 any	 place	 in	 Israel’s	 thinking.	 In	 an	 interview	 more	 than
thirty	years	later,	he	said:	“We	are	accused	of	having	been	guided	by	a	desire	for



vengeance.	 That	 is	 nonsense.	 We	 acted	 against	 those	 who	 thought	 that	 they
would	continue	to	perpetrate	acts	of	terror.	I	am	not	saying	that	those	who	were
involved	in	Munich	were	not	marked	for	death.	They	definitely	deserved	to	die.
But	 we	 were	 not	 dealing	 with	 the	 past;	 we	 concentrated	 on	 the	 future.”
Elsewhere,	 he	 used	 the	 phrase	 “prevention	 of	 future	 threats”	 to	 describe	 the
campaign	of	 selective	assassination	outside	 Israel	as	a	 result	of	West	Europe’s
failure	 to	 halt	 a	 succession	 of	 airline	 hostage-taking	 operations	 by	 Arab
terrorists.197

Around	 twelve	 suspects	 were	 assassinated	 during	 a	 campaign	 that	 lasted
several	 years.	Preparation	 for	 the	 first	 strike	 against	 those	held	 responsible	 for
Munich	 took	 little	 more	 than	 five	 weeks.	 Captured	 Palestine	 Liberation
Organization	prisoners	were	persuaded,	by	bribes,	blackmail,	or	other	means,	to
identify	 some	 of	 the	 suspects.	 Others	 were	 already	 known	 to	Mossad	 as	 “the
usual	 suspects.”	 Accurate	 identification	 depended	 heavily	 on	 the	 belief	 that
Black	September,	originally	backed	by	the	Syrian	movement	known	as	al-Saiqa,
was	 an	 arm	 of	 Arafat’s	 PLO.	 To	 reduce	 the	 possibility	 of	 error,	 each
assassination	was	preceded	by	a	quasi-legal	tribunal	in	Israel	colloquially	known
as	 “Committee	 X.”	 Over	 a	 fifteen-month	 period,	 at	 least	 eight	 Arab	 terrorists
were	slain.	The	first	man	to	go,	on	16	October	1972,	was	Abdel	Wa’il	Zu’itar,
the	 Palestine	 Liberation	 Organization’s	 man	 in	 Rome.	 As	 he	 waited	 for	 the
elevator	 in	 his	 apartment	 building,	 he	 was	 shot	 twelve	 times	 at	 point-blank
range,	 probably	 by	 a	 two-man	 team	 from	 Mossad’s	 Kidon	 hit	 team.	 On	 8
December,	 Mahmoud	 Hamchari,	 the	 PLO’s	 man	 in	 France,	 answered	 the
telephone	in	Paris:	“Oui?”

“Est-que	c’est	Monsieur	‘Amchari	qui	parle?”	the	caller	asked.
“Oui.	C’est	lui,”	Hamchari	replied.
At	 that	 moment,	 a	 bomb,	 concealed	 inside	 a	 bedside	 table	 on	 which	 the

telephone	rested,	exploded.	Hamchari	died	a	month	later.	Six	weeks	passed,	and
in	January	1973	Hussein	Al	Bashir,	a	senior	member	of	the	PLO’s	guerrilla	arm,
Al	Fatah,	was	preparing	for	bed	at	a	perhaps	aptly	named	Olympic	Hotel	in	the
Cypriot	capital,	Nicosia.	His	assassins	watched	and	waited	for	his	bedroom	light
to	be	turned	off.	They	then	detonated	the	bomb	planted	under	the	bed.

On	 9	 April,	 a	 joint	 operation	 involving	 Mossad	 and	 the	 Army’s	 Special
Forces	commando	Sayeret	Matkal	assassinated	three	more	top	PLO	men	in	their
Beirut	 homes.	 A	 week	 ahead	 of	 the	 attack,	 six	 Mossad	 agents	 (three	 using
British	 passports)	 arrived	 on	 civilian	 flights	 from	different	 capitals,	 to	 prepare
the	way	with	hired	cars,	safe	houses,	and	target	reconnaissance.	The	commandos
came	 in	 by	 sea,	 the	 last	mile	 by	 small	 inflatables,	 guided	by	 a	 flashlight	 code
from	 the	 agents	 onshore.	 Their	 surprise	 attack	 on	 the	 enemy	 apartments	 in



downtown	Beirut	was	total.	Almost	simultaneously,	Muhammed	Najjar,	Kamal
Adwan—allegedly	 senior	 Black	 September	 leaders—and	 Kamal	 Nasser,	 the
PLO’s	 spin	 doctor,	 were	 gunned	 down	 by	 their	 masked	 attackers	 as	 other
Sayeret	 commandos	 struck	 at	 alternative	 Palestinian	 centers	 in	 the	 city	 in
diversionary	 operations.	Before	 the	 smoke	had	 cleared,	 Israel’s	Special	 Forces
had	 vanished	 like	 phantoms,	 collecting	 new	 clothes	 and	 passports	 before	 they
passed	 “Go”	 on	 their	 indirect	way	 home	 by	 civil	 flights.	 Others	 linked	 to	 the
Munich	massacre,	taken	out	during	the	wave	of	Mossad	assassinations,	included
Ziad	Muchessi	 (Athens,	 12	 April	 1973)	 and	Mohammed	 Boudia,	 an	 Algerian
terrorist	organizer	with	links	to	many	disparate	groups	(Paris,	28	June	1973).

It	was	not	for	these	exploits	that	operations	Wrath	of	God	and	Springtime	of
Youth	 would	 be	 remembered	 in	 most	 histories	 of	 the	 Arab-Israeli	 conflict.
Mossad’s	apologists	including	Zvi	Zamir	assert	that	prior	to	Munich,	“there	was
no	need	for	 illegal	 Israeli	activitiy	 in	Europe.”198	Munich	 traumatized	Israel	as
9/11	traumatized	America	and	internationalized	the	conflict.	In	Israeli	eyes,	such
actions	were	henceforth	illegal	but	unavoidable.	Much	international	opinion	was
prepared,	tacitly,	to	tolerate	this	position	so	long	as	Israeli	reprisals	generated	no
innocent	victims.	As	an	English	wit,	Mrs.	Patrick	Campbell,	once	said:	“I	don’t
mind	what	 people	do	 so	 long	 as	 they	don’t	 do	 it	 in	 the	 street	 and	 frighten	 the
horses.”	At	Lillehammer,	Norway,	on	21	 July	1973,	 the	horses	 and	much	else
were	 scandalized	 when	 a	 Moroccan	 waiter	 named	 Ahmed	 Bouchiki	 was
misidentified	 by	 a	 Mossad	 informant	 as	 Ali	 Hussein	 Salameh,	 the	 rich,
flamboyant	operations	chief	for	Black	September,	known	as	the	Red	Prince.

Lillehammer	 is	 a	 crisp,	 neat,	 and	 very	 provincial	 resort	 favored	 by	 cross-
country	 skiers.	 During	 the	 Cold	 War,	 British	 SAS	 men,	 training	 for	 Arctic
warfare,	were	posted	there	dressed	as	civilians	to	learn	from	Norwegians,	whose
idea	 of	 a	 Sunday	morning	 family	 outing	was	 a	 brisk	 twenty-five-mile	 journey
over	rolling	countryside	while	towing	the	youngest	in	a	plastic	ski	buggy.	It	is	a
place	where	 strangers	 are	 noticed	 and	where,	 in	 the	 seventies,	 the	 presence	 of
foreigners—to	say	nothing	of	a	hidden	arsenal	of	unguarded	weapons	for	 local
stay-behind	 forces	 in	 the	 event	 of	 a	 Soviet	 invasion—lent	 the	 place	 a	 certain
edge.

Bouchiki	was	gunned	down	by	two	members	of	the	assassination	team	as	he
returned	home	from	the	cinema	with	his	pregnant	wife.	Though	some	members
of	 the	Mossad	 squad	 escaped,	 six,	 including	 two	 women,	 were	 arrested.	 Five
were	convicted	of	murder.	Huge	damage	was	caused	to	Mossad’s	legend	as	the
long,	 invincible	arm	of	 Israeli	 justice.	The	 real	 target,	 the	Red	Prince,	was	not
the	 sort	 of	 personality	 to	 hide	 himself	 away	 in	 obscure	 Lillehammer.	 He	was
blown	up	in	a	car	bomb	in	Beirut,	with	eight	other	people,	almost	six	years	after



Bouchiki’s	assassination	on	22	January	1979.
Between	1976	and	1988,	 the	Army’s	Sayeret	Matkal	Commando	did	much

to	restore	the	reputation	of	Israel’s	Special	Forces,	in	a	series	of	daring	rescues
and	 high-risk	 retributive	 operations	 far	 from	 home.	 On	 22	 June	 1976,	 an	 Air
France	airliner	took	off	from	Tel	Aviv	bound	for	Paris,	pausing	at	Athens,	where
it	was	seized	by	two	members	of	the	Baader-Meinhof	group	(whose	leaders	were
still	in	prison	in	Germany)	and	two	terrorists	belonging	to	Popular	Front	for	the
Liberation	of	Palestine,	which	shared	Baader-Meinhof’s	belief	in	Marxism.	The
crew	 of	 twelve	 and	 246	 passengers	 were	 now	 hostages.	 A	 friendly	 welcome
awaited	 the	 terrorists	 at	 Entebbe	 airfield,	 Uganda,	 whose	 ruler,	 Idi	 Amin,	 a
convert	to	Islam,	was	reputed	to	store	the	heads	of	former	political	opponents	in
his	 refrigerator.	 The	 hijacked	 aircraft	 was	 met	 at	 Entebbe	 by	 another	 seven
terrorists.	 Non-Jewish	 passengers	 were	 promptly	 released,	 providing	 Israeli
intelligence	with	useful	information	about	the	architecture	of	the	airfield	and	the
chances	of	rescue.	The	108	hostages	who	remained	were	Jews.

If	any	rescue	was	to	have	a	chance	of	success,	3,000	miles	from	Israel	with
no	red-carpet	access	to	the	target,	deception	was	the	key.	The	man	who	devised
the	deception	plan,	and	much	else,	was	Major-General	Dan	Shomron.	His	bleak
assessment,	he	later	explained,	was:	“You	had	more	than	100	people	sitting	in	a
small	room,	surrounded	by	terrorists	with	their	fingers	on	the	trigger.	They	could
fire	in	a	fraction	of	a	second.	We	had	to	fly	seven	hours,	land	safely,	drive	to	the
terminal	area	where	 the	hostages	were	being	held,	get	 inside,	and	eliminate	all
the	terrorists	before	any	of	them	could	fire.”199	When	he	revealed	his	plan	to	the
Chiefs	 of	 Staff,	 “all	 those	 around	me	weren’t	 enthusiastic.	 They	 said	 that	 the
program	was	brilliant	but	the	risk	was	too	great.	James	Bond,	they	said.”	When
he	briefed	the	team	who	would	do	the	business,	he	said:	“We’re	going	out	4,000
kilometers.	We’re	alone,	but	we’re	the	strongest	force	in	the	field.	If	anyone	is
afraid,	he	may	leave.”	No	one	moved.

The	deception—the	Trojan	Horse	for	Operation	Thunderbolt—was	a	black,
shiny	 Mercedes	 limousine,	 Idi	 Amin’s	 preferred	 form	 of	 transport,	 flying	 a
Ugandan	flag	but	still	carrying	Israeli	number	plates.	If	the	pseudo-VIP	convoy,
Mercedes	and	outriders,	led	the	assault,	it	might,	with	luck,	bluff	its	way	through
the	outer	cordon	of	Ugandan	guards	without	firing	a	shot.	The	convoy	was	led
by	Sayeret	Matkal’s	commanding	officer,	Lieutenant-Colonel	Jonathan	(“Yoni”)
Netanyahu,	elder	brother	of	 the	man	who	would	become	 their	 country’s	prime
minister	 in	 1996	 and	 later.	 The	 planners	were	 blessed	with	 good	 intelligence.
Intricate	details	 of	 the	now-derelict	 old	 terminal	where	 the	hostages	were	held
were	supplied	by	the	Israeli	company	that	had	constructed	the	building,	enabling
a	crude	mock-up	 to	be	built	 in	 Israel	on	which	 the	commandos	could	practice.



Meanwhile,	a	Mossad	pilot	made	a	simulated	forced	landing	on	the	airfield	in	a
light	aircraft	before	the	operation	began,	and,	by	unspecified	means,	contrived	to
relay	photographs	of	the	target	to	Shomron.

Six	 aircraft—two	 Boeing	 707s	 and	 four	 lumbering	 Hercules	 transports—
made	up	the	force.	One	of	the	Boeings	circled	above	Entebbe,	providing	secure
communications	 to	 Tel	 Aviv	 and	 for	 the	 men	 on	 the	 ground.	 The	 second,
converted	 into	 a	 field	 hospital,	 was	 parked	 at	 neutral	 Nairobi.	 The	 fourth
Hercules	was	empty,	allocated	to	the	hostages	if	any	could	be	brought	out.	Other
space	 was	 meticulously	 provided	 for	 casualties,	 dead	 or	 alive.	 A	 team	 of
pathfinders	 was	 the	 first	 to	 land,	 planting	 beacons	 to	mark	 the	 runway	 in	 the
event	 that	 when	 the	 action	 started,	 the	 main	 runway	 lights	 would	 be
extinguished.	That	happened.

Then,	as	the	Hercules	fleet	approached	Entebbe,	the	leading	aircraft	slotted
in	behind	a	scheduled	British	cargo	flight,	as	planned,	and	touched	down	in	its
wake.	The	other	three	flew	in	a	holding	pattern	as	the	lead	Hercules	dropped	its
ramp	 on	 final	 approach.	 The	 Mercedes	 and	 its	 escorts—two	 Land	 Rovers—
rolled	onto	the	tarmac	before	the	aircraft	halted	in	front	of	the	terminal	where	the
hostages	were	held.

Two	Ugandan	sentries	challenged	the	convoy	and	were	immediately	picked
off	by	the	Sayeret	with	silenced	pistols.	Around	forty	meters	from	the	building,
Netanyahu’s	 deputy,	 known	 as	 “Muki,”	 jumped	 from	 the	 Mercedes	 with	 his
team	and	in	quick	succession	killed	a	Ugandan	guard	and	two	of	 the	terrorists,
now	 on	 their	 feet	 and	 firing	 at	 the	 intruders.	Outside	 the	 building,	Netanyahu
was	 hit	 in	 the	 back	 by	 a	 sniper	 bullet	 fired	 from	 a	 disused	 control	 tower	 and
fatally	wounded.	 In	 other	 contacts,	 six	 terrorists—two	 armed	with	 grenades—
and	two	more	Ugandan	guards	were	killed.	As	the	team	broke	into	the	terminal,
one	of	the	guards	fired	a	burst	of	automatic	fire.	He	was	unused	to	the	weapon’s
tendency	 to	 aim	 high	 unless	 it	was	 gripped	 firmly.	His	 bullets	 shattered	 glass
windows	above	the	hostages	before	he,	too,	was	cut	down	by	the	attackers.

As	one	of	the	rescuers,	using	a	loud-hailer,	ordered	the	terrified	hostages	to
keep	 their	 heads	 down,	 the	 other	 three	Hercules	 landed.	The	 rescue	 had	 taken
just	 three	minutes.	 Early	 the	 following	morning,	 “the	 lead	 Hercules	 flew	 low
over	 Eilat	 at	 the	 southern	 tip	 of	 Israel.	 The	 tired	 airmen	 in	 the	 cockpit	 were
astonished	 to	 see	 people	 in	 the	 streets	 below	 waving	 and	 clapping.”200	 If
terrorists	had	hoped	to	achieve	a	propaganda-by-deed,	a	“spectacular,”	this	latest
exercise	in	hostage-taking	was	an	own-goal.	“Entebbe,”	for	years	afterward,	was
no	 longer	a	place	 in	Africa	but	a	 fanfare	 that	celebrated	 the	professionalism	of
Israel’s	Special	Forces	worldwide.

Over	 the	 next	 two	 years,	 Sayeret	 Matkal	 pulled	 off	 at	 least	 three	 other



rescues,	one	known	as	 the	bus	hostage	 rescue,	before	going	onto	 the	offensive
with	an	assassination	operation	in	conjunction	with	Mossad	and	its	military	arm,
Metsada.	The	 target	was	Khalil	al-Wazir	 (nom	de	guerre,	Abu	Jihad),	Arafat’s
deputy	 in	 the	PLO.	He	had	settled	 in	Sidi	Bou	Said,	a	placid	suburb	of	Tunis,
when,	 on	 16	April	 1988,	 Israeli	 commandos—replicating	 the	 Beirut	 attack	 on
Black	September	 leaders	 in	Operation	Spring	of	Youth	 thirteen	years	before—
smashed	 their	way	 into	his	home	and	gunned	him	down	 in	 the	presence	of	his
family.	Yet	 again,	Mossad	 agents	 speaking	 fluent	Arabic	prepared	 the	ground.
The	 assassination	 team	 again	 came	 ashore	 in	 dinghies.	 A	 Boeing	 707	 circled
overhead	as	a	communications	center	and	command	post.

Equally	dramatic	were	Israel’s	snatch	operations,	exercises	in	hostage-taking
or	the	unlawful	arrest	of	individuals	outside	Israeli	jurisdiction.	The	abduction	of
the	Holocaust	bureaucrat	Adolf	Eichmann	by	Shin	Bet	operatives	in	May	1960
led	 to	 his	 trial	 and	 execution	 in	 Israel	 and	 an	 international	 outcry	 about
Argentina’s	territorial	integrity.	Eichmann’s	trial	generated	a	memorable	phrase
to	 describe	 his	 dutiful,	 no-questions-asked	 attention	 to	 detail	 in	 compiling	 his
balance	 sheet	 of	 death:	 “The	 banality	 of	 evil.”	 It	 also	 left	 a	 bad	 taste	 in	 the
mouths	 of	 some	 Israelis,	 thanks	 to	 claims	made	 by	 the	 legendary	Nazi-hunter
Simon	Wiesenthal	that	he	had	traced	Eichmann	to	Argentina	before	anyone	else.
Isser	 Harel,	 a	 Mossad	 founding	 father	 controlling	 the	 search,	 challenged
Wiesenthal’s	claim.	In	2009,	the	writer	Guy	Walters	went	further.	Wiesenthal’s
reputation,	he	wrote,	“was	built	on	sand.	He	was	a	liar—and	a	bad	one	at	 that.
From	the	end	of	the	Second	World	War	to	the	end	of	his	life	in	2005,	he	would
lie	 repeatedly	 about	 his	 supposed	 hunt	 for	 Eichmann….”201	 The	 history	 was
further	darkened	by	the	suspicion	that	the	CIA	did	not	try	too	hard,	if	at	all,	 to
pursue	 Eichmann	 at	 a	 time	when	 hundreds	 of	 unreformed	Nazi	war	 criminals
were	working	for	the	agency	against	Communism	in	Europe.202	In	spite	of	some
failures	 along	 the	 way,	 Mossad/Special	 Forces	 abductions	 continued.	 In
Operation	 Crate	 3,	 carried	 out	 by	 the	 Sayeret	 Matkal	 on	 21	 June,	 1972,	 five
Syrian	 intelligence	 officers	 with	 Palestinian	 resistance	 men,	 on	 a	 guided	 tour
near	 the	 Israeli	 border,	were	 seized	 as	 hostages.	They	 then	became	bargaining
chips	 to	 secure	 the	 release	 of	 three	 Israeli	 airmen	 held	 captive	 in	 Syria.	 The
world’s	 media	 paid	 little	 attention	 to	 this	 one,	 perhaps	 because	 it	 was	 a
“domestic”	affair	within	the	opaque	Middle	East,	where	even	participants	did	not
always	 comprehend	what	was	 happening.	 The	 kidnap	 of	Mordecai	Vanunu	 in
Rome	 in	 September	 1986	 made	 bigger	 waves.	 Vanunu,	 according	 to	 taste,	 is
either	a	traitor	to	Israel,	having	betrayed	its	most	cherished	military	secret,	or	an
heroic	whistleblower	meriting	a	Nobel	Peace	Prize.



Vanunu,	a	 rabbi’s	son,	worked	from	1976	until	1985	as	a	 technician	at	his
country’s	top-secret	nuclear	plant	in	the	Negev	desert	at	Dimona.	During	those
years,	disenchanted	with	 Israel’s	manufacture	of	plutonium	sufficient	 for	up	 to
200	 nuclear	 weapons,	 he	made	 his	 way	 around	 the	 underground	 plant,	 taking
photographs	and	making	notes,	apparently	unnoticed	by	security	staff.	Soon	after
being	laid	off	with	180	others	in	1985,	he	was	in	Australia,	undergoing	a	process
of	 conversion	 to	 Christianity.	 He	 encountered	 a	 British	 journalist	 and	 after
prolonged	debriefing	by	the	Sunday	Times	Insight	team	in	London,	he	provided
the	newspaper	with	a	densely	detailed	description	of	the	Dimona	plant.

Mossad	 learned	 of	 this	 disaster	 before	 the	 Sunday	 Times	 published	 The
Secrets	 of	 Israel’s	 Nuclear	 Arsenal	 on	 5	 October	 1986,	 though	 just	 how	 that
happened	is	unclear.	It	might	have	something	to	do	with	the	fact	that	much	of	the
British	media	is	under	constant	surveillance	by	security	agencies	including	MI5,
the	D-Notice	Committee,	and	the	Ministry	of	Defence.	In	addition,	in	a	gossipy
profession,	 a	minority	 of	 journalists	 collaborate	with	 the	 intelligence	 services.
Leaks	 happen	 regularly,	 sometimes	 as	 “spoiler”	 stories	 that	 appear	 ahead	 of
scheduled	publication	as	a	means	of	limiting	damage	to	an	intelligence	agency,
or	 as	 an	 abuse	 of	 legal	 process	 to	 stifle	 dissent.	 (The	 author	 has	 extensive
experience	of	the	phenomenon.)

The	 Sunday	 Times	 reprinted	 Vanunu’s	 disclosures	 on	 21	 September	 2008
with	 the	 additional	 note:	 “Before	 publication	Vanunu,	 now	 63,	was	 lured	 into
flying	 to	 Italy	 by	 a	Mossad	 agent	 named	Cheryl	Bentov.	He	was	 captured	 by
Israeli	 agents,	 smuggled	 to	 Israel	 and	 put	 on	 trial	 on	 charges	 of	 treason	 and
espionage.	 He	 was	 released	 in	 2004….”203	 While	 some	 humanitarian
organizations	regarded	the	eighteen-year	sentence	imposed	by	a	closed	tribunal
on	 Vanunu,	 ten	 of	 those	 years	 in	 solitary,	 as	 harsh,	 Mossad	 believed	 he	 had
gotten	 off	 lightly.	 The	 director	 of	Mossad	 at	 the	 time	 of	Vanunu’s	 abduction,
Shabtai	Shavit,	 told	an	Australian	broadcaster	 that	 assassination	was	an	option
that	 he	 had	 considered.	 “I	 would	 be	 lying	 if	 I	 said	 that	 thought	 didn’t	 pass
through	our	heads,”	said	Shavit.	It	did	not	happen	“because	Jews	don’t	do	that	to
other	 Jews.”204	 Shavit	 would	 also	 have	 been	 aware	 of	 the	 ground	 rules	 for	 a
Mossad	 assassination.	 At	 any	 one	 time,	 according	 to	 the	 former	Mossad	 case
officer	Ostrovsky,	 there	might	be	100	names	on	 an	 execution	 list.	Some	cases
are	more	urgent	than	others.	An	operational	emergency	might	require	shortcuts
in	 obtaining	 clearance	 for	 the	 execution.	 Otherwise,	 permission	 is	 sought	 by
Mossad’s	director	from	the	prime	minister,	who	would	send	it	to	a	secret	judicial
committee.	This	sits	as	a	military	court.	The	accused,	unaware	of	the	hearing,	is
represented	by	counsel,	as	 is	 the	state.	A	guilty	verdict	means	 that	 the	accused



might	be	brought	to	Israel	for	trial	(as	were	Eichmann	and	Vanunu)	“or	if	that	is
too	 dangerous	 or	 simply	 impossible,	 execute	 him	 at	 the	 first	 possible
opportunity,”	but	only	after	 the	prime	minister	has	 signed	 the	execution	order.
“One	of	the	first	duties	of	any	new	Israeli	prime	minister	is	to	read	the	execution
list	and	decide	whether	or	not	to	initial	each	name	on	it.”205

For	 Israel,	 the	 abduction/assassination	 option	 had	 a	 respectable	 history,	 if
only	because	elements	of	the	British	8th	Army’s	Jewish	Brigade	made	common
cause	with	a	handful	of	Holocaust	survivors	 in	hunting	down	Nazis	 in	postwar
Europe.	 These	 retributive	 squads,	 known	 as	Nokmin,	 or	Avengers,	 summarily
executed	many	hundreds	of	former	Gestapo	and	SS	officers	in	Italy,	Austria,	and
Germany,	 probably	 assisted	 by	 former	 colleagues	 of	 the	 targeted	 men.	 The
British	SAS	had	 its	own,	unofficial	War	Crimes	 Investigation	Team	known	as
the	Secret	Hunters,	operating	in	France	and	Germany	immediately	after	the	war.
It	 claimed	 to	 steer	clear	of	extra-judicial	killings,	preferring	 to	hand	over	Nazi
fugitives,	particularly	 those	 involved	 in	 the	murder	of	SAS	prisoners-of-war	 in
France,	 to	 due	 judicial	 process.	 The	 complete	 truth	 of	 that	 might	 never	 be
known.	 Meanwhile,	 as	 we	 have	 noted,	 former	 Nazis	 recruited	 by	 the	 Gladio
organization	 and	other	 shadowy	outfits	 enjoyed	Allied	protection	 in	 their	 joint
prosecution	of	the	emerging	war	on	Communism.

Within	 the	 U.S.,	 the	 idea	 of	 abduction	 in	 a	 just	 cause	 was	 taken	 up	 by
Washington	 in	 the	 1980s	 as	 a	 response	 to	 Arab	 terrorism.	 Two	 new	 laws
sponsored	by	President	Reagan	in	1984	and	1986	and	a	secret	legal	opinion	gave
the	FBI	“extraterritorial	jurisdiction	over	terrorists	acting	against	U.S.	nationals
and	property	outside	the	United	States.”206	These	laws,	and	an	executive	order,
became	 known	 as	 “the	 Presidential	 Snatch	 Option.”	 Debate	 focused	 on	 two
kidnaps.	 In	 September	 1987,	 a	 team	 involving	 staff	 from	 the	 Pentagon,	 CIA,
Drug	 Enforcement	 Agency,	 and	 State	 Department	 lured	 Fawaz	 Younis,	 a
Lebanese,	onto	a	luxury	yacht	in	the	Mediterranean.	The	bait	was	an	illegal	drug
deal.	 Younis’s	 crime	 was	 his	 part	 in	 hijacking	 a	 Royal	 Jordanian	 airliner,
carrying,	among	others,	American	passengers.	Though	he	was	small	fry	and	no
casualties	were	caused,	Younis	was	convicted	on	three	counts	and	sentenced	to
thirty	years.	A	federal	appeals	court	found	that	his	arrest	met	necessary	standards
of	international	law.

Following	the	Mossad’s	example,	the	road	to	extraordinary	rendition	in	the
War	on	Terror	now	lay	open	to	thousands	of	cases	similar	to	Younis’s.	One	of
these	was	the	kidnap	of	Osama	Mustafa	Hassan	Nasr	(“Abu	Omar”),	a	Muslim
Imam,	 snatched	 on	 a	 street	 in	 Milan	 on	 17	 February	 2003	 in	 an	 operation
coordinated	by	the	CIA	and	Italian	military	intelligence.	Omar	was	held	for	four



years	in	an	Egyptian	prison	where,	he	alleges,	he	was	tortured.	After	his	release
in	 February	 2007,	 he	 settled	 in	 Italy.	 A	 trial	 of	 those	 allegedly	 involved	 in
Omar’s	 kidnap	 opened	 in	 Rome	 in	 2009.	 A	 total	 of	 twenty-six	 American
defendants—twenty-five	CIA	agents	and	a	U.S.	Air	Force	colonel—were	tried	in
absentia.	 In	 court	 were	 seven	 Italians	 including	 the	 former	 head	 of	 Italian
military	 intelligence,	 Nicolo	 Pollari.207	 The	 issues	 of	 jurisdiction	 and	 state
legitimacy	were	 now	 emerging	 as	 the	 horns	 of	 a	 dilemma	 that	was	 to	 trouble
international	lawyers	for	decades.	Though	President	George	W.	Bush	expressed
a	popular	 sentiment	when	he	said,	“I	don’t	care	what	 the	 international	 lawyers
say,”208	 the	 rule	 of	 law	 remained	 at	 the	 center	 of	 the	 battle	 for	 international
opinion	and	for	hearts	and	minds	among	the	uncommitted	majority.

But	 not	 in	 Israel,	 hermetically	 sealed	 from	 such	 considerations	 along	with
Facility	 1391,	 “Israel’s	 Guantanamo.”	 As	 Dan	 Yakir,	 legal	 adviser	 to	 the
Association	of	Civil	Rights	in	Israel	(ACRI),	put	it:	“The	existence	of	a	lockup
like	 this	 gives	 rise	 to	 a	 double	 concern:	 first,	 of	 secret	 arrests	 and
‘disappearances’	 of	 people;	 and	 second,	 an	 abuse	 of	 power,	 unfair	 treatment,
violence,	and	torture.”209	In	theory,	Israeli	law—specifically	the	Israeli	Security
Agency	(Shin	Bet)	Law,	adopted	by	 the	Knesset	 in	2002—“restricts	 the	use	of
force	 against	 terrorists	 during	 their	 interrogation.”	 One	 of	 the	 Special	 Forces
units	responsible	for	interrogation,	as	well	as	running	agents	outside	Israel,	is	the
Army’s	 Intelligence	 Corps	 Unit	 504,	 whose	 cadre	 of	 katamim,	 “officers	 for
special	 tasks,”	 includes	 some	 who	 undergo	 additional	 training	 to	 become
hakshabim,	or	interrogators.

Following	 the	occupation	of	 Iraq	 in	2003,	 there	were	 reports	 that	 the	U.S.
used	 Israeli	 interrogators	 to	 break	 top-level	 Iraqi	 prisoners,	 including	 former
intelligence	 chiefs,	 using	 “a	 variety	 of	 techniques	 that	 did	 not	 cause	 physical
damage.”210	 Notionally,	 such	 techniques	 could	 include	 the	 use	 of	 drugs,
hypnotism,	deception,	and	blackmail,	pioneered	by	British	Intelligence	in	Cairo
during	 the	 Second	 World	 War.	 In	 December	 2003	 Julian	 Borger,	 The
Guardian’s	 diplomatic	 editor,	 reporting	 from	Washington,	 alleged	 that	 Israeli
urban	warfare	 specialists	were	helping	 to	 train	U.S.	Special	Forces	 in	 counter-
insurgency	 techniques,	 including	 assassination	 of	 guerrilla	 leaders.	 None	 of
Borger’s	sources	was	identified.211	Clear	proof	of	Israel’s	direct	involvement	in
the	Iraq	adventure	 is	 lacking,	but	 it	might	be	 in	 the	 interests	of	both	Israel	and
the	U.S.	to	work	together	on	specific,	short-term,	acute	problems.	If	so,	Special
Forces	 would	 be	 the	 obvious	 candidates	 for	 such	 deniable	 operations.	 By	 the
turn	 of	 the	 century,	 before	 9/11,	 international	 opinion	 was	 turning	 against
Israel’s	assassination	policy—as	if	 the	world	was	 its	 legitimate	hunting	ground



—but	even	then,	the	Israeli	intelligence	historian	Benny	Morris	told	the	Sunday
Telegraph,	 an	 Israeli	 parliament	 would	 never	 take	 the	 Mossad	 to	 task	 for
carrying	out	 assassinations.	 “Israel	 has	 no	 limitations	 in	 that	 respect,”	 he	 said.
“Even	in	the	21st	century	it	would	be	possible	for	a	prime	minister	to	say,	like
Golda	Meir,	just	go	and	kill	them.”

Much	of	the	history	of	Special	Forces—anyone’s	Special	Forces—is	a	story
of	 dirty,	 morally	 reprehensible—if	 effective—work.	 In	 terms	 of	 presentation,
rescue	 operations,	 whether	 by	 the	 SAS	 at	 the	 besieged	 Iranian	 embassy	 in
London	 in	1980,	 or	 the	 rescue	of	 several	 hundred	Falasha	 Jews	 from	Ethiopia
four	 years	 later,	 play	 very	 much	 better.	 For	 the	 professional	 Special	 Forces
soldier,	it	all	comes	down	to	the	same	thing:	a	job	to	be	done.	The	Falashas	are	a
mysterious	people,	possibly	the	remnants	of	 the	lost	Israel	 tribe	of	Dan,	finally
acknowledged	as	Jews	by	Israel	in	1972.	In	the	1980s,	thousands	of	them	sought
sanctuary	 from	 local	 wars	 in	 Sudan.	 As	 an	 exit	 strategy	 for	 these	 people,
Mossad,	disguised	as	a	Belgian	holiday	company,	constructed	a	successful	Red
Sea	diving	resort	on	the	coast	of	Sudan.	Unnoticed	by	European	holiday	makers,
over	a	six-week	period,	almost	8,000	Falashas	were	smuggled	by	Hercules	from
an	airfield	near	the	resort	and	flown	to	Israel.	A	news	leak	blew	Mossad’s	cover
and	Operation	Moses,	as	it	was	codenamed,	was	hastily	wound	up.	In	a	follow-
up	 operation	 (Joshua)	 run	 by	 the	 CIA,	 another	 800	 were	 extracted.	 After	 a
political	stalemate	lasting	six	years,	Israel	overcame	a	tight	political	deadline	in
Operation	Solomon	to	airlift	around	5,000	more	Falashas	from	Sudan	in	thirty-
six	 hours.	 Absorbing	 36,000	 agrarian	 Ethiopian	 Jews	 who	 practiced	 animal
sacrifice	and	spoke	no	Hebrew	into	a	densely	urban	culture	presented	a	double
challenge	for	Israel:	one	part,	practical,	the	other,	the	issue	of	identity,	of	what	it
means	 to	be	an	Israeli	and	to	what	century	Zion	belongs.	The	Falashas	 left	 the
Jewish	 homeland	 around	 the	 2nd	 century	 B.C.E.	 In	 Operations	 Moses	 and
Solomon,	 Mossad—uniquely	 among	 intelligence	 agencies—had	 demonstrated
that	 it	 could	 even	 transcend	 the	 time	barrier.	Using	various	 ingenious	devices,
Mossad’s	 colleagues	 in	 Special	 Forces	 demonstrated	 that	 they	 could	 also,
virtually,	walk	on	water.	The	list	of	successes	is	greater	than	this	chapter	records.
In	addition	to	Entebbe,	there	were	hostage	rescues	in	1972	(Operation	Isotope);
1974	 (school	 children	 saved	 at	Ma’alot);	 1975	 (Operation	 Savoy:	 hotel	 guests
extracted	from	captivity);	1978	(bus	rescue);	1980	(Misgav	Am	kibbutz	rescue).
Kidnaps,	in	addition	to	Vanunu	and	Operation	Crate	3,	included	the	abductions
of	 Sheikh	Abdul-Karim	Obeid	 (Lebanon,	 1989)	 and	Mustafa	Dirani	 (1994)	 as
well	 as	 Adolph	 Eichmann	 in	 1960.	 These	 unorthodox	 military/intelligence
exploits	 represent	a	style	of	warfare	which	 the	U.S.	and	Britain	only	started	 to
rediscover	after	their	interventions	in	Afghanistan	and	Iraq,	and	then	with	more



legal	caveats	and	moral	inhibitions.	Even	some	loyal	Israelis	had	misgivings.	On
21	December	2003,	thirteen	reservists	serving	with	Sayeret	Matkal	placed	before
Prime	Minister	Ariel	Sharon	a	 formal	protest	about	military	suppression	 in	 the
Occupied	Territories.	 It	 said:	 “We	have	 come	 to	 tell	 you,	Mr.	Prime	Minister,
that	 we	 will	 no	 longer	 be	 accomplices	 to	 the	 reign	 of	 oppression	 in	 the
Territories	 and	 the	 denial	 of	 the	most	 elementary	 human	 rights	 of	millions	 of
Palestinians,	 nor	 shall	 we	 be	 the	 shield	 of	 settlements	 erected	 on	 confiscated
land.”

The	protesters,	 the	most	 senior	of	whom	was	a	major,	were	expelled	 from
Sayeret	Matkal.	Such	episodes	are	not	unique	among	Special	Forces	operators,
whether	they	are	asked	(as	were	members	of	B	Squadron,	22	SAS,	to	embark	on
a	 clearly	 doomed	mission	 during	 the	South	Atlantic	War)	 or	 stand	 by	without
protest	 as	 at	 least	 one	 SAS	 observer	 was	 asked	 to	 do	 (fruitlessly)	 during	 the
massacre	of	Muslim	men	by	Serbs	at	Srebrenica.	The	Sayeret	Matkal	dissidents
—three	 officers	 and	 ten	 soldiers—suffered	 no	 further	 sanction	 than	 expulsion.
They	 represented	a	degree	of	 legitimate	moral	unease	among	some	sections	of
Israeli	society	elsewhere	in	the	military	community.	Nearly	600	members	of	the
Israeli	 Defense	 Forces	 signed	 statements	 refusing	 to	 serve	 in	 the	 Occupied
Territories.	They	included	a	decorated	Air	Force	general	who	was	also	an	air	ace
and	twenty-six	other	serving	or	former	pilots.	As	one	expert	 in	military	studies
put	 it:	 “It’s	 a	 difficult	 type	 of	war.	 It’s	 harder	 to	 uphold	 ethics.	 There	 are	 no
books	 on	 moral	 regulations	 for	 fighting	 terror.”	 Just	 so.	 When	 the	 chips	 are
down,	Israel’s	Special	Forces	will	point	out	that	for	sixty	years,	 their	country’s
enemies	have	sworn	to	destroy	the	country.	Israel,	with	varying	help	from	a	few
friends,	 was	 still	 standing	 at	 the	 end	 of	 the	 first	 decade	 of	 the	 21st	 century.
Whether	 it	 might	 have	 survived	 without	 black	 operations	 involving	 civilian
casualties	 is	 another	 question.	 In	 a	 global	 war	 on	 terror,	 it	 is	 one	 which
increasingly	challenges	 liberal	Western	governments	 far	 from	Jerusalem.	 Israel
represents	in	an	acute	form	a	very	contemporary	dilemma.



CHAPTER	7

BIG	BOYS’	GAMES,	BIG	BOYS’	RULES

On	30	April	1980,	 just	six	days	after	 the	disastrous	failure	of	Operation	Eagle
Claw	to	rescue	U.S.	diplomats	in	Iran,	a	new	siege	began.	This	time	the	victims
were	 seventeen	 Iranian	diplomats	working	 at	 their	 country’s	 imposing	London
embassy	across	the	road	from	Hyde	Park,	plus	eight	visitors	and	an	unassuming
London	 policeman,	 a	 “Bobby,”	 armed	with	 a	 revolver.	 Their	 captors	were	 six
Iranian	Arabs,	armed	with	submachine	guns	and	hand	grenades	and	sent	by	the
Iraqi	 dictator	 Saddam	 Hussein.	 The	 terrorists	 had	 arrived	 in	 London	 on	 30
March,	 time	 enough	 to	 do	 some	 energetic	 shopping	 in	 the	 belief	 that	 their
mission	would	be	successfully	completed	within	 twenty-four	hours.	On	British
television,	they	watched	reports	of	Delta’s	doomed	operation	at	Desert	One.	The
stage	 was	 now	 set	 for	 yet	 another	 hostage	 spectacular	 in	 London,	 in	 which
Western	 security	 forces,	 constrained	 by	 tight	 rules	 of	 engagement	 (no
indiscriminate	shooting,	etc.)	would	be	perceived	as	odds-on	losers.

The	British	 had	 handled	 two	 sieges	 in	 the	 recent	 past,	 one	 in	London,	 the
other	in	Belfast,	both	linked	to	the	Irish	War.	They	had	ended	with	the	surrender
of	IRA	terrorists	to	the	SAS,	which	had	been	training	in	close-quarter	battle	for
just	 such	 an	 operation	 for	 years	 beforehand.	 They	 developed	 special	 snap-
shooting	techniques	on	the	move,	in	a	crowded	environment,	that	no	Wild	West
shooter	 could	 match,	 except	 in	 the	 movies.	 Some	 of	 the	 soldiers	 admitted,
privately,	 to	 a	 sense	of	 anti-climax	when	 there	was	no	gunplay.	Their	practice
runs,	 in	 a	 concrete	 building	 known	 as	 The	 Killing	 House,	 used	 real	 VIPs	 as
hostages	who	were	 bound	 and	 held	 as	 “prisoners”	 during	 an	 assault	 in	which
hundreds	of	 rounds	of	 live	 ammunition	were	 fired.	This	 high-risk	 training	had
taken	the	life	of	at	least	one	instructor.

Saddam’s	purpose	in	seizing	the	Iranian	embassy	was	to	enforce	his	claim	to
the	 Iranian	 province	 of	 Khuzestan—which	 the	 Arab	 minority	 described	 as
“Arabistan”—and	 the	 release	 of	Arabs	 imprisoned	 in	 Iran.	Khuzestan	was	oil-
rich.	Ten	years	before	Iraq’s	invasion	of	Kuwait,	Saddam’s	claim	to	Khuzestan
was	 another	 megalomaniac	 gesture	 by	 the	 Iraqi	 dictator.	 It	 was	 mid-morning
when	the	terrorists	rang	the	bell	on	the	outer	door	of	the	London	embassy,	then



wrestled	 Police	 Constable	 Trevor	 Lock	 to	 the	 ground.	 One	 of	 the	 intruders
started	the	operation	clumsily,	firing	a	bullet	through	the	glass	of	the	inner	door.
Lock,	bleeding	from	a	face	wound,	managed	to	send	an	emergency	signal	on	his
personal	 radio	 before	 he	was	 overcome.	 The	 SAS,	 at	 their	Hereford	 base	 150
miles	 to	 the	 west	 of	 London,	 were	 alerted	 unofficially	 by	 one	 of	 their	 own
veterans	 now	 serving	with	 the	 police.	Within	 thirty	minutes,	 before	 the	 public
was	aware	of	the	drama	building	inside	the	embassy,	a	troop	of	twenty-four	men
led	by	a	captain	from	the	regiment’s	Counter	Revolutionary	Warfare	Wing,	at	a
peak	of	training	for	just	such	an	emergency,	was	on	its	way	to	London.	By	early
evening,	 it	 had	 moved	 covertly	 into	 a	 building	 adjoining	 the	 embassy.	 At	 a
location	 nearby,	 a	 hastily	 constructed	 mock-up	 of	 the	 building	 was	 being
assembled.	The	soldiers	called	it	Operation	Pagoda.

Storming	 the	 embassy	 was	 close	 to	 mission-impossible.	 As	 one	 of	 the
planners	 told	 the	 author:	 “Basically,	 we	 were	 facing	 a	 fortress	 situation	 here.
You	have	to	bear	in	mind	this	was	a	big,	mid-terrace	building	on	six	floors	(four
above	ground)	with	fifty	rooms,	easily	defended	at	the	front	and	back	because	of
the	open	spaces	on	either	side	of	 it;	 twenty	hostages	and	six	 terrorists	who	got
increasingly	 jumpy	 as	 time	 went	 by,	 moving	 the	 hostages	 from	 one	 room	 to
another.”

The	drama	 followed	 two	paths	 that	 converged,	 after	 five	 tense	days,	 in	 an
explosion	of	violence.	At	first,	the	London	police,	faithful	to	a	scenario	practiced
many	 times,	 called	 in	 a	 hostage-negotiator	 to	 seek	 a	 peaceful	 end	 to	 the
confrontation.	He	was	also	buying	time	for	the	SAS	to	get	prepared,	should	the
worst	happen.	The	“worst”	would	be	clear	evidence	that	the	terrorists	had	started
to	 murder	 hostages.	 Efforts	 to	 monitor	 what	 was	 going	 on	 in	 the	 embassy
included	 hand-drilling	 through	 walls,	 to	 implant	 listening	 devices.	 Tell-tale
sounds	of	 that	process	were	overcome	by	arranging	 for	civil	 airliners	 to	divert
their	flight	paths	over	the	building,	creating	as	much	noise	as	possible.	It	was	a
trick	 the	 SAS	 had	 used	 at	 a	 terrorist	 siege	 in	Holland	 three	 years	 earlier.	 The
SAS	had	another	useful	asset:	the	blueprint	for	security	devised	by	the	regiment
for	the	embassy	during	the	years	of	the	Shah’s	government	in	Tehran.	Explosive
charges	 estimated	 to	 blow	 in	 the	 heavy	metal	window	 frames	 on	much	 of	 the
building	were	calculated,	and—in	case	of	unexpected	problems—doubled.	This
was	to	generate	unwelcome	complications	when	the	moment	came	to	strike.

The	 SAS	 rapidly	 increased	 its	 strength	 around	 the	 building,	 including	 an
expert	sniper	team	in	Hyde	Park.	Two	groups—Red	and	Blue—prepared	for	the
assault.	 Red	 Team,	 following	 an	 Immediate	 Action	 Plan,	 was	 to	 storm	 the
embassy	at	 ten	minutes’	notice	 if	 the	killing	 started.	Red	had	already	made	 its
first	 reconnaissance	 of	 the	 embassy	 roof	 and	 was	 preparing	 abseil	 ropes	 and



harnesses	 so	 as	 to	make	 an	 assault	 from	 above.	Blue	Team	would	 strike	with
more	sophistication	if	the	initiative	lay	with	the	rescuers,	once	the	location	of	the
hostages	 was	 identified.	 The	 negotiations	 dragged	 on	 as	 the	 terrorist	 leader,
Salim,	became	increasingly	 jittery,	goaded	by	one	of	his	captives,	 the	embassy
press	officer	Abbas	Lavasani,	who	challenged	Salim	 to	kill	him.	The	 terrorists
demanded,	 and	 got,	 one	 concession:	 a	 propaganda	 broadcast	 by	 the	 BBC
Overseas	Service,	stating	their	cause.

At	6:30	P.M.	on	Sunday	4	May,	the	fifth	day	of	 the	siege,	 the	front	door	of
the	 embassy	 was	 flung	 open	 and	 a	 dead	 body	 rolled	 out	 onto	 the	 steps	 as
television	cameras	focused	on	the	horror	of	 that	moment.	Salim	had	threatened
to	 kill	 hostages	 earlier	 that	 day.	 The	 man	 he	 shot,	 claiming	 martyrdom,	 was
Lavasani.	Salim	had	fired	other	shots	at	random,	to	give	the	impression	of	more
deaths.	 As	 a	 bluff,	 it	 failed	 dismally.	 The	 police	 immediately	 handed	 over
control	to	the	SAS,	while	maintaining	the	pretense	of	negotiations,	by	telephone,
with	 Salim.	 By	 now,	 deserted	 by	 his	 Iraqi	 controllers,	 Salim’s	 demands	 had
shrunk	to	a	guarantee	of	safe	conduct	out	of	the	country.

“Salim,”	 said	 the	 police	 negotiator.	 “Listen	 carefully,	 please.	We	 want	 to
talk	about	the	bus.”

Distracted	by	the	squeaking	sound	of	a	drill	in	the	wall	alongside	him,	Salim
said:	“What	bus?”

“The	bus	that	will	take	you	to	London	Airport.”
On	the	roof,	the	Red	Team	were	poised	in	black	masks	and	overalls,	abseil

harnesses	fitted	to	the	ropes	down	which	they	would	swoop	like	hungry	carrion.
At	 ground	 level,	 Blue	 team	were	 ready	with	 ladders	 and	 explosive	 charges	 to
blow	out	windows.	Across	the	road,	 in	 the	park,	 the	snipers	swept	 their	scopes
across	the	building,	searching	for	targets.

Salim	sensed	 that	 something	was	wrong.	He	said,	“I	will	 speak	 later,”	and
hung	up.	Constable	Lock,	 his	 revolver	 still	 in	 its	 holster,	 beneath	 his	 uniform,
had	won	a	degree	of	confidence	with	Salim	who	addressed	him	respectfully	as
“Mr.	Trevor.”	Lock,	 standing	next	 to	Salim,	 lifted	 the	hotline	 telephone	again,
suggesting	that	the	bus	be	brought	without	delay	because	“the	people	here	expect
an	 attack	 any	 moment.”	 Salim	 snatched	 the	 telephone	 to	 complain,	 “There	 is
suspicion….	Just	a	minute.	I’ll	come	back	again.”	His	men	darted	from	room	to
room,	 guns	 ready.	 “No	 suspicious	 noises,	 Salim,”	 soothed	 the	 negotiator.	 The
attackers’	 radios	 sent	 the	 code	 “London	 Bridge.”	 It	 was	 time	 to	 strike.	 “I’m
going	 to	 check,”	 Salim	 told	 the	 negotiator.	 Right	 on	 cue,	 the	 first	 explosive
charge	ripped	apart	a	skylight	in	the	roof.	This	had	been	reinforced	on	the	advice
of	 the	SAS	 in	 the	 years	 before	 the	 Shah	was	 overthrown.	Red	Team	 smashed
their	 way	 into	 rooms	 on	 the	 upper	 floors	 while	 Blue	 saw	 to	 windows	 below,



hurling	CS	riot	gas	grenades	and	stun	grenades	ahead	of	 them	as	 they	entered.
One	of	these	devices,	or	the	explosive	charges	on	the	windows,	heard	across	half
of	London,	set	fire	to	curtains	on	one	side	of	the	building.

In	 a	 deadly	 coincidence,	 the	 leader	 of	 the	 Red	 assault	 team,	 a	 senior
sergeant,	was	trapped	in	his	abseil	harness.	A	defective	rope	had	jammed	and	he
was	 now	 its	 prisoner	 at	 a	 point	 where	 flames	 from	 the	 curtains	 engulfed	 the
lower	 half	 of	 his	 body.	He	 tried	 to	 kick	 out,	 away	 from	 the	 building,	 only	 to
swing	back	 into	 the	 flames.	Above	him,	as	 the	 second	abseil	 team	prepared	 to
jump,	one	of	them	saw	his	predicament	and	cut	the	defective	rope.	The	sergeant
fell	a	long	way	before	landing	on	a	balcony.	In	spite	of	his	injuries,	he	found	a
way	into	the	building	to	join	the	fight.

In	a	first-floor	office,	Constable	Lock	pounced	on	Salim,	put	his	revolver	to
the	 terrorist’s	head	but	 “I	 could	not	bring	myself	 to	kill	 in	 anger.”	As	 the	 two
men	wrestled	on	 the	 floor,	 an	SAS	corporal	hauled	Lock	away	with	 the	order,
“Trevor,	 leave	 off.”	 A	 second	 or	 so	 later,	 the	 corporal	 and	 another	 rescuer
poured	 submachine	 gunfire	 into	 the	 terrorist	 leader,	 hitting	 him	 with	 fifteen
bullets.

Throughout	 the	 building,	 the	 rescuers	 hunted	 down	 one	 terrorist	 after
another	 as	 smoke	 and	 CS	 gas	 swirled	 around	 them.	 In	 the	 telex	 room	 on	 the
second	 floor,	 a	 terrorist	 armed	 with	 a	 submachine	 gun	 was	 covering	 fifteen
terrified	 hostages.	 He	 threw	 a	 window	 open	 and	 hurled	 a	 grenade	 through	 it,
having	 overlooked	 one	 detail.	 He	 had	 not	 extracted	 the	 pin	 that	 releases	 the
detonator.	As	 he	 glared	 out	 of	 the	window,	Sergeant	S,	 one	 of	 the	Hyde	Park
snipers,	picked	him	off	with	a	head	shot	at	a	range	of	around	300	meters.	Other
terrorists	rushed	into	the	telex	room	and	began	firing	into	the	cowering	hostages.
SAS	Corporal	Tommy	Palmer,	 a	Scot,	 followed	 them	 into	 the	 same	 room	and
killed	 a	 terrorist	 holding	 a	 grenade	 with	 one	 pistol	 shot	 to	 the	 head.	 The
surviving	 terrorists	 threw	 their	 guns	 from	 the	window	and	 tried	 to	merge	with
the	 hostages.	 One	was	 taken	 prisoner.	 Another,	 thrown	 unceremoniously	with
genuine	 survivors	 along	 a	 chain	 of	 SAS	men	 down	 the	 stairs,	 was	 holding	 a
grenade.	Soldier	I,	as	he	is	known,	armed	with	an	MP5	submachine	gun,	could
not	 shoot	 the	man	without	 risk	 of	 hitting	 his	 own	 team,	 or	 hostages.	He	 later
wrote:	“I	raised	the	MP5	above	my	head	and…brought	the	stock	of	the	weapon
down	on	 the	back	of	his	neck.	 I	 hit	 him	as	hard	 as	 I	 could.	His	head	 snapped
back…I	 caught	 sight	 of	 his	 tortured,	 hate-filled	 face.	 The	 sound	 of	 two
magazines	being	emptied	into	him	was	deafening.	As	he	twitched	and	vomited
his	 life	 away,	 his	 hand	 opened	 and	 the	 grenade	 rolled	 away”…harmlessly,	 it
should	be	said.212	In	the	embassy	garden,	the	hostages	were	ordered	to	lie	face-
down,	 their	 arms	 strapped	 to	 their	 bodies,	 until	 they	were	 identified.	The	only



surviving	 terrorist,	Fowzi	Nejad	 (aka	Ali	Abdullah),	was	given	a	 life	sentence.
He	was	released	on	license	in	November	2008	and	granted	asylum	in	Britain	as
required	 by	 human	 rights	 law.	 Had	 he	 been	 deported	 to	 Iran,	 the	 British
authorities	 concluded,	 he	 might	 have	 been	 tortured.	 Constable	 Lock	 was	 not
impressed.

The	 SAS	 success	 at	 Princes	 Gate,	 London,	 echoed	 like	 the	 cheers	 for	 an
Olympic	 victory	 around	 the	 world,	 politically	 empowering	 the	 right-wing
Thatcher	government.	It	was	Britain’s	Entebbe.	Ken	Connor,	with	twenty-three
years	of	frontline	SAS	service	to	his	credit,	was	candid	about	the	private	feelings
of	the	British	establishment.	He	wrote:	“The	contrast	between	the	Delta	Force	at
Desert	One	and	 the	 Iranian	Embassy	could	not	have	been	more	marked.	Once
more,	 while	 publicly	 sympathetic	 about	 the	 American	 misfortune,	 the	 SIS
[Secret	Intelligence	Service]	were	ecstatic.”	SIS,	perhaps,	hoped	that	a	military
success	in	the	war	against	terrorism	might	erase	memories	of	its	own	disasters:
the	defections	of	Soviet	spies	including	Kim	Philby	from	the	upper	ranks	of	SIS
after	 years	 of	 betrayal	 of	 NATO,	 Britain,	 and	 America.	 But	 there	 was	 more
reason	 than	 schadenfreude	 for	 celebrations.	 Britain,	 like	 Israel,	 is	 a	 major
exporter	 of	 military	 training.	 As	 Connor	 reminds	 us:	 “The	 Kennedy
assassination	 had	 been	 the	 catalyst	 for	 the	 spread	 of	British	 influence	 through
SAS	 bodyguard	 training….	 After	 the	 Iranian	 Embassy	 siege,	 SAS	 expertise
became	 one	 of	Britain’s	more	 successful	 exports	 in	 its	 own	 right.	 SAS	 troops
would	be	hired	out	to	friendly	governments	for	training	purposes	or	even	covert
operations	[author’s	emphasis]	at	a	rate	that	covered	the	actual	costs	many	times
over.”213	 One	 of	 the	 “covert	 operations,”	 in	 which	 regular	 SAS	 soldiers
effectively	 became	 mercenaries	 hired	 by	 other,	 friendly	 governments,	 is
discussed	in	chapter	five.

The	 SAS	 had	 mixed	 feelings	 about	 the	 adulation	 that	 swamped	 it	 after
Operation	 Pagoda.	 During	 the	 Second	 World	 War,	 it	 had	 achieved	 a	 golden
reputation	 as	 a	 gung-ho	 raiding	 force	 operating	 behind	 enemy	 lines,	 either	 in
four-man	 teams	 or	 at	 squadron	 strength	 with	 Resistance	 fighters	 in	 France.
Suppressed	by	a	Socialist	government	after	the	war,	it	had	sinuously	reinvented
itself	 as	 a	 deep-jungle	 fighting	 force	 to	 take	 on	 Communist	 guerrillas	 in	 the
jungles	 of	 Malaya	 and	 Borneo	 and	 the	 pitiless	 jebels	 of	 Aden.	 Its	 reserve
regiments	 prepared	 to	 act	 as	 stay-behind	 forces	 in	 Europe,	 directing	 nuclear
strikes	in	the	event	of	a	Soviet	invasion.	The	regular,	professional	SAS	shrank	to
one	regiment	of	a	few	hundred	brilliant	individuals	(“Misfits	who	happen	to	fit
together”),	 an	 elite	 that	 ran	 a	 six-year	war	 in	Oman	 from	 1970,	 exploring	 the
possibilities	of	unconventional	warfare	 to	 recruit	yesterday’s	enemy	by	arming
him	with	the	latest	assault	rifle.



It	was	dangerous	work.	In	 the	Battle	of	Mirbat	on	18	July	1972,	a	 training
team	 of	 ten	 SAS	 men,	 isolated	 in	 a	 mud-walled	 town	 forty	 miles	 from	 the
nearest	military	base,	was	attacked	by	250	hand-picked	Marxist	guerrillas	armed
with	Kalashnikovs,	heavy	machine-guns,	82-mm	mortars,	two	75-mm	recoilless
rifles,	 and	 an	84-mm	 rocket-launcher.	The	SAS	had	 .50	 caliber	machine	guns,
smaller	7.62-mm	machine	guns,	and	mortars.	The	battle	 lasted	all	day	as	wave
after	 wave	 of	 enemy	 tried	 to	 overrun	 the	 base,	 with	 its	 back	 to	 the	 sea.	 Two
Fijian	volunteers	were	part	of	 the	British	 team.	One	of	 them,	under	heavy	fire,
took	possession	of	a	Second	World	War	artillery	gun	(a	25-pounder),	loaded	and
fired	it	singlehanded	over	open	sights	at	pointblank	range.	As	the	enemy	closed
in	for	the	kill,	two	Strikemaster	aircraft	of	the	Sultan’s	Air	Force,	directed	by	the
SAS,	hit	the	position	with	500-lb	bombs.	The	SAS	losses	during	the	battle	were
two	dead,	two	seriously	wounded.	This	summary	does	not	do	justice	to	an	epic,
small-scale	battle	of	a	sort	that	had	to	await	Afghanistan,	more	than	thirty	years
later,	 to	 be	 understood.	 At	 the	 time,	 and	 for	 seven	 years	 later,	 the	 SAS	 said
nothing.	The	British	public	were	totally	unaware	of	what	had	happened.	In	1979,
while	 this	 author	was	 researching	 his	 first	 SAS	 history,	Who	Dares	Wins,	 the
story	was	revealed	by	a	British	officer	who	was	not	at	Mirbat.	Reluctantly,	 the
SAS	corrected	my	draft	before	it	passed	into	Britain’s	military	history.

By	 convention,	 the	 secret	 life	 and	 death	 of	 the	 SAS	 was	 carved	 on	 the
regimental	 clock	 tower	 at	Hereford.	Not	 to	 be	 listed	 as	 killed-in-action	 on	 the
tower	 was	 known,	 in	 the	 self-mocking	 culture	 of	 the	 SAS,	 as	 “beating	 the
clock.”	 But	 after	 Princes	 Gate,	 the	 Iranian	 Embassy	 job	 in	 1980,	 the	 postwar
SAS	was	 a	 secret	 no	more.	 Life	 in	 the	 public—and	media—eye	would	 prove
very	much	more	complicated.

The	Oman	War	 ended	 in	 victory	 in	 1976	 for	 the	 Ruler,	 Sultan	Qaboos,	 a
British	ally	who	had	been	trained	at	the	Royal	Military	Academy,	Sandhurst.	He
had	also	served	with	a	Scottish	regiment	in	Germany.	Oman	was	to	become	an
invaluable	asset	for	American	as	well	as	British	forces	in	their	operations	in	the
Gulf	 and	beyond.	Back	home	 in	London,	 the	U.K.	government	was	 struggling
with	the	renewed	Irish	War.	Seven	years	of	violence	and	counterviolence	by	the
IRA,	Loyalist	terrorists,	and	British	security	forces	were	in	stalemate.	In	January
1976,	a	perplexed	prime	minister	committed	the	SAS	to	Northern	Ireland	by	way
of	a	press	release,	without	informing	the	Army.	This	was	seen,	and	meant	to	be
seen,	 as	 a	 major	 escalation	 of	 British	 armed	 force	 in	 Ulster.	 The	 SAS,	 sure
enough,	was	opaque	at	 that	 time.	Such	stories	 that	did	circulate,	usually	 in	 the
left-wing	 press,	 were	 the	 dirty	 end	 of	 fairyland	 as	 portrayed	 by	 the	 Brothers
Grimm.	 The	 Nationalist	 Irish—mainly	 Catholics—were	 convinced	 that	 this
mysterious	entity,	the	SAS	(“SAS=SS,”	republican	graffiti	proclaimed)	was	the



source	of	all	Britain’s	dirty	operations.	It	was	a	pantechnicon	into	which	Ulster’s
Catholic	minority	loaded	their	suspicions.	At	first,	this	impression	was	a	useful
psyops	weapon	against	the	IRA,	but	it	also	became	counterproductive.

In	 fact,	 the	 British	 had	 been	 running	 undercover	 operations	 in	 Ireland’s
renewed	 war	 for	 around	 six	 years	 when	 the	 SAS	 was	 committed	 by	 Prime
Minister	Harold	Wilson	to	that	conflict.	Many	of	these	misadventures	were	less
than	useful.	Captain	Fred	Holroyd,	an	undercover	military	intelligence	officer	in
Northern	 Ireland,	 described	 “how	 the	 rule	 of	 law	 and	 order	 was	 not	 what	 it
seemed,	 and	 I	 would	 encounter	 illegalities	 on	 my	 own	 side	 which	 would
severely	dent	my	sense	of	purpose.”	He	alleged	that	the	SAS	had	a	cupboard	in
its	armory	containing	9-mm	Browning	pistol	barrels,	extractors,	and	firing	pins
which	had	been	officially	declared	unfit	 for	use,	 and	destroyed.	 In	 fact,	 “these
parts	could	be	placed	in	normal	issue	Brownings,	fired,	destroyed	and	replaced
with	 the	original	 ‘official’	parts.	This	would	make	 it	 impossible	 to	connect	 the
weapon	 with	 any	 shooting:	 there	 would	 be	 no	 ballistic	 evidence.”	 In	 1973,
Holroyd	 attended	 a	 lecture	 by	 Brigadier	 (later	 General)	 Frank	 Kitson,	 an
innovator	 during	 the	 counter-insurgency	 war	 against	 the	 Kenyan	 resistance
(including	President	Barack	Obama’s	kin).	Holroyd	concluded,	“The	logic	of	the
use	 of	 infiltration,	 pseudo-gangs	 and	 deep	 interrogation	 to	 defeat	 terrorist
opposition,	was…compelling.”	Holroyd	would	discover,	the	hard	way,	what	that
strategy	implied.

Meanwhile,	 “on	 the	 evening	 of	 Kitson’s	 lecture	 there	 was	 a	 party	 in	 the
Officers’	 Mess.	 An	 American	 approached	 me	 dressed	 like	 a	 U.S.	 Cavalry
Officer….	 He	 quietly	 proceeded	 to	 try	 to	 recruit	 me,	 along	 with	 two	 other
captains	from	the	course,	into	the	CIA.”	Holroyd	believed	that	this	was	not	real.
It	 had	 to	 be	 an	 initiative	 test	 run	 by	 his	 instructors.	 “When	 I	 spoke	 to	 my
Colonel,	he	assured	me	that	the	approach	was	genuine.	At	that	moment	I	realised
just	how	different	my	work	would	be	from	anything	I	once	expected.”214

The	SAS,	in	fact,	had	made	a	brief	foray	into	Northern	Ireland	before	1976,
to	look	for	Loyalist	arms	smugglers.	The	free-fire	zone	of	Oman,	out	of	media
eyes,	was	more	 to	 its	 liking.	When	Prime	Minister	Wilson	 announced	 that	 the
SAS	was	 to	 join	 the	 Irish	 struggle,	 the	 regiment	had	 just	 eleven	men	 to	 spare.
Several	 were	 recovering	 from	wounds	 sustained	 in	 Oman.	 It	 was	 not	 just	 the
IRA	and	 its	 allies	 that	 believed	 in	 the	 regiment’s	mystique.	 So	 did	 the	British
government.	 It	was	not	until	 the	bloody	 theater	of	Princes	Gate,	1980,	 that	 the
myth	was	made	real	and	public.

By	then,	 the	Irish	War—in	which	the	first	British	soldier	was	killed	by	the
IRA	in	1970—and	the	Munich	Massacre	of	1972	had	triggered	a	mutation	in	the
Army.	 The	 SAS	 responded	 to	 Munich	 by	 creating	 a	 Counter	 Revolutionary



Warfare	 cell.	 In	 Ireland,	 influenced	 by	 Kitson	 and	 other	 Special	 Forces
innovators,	 the	 conventional	 “Green	Army”	 (so	 called	 because	 of	 its	 standard
disruptive-pattern	 camouflage)	 invented	 the	 Military	 Reconnaissance	 Force.
Operating	in	civilian	clothes,	employing	ex-IRA	informers,	it	followed	suspects
around	 Belfast	 by	 car	 with	 a	 photographer	 concealed	 in	 the	 luggage	 boot.	 In
1972	 an	 MRF	 two-man	 patrol	 fired	 at	 two	 men	 at	 a	 bus	 stop	 in	 a	 drive-by
shooting.	The	gun	they	used	was	a	museum	piece,	a	Thomson	submachine	gun
favored	 by	 Al	 Capone’s	 gang.	 “The	 rattle	 of	 a	 Thomson	 gun”	 was	 also
celebrated	in	an	Irish	republican	ballad.	The	soldiers	were	prosecuted	but	cleared
of	illegality	after	claiming	they	fired	in	self-defense.	MRF	was	further	exposed
when	a	mobile	laundry	service	it	ran,	disguised	as	the	Four	Square	Laundry,	was
ambushed	 by	 the	 IRA,	 killing	 the	 driver.	 His	 woman	 assistant,	 a	 legendary
Intelligence	Corps	NCO	known	as	“Mags,”	escaped.	Until	then,	the	Four	Square
was	 a	 successful	 commercial	 enterprise,	 cleaning	 garments	 at	 bargain	 rates
thanks	 to	 the	 military	 budget.	 All	 the	 clothes	 were	 forensically	 tested	 for	 the
presence	 of	 explosives	 in	 a	 year	when	Ulster	was	 racked	 by	 10,268	 shootings
and	1,382	bombings	in	which	468	people,	most	of	them	civilians,	died	violently.
Another	MRF	front	was	a	massage	parlor,	also	compromised	by	an	IRA	double
agent.

The	MRF	was	 rapidly	 replaced	 by	 a	 new	 team	 known	 by	 various	 names.
These	 included	14	 Intelligence	Company	and/or	 “The	Dets”	 (detachments).	 Its
creator	was	Brigadier	Bill	Dodd,	a	former	SAS	officer	who	had	served	with	the
Secret	Intelligence	Service	and	returned	to	the	army.	After	he	retired	he	was	in
charge	of	the	BBC’s	personnel	department.	Fourteen	Int.	Company	was	a	covert
intelligence	 agency	 that	 used	women	and	men	able	 to	memorize	 faces,	 places,
and	details	of	suspects’	homes,	which	they	frequently	burglarized,	sometimes	to
plant	 hugs,	 hidden	 cameras,	 and	 tracing	 devices	 on	 weapons	 and	 explosives.
They	 also	 had	 to	 be	 able	 to	 shoot	 their	 way	 out	 of	 trouble.	 Fourteen	 Int.
Company	had	considerable	success	as	well	as	one	spectacular	failure.

The	 failure	was	Robert	Nairac,	 a	 handsome	 young	 boxing	 champion	 from
Oxford	University,	by	1977	a	captain	in	the	elite	Grenadier	Guards.	A	Catholic,
he	identified	with	the	underdog	culture	of	Ulster,	while	collecting	intelligence	on
the	IRA.	He	acquired	a	Belfast	accent,	learned	to	sing	rebel	songs,	and	went	on
the	road	to	the	badlands	of	South	Armagh,	on	the	border	with	the	Irish	Republic.
His	 Intelligence	 controller,	 Major	 (later	 Colonel)	 Clive	 Fairweather,	 warned
Nairac	 that	 he	 had	 been	 targeted	 but	 “he	 did	 not	 seem	 to	 take	 it	 seriously.	 I
showed	him	a	report	that	the	IRA	were	‘going	to	get	the	curly-haired	little	SAS
man	called	Danny.’	He	laughed	at	me.”

On	14	May	1977,	a	year	after	the	SAS	was	publicly	committed	to	the	Irish



War,	Nairac	walked	into	the	Three	Steps,	an	IRA	bar	in	Dromintee	(population
around	300)	in	County	Armagh.	He	did	not	trouble	to	let	his	headquarters	know
exactly	where	 he	was.	When	 the	 time	 for	 his	 expected	 check	 call	 had	 passed,
Fairweather	shrugged.	Nairac	had	failed	to	make	check	calls	before,	as	a	result
of	which	SAS	men	were	sent	on	a	wild-goose	chase	to	ensure	his	safety.	Posing
as	an	IRA	man	from	the	Ardoyne	district	of	Belfast,	Nairac	entertained	the	locals
with	his	big	presence	and	 seductive	voice.	He	was	 still	making	 fatal	mistakes.
He	had	left	his	pistol,	in	its	shoulder	holster,	in	the	glove	compartment	of	his	car
in	case,	as	he	raised	his	arms	while	responding	to	applause,	the	holster	might	be
spotted.	He	 also	 asked	 a	 local	woman	 how	 he	 could	 cross	 the	 border	without
been	spotted	by	British	security	forces.	The	local	IRA	were	summoned	to	check
him	over.	The	pub	band,	scenting	trouble,	said	they	were	leaving	and	suggested
Nairac	go	with	them.	He	said	no,	thanks.

Nairac	walked	out	of	the	bar	alone	into	the	darkness	of	the	car	park.	As	he
reached	 his	 car,	 he	 opened	 the	 door	 and	 leaned	 forward	 to	 retrieve	 his	 pistol.
Several	large	hands	snatched	the	scarf	around	his	neck	and	pulled	him	backward.
He	was	then	set	upon	by	a	dozen	men	and	fought	back	hard.	Half	conscious,	he
was	hustled	across	the	nearby	Irish	border	into	the	republic	and	again	savagely
beaten.	An	IRA	man	impersonating	a	priest	invited	Nairac	to	make	confession	or
be	shot.	Nairac	replied:	“Bless	me,	Father,	for	I	have	sinned.”	When	he	refused
to	give	his	captors	any	further	information,	a	gun	was	brought.	The	first	attempt
to	shoot	him	failed	when	the	assassin’s	gun	jammed.	Finally,	the	deed	was	done.
His	body	was	never	found.	Rumors	still	circulate	about	its	fate.	One	of	his	killers
said,	 years	 later,	 “He	never	 told	us	 anything.	He	was	 a	great	 soldier.”	He	was
posthumously	awarded	the	George	Cross	for	his	bravery.	Two	of	those	involved
in	the	attack	were	given	sanctuary	in	the	United	States	for	decades	afterward.

During	the	early	years	of	SAS	involvement	in	Northern	Ireland,	the	IRA	was
on	 the	 back	 foot,	 thanks	 to	 ambiguous	 incidents	 that	 gave	 credence	 to	 the
common	 belief	 that	 Special	 Forces	 were	 running	 black	 operations	 including
extra-judicial	executions.	Jealousy	of	SAS	luster	by	other	agencies,	including	the
Royal	Ulster	Constabulary	and	intelligence	agencies,	encouraged	this	view.	On
15	April	1976,	Peter	Cleary,	an	IRA	officer	arrested	by	the	SAS	fifty	yards	from
the	 Irish	border,	uttered	his	 last,	desolate	words	 to	a	 friend	as	he	was	escorted
toward	 an	 Army	 helicopter.	 “I’m	 dead,”	 he	 said.	 “What	 shall	 I	 do?”	Minutes
later,	 he	 was	 killed	 by	 three	 bullets	 fired	 from	 an	 Army	 rifle.	 The	 soldiers
claimed	that	he	had	tried	to	snatch	the	weapon	from	his	escort	and	paid	the	price.
Another	 IRA	 volunteer,	 Sean	McKenna,	 was	 already	 in	 custody,	 having	 been
woken	in	his	bed	in	the	Republic	by	a	British	officer	holding	a	pistol	to	his	head.
An	uppercrust	English	voice	murmured	in	his	ear:	“I	want	to	explain	the	case	to



you.	Do	you	realize	that	I	could	have	shot	you?	If	you	want	to	put	up	a	struggle
or	if	you	don’t	want	to	come,	say	so.	I	will	have	no	hesitation	about	shooting	you
now.”	McKenna	agreed	to	go	quietly	and	was	marched	250	yards	into	Northern
Ireland	where	he	was	allegedly	found	wandering	and	drunk,	before	being	handed
over	to	the	police.

Over	 the	 following	 years,	 two	 major	 constraints	 emerged	 to	 limit	 the
effectiveness	 of	 the	 SAS	 and	 other	 Special	 Forces	 in	 their	 wish	 to	 achieve	 a
military	victory.	The	SAS	 intention,	 expressed	by	one	of	 its	 commanders,	was
that	“We	are	in	Northern	Ireland	to	kill	the	IRA.”	Another	spoke	with	relish	of
“an	 IRA	cull.”	Successive	British	governments	 limited	 that	ambition	with	“the
yellow	 card	 procedure,”	 requiring	 soldiers	 not	 to	 shoot	 unless	 they,	 or	 their
comrades,	or	civilians,	were	at	imminent	risk	of	death.	The	rules	specified:	“You
may	only	open	fire	against	a	person:	(a)	if	he	is	committing	or	about	to	commit
an	 act	LIKELY	TO	ENDANGER	LIFE,	AND	THERE	 IS	NO	OTHER	WAY
TO	PREVENT	THE	DANGER”	[sic].

Yellow	card	rules	resulted	in	one	British	Red	Beret	soldier’s	being	convicted
of	murder	after	he	opened	fire	on	a	car	driving	at	speed	toward	his	checkpoint.
All	the	signs	pointed	to	an	IRA	attack.	Private	Lee	Clegg’s	first	three	shots	were
strictly	 defensive	 and	 lawful.	 The	 fourth,	 fired	 after	 the	 vehicle—and	 the
immediate	 danger—had	 passed	 him,	was	 not.	 The	 fourth	 shot	 killed	 a	woman
passenger.	The	soldier	was	automatically	sentenced	to	life	imprisonment.

After	the	yellow	card	was	imposed	on	military	planners,	all	operations	were
subject	to	police	primacy	so	as	to	maintain	the	fiction	that	the	Irish	problem	was
not	an	armed	conflict	but	an	internal	security	issue.	The	SAS	took	careful	note	of
such	 limitations	 and	made	 sure	 that	 its	 lethal	 capabilities	 met	 ambiguity	 with
ambiguity.	 Whether	 by	 coincidence	 or	 not,	 an	 unofficial	 “clean	 kill”	 policy
determined	SAS	ambushes,	 sometimes	set	up	after	weeks	of	close	surveillance
of	IRA	targets.	The	unwritten	clean	kill	rules	required	that	the	enemy	was	armed
and	intent	on	murder	at	the	moment	the	SAS	intervened.	Some	informed	sources
paraphrased	this	alternative,	unofficial	policy	as	“Big	Boys’	Games,	Big	Boys’
Rules.”

When	 intelligence	 suggested	 that	 the	 risk	was	 particularly	 high,	 the	 police
were	 happy	 to	 receive	 SAS	 support	 in	 dealing	 with	 it.	 So	 it	 was	 that	 on	 the
evening	of	8	May	1987	an	IRA	team	loaded	a	200-pound	bomb	onto	the	shovel
of	a	mechanical	digger,	covered	it	with	a	screen	of	bricks,	and	conveyed	it	nine
miles	 along	 the	 back	 lanes	 of	 rural	 Tyrone	 to	 attack	 a	 police	 barracks	 at	 the
village	of	Loughgall.	An	SAS	team	of	more	than	forty	men	was	waiting	for	the
raid,	 some	of	 its	 soldiers	 inside	 the	 targeted	building	with	 two	heavy	machine
guns	trained	on	approach	roads,	others	in	concealed	sniper	positions	overlooking



the	 area.	 The	 IRA	 convoy	 was	 led	 by	 a	 stolen	 blue	 Toyota	 van	 that	 drove
cautiously	into	the	killing	zone,	then	out	again.	The	SAS	held	their	fire.	The	van
halted	in	front	of	the	barracks	and	Patrick	Kelly,	leading	his	hand-picked	team	of
eight	men,	stepped	out,	rifle	in	hand,	followed	by	two	others.	He	pointed	the	gun
at	the	building	and	started	shooting.	The	attack	was	on.	So	was	the	turkey	shoot.
The	machine	guns	cut	down	the	men	in	the	open	and	killed	two	still	in	the	van,
wearing	flak	jackets.	That	left	 two	men	who	were	the	bomb	team.	One	tried	to
ignite	 the	 bomb	with	 a	 cigarette	 lighter,	 then	 ran	 for	 it,	 as	 did	 his	 companion.
Both	were	shot	dead	before	they	had	covered	a	few	yards.	There	were	also	two
civilian	fatal	casualties,	brothers	who	drove	into	Loughgall	before	they	realized
that	it	was	now	a	war	zone.

A	 few	months	 later,	 British	 intelligence	 officers	 stalked	 an	 IRA	 team	 that
was	clearly	engaged	in	a	reconnaissance	of	the	U.K.’s	Iberian	colony,	Gibraltar.
Every	 week,	 a	 resident	 army	 parade	 would	 ceremoniously	 change	 the	 guard
outside	 the	 governor’s	 residence,	 complete	 with	 military	 band.	 It	 was	 a
Ruritanian	ritual	watched	by	hundreds	of	tourists.	The	IRA	saw	it	as	a	bombing
opportunity,	 a	 lovely	 day	 for	 an	 auto-da-fe	 similar	 to	 its	 bloody	 attacks	 on	 a
Remembrance	 Day	 service	 at	 Enniskillen	 and	 the	 Royal	 parks	 bombings	 in
London.	On	6	March	1988,	 four	SAS	marksmen	 in	 civilian	clothes,	Browning
pistols	 tucked	 into	 the	 backs	 of	 their	 jeans,	 followed	 three	 IRA	 volunteers	 as
they	 parked	 a	 car	 near	 the	 parade	 area,	 then	 strolled	 like	 tourists	 around	 the
center	of	Gibraltar.	The	soldiers	had	been	briefed	on	the	dangers	of	a	new	IRA
weapon.	This,	they	were	told,	was	a	car	bomb	that	could	be	radio-detonated	by
pressing	 a	 cordless	 button	 hundreds	 of	 yards	 away.	Not	 surprisingly,	 the	 SAS
men	were	also	on	a	very	short	 fuse.	As	one	 later	 told	an	official	 inquiry:	“We
were	told	that	all	three	[IRA]	members	could	be	carrying	a	device	to	detonate	the
bomb.”

Control	of	the	situation	was	officially	passed	from	local	police	to	the	SAS	at
2:40	P.M.	Two	minutes	 later,	 the	 three	 terrorists—two	men,	one	woman—were
dead.	Two	were	shot	 in	 the	back.	The	total	number	of	 lethal	shots	fired	in	120
seconds	was	twenty-seven.	One	of	the	dead	was	hit	by	sixteen	bullets.	A	follow-
up	 investigation	 established	 that	 there	was	 no	 bomb	 in	 the	 terrorists’	 car.	 The
IRA	 team	was	unarmed	but	 this	was,	unquestionably,	 a	 reconnaissance	 for	 the
operation	that	was	to	follow.	An	IRA	car	bomb	was	subsequently	discovered	in
an	underground	car	park	at	Marbella,	Costa	del	Sol,	thirty	miles	from	Gibraltar.
The	bomb	contained	143	pounds	of	Semtex	high	explosive,	enough	to	flatten	a
building.	There	was	 also	 a	 timing	device,	 not	 yet	 attached	 to	 the	 bomb,	 set	 to
detonate	 the	 device	 at	 11:20	A.M.,	 when	 the	 guard-mounting	 ceremony	would
normally	take	place.	Seven	years	later,	an	international	court	at	Strasbourg	ruled



by	a	majority	of	one	vote	that	the	Gibraltar	killings	could	have	been	avoided	and
that	the	IRA	volunteers	could	have	been	arrested.	The	SAS,	faithful	to	its	“never
confirm,	 never	 deny”	 philosophy,	 stayed	 silent.	 By	 then,	 the	 Irish	 War	 had
moved	on,	in	a	sinister	direction.

There	 is	 a	 story	 to	 be	 gleaned	 from	 the	 body	 count	 of	 IRA	men	 and	 their
families.	 Statistics	 are	 always	 dangerous,	 so	 the	 reasoning	 that	 follows	 has	 a
clause	 that	 might	 read	 caveat	 emptor.	 During	 the	 first	 three	 years	 of	 SAS
operations	 in	 Ireland,	 from	 1976	 to	 1978,	 seven	 IRA	men	were	 killed	 by	 the
regiment.	From	1979	to	1982,	no	IRA	deaths	were	attributed	to	the	SAS.	Only
two	 IRA	 men	 were	 killed	 by	 the	 SAS	 by	 the	 end	 of	 1983.	 But	 in	 the	 years
following	 1984,	 the	 year	 of	 the	 Brighton	 bomb	 (see	 below)	 until	 Gibraltar	 in
1988,	 the	 IRA	 “cull”	 rose	 dramatically.	 Between	 1985	 and	 February	 1992,	 a
total	of	 twenty-seven	 (perhaps	 twenty-nine)	 IRA	volunteers	were	killed	by	 the
SAS.	But	between	1992	and	1997,	the	SAS/Republican	body	count	was	down	to
one.	The	curve	was	in	freefall.

Various	 reasons	 are	 advanced	 for	 the	 change.	 One	 is	 that	 after	 the	 IRA’s
attempt	to	wipe	out	most	of	the	British	government	including	Margaret	Thatcher
with	a	bomb	at	the	Conservative	Party’s	conference	hotel	in	Brighton	in	1984—
an	 event	 used	 by	 President	 Reagan’s	 Secretary	 of	 State	 George	 Shultz	 to
legitimize	a	global	war	on	terror—the	increase	in	SAS	kills	over	previous	years
was	300	per	cent.	With	 the	departure	of	 the	Iron	Lady	and	her	 replacement	by
the	gentlemanly,	cricket-loving	John	Major	 in	1990,	 the	number	 fell	back.	But
here’s	 a	 strange	 coincidence.	 There	 was	 another	 trend	 on	 the	 graph,	 a	 rising
curve	representing	the	murder	of	IRA	men,	some	of	their	dependents	and	legal
advisers	 by	 Loyalist	 death	 squads.	 These	 doubled	 from	 eighteen	 in	 1990	 to
almost	fifty	in	1993.

A	British	 intelligence	 expert,	Colonel	Michael	Mates	MP,	 told	 the	 author:
“A	 bunch	 of	 Loyalists	 came	 out	 of	 jail	 where	 they	 had	 been	 serving	 life
sentences,	during	which	time	they	had	found	out	a	helluva	lot	about	how	PIRA
(the	 Provisional	 IRA)	 worked	 and	 they	 said	 to	 themselves,	 ‘There	 must	 be	 a
better	way	[of	killing	Republicans]	than	filling	a	[Catholic]	bar	with	bullets.	We
need	 to	 knock	 off	 the	 major	 [IRA]	 players.”	 The	 outcome	 was	 a	 selection
committee	 that	 chose	 assassination	 targets.	 Between	 December	 1993	 and	 the
IRA	ceasefire	of	August	1994,	 “among	 those	 assassinated…were	 about	 fifteen
top	people.	The	IRA	were	taking	a	hell	of	a	pasting.	They	said,	‘We	can’t	go	on
taking	casualties	at	this	rate.’…”215

There	 is	evidence	that	some	of	 the	Loyalist	assassins	were	assisted	in	 their
planning	 by	 elements	within	British	military	 intelligence.	 In	 the	 late	 1980s	 an
Ulsterman	named	Brian	Nelson,	who	had	 served	 in	 the	British	Army,	was	 the



intelligence	 chief	 of	 a	 Loyalist	 paramilitary	 group,	 the	 Ulster	 Defense
Association.	 In	 1985	 he	 was	 recruited	 by	 an	 Intelligence	 Corps	 cell	 that
specialized	in	running	informers	known	as	the	Force	(or	Field)	Reconnaissance
Unit;	the	FRU.	He	later	admitted	charges	including	conspiracy	to	murder,	having
information	 of	 use	 to	 [Loyalist]	 terrorists	 and	 possessing	 a	 submachine	 gun.
During	his	tenure	at	the	UDA,	at	least	sixteen	murders	were	carried	out	by	that
organization,	allegedly	in	spite	of	his	efforts	to	warn	the	security	authorities	that
these	 assassinations	 were	 imminent.	 Lieutenant-Colonel	 F,	 commanding	 the
FRU,	 said	Nelson	was	 “a	 very	 courageous	man	whose	mistakes	were	 all	 very
understandable.”	 In	 January	 1992,	 after	 a	 hearing	 lasting	 just	 one	 day,	Nelson
was	sentenced	to	ten	years.	He	served	less	than	five	and	spent	the	rest	of	his	life
under	a	false	identity.	He	died	in	Canada	in	2003,	apparently	of	a	brain	tumor.	A
veteran	 chronicler	 of	 the	 Irish	 War,	 David	 McKittrick,	 quoted	 Nelson’s	 trial
judge	 to	claim	 that	Nelson	“acted	with	good	motivation,	not	 for	gain	and	with
the	greatest	courage”	but	that	on	five	occasions,	Nelson	had	“disobeyed	Military
Intelligence	and	crossed	the	line	from	lawful	intelligence-gathering	into	criminal
participation.”216

After	 almost	 twenty	 years,	 the	 odor	 of	 collusion	 still	 hangs	 around	 the
activities	of	Nelson	and	his	handlers;	and	with	it,	a	widespread	belief	that	British
military	 intelligence	 sources	 effectively	 supplied	Nelson	with	 a	 hit	 list	 of	 IRA
suspects,	 leaving	 it	 to	Loyalist	assassins	 to	act	on	 that	 information.	Sometimes
they	 killed	 the	 wrong	man,	 or	 woman.	 In	 2003,	 after	 an	 investigation	 lasting
fourteen	years,	a	British	police	team	headed	by	Sir	John	Stevens	reported	on	“the
allegation	 of	 widespread	 collusion	 between	 loyalist	 paramilitaries,	 the	 Royal
Ulster	Constabulary	 and	 the	Army.”	Stevens	 found	 that	 there	was	 collusion	 in
two	murders,	one	of	them	the	killing	of	a	solicitor,	Pat	Finucane,	who	was	shot
fourteen	times	by	two	masked	gunmen	in	his	home,	in	the	presence	of	his	wife
and	three	children.	“Collusion,”	Stevens	concluded,	“is	evidenced	in	many	ways.
This	ranges	from	the	wilful	failure	to	keep	records…withholding	of	intelligence
and	evidence,	through	to	the	extreme	of	agents	being	involved	in	murder….	The
unlawful	 involvement	 of	 agents	 in	 murder	 implies	 that	 the	 security	 forces
sanction	killings….	My	inquiries	have	found	all	 these	elements	of	collusion….
Agents	were	 allowed	 to	 operate	without	 effective	 control	 and	 to	 participate	 in
terrorist	 crimes.	Nationalists	were	 known	 to	 be	 targeted	 but	were	 not	 properly
warned	or	protected….”217

Some	reports	suggested	that	responsibility	went	to	the	heart	of	“a	shadowy
unit	in	the	Ministry	of	Defence	with	responsibility	for	special	forces…the	Home
&	Special	Forces’	Secretariat.”218	Finucane	was	one	of	many	solicitors	targeted



by	 Loyalist	 terrorists.	 In	 March	 1999	 Rosemary	 Nelson,	 a	 lawyer	 who	 had
testified	 to	 the	U.S.	Congress	and	 the	UN	about	 threats	 to	her	 life	 from	police
officers,	was	murdered	by	a	bomb	placed	under	her	car.	Ten	years	later,	a	panel
of	three	judges,	after	a	four-year	inquiry,	had	not	yet	reported	on	its	findings.219

In	 the	murk	 of	 Ulster	 politics,	 it	 was	 not	 only	 Irish	Nationalists	 who	 had
reason	to	complain	about	dirty	tricks.	Ironically,	the	death	of	a	British	soldier,	a
sentry	 staked	 out	 like	 a	 tethered	 goat	 to	 be	 murdered	 by	 the	 IRA	 in	 South
Armagh,	was	 the	 last	 straw	 for	 the	SAS.	On	12	February	1997,	 a	 few	months
before	 the	 Belfast	 peace	 agreement	 and	 the	 formal	 end	 of	 IRA	 warlike
operations,	Lance	Bombardier	(corporal)	Stephen	Restorick	was	shot	dead	by	an
IRA	 sniper	 in	 a	 border	 region	 whose	 republican	 guerrillas	 were	 a	 law	 unto
themselves,	culturally	insulated	from	the	IRA’s	own	high	command.	They	even
decorated	 local	 highways	 with	 a	 warning	 road	 sign,	 complete	 with	 logo,
proclaiming:	“Sniper	at	work!”

Restorick	 was	 a	 sentry	 at	 a	 checkpoint	 in	 the	 village	 of	 Bessbrook.	 The
sniper	team	used	a	Mazda	saloon	car,	fitted	with	a	protective	armored	shield	in
the	 rear,	 in	 which	 a	 hole	 was	 cut	 to	 accommodate	 the	 barrel	 of	 a	 heavy,	 .50
Barrett	 rifle	 imported	 from	 the	USA.	The	gun	uses	 a	 three-inch	bullet	with	 an
effective	 range	of	 1,800	meters.	When	 the	vehicle’s	 rear	 luggage	boot	 lid	was
lifted	open,	the	Mazda	was	a	perfect	mobile	sniper	platform.

Following	a	series	of	sniper	attacks	in	South	Armagh	in	which	a	Barrett	was
used,	 the	Royal	Ulster	Constabulary—controlling	military	operations	according
to	its	own	rules—had	been	running	an	surveillance	operation	on	the	Mazda	for
almost	 a	month	when	Restorick	was	killed.	Four	days	before	 that,	 intelligence
records	examined	by	an	inquiry	into	the	death	showed	that	“South	Armagh	PIRA
[Provisional	IRA]	were	at	an	advanced	stage	of	an	operation	but	the	nature	of	the
target	or	the	attack	were	not	known.”	An	intelligence	“action	sheet”	written	the
same	day	“was	generated	to	locate	the	Mazda	in	the	region	of	Crossmaglen.	The
document	 illustrates	 the	 police	 assessment	 that	 the	Mazda	was	 believed	 to	 be
used	in	the	advanced	stages	of	a	PIRA	attack.”220	The	Mazda	was	being	tracked
on	behalf	of	RUC	Intelligence	by	a	covert	military	Special	Forces	team	from	14
Intelligence	Company,	 an	 organization	 that	 scored	 repeated	 successes	 in	 close
surveillance	operations.	But	the	soldiers	were	denied	permission	by	the	police	to
get	 close	 enough	 to	 the	 Mazda	 to	 confirm	 that	 it	 was	 a	 sniper’s	 nest.	 Their
surveillance	was	limited	to	electronic	tracking,	standing	so	far	out	of	sight	from
the	 target	 that	 they	 were	 not	 always	 sure	 of	 the	 vehicle’s	 precise	 location.
Shortly	 before	Restorick	was	 killed,	 the	watchers	 established	 that	 “the	Mazda
was	heading	towards	Bessbrook	when	it	became	static	for	approximately	forty	to



sixty	minutes.”	It	 is	almost	certain	 that	at	 this	point,	 the	IRA	sniper	 team	were
preparing	their	hit.

Soldier	C,	a	senior	operator	with	 the	watchers,	 recalled	making	requests	 to
the	 police	 Tasking	 &	 Co-ordination	 Group,	 controlling	 the	 operation,	 “to
mobilize	his	unit,	which	was	refused	on	the	basis	that	there	was	no	intelligence
to	 substantiate	 that	 the	vehicle	was	planning	an	attack.”	He	believed	“the	only
means	of	establishing	an	accurate	location	[for	the	Mazda]	was	for	his	unit	to	be
deployed	on	the	ground.”	Restorick	was	shot	dead	soon	afterward.	In	 the	early
hours	following	Restorick’s	killing,	the	police	controllers	at	last	permitted	Army
intelligence	 to	 examine	 the	 vehicle	 at	 an	 unidentified	 location.	 Soldier	 B,	 the
team’s	 Regimental	 Sergeant	 Major,	 gave	 evidence	 that	 “evidence	 of	 the
vehicle’s	 adaptation	 for	 a	 sniper	 was	 video-recorded	 and	 shown	 to	 the	 TCG
[police	 tasking	 group].”	 Soldier	 B	 said	 “members	 of	 the	 TCG	 still	 had	 to	 be
convinced	of	the	vehicle’s	connection”	with	the	killing,	while	Soldier	C	believed
“that	 the	 police	 took	 approximately	 seventy-two	 hours	 from	 the	 time	 of	 the
murder	to	accept	the	link	between	the	Mazda	and	the	sniper.”	During	that	time,
the	IRA	sniper	team	had	made	good	their	escape.

At	 their	base	a	few	miles	away,	 the	men	of	14	Intelligence	Company	were
outraged.	Heavy-handed	police	control	had	prevented	them	from	intervening	in
an	IRA	operation	with	a	good	chance	of	preventing	the	death	of	a	young	soldier
now	 characterized	 as	 “a	 tethered	 goat”	 as	 he	 manned	 the	 checkpoint	 with	 no
knowledge	of	the	risk.	To	defuse	the	anger,	a	debrief	was	held	at	the	unit’s	base
addressed	by	 a	 senior	member	of	 the	police	 tasking	group.	Soldier	B	believed
that	“the	debrief	was	held	in	response	to	ill	feeling	amongst	soldiers	in	his	unit
caused	by	the	frustration	and	anger	of	not	performing	closer	and	more	intrusive
form	 of	 surveillance.”	 He	 added	 that	 an	 explanation	 from	 the	 police
representative—that	 the	 Tasking	 Group	 feared	 that	 surveillance	 would	 be
compromised	 if	 Army	 intelligence	 intervened—”	 satisfied	 the	 more	 mature
members	 of	 the	 unit	 but	 the	 younger,	 less	 experienced	 members	 were	 not
convinced.”

They	 were	 not	 alone.	 One	 SF	 veteran	 told	 the	 author:	 “Earlier	 in	 the
Troubles,	 the	SAS	would	 have	 expected	 that	 if	 IRA	gangs	 could	 be	 caught	 in
possession	 of	 weapons	 they	 would	 be	 intercepted	 and	 shot	 if	 they	 failed	 to
surrender	 immediately.	 The	 rules	 were	 changed	 for	 political	 reasons.	 The
emphasis	 was	 on	 restoring	 the	 IRA	 ceasefire	 without	 creating	 Republican
martyrs.”	In	a	separate	interview,	an	SAS	colonel	said:	“We	were	disillusioned
by	what	happened.	Not	long	afterwards	we	arranged	to	be	pulled	out	of	Northern
Ireland.”

In	 this	new	political	atmosphere,	when	an	SAS	 team	of	 sixteen	struck	at	a



remote	 farm	 in	South	Armagh	 to	arrest	 five	men	 including	Restorick’s	alleged
killer,	 Michael	 Caraher,	 the	 Special	 Forces	 soldiers	 used	 fists,	 rather	 than
machine	 guns,	 to	 bring	 the	 IRA	men	 to	 British	 justice.	 Though	 the	 IRA	men
were	given	long	sentences	(435	years	in	one	case),	the	gang	were	released	after
sixteen	months	under	 the	 terms	of	 the	 1998	Belfast	Agreement	which	brought
peace,	of	a	sort,	in	Northern	Ireland.	The	IRA’s	leaders	formally	announced	an
end	to	their	armed	campaign	in	July	2005.	As	a	gesture	to	Loyalist	anxieties,	the
Irish	 government	 rewrote	 its	 constitution	 renouncing	 its	 claim	 to	 jurisdiction
over	the	whole	of	Ireland.

The	stalemate	did	not	satisfy	a	handful	of	extremists	on	both	sides.	Twelve
years	 after	 Restorick’s	 death,	 two	 British	 soldiers	 on	 standby	 to	 serve	 in
Afghanistan	were	gunned	down	by	a	splinter	group	called	“the	Real	IRA.”	(As
one	 Irish	 joke	 has	 it,	 when	 Republicans	 come	 together,	 the	 first	 item	 on	 the
agenda	 is	 The	 Split.)	 Catholic	 civilians	 continued	 to	 be	murdered	 by	 Loyalist
gangs.	They	included	a	youth	worker	and	a	postman.	A	surprising	postscript	to
the	Irish	War	was	a	British	Army	analysis	of	 its	 thirty-seven-year	campaign	 in
Ulster	 describing	 the	 IRA	 as	 “a	 professional,	 dedicated,	 highly	 skilled	 and
resilient	 force”	 that	 had	 not	 been	 defeated.	 It	 added	 that	 the	 struggle	 had	 also
shown	the	IRA	that	it	could	not	win	through	violence.221

During	their	decades	in	Northern	Ireland,	elements	of	British	Special	Forces
—the	 SAS	 and	 the	 Royal	Marines’	 Special	 Boat	 Service—were	 also	 plunged
into	two	exotic	major	conventional	wars:	one	in	the	South	Atlantic	in	1982	after
the	Argentine	 invasion	 of	 the	Falkland	 Islands,	 the	 other	 in	 the	 Iraqi	 desert	 in
1991	following	Saddam	Hussein’s	 invasion	of	Kuwait	 in	August	1990.	In	both
cases,	 they	demonstrated	extreme	endurance	and	bravery,	but	 to	what	 effect	 is
debatable.	The	unique	quality	of	Special	Forces	is	their	ability	to	achieve	major
strategic	gains	using	small	numbers	of	elite,	intelligent	soldiers	supported	by	the
latest	 technology.	 In	 the	 Falkands,	 the	 SAS	 suffered	 tactical	 reverses	 and	 a
virtual	mutiny	 by	 one	 squadron	 thanks	 to	 cowboy	 planning.	 But	 the	 regiment
also	tipped	the	balance	of	the	conflict	toward	an	unlikely	British	victory	over	an
enemy	of	 11,000	men	well	 dug	 in	 on	 a	 series	 of	 islands	9,000	miles	 from	 the
U.K.	This	was	one	result	of	 the	regiment’s	unique	capacity	 to	run	covert	close
observation	of	enemy	dispositions	for	many	weeks	in	a	pitiless	climate.

This	was	not	a	war	in	which	black	operations	played	a	part.	It	saw	the	SAS
back	 in	 its	 original	 role	 as	 a	 reconnaissance	 and	 sabotage	 force.	Nevertheless,
there	 were	 some	 novelties,	 two	 of	 which	 originated	 in	 the	 U.S.	 thanks	 to	 a
friendship	between	 the	 long-serving	Ken	Connor	and	a	veteran	of	Delta	Force,
possibly	 its	 renowned	 first	 deputy	 commander,	 Lieutenant	 Colonel	 L.	 H.
(“Bucky”)	Burruss,	an	ally	of	 the	SAS.	Connor	and	another	SAS	NCO,	Paddy



O’Connor,	were	 on	 a	 training	 job	 in	America	 as	 the	 South	Atlantic	 campaign
started.	They	made	contact	with	Delta	and	were	offered	the	use	of	 two	of	U.S.
Special	 Forces’	 most	 secret	 new	 toys:	 an	 anti-aircraft,	 shoulder-fired	 missile
named	Stinger	and	satellite	communications	that	gave	SAS	teams	in	their	hides
instant,	 secure	 voice	 links	 to	 their	 headquarters	 in	 England	 as	well	 as	 to	 their
field	 commander,	 Lieutenant-Colonel	 Mike	 Rose.	 It	 is	 unclear	 whether	 the
Pentagon	 or	 any	 other	 part	 of	U.S.	 government	 ever	 approved	 of	 this	 release.
What	is	certain	is	that	it	provided	the	outnumbered	Brits	with	an	edge	they	badly
needed.	 The	 threat	 to	 the	 U.K.’s	 amphibious	 force	 by	 Argentine	 bombers
equipped	with	 sea-skimming	 Exocet	missiles	 (supplied	 by	 France)	was	 lethal.
The	 SAS	 made	 repeated,	 unsuccessful	 attempts	 to	 strike	 at	 air	 bases	 on	 the
Argentine	 mainland.	 In	 a	 daring	 raid	 on	 East	 Falkland	 island,	 however,	 they
destroyed	 the	 greater	 part	 of	Argentine	 air	 power.	The	Stinger	was	 used	more
than	once	to	intercept	low-flying	Argentine	attackers.

The	end	of	this	campaign	had	much	to	do	with	Rose’s	use	of	psychology.	In
peacetime,	 the	 islanders	used	 citizens’	 band	 (CB)	 radio	 to	 talk	 to	one	 another.
Rose	employed	a	Marine	captain	who	spoke	fluent	Argentine-Spanish	to	call	up
a	doctor	in	Port	Stanley	to	open	negotiations	with	the	Argentine	high	command.
Eight	days	of	negotiations	followed	during	which	Rose	seduced	his	enemy	with
the	proposition	 that	Argentine	honor	was	satisfied	by	 its	courageous	 resistance
and	 that	 further	 slaughter	 of	 civilians	 as	 well	 as	 exhausted	Argentine	 soldiers
would	 serve	no	purpose.	 In	 truth,	 as	 a	British	 admiral	 admitted	 later,	 the	U.K.
offensive	 was	 running	 out	 of	 steam.	 The	 jesuitical	 dialogue,	 the	 work	 of	 an
Oxford	graduate,	worked.	It	was	time	to	talk	face	to	face.	Rose,	in	a	helicopter
flying	a	white	flag,	was	put	down	on	the	wrong	landing	zone	in	the	capital,	Port
Stanley.	He	 had	 to	make	 his	way	 through	 a	 series	 of	 enemy	 fortifications,	 on
foot,	accompanied	by	a	signaler,	to	reach	enemy	HQ.	There,	two	more	hours	of
detailed	 negotiations	 led	 to	 the	 Argentine	 surrender.	 A	 seventy-four-day	 war,
won	 after	 an	 opposed	 landing,	 requiring	 a	 forced	march	 of	 around	 sixty	miles
across	 boggy	 West	 Falkland	 and	 a	 series	 of	 uphill	 assaults,	 ended	 with	 649
Argentine	 dead,	 1,068	 wounded,	 and	 11,313	 taken	 prisoner.	 The	 respective
British	 losses	were	 258	 killed	 (including	more	 than	 twenty	 SF	 personnel	 in	 a
single	helicopter	crash),	777	wounded,	and	115	taken	prisoner.

Back	 home,	 the	 victory	 restored	 the	 fading	 popularity	 of	 Prime	 Minister
Margaret	Thatcher,	propelling	her	 to	 re-election	 in	1983.	 It	 also	 reinforced	 the
personal	alliance	between	Mrs.	Thatcher	and	President	Ronald	Reagan.	But	soon
after	Saddam	Hussein	 invaded	Kuwait	 in	August	 1990,	 the	 political	 landscape
had	changed.	Mrs.	Thatcher	was	out	of	office	and	the	SAS	was	out	of	favor	with
the	architects	of	the	war	to	liberate	Kuwait.	The	allied	commander,	U.S.	General



H.	Norman	Schwarzkopf,	known	as	“The	Bear,”	had	little	faith	in	Special	Forces
operations	 thanks	 to	 his	 experience	 of	Vietnam,	 and	 the	 escape	 route	 used	 by
Vietcong	 into	 the	 sanctuary	 of	 Cambodia.	 Kicking	 the	 desert	 sand,	 he	 told
journalists:	“When	you	go	to	war,	you’re	going	to	war	all	the	way….	No	more
Cambodian	border	situations	for	me.”	During	the	five-month	buildup	known	as
Desert	Shield,	virtually	no	role	was	allotted	to	SF	teams.

That	changed	on	Scud	Sunday,	2	December	1990.	Saddam	Hussein’s	army
wheeled	three	Scuds	into	the	desert,	after	dark,	for	a	demonstration	shoot,	within
Iraqi	territory	but	toward	Israel.	The	first	missile	was	six	minutes	into	a	seven-
minute	 flight	before	a	U.S.	satellite	detected	 the	flare	 from	its	 rocket	motor.	A
member	 of	 an	 allied	 headquarters	 staff	 in	Riyadh	 that	 day	witnessed	 “concern
amounting	to	bewilderment	that	the	high-tech	solution	to	the	Scud	threat	we	had
been	assured	was	foolproof,	had	failed	even	before	the	fighting	began.”	Not	for
the	first	time,	when	there	is	no	alternative,	the	high	command	turned	to	Special
Forces	to	salvage	the	situation,	in	this	case	to	track	and	kill	the	Scuds	before	they
could	strike	Israel	or	Saudi	Arabia.

SAS	 patrols,	 with	 virtually	 no	 time	 for	 preparation,	 were	 hurled	 at	 the
problem	as	the	air	offensive	started	in	January	1991.	A	senior	officer	later	 told
one	of	his	men:	“I	would	have	sacrificed	a	squadron	of	men	for	a	Scud.”	This
was	a	desert	war	tailored	for	the	SAS,	yet	it	was	to	prove	a	turning	point	for	the
regiment,	 in	 the	wrong	direction.	Lack	 of	 reliable	 radios,	GPS	 satnav	 devices,
rescue	 beacons,	 detailed	 maps,	 night	 vision	 goggles,	 weapons,	 and	 desert
vehicles	 put	 the	 three	 SAS	 squadrons	 into	 the	 field	 to	 roam	 around	 almost
randomly	looking	for	targets	of	opportunity.	Frontline	reconnaissance	was	in	the
hands	 of	U.S.	 Special	 Forces.	 The	 SAS	was	 increasingly	 starved	 of	 resources
while	 being	 maintained	 as	 a	 propaganda	 weapon	 by	 successive	 British
governments.	It	was	a	pattern	to	be	repeated	after	2003	in	Iraq	and	Afghanistan.
In	Texas,	the	syndrome	is	known	as	“all	hat	and	no	cattle.”

	

In	1991,	three	eight-man	patrols	were	to	cover	Iraqi	movements	in	a	“Scud	box”
of	340	square	miles	in	Western	Iraq.	Around	fourteen	mobile	missile	launchers
were	thought	to	be	in	the	area.	RAF	Chinooks	attempted	to	place	the	three	teams
at	twenty-mile	intervals	in	the	box,	around	180	miles	inside	Iraqi	territory,	on	a
north-south	axis.	By	this	 time,	Scuds	were	hitting	 the	suburbs	of	Tel	Aviv	and
there	was	a	real	danger	that	Israel	might	hit	back	with	nuclear	weapons.

The	 SAS	 commander	 of	 the	 South	 road	 watch	 team	 did	 not	 release	 the
Chinook	 before	 he	 had	 checked	 the	 ground	 in	 which	 he	 would	 operate.	 A
wigwam	 parliament	 of	 the	 team	 concluded	 instantly	 that	 this	 was	 a	 potential



death	trap.	There	was	no	hope	of	concealment.	The	team	returned	to	base.	The
Central	Road	Watch	team	called	down	an	A-10	air	attack	by	USAF	on	an	Iraqi
radar	station.	Flawed	communications	meant	that	the	team	was	almost	hit	in	the
bombing	that	followed.	After	a	journey	through	four	freezing	nights,	this	group
turned	 up	 on	 the	 Saudi	 border,	 suffering,	 in	 some	 cases,	 from	 frostbite	 and
exposure.	Road	Watch	South,	known	by	its	call-sign	as	Bravo	Two	Zero,	agreed
to	go	into	action	in	this	wilderness	on	foot.	It	was	an	unwise	decision	if	this	was
meant	 to	be	an	offensive	mission,	 rather	 than	simply	 to	maintain	a	 road	watch
from	a	fixed	position	near	the	landing	zone.	Each	man	was	carrying	around	200
pounds	 of	 equipment	 which	 had	 to	 be	 hauled	 to	 the	 nearest	 viable	 laying-up
position	 in	a	wadi.	One	of	 those	 involved,	known	as	Chris	Ryan,	 says	 that	 the
purpose	 was	 to	 set	 up	 a	 ten-day	 observation	 post	 overlooking	 a	 main	 supply
route.222	“Mike	(Kiwi)	Coburn,”	a	New	Zealander	on	the	team,	recalls	that	there
were	no	vehicles	left,	so,	said	Sergeant	Vincent	Phillips,	“It’s	going	to	be	a	case
of	 using	 the	 good	 old	 size	 nines”	 (boots).	 Staff	 Sergeant	 “Andy	 McNab,”
commanding	 the	 patrol,	 suggests	 that	 the	 decision	 to	 move	 on	 foot	 was	 a
collective	one	because,	“since	our	mission	required	us	 to	stay	 in	 the	same	area
for	 a	 long	 time,	 our	 best	 form	 of	 defense	 was	 going	 to	 be	 concealment	 and
vehicles	wouldn’t	help	us	with	that	at	all.”	McNab	also	quotes	a	briefing	given
by	Phillips	 (who	died	on	 the	operation):	 “The	options	 are	 to	patrol	 in	on	 foot,
take	 vehicles,	 or	 have	 a	 heli	 drop-off.”223	 There	 is	 nothing	 in	 his	 assertion	 to
suggest	 that	 the	 SAS’s	 favorite	 mode	 of	 transport	 in	 the	 desert,	 the	 long-
wheelbase	 Land	 Rover,	 known	 as	 the	 “pinkie,”	 was	 not	 available	 or	 that	 the
choice	 of	 size	 nine	 boots	 was	 forced	 on	 the	 patrol	 as	 a	 result,	 yet	 again,	 of
equipment	shortages.

Once	inserted,	the	patrol	was	soon	spotted	by	local	civilians	and	came	under
fire	from	an	Iraqi	unit	armed	with	triple-A	heavy	machine	guns.	The	SAS	men
fled	north.	Rescue	contingency	plans	failed	completely.	As	one	of	the	survivors
told	 the	 author:	 “The	 truth	 is,	 they	 [U.K.	 Special	 Forces]	 didn’t	 have	 the
resources	 to	 support	 the	patrols	 they	put	on	 the	ground.”	After	 thirty	miles	on
foot,	 in	 a	 blizzard,	 the	 team	 lost	 its	 first	 man,	 Sergeant	 Vince	 Phillips.
Disoriented,	 he	 collapsed	 and	 died	 of	 hypothermia.	 To	 reduce	 the	 risk	 of
detection,	 the	 rest	of	 the	 team	split	 into	units	of	 four,	 two,	 and	even	one	man.
This	individual,	known	as	“Chris	(Geordie)	Ryan,”	was	a	reservist	who	covered
117	 miles	 in	 seven	 nights’	 marching	 and	 seven	 days’	 concealment	 before
reaching	 the	 sanctuary	 of	 Syria.	 Corporal	 Steven	 Lane	 died	 of	 exposure	 after
swimming	400	yards	across	 an	 icy	River	Euphrates.	Trooper	Robert	Consiglio
died	of	gunshot	wounds	while	covering	the	escape	of	two	of	his	comrades.	The



five	 others	 including	 Staff	 Sergeant	 “McNab”	 and	 “Coburn”	 were	 taken
prisoner.	“Ryan,”	“McNab,”	and	“Coburn”	were	later	 to	follow	the	example	of
the	British	commander	in	the	Gulf,	Lieutenant-General	Sir	Peter	de	la	Billiere,	in
writing	books	about	their	service	and	SAS	activities	in	this	war.

The	 ripples	 from	 that	 would	 grow	 to	 become	 a	 shock	 wave	 that	 changed
profoundly	the	nature	of	the	SAS.	A	carefully	worded	legal	judgment	reported:
“At	the	end	of	1992	General	Sir	Peter	de	la	Billiere,	commanding	officer	of	the
British	forces	 in	 the	Gulf	War	and	himself	a	former	commanding	officer	of	22
SAS,	wrote	a	book	about	 the	war	which	 included	a	chapter	on	 the	Bravo	Two
Zero	patrol.	This	 appears	 to	 have	been	 the	 first	 time	 that	 a	member	 or	 former
member	 of	 the	 SAS	 had	 published	 an	 account	 of	 one	 of	 its	 operations.	 Until
then,	 the	 ethos	 of	 the	 regiment	 had	 been	 for	 its	 members	 to	 preserve	 total
secrecy.”224	In	fact,	other	retired	SAS	officers	of	earlier	generations	had	written
about	operations	 in	which	 they	were	 involved,	such	as	 the	Oman	campaign.	 In
1996,	the	SAS	introduced	a	service	contract	enforceable	at	civil	law,	in	addition
to	Britain’s	 already	 tight	 secrecy	 laws,	 to	 halt	 the	 flow	 of	 post-Iraq	 and	 other
SAS	memoirs.	Under	new	management,	 the	 regiment’s	headquarters	 then	 tried
to	make	 the	1996	 in-house	 rule	 retrospective,	binding	 soldiers	who	had	 retired
long	before	1996.225

What	made	the	case	of	De	La	Billiere	(DLB	to	his	friends)	special	was	that
his	was	the	first	inside	account	of	an	SAS	operation	after	the	Gulf	War	at	a	time
when	retired	Special	Forces	veterans	with	a	good	story	to	tell	could	enter	a	ready
market	 infested	 by	 literary	 agents	 waving	 checkbooks.	 The	 Iranian	 Embassy
siege,	 and	my	own	history	 of	 the	 postwar	 SAS,	Who	Dares	Wins,	 had	 clearly
signaled	that	change.	Military	history	was	no	longer	 the	preserve	of	 the	officer
class.	 “McNab’s”	 account	 of	 his	 disastrous	 patrol,	Bravo	Two	Zero,	 became	 a
runaway	best	seller	and	made	him	a	media	lion.	It	was	a	very	British	success.

The	 toxic	 controversy	 that	 resulted	 from	 profitable	 publication	 of	 some
works	 followed	 by	 arbitrary	 suppression	 of	 others	 generated	 feuds	 that	 have
damaged	SAS	morale	ever	 since.	As	one	 informed	account	put	 it:	 “Up	 to	 fifty
former	members	of	the	[SAS]	regiment	have	been	served	with	exclusion	orders;
they	 have	 been	 banned	 from	 all	 Special	 Forces	 property,	 which	 means	 they
cannot	attend	reunions,	Remembrance	Day	parades,	wedding	receptions	or	even
funeral	 wakes	 on	 SAS	 bases.”226	 In	 its	 attempts	 to	 suppress	 Coburn’s	 book,
Soldier	Five,	the	U.K.	government	spent	millions	of	dollars	in	courts	around	the
world.	 It	 failed.	Yet,	 as	 the	Privy	Council	 judgment	cited	above	demonstrated,
this	was	not	an	attempt	to	preserve	essential	military	secrets.	The	court	pointed
out	 that	 the	 contract	 “was	 intended	 to	 prevent	 disclosures	 which	 would	 not



necessarily	be	in	themselves	damaging	to	the	public	interest	and	might	even	be
as	 to	 matters	 already	 in	 the	 public	 domain.	 It	 had	 the	 broader	 object	 of
preventing	public	controversy	which	might	be	damaging	to	the	efficiency	of	the
Special	 Forces”	 [author’s	 emphasis].	 It	 seemed	 that	 after	 the	 exposure	 of	 the
Iranian	Embassy	siege	(a	political	plus	for	government)	and	the	Irish	War	(less
good	 PR)	 the	 SAS,	 under	 its	 new	 management,	 combining	 all	 U.K.	 Special
Forces	 in	 one	 body	 along	 lines	 similar	 to	U.S.	 Special	 Operations	 Command,
was	a	sensitive	flower	to	be	sheltered	from	public	controversy	at	all	costs.	This
was	 a	 long	 way	 from	 the	 regiment’s	 democratic	 roots	 as	 discovered	 by	 the
American	officer	Charlie	Beckwith	 in	 1961	 and	Stirling’s	 original	 idea	of	 one
company.

After	 its	 bad	 start	with	Bravo	Two	Zero	 in	 Iraq,	 the	SAS	 tried	 again	with
four	mobile	fighting	columns,	each	employing	a	dozen	four-wheel-drive	vehicles
bristling	with	weapons.	A	 frontal	assault,	 launched	on	a	Scud	control	complex
identified	as	Victor	Two,	blew	up	a	control	 tower	while	under	a	hail	of	enemy
fire.	After	a	month	 in	 the	 field,	 the	 squadrons	were	 resupplied	by	a	convoy	of
trucks	ninety	miles	inside	Iraq.	On	24	February,	Special	Forces	operations	were
stood	down	as	the	major	ground	offensive	by	conventional	forces	stormed	across
the	 frontiers	 of	 Saudi	 Arabia	 and	 occupied	 Kuwait.	 The	 Pentagon	 declared	 a
ceasefire	four	days	later.

The	SAS	claimed	four	confirmed	Scud	kills.	It	could	also	take	credit	for	two
strategic	hits	during	this	brief	war.	One	was	the	capture	of	a	detailed	Iraqi	army
map,	 taken	 from	 a	 captured	 artillery	 officer.	 The	 map	 revealed	 the	 current
deployment	of	an	entire	army	division.	This	and	the	prisoner	were	sent	back	to
allied	lines	by	helicopter.	American	air	power	decimated	the	division.	The	other,
less	tangible	victory	was	that	the	presence	of	Special	Forces	soldiers	deep	inside
Iraq	 pressured	 the	 Iraqis	 to	 pull	 back	 their	 mobile	 Scuds	 from	 positions	 that
endangered	Israel.

Some	of	the	lessons	of	this	campaign	were	disagreeable	and	not	discussed	in
public,	 with	 the	 exception	 of	 the	 long-serving	 Ken	 Connor,	 who	 wrote:	 “The
Regiment’s	 increasingly	 top-heavy	 administrative	 structure	meant	 that,	 for	 the
first	 time	 ever,	 SAS	 requests	 for	 equipment	 were	 subject	 to	 interpretation	 by
staff	 officers	 who	 often	 had	 no	 experience	 whatsoever	 of	 special	 forces
operations.	 If	 the	 officer	 decided	 that	 the	 equipment	 requested—Global
Positioning	Systems,	claymore	mines,	.203	grenades,	cold-weather	gear	and	the
rest—was	 excessive	 or	 unnecessary,	 it	 would	 not	 be	 supplied.”227	 Connor’s
candor	 was	 not	 welcomed.	 The	 SAS	 regimental	 journal,	Mars	 and	 Minerva,
barked:	 “This	 book	 should	 not	 have	 been	 published.”	 It	 was	 an	 odd	 response
from	a	regiment	whose	unusual	tradition	was	to	think	laterally	and	learn	from	its



mistakes.
In	subsequent	years,	during	the	Iraq	War	and	beyond,	British	Special	Forces

continued	 to	 suffer	 from	 lethal	 underinvestment	 while	 saddled	 with	 the	 usual
level	 of	 risk.	 The	 formula	 that	 worked	 best	 was	 a	 combination	 of	 American
logistics	and	SAS	knowhow,	plus	the	effective	alliance	with	Delta	Force.	In	Iraq
and	 Afghanistan,	 U.K.	 Special	 Forces	 (UKSF)	 became	 an	 organic	 part	 of
America’s	 Special	 Force	 structure.	 But	 an	 increasing	 number	 of	 SAS	 soldiers
quit	 the	 army	 to	 join	 the	profitable	private	 security	market,	 particularly	during
the	Iraq	bubble,	2003–2009.	But	some	resignations	reflected	a	deeper	malaise,	a
loss	of	morale	caused	by	lack	of	resources	and	consequent	deaths.	Here	are	some
examples:

1.	 On	30	January	2005	a	Royal	Air	Force	Special	Duties	Hercules	was
brought	 down	 by	 small	 arms	 fire	 near	 the	 forward	 SAS	 base	 at
Balad,	Iraq.	The	British	Defense	Ministry	(MoD)	had	chosen	not	to
fit	 explosive	 suppressant	 foam	around	 the	plane’s	 fuel	 tanks.	One
tank	exploded,	blowing	off	the	plane’s	starboard	wing.	Nine	airmen
and	 a	 soldier	 died	 unnecessarily.	A	 few	 hours	 earlier,	 the	 aircraft
had	delivered	fifty	SAS	soldiers	to	Baghdad.

2.	 On	 2	 September	 2006	 an	 RAF	 Nimrod	 aircraft—an	 intelligence
platform	 essential	 to	 effective	 special	 operations	 on	 the	 ground—
caught	 fire	 soon	 after	 an	 air-to-air	 refueling	operation	23,000	 feet
over	 Kandahar.	 Fuel	 is	 thought	 to	 have	 leaked	 into	 a	 bomb	 bay
where	it	was	ignited	by	a	hot	pipe.	The	Nimrod	exploded	with	the
loss	 of	 twelve	 airmen	 and	 two	Special	 Forces	 soldiers.	A	 civilian
coroner	found	that	the	Nimrod	had	never	been	airworthy.

3.	 At	 dusk	 on	 20	 November	 2007,	 a	 “notoriously	 unreliable”	 radio
system	 prevented	 the	 crews	 of	 four	 SAS	 helicopters	 from
communicating	with	one	another	as	they	shadowed	a	terrorist	team
at	 low	 altitude.	 One	 of	 the	 machines	 crashed	 as	 it	 flew	 blind
through	 a	 dust	 cloud.	 A	 valve	 to	 prevent	 fuel	 spillages	 did	 not
work.	 The	 Puma	 helicopter—later	 described	 as	 “unairworthy”—
went	 ablaze	 after	 hitting	 the	 ground.	 Two	 SAS	 men	 died.	 An
inquest	found	that	the	immediate	cause	of	the	deaths	was	pilot	error
due	to	extreme	stress,	compounded	by	poor	equipment.

4.	 In	 June	 2008,	 an	 Intelligence	 Corps	 operator,	 Corporal	 Sarah
Bryant,	 was	 on	 a	 mission	 in	 Helmand	 province,	 Afghanistan,
escorted	 by	 three	 SAS	 Reservists,	 in	 vulnerable,	 thin-skinned



“Snatch”	Land	Rovers	when	 they	were	killed	by	a	 roadside	mine.
Their	 commander,	 Major	 Sebastian	 Morley,	 said	 that	 “chronic
underinvestment”	 in	 military	 equipment	 was	 to	 blame	 for	 the
deaths.	The	MoD,	 he	 said,	 “has	 blood	on	 its	 hands.”	He	 resigned
from	 the	Army.	 Elsewhere	 in	Helmand,	many	more	 conventional
British	soldiers,	on	foot	and	in	vehicles,	were	killed	by	Improvised
Explosive	Devices	(IEDs)	laid	by	the	Taliban.

5.	 In	 a	 false	 economy,	 the	 U.K.	 Foreign	 Office	 halted	 a	 $4	million
helicopter	support	program,	maintaining	 four	Russian-made	“Hip”
helicopters	 that	 enabled	 the	 SBS	 to	 operate	 with	 Afghan
commandos	 in	 raids	 on	 drug	 barons	 and	 Taliban	 guerrillas.	 The
Foreign	Office	hoped	Uncle	Sam	would	pick	up	the	tab	to	maintain
the	 helicopters	 and	 got	 it	 wrong.	 Simultaneously	 Defense	 Chiefs
were	 boosting	 Special	 Forces	 numbers	 with	 a	 new	 Brigade
Reconnaissance	 Force	 to	 be	 attached	 to	 each	 of	 the	 army’s	 front
line	fighting	brigades.

MoD	 incompetence	 in	 procuring	 military	 equipment	 was	 becoming
notorious.	 In	 August	 2008	 the	 Sunday	 Times	 revealed	 an	 internal	 report
suppressed	 by	 the	Ministry,	which	 asked:	 “How	 can	 it	 be	 that	 it	 takes	 twenty
years	to	buy	a	ship,	or	aircraft,	or	tank?	Why	does	it	always	seem	to	cost	at	least
twice	what	was	thought?	Even	worse,	at	the	end	of	the	wait,	why	does	it	never
quite	seem	to	do	what	it	was	supposed	to?”228

Another	 procurement	 scandal	 arose	 from	 a	 decision	 to	 buy	 eight	 Special
Forces	Chinook	helicopters	 from	Boeing	 in	1995.	Reliable	 reports	 suggest	 that
the	 MoD	 and	 Royal	 Air	 Force	 insisted	 they	 knew	 better	 when	 it	 came	 to
designing	 avionics	 software	 for	 these	 aircraft.	 Warnings	 from	 Boeing	 of
incompatibility	 were	 ignored.	 In	 the	 fiasco	 that	 followed,	 the	 machines	 were
moth-balled	in	air-conditioned	hangars	after	delivery	in	2001	until	2007.	At	that
point,	the	MoD	decided	to	settle	for	a	less	sophisticated	version	capable	of	basic
operations	in	good	visibility.	The	cost	of	the	new	fleet	had	increased	from	GBP
259	million	to	at	least	GBP	500	million.	The	first	aircraft	was	expected	to	enter
service	in	2010	after	a	fifteen-year	delay.	Meanwhile,	U.K.	soldiers	were	being
killed	in	Iraq	and	Afghanistan	because	their	mobility	depended	on	road	vehicles
that	were	a	soft	 target	for	IEDs.	The	MoD	tried	to	blame	Boeing,	alleging	that
the	U.S.	company	had	deliberately	withheld	software	codes	needed	to	make	the
Chinooks	perform	as	contracted.229

In	2006,	 the	U.K.	Treasury	capped	 the	number	of	 soldiers	available	 for	an



offensive	against	the	Taliban	around	Musa	Qala,	where,	at	one	point,	a	favorite
enemy	target	was	guarded	by	just	thirty	men.	Former	SAS	commander	Brigadier
Ed	Butler,	 leading	 the	 operation,	 told	members	 of	 parliament	 that	 he	 had	 just
enough	 troops—3,300—to	 hold	 the	 line	 “but	 we	 couldn’t	 sustain	 a	 higher
tempo.”	 Lack	 of	 helicopters	 meant	 that	 “the	 Taliban	 forced	 us	 off	 the	 road,”
using	asymmetric	tactics	to	ambush	his	men	with	roadside	bombs.230	By	2009,
U.S.	military	 planners	were	 considering	 ceding	Musa	Qala	 and	 other	 areas	 of
southern	 Helmand	 to	 the	 Taliban,	 more	 effectively	 to	 secure	 more	 densely
populated	areas	of	the	province	in	line	with	General	Stanley	McChrystal’s	new
doctrine.

There	were	other	glaring	shortages.	British	paratroopers	in	Afghanistan	had
to	 borrow	 .50	 caliber	 ammunition	 for	 their	 Browning	 machine	 guns	 from
American	and	Canadian	allies.	An	officer	involved	said:	“The	ammo	we	had	was
rubbish.	 It	 just	 kept	 jamming.	 At	 one	 point	 we	 refused	 to	 go	 out	 [on	 patrol]
because	 it	 was	 so	 bad.	 If	 we	 had	 not	 got	 that	 [Canadian]	 ammo	 we	 would
certainly	have	lost	a	lot	of	people.”	The	defective	bullets	were	believed	to	come
from	 the	Czech	Republic	 or	 Pakistan,	 at	 a	 cost	 of	 sixty	U.S.	 cents,	 compared
with	$1.50	per	round	for	British,	Canadian,	and	American	material.	The	Paras’
complaints	were	rejected	at	first.	“They	[higher	command]	refused	to	believe	it
was	 all	 crap	 until	 Special	 Forces	 got	 involved,”	 the	 anonymous	 officer	 told	 a
journalist.	“After	that	we	had…new	stuff	within	a	week.”231

In	spite	of	this	mess,	the	MoD	enlarged	the	scale	and	scope	of	U.K.	Special
Forces	on	American	 lines.	 In	2004	what	had	started	 life	 in	Northern	Ireland	as
14	 Intelligence	 Company	 became	 the	 Special	 Reconnaissance	 Regiment,	 for
which	 women	 as	 well	 as	 men	 were	 recruited	 for	 covert,	 close	 intelligence
gathering.	Initially,	the	SRR	targeted	Islamist	fundamentalists	in	U.K.	following
the	London	 bombing	 attacks	 of	 July	 2005.	 Four	 years	 later,	 a	British	minister
admitted	that	the	government	had	overreacted	to	the	threat	of	Islamist	bombs	in
Britain.	In	a	febrile	atmosphere,	misidentification	by	the	new	team	contributed	to
the	killing	of	an	innocent	Brazilian	on	the	London	subway	by	police	marksmen.
At	 around	 the	 same	 time	 an	 SF	 group	 named	 18th	 (UKSF)	 Signal	 Regiment,
modeled	on	America’s	ISAF,	was	secretly	set	up.

U.K.	Special	Forces	quick	reaction	teams	now	included	personnel	from	the
SAS,	Special	Boat	Service,	Special	Reconnaissance	Regiment,	18th	Signals,	and
bomb	 disposal	 experts	 who	 were	 also	 trained	 as	 parachute-commandos.
Sometimes	dressed	in	civilian	clothes,	they	responded	to	emergencies	within	the
U.K.,	using	 two	civilian	executive	 jets	and	civilian	helicopters,	probably	flown
by	 aircrew	 from	 the	RAF’s	Special	Duties	Flight	 (known	 as	 7	Squadron)	 as	 a



change	from	flying	ageing	Chinooks.
The	U.K.’s	reorganized	Special	Forces	Group	was	enlarged	even	further	 in

2005	 by	 a	 Joint	 Special	 Forces	 Support	 Group	 similar	 to	 the	 U.S.	 Army’s
Rangers,	 to	give	extra	firepower	in	SAS	snatch	operations,	hostage	rescue,	and
backup	 for	 covert	 intelligence	missions.	 The	 SFSG	was	 constructed	 around	 1
Parachute	Regiment,	the	Red	Berets,	famous	for	their	self-belief	and	aggressive
approach	 to	 almost	 any	 situation.	 With	 other	 elements	 including	 Marine
Commandos,	 the	new	group	was	expected	 to	be	a	 force	of	1,200	men	when	 it
became	 fully	 operational.	 Its	 high-tech	 communications	 enabled	 it	 to	 receive
instant	intelligence	from	bases	in	the	U.K.

UKSF	was	further	enlarged	in	2009	with	the	creation	of	new	reconnaissance
companies	in	a	Brigade	Reconnaissance	Force.	A	company	of	150	BRF	soldiers
would	be	used	as	a	forward	screen	for	conventional	fighting	units,	possibly	in	an
attempt	 to	contain	 rising	casualties	 from	multiple	 IED	booby	 traps.	Total	BRF
strength	was	900,	augmenting	the	existing	Special	Forces	Group.	The	manpower
source	of	 the	new	SF	 team,	 in	 an	overstretched	 “Green	Army,”	was	not	 clear.
Though	 the	 entity	 that	 now	 emerged	 bore	 an	 even	 stronger	 resemblance	 to
America’s	 Special	 Operations	 Command,	 Britain’s	 lamentable	 failures	 to
provide	adequate	equipment	in	Iraq	and	Afghanistan	was	a	sad	contrast	with	its
efforts	 to	 upgrade	 and	 enlarge	 its	 Special	 Forces	 capability	 in	 line	 with	 U.S.
developments.

The	 mismatch	 of	 military	 aspiration	 and	 reality	 sometimes	 provoked	 a
breakdown	in	trust	and	a	failure	of	the	civil/military	compact	where	it	mattered,
on	the	battlefield.

In	 2007,	 the	 rancor	 resulted	 in	 the	 resignation	 of	 an	 unidentified	 SAS
Commanding	Officer,	a	lieutenant-colonel,	in	Iraq	and	Afghanistan.	His	habit	of
leading	 his	men	 from	 the	 front	 provoked	 a	 smear	 that	 he	 had	 defied	 superior
orders.232	A	year	later,	the	resignation	of	Major	Sebastian	Morley	following	the
loss	of	one	of	his	 teams	was	another	protest	 that	became	public	knowledge.	 In
Afghanistan,	the	SAS	depended	increasingly	upon	reservists	and	retired	officers,
one	of	whom	joked:	“You	can	depend	on	me	not	to	run	from	the	enemy.	I	can’t
run	very	fast	these	days.”

Given	 this	background,	 the	 surprise	 is	 that	UKSF	continued	 to	 function	as
successfully	 as	 it	 did.	 In	 Iraq,	 the	 regular	 22	 SAS	 Regiment	 was	 praised	 by
General	David	Petraeus	as	he	 stepped	down	 from	command	 there	 in	2008.	He
said:	 “They	have	helped	 immensely	 in	 the	Baghdad	area,	 in	particular,	 to	 take
down	the	al	Qaeda	car	bomb	networks	and	other	al	Qaeda	operations	 in	 Iraq’s
capital	 city…a	 phenomenal	 job.”	He	 recalled	 how	SAS	 soldiers	 rented	 a	 pink
pickup	 truck,	 discarded	 body	 armor,	 and	 drove	 through	 traffic	 to	 catch	 a	 key



target.	“It	was	brilliant.	They	have	exceptional	courage	and	exceptional	savvy.	I
can’t	say	enough	about	how	impressive	they	are	in	thinking	on	their	feet.”233

Working	with	 the	 Iraqi	 special	 force	 trained	by	Delta,	 two	SAS	squadrons
destroyed	 two	 Sunni	 car	 bomb	 groups	 in	 Baghdad,	 killed	 hundreds	 of	 key	 al
Qaeda	 players,	 and	 rescued	 several	 hostages.	 Richard	 Williams,	 a	 former
Commanding	 Officer	 of	 22	 SAS,	 claims:	 “When	 we	 went	 into	 Iraq	 with	 the
Delta	 Force	 in	November	 2006,	more	 than	 142	 bombs	 per	month	were	 being
detonated.	By	December	2007,	that	was	down	to	two	a	month.	We	took	out	more
than	3,000	bombers.”234

For	 close-target	 reconnaissance	 operations,	 his	 soldiers	 dressed	 as	 locals,
grew	 beards,	 dyed	 their	 skin	 brown	 and	 black	 if	 necessary,	 and	 used	 contact
lenses	 to	 change	 the	 color	 of	 their	 eyes.	 They	 wore	 the	 fake	 gold	 watches
favoured	 by	 Iraqi	 men	 and	 adopted	 their	 swaggering	 walk.	 Near	 the	 Syrian
border,	they	intercepted	foreign	jihadis,	killing	twelve	in	one	encounter.	Inspired
by	the	example	of	an	earlier	SAS	generation	and	advised	by	Lieutenant-General
Sir	 Graeme	 Lamb,	 they	 used	 jesuitical	 techniques	 to	 persuade	 some	 enemy
personnel	to	defect.	In	2009,	Lamb	retired	from	active	service	and	was	promptly
hired	by	General	Stanley	McChrystal,	U.S.	commander	in	chief	in	Afghanistan,
to	 run	 a	 program	 of	 reconciliation	 carefully	 targeted	 on	 Taliban	 leaders.
Alongside	the	use	of	Special	Forces	to	limit	civilian	casualties	while	killing	the
enemy,	 the	 new	 strategy	 employed	 covert	 negotiations	 with	 some	 of	 them,	 a
pattern	followed	by	the	British	in	Northern	Ireland.

Petraeus	 was	 not	 alone	 in	 praising	 the	 SAS	 in	 Iraq.	 General	 Sir	 Richard
Dannatt,	head	of	the	British	army	at	the	time,	said	that	coalition	Special	Forces,
including	the	British	elements,	had	confronted	“al	Qaeda	and	their	mass-suicide
tactics”	 and	 defeated	 them	 in	 Baghdad.	 “Al	 Qaeda	 didn’t	 defeat	 itself	 in
Baghdad,”	he	said.	“It	was	defeated,	substantially	defeated.”235	But	the	bombers
returned	 just	 six	 weeks	 after	 the	 Iraqi	 government	 took	 control	 of	 its	 own
internal	 security	 on	 30	 June	 2009.	 By	 then,	 the	 SAS	 contingent	 was	 in
Afghanistan,	and	U.S.	forces	still	in	Iraq	were	withdrawn	to	fixed	bases	outside
Iraqi	cities.

The	 regular	 22	 SAS	Regiment	was	 aware	 that	Afghanistan	was	 a	 tougher
proposition	 than	 Iraq.	 The	 regiment’s	 former	 commanding	 officer,	 Richard
Williams,	had	been	among	 the	 first	Special	Forces	 soldiers	 to	get	his	boots	on
Afghan	 soil	 six	 weeks	 after	 9/11	 in	 2001.	 By	 2009,	 the	 situation	 had	 not
improved.	 Primitive,	 illiterate,	 insular,	 suspicious	 of	 strangers,	 its	 public
institutions	 including	 the	police	generally	corrupt,	Afghanistan	was	not	a	place
where	friendship	could	be	bought,	even	if	money	changed	hands.	It	was	also	a



place	of	shifting	loyalties.	In	2007	six	key	Taliban	commanders	were	killed	by
British	 Special	 Forces	 including	 the	 SBS.	 The	 bodies	 they	 discovered	 in	 one
compound	 in	 Helmand	 included	 that	 of	 a	 man	 whose	 identity	 documents
revealed	 that	he	was	also	an	officer	 in	 the	Pakistani	Army.	Britain’s	 refusal	 to
expose	this	case	infuriated	Afghan	President	Karzai,	who	saw	it	as	confirmation
of	 covert	 Pakistani	 backing	 for	 the	 Taliban.	 Lieutenant	 Colonel	 Chris	 Nash
USMC	 confirmed	 that	 in	 June	 2007,	 Pakistani	 military	 forces	 flew	 repeated
helicopter	missions	to	resupply	Taliban	fighters	during	a	fierce	battle	against	an
American	 training	 team	 embedded	 with	 Afghan	 Border	 Police.	 A	 raid	 into
Pakistan	by	U.S.	Special	Forces	 triggered	a	diplomatic	 row	 in	which	Pakistani
officials	denounced	“a	gross	violation	of	Pakistan’s	territory.”236

The	 raid	was	 the	 first	 step	 in	 a	 radical	new	strategy	pursued	by	 the	newly
elected	 President	Obama	 and	 his	 choice	 of	 the	 Special	 Forces	 expert,	General
Stanley	 McChrystal,	 to	 direct	 operations	 in	 a	 contiguous	 battleground	 now
known	as	“Af-Pak.”	In	a	parallel	diplomatic	offensive,	Obama	let	loose	Richard
(“Bulldozer”)	 Holbrooke	 as	 his	 special	 envoy	 to	 the	 region.	 When	 Pakistan
President	Asif	Ali	 Zardari	 tried	 to	 buy	 off	 Islamists	 in	 the	 tribal	 areas	 on	 the
North	West	Frontier,	permitting	Sharia	 to	replace	state	 law,	Zardari	was	 left	 in
no	doubt	of	Washington’s	displeasure.	At	this	point,	 the	Islamists	over-reached
themselves	 and	 launched	 an	 offensive	 out	 of	 the	 Swat	 Valley	 to	 a	 town	 only
sixty	miles	from	the	capital,	Islamabad.	During	the	preceding	eighteen	months,
Taliban	 terrorists	 had	 murdered	 2,500	 civilians	 in	 Pakistan.	 Zardari	 at	 last
identified	the	true	threat	to	his	country	and	sent	in	the	Army	in	another	attempt
to	bring	 the	 region	under	control.	Almost	a	million	 refugees	 fled	 from	the	war
zone.

Zardari,	 by	 now,	 had	 turned	 a	 blind	 eye	 to	 CIA	 attacks,	 using	 remotely
controlled	drones	to	strike	enemy	hideouts.	On	the	ground,	local	spies	were	used
to	place	microchips	near	the	targets	as	aids	to	missile	navigation.	The	number	of
significant	kills	grew	steadily.	A	dozen	al	Qaeda	commanders	were	removed	by
this	 means	 in	 2008.	 In	 August	 2009	 Baitullah	Mehsud,	 the	 Taliban	 leader	 in
Pakistan,	 was	 lying	 on	 the	 roof	 of	 a	 house	 owned	 by	 his	 father-in-law,	 an
intravenous	drip	attached	to	his	arm	to	relieve	a	kidney	ailment,	when	a	missile
released	from	a	drone	demolished	the	building.	In	April,	Sa’ad	bin	Laden,	son	of
Osama,	also	fell	victim	to	the	intelligence+drone+missile	weapon.

On	the	ground	in	Pakistan,	U.S.	and	British	Special	Forces	moved	in	to	train
the	 country’s	 Frontier	 Force	 at	 camps	 in	 Baluchistan.	 The	 real	 battleground,
however,	was	 not	 in	 camps,	 or	 the	 urban	 areas	 of	Lahore	 in	which	 increasing
numbers	of	Taliban	tried	to	hide,	but	in	the	minds	of	ordinary	Pakistanis,	many
of	whom	believe	that	9/11	was	an	Israeli/American	plot	to	discredit	a	resurgent



Islam.	 No	 surprise,	 then,	 that	 the	 new	 head	 of	 the	 British	 Army,	 General	 Sir
David	 Richards,	 should	 predict	 that	 the	 U.K.’s	 involvement	 in	 Afghanistan
might	 last	 for	 forty	years,	 a	 prospect	 that	 daunted	politicians	both	 sides	of	 the
Atlantic.

Meanwhile,	 the	 campaign	 rolled	 on,	 turning	 up	 new	 surprises	 each	 day,
particularly	 in	 the	world	 of	 signals	 intelligence.	 In	 2008,	 linguists	 flying	with
Nimrod	 aircraft	 of	 51	 Squadron	 RAF	 over	 Helmand,	 intercepting	 satcom
telephones	 used	 by	 Taliban	 fighters,	 were	 astonished	 to	 eavesdrop	 on	 enemy
warriors	 lost	 for	words	 in	 Pashto,	 reverting	 to	 English.	 They	 then	 spoke	with
accents	 that	were	 distinctive,	 nasal,	 Birmingham	 (“Brummy”)	 voices	 planning
attacks	on	British	forces.	It	confirmed	that	U.K.	Islamists,	born	and	educated	in
Britain,	had	joined	the	jihad.



EPILOGUE

A	NIMBLE,	PRECISE	STRATEGY

As	President	Barack	Obama	celebrated	his	first	year	in	the	White	House	in	that
cool,	 intellectual	 style	 that	 had	 become	 his	 trademark,	 he	 knew	 that	 America
faced	a	similar	dilemma	to	that	which	confronted	Richard	Nixon	almost	exactly
forty	 years	 before:	 how	 to	 resolve	 an	 apparently	 intractable	 conflict	 that	 had
become	a	political	and	military	quagmire.	Nixon’s	solution	in	Vietnam	was	not
exactly	 to	 cut	 and	 run	 but	 to	 march	 elegantly	 backward	 while	 handing	 over
mission	impossible	to	indigenous	forces	as	if	this	were	a	plan	ordained	by	God.
Nixon	had	Henry	Kissinger’s	word	 that,	 to	paraphrase	 the	secretary	of	 state	as
well	 as	Voltaire,	 all	was	 for	 the	 best	 in	 the	 best	 of	 all	 possible	worlds.	 In	 his
version	of	the	story	of	Candide,	Leonard	Bernstein	even	set	the	idea	to	music.

But	 when	 it	 came	 to	 Afghanistan	 2009,	 there	 were	 discordant	 voices	 out
there.	Obama,	as	he	prepared	to	receive	his	Nobel	Peace	Prize,	might	have	felt
like	Horatius	defending	Ancient	Rome	almost	singlehanded	on	a	narrow	bridge
in	507	B.C.E.	in	a	scene	described	by	the	poet	Macaulay:

Was	none	who	would	be	foremost
To	lead	such	dire	attack;
But	those	behind	cried	‘Forward!’
And	those	before	cried	‘Back!’

Howard	Hart,	 the	 CIA’s	 Scarlet	 Pimpernel	 in	 the	 days	when	 the	Agency	was
supplying	 the	 mujahideen	 with	 weapons	 to	 fight	 the	 Soviets,	 told	 the	 BBC:
“There	 is	 no	 one	 in	 the	 world	 more	 indefatigable,	 more	 courageous,	 meaner,
nastier,	 looking	 for	 a	 fight	 than	 the	 tribals	 are.	 They	 love	 to	 fight.	 It	 almost



doesn’t	 matter	 who	 they	 are	 fighting.	When	 the	 Soviets	 invaded	 Afghanistan
back	 in	 ’79	 there	was	 in	 existence	 a	 fairly	 large	 Soviet-trained	Afghan	 army.
They	 collapsed	 immediately	 as	we	 turned	on	 the	 insurgency.	They	deserted	 in
large	numbers.	 I	 think	frankly	 if	we	were	 to	raise	an	Afghan	army	that	a	great
many	of	them	would	be	providing	the	best	trained	and	equipped	insurgents	that
there	were	in	the	country.”237	Hart	recalled	that	he	had	worked	very	closely	with
“many	 of	 these	 people	 who	 are	 fighting	 America	 now….	 We	 invaded
Afghanistan	[in	2001]	which	meant	going	in	after	the	Taliban	first	on	the	theory
that	 was	 the	 only	way	we	 could	 destroy	 al	 Qaeda.	We	 are	 forgetting	 that	 the
Taliban	had	no	quarrel	with	us,	the	West.	I	don’t	think	it	matters	a	bit—let’s	be
hard	 boiled	 about	 this—if	Afghanistan	was	 to	 revert	 back	 to	 being	 a	 Taliban-
controlled	 state,	we	managed	 to	 live	with	 that	 for	 any	number	 of	 years	 before
9/11	and	then	we	went	in	after	al	Qaeda.”

But	 wouldn’t	 such	 a	 policy	 be	 a	 terrible	 betrayal	 of	 many	 Afghans	 who
supported	America	during	the	war	against	the	Taliban?	“Yes,	it	would	be.	Those
who	really	put	their	neck	on	the	line,	we	have	to	take	care	of	them.	We	have	to
bring	 ’em	out,	 just	 as	we	 did	 in	Vietnam.	But	 the	 truth	 of	 the	matter	 is,	most
people	who	are	on	our	side	and	happen	to	be	Afghans,	really	their	heart	is	not	in
this	game.	I	have	long	had	a	rule	in	this	neck	of	the	woods	and	the	rule	is	this,
now	in	the	minds	of	the	locals.	It	doesn’t	matter	who	wins.	What	matters	is	that
you	are	on	the	winning	side	when	it’s	all	over,	and	we	can	see	already	that	much
of	the	population	either	tacitly	or	actively	supports	the	insurgents.”

Did	this	mean	it	was	time	for	the	West	to	pull	out,	give	up?	“That	is	about
right.	 Leave	 a	 few	 troops	 behind	 because	 we	 need	 some	 operating	 bases	 in
country.	The	Taliban	won’t	like	it	but	we	can	cut	a	deal	with	them,	I’m	sure.	I
think	it’s	time	to	say,	‘Thank	you	very	much	but	we’re	not	going	to	pay	in	blood
and	in	treasure	for	endless	years	to	come.’	There	will	never	be	an	honest	election
in	 any	number	 of	 generations	 in	Afghanistan.	Why	don’t	we	 regard	 [the	 2009
election]	for	what	it	is,	just	another	example	of	why	Afghanistan	is	not	amenable
to	being	fixed?”

Other	clever,	 informed	minds	were	pondering	means	by	which	deals	might
be	cut	with	some	of	today’s	enemies.	General	Sir	Graeme	Lamb,	who	spent	most
of	his	thirty-eight	years’	soldiering	with	the	SAS,	turning	enemies	into	allies	in
Iraq,	 retired	 in	 2009	 and	 was	 promptly	 invited	 by	 that	 other	 Special	 Forces
veteran,	 General	 Stanley	McChrystal,	 to	 attempt	 a	 repeat	 performance	 on	 the
less	 tractable	battlefield	of	Afghanistan.	Like	General	McChrystal	and	Howard
Hart,	 Lamb	 detected	 a	 failed	 strategy	 that	 combined	 drift	 with	 incoherence
during	the	first	eight	years	of	war	against	the	Taliban	after	9/11.	In	spite	of	that,
he	was	convinced	that	change,	for	the	better,	was	possible.	His	doctrine	was	to



convert	swords	into	plowshares	at	the	grass	roots.
Speaking	from	Kabul,	he	said:	“There	are	many	young	people	out	here	who

fight	well	 for	a	bad	cause.	My	view	 is	 if	 they	could	 look	at	and	 reflect	on	 the
underlying	 reasons	why	 they	 are	 fighting,	 then	 they	may	well	 question	 those.
What	we	shouldn’t	be	doing	is	to	be	so	fixated	in	our	minds	we	cannot	negotiate
across	these	divides.”	In	Iraq,	reconciling	Shia	militiamen	and	Sunnis	running	a
major	 insurgency	he	had	found	“reasonably	easy….	Actually	 the	most	difficult
people	 to	 reconcile	 in	 many	 ways	 were	 the	 Americans;	 having	 Americans
reconciled	 with	 the	 fact	 that	 at	 some	 point	 you	 have	 to	 talk	 to	 those	 you	 are
fighting	against.	You	know,	Clausewitz	didn’t	 finish	 the	sentence,	 that	 ‘War	 is
the	 continuation	 of	 politics.’	 The	 bit	 he	 missed	 out	 was	 ‘To	 politics	 it	 must
return.’…One	 of	 the	 comments	 in	 Iraq	was	why	would	 you	 bring	 an	 alligator
into	your	bedroom?	Again	one	has	to	go	back	to	[asking]	who	are	these	people?
These	are	local	people	who	need	to	understand	why,	and	then	they	have	a	choice
to	have	a	better	life.	You	know	in	Iraq	I	always	said	you	can	buy	an	insurgency
if	 you	 have	 enough	 money….	 But	 my	 view	 is	 the	 moment	 someone	 on	 the
wrong	 side	 of	 the	 wire	 is	 inclined	 to	 come	 back,	 then	 we	 have	 to	 set	 the
conditions	whereby	that	young	man	comes	back	in	and	is	not	a	pariah	and	is	not,
as	 he	walks	 across	 the	 line,	 rearrested	 by	 somebody.	 Finding	 employment…is
the	 reasonable	 basis	 for	 a	more	 respectable	 and	 a	 better	 life.	 It’s	 not	 simply	 a
question	 of	my	 going	 out	 and	 finding	 people	who	might	 be	 inclined	 to	 come
across	 and	 say	 ‘Right,	 pay	 you	 a	 dollar	 and	 stop	 fighting	 us	 for	 a	 month	 or
two.’”238

Defense	Secretary	Gates	seemed	to	share	Lamb’s	position.	“To	truly	achieve
victory	 as	 Clausewitz	 defined	 it—to	 attain	 a	 political	 objective—the	 United
States	 needs	 a	military	whose	 ability	 to	 kick	 down	 the	 door	 is	matched	 by	 its
ability	to	clean	up	the	mess	and	even	rebuild	the	house	afterward.”	But	this	was
easier	 said	 than	 done	 in	 Afghanistan,	 a	 loose	 federation	 of	 provinces	 where
seventy	per	cent	of	the	population	was	under	twenty-five	years	old,	only	five	per
cent	 of	 them	 literate	 in	 the	 frontline	 province	 of	 Helmand;	 where	 corruption
combined	 with	 drug	 rackets	 and	 kidnapping	 for	 ransom	 as	 the	 dominant
economic	 activities.	 In	Aghanistan,	 Lamb’s	 nostrums	 appeared	 as	 idealistic	 as
the	West’s	worthy	hopes	of	gender-equality	and	other	dreams	of	human	rights.
Yet	his	concept	of	a	Special	Forces	war-winning	strategy	that	depended	more	on
psychology	than	firepower	fitted	well	enough	with	the	new	doctrine	unveiled	by
McChrystal	and	his	team	as	Obama’s	first	presidential	anniversary	approached.

The	general’s	assessment	of	the	campaign	was	bleak.	The	West	had	lost	the
initiative.	 Unless	 it	 was	 regained	 in	 twelve	 months,	 defeat	 was	 possible.
“Preoccupied	with	protection	of	our	own	forces,	we	have	operated	in	a	manner



that	distances	us—physically	and	psychologically—from	the	people	we	seek	to
protect.	In	addition,	we	run	the	risk	of	strategic	defeat	by	pursuing	tactical	wins
that	 cause	 civilian	 casualties	 or	 unnecessary	 collateral	 damage.	The	 insurgents
cannot	defeat	us	militarily,	but	we	can	defeat	ourselves….	Conventional	wisdom
is	 not	 sacred;	 security	 may	 not	 come	 from	 the	 barrel	 of	 a	 gun.	 Better	 force
protection	 may	 be	 counterintuitive;	 it	 might	 come	 from	 less	 armor	 and	 less
distance	from	the	population….	Our	conventional	warfare	culture	is	part	of	the
problem.	The	Afghans	must	 ultimately	defeat	 the	 insurgency….	Protecting	 the
people	 means	 shielding	 them	 from	 all	 threats.”239	 The	 new	 doctrine	 also
demanded	a	classic	counterinsurgency	campaign,	yet	more	allied	manpower	and
a	drastic	overhaul	of	ISAF.

Having	 thought	 the	 matter	 over	 for	 three	 months,	 President	 Obama
descended	 from	Olympus	 by	 helicopter	 to	West	 Point	 in	December	 2009	 and
revealed	 his	 plan	 for	 the	 future.	 Actually	 there	 were	 two	 futures:	 one	 for
Afghanistan,	 the	 second	 for	wherever	 else	 in	 the	world	 the	 threat	 of	 al	Qaeda
might	 appear.	 “As	Commander-in-Chief,	 I	 have	 determined	 that	 it	 is	 our	 vital
national	 interest	 to	send	an	additional	30,000	U.S.	 troops	to	Afghanistan.	After
eighteen	months,	our	 troops	will	begin	 to	come	home.	These	are	 the	 resources
that	we	need	to	seize	the	initiative,	while	building	the	Afghan	capacity	that	can
allow	for	a	responsible	 transition	of	our	forces	out	of	Afghanistan.”	Integral	 to
that	 timescale	 was	 the	 hope	 of	 training	 enough	 Afghan	 National	 Army	 and
Afghan	National	Police	to	control	a	society	that	had	rarely	known	public	order
though,	 as	 Major-General	 Nick	 Carter,	 the	 British	 general	 responsible	 for
security	 in	 the	 unruly	 Helmand	 province,	 acknowledged:	 “When	 the	 Taliban
were	 here,	 they	 did	 ensure	 security	 on	 the	 main	 highways.	 They	 did	 it	 very
effectively.	 You	 could	 put	 your	 daughter	 on	 the	 bus	 in	 Kabul	 sure	 in	 the
knowledge	she	would	get	to	Kandahar	in	one	piece.”240

The	 other—unlimited—timescale	 mentioned	 by	 Obama	 passed	 almost
unnoticed	by	most	commentators.	“The	struggle	against	violent	extremism	will
not	be	finished	quickly,	and	it	extends	well	beyond	Afghanistan	and	Pakistan.	It
will	be	an	enduring	test	of	our	free	society	and	our	leadership	in	the	world.	And
unlike	the	great	power	conflicts	and	clear	lines	of	division	that	defined	the	20th
century,	our	effort	will	 involve	disorderly	regions	and	diffuse	enemies.	So	as	a
result,	America	will	have	to	show	our	strength	in	the	way	that	we	end	wars	and
prevent	conflict.	We	have	to	be	nimble	and	precise	in	our	use	of	military	power.
Where	 al	 Qaeda	 and	 its	 allies	 attempt	 to	 establish	 a	 foothold—whether	 in
Somalia	or	Yemen	or	elsewhere—they	must	be	confronted	by	growing	pressure
and	strong	partnerships.”



America’s	 oracle	 had	 spoken	 at	 last—and,	 like	 most	 oracular
pronouncements,	 it	 lacked	 concrete	 detail.	 Yet	 there	 could	 be	 little	 doubt	 that
Obama’s	 nostrum	of	 “nimble	 and	 precise”	military	 power	was	 his	 blessing	 on
the	 emerging	 orchestra	 of	 Special	 Forces	 upon	 which,	 in	 this	 new	 kind	 of
conflict,	America’s	strategy	and	that	of	its	allies	would	rest	in	the	future.
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